Disturbance and resilience in riparian woodlands on the highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain

Kathryn Mary Reardon-Smith BNatRes (Hons), MSc



A thesis submitted for the award of Doctor of Philosophy University of Southern Queensland

2011

ABSTRACT

Remnant ecosystems in agricultural landscapes are poorly understood in terms of their diversity, function and dynamics under altered disturbance regimes, and of how these influence resilience to future disturbance. Understanding native ecosystem responses to novel and multiple disturbances is a crucial foundation for adaptive management to maintain and enhance biodiversity and critical ecosystem services in production landscapes. This is particularly significant where environmental change drives irreversible threshold responses and ecosystem transitions to less functional, or less preferred, alternative ecological states. This research was conducted in remnant riparian woodland ecosystems along a regulated section of the Condamine River, southern Queensland, an ephemeral dryland river system draining an intensively farmed landscape in eastern Australia. Riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain are subject to significant changes in hydrological regimes and land use intensity. They also exhibit dieback and limited recruitment of canopy species, as well as widespread invasion by the introduced perennial herb Phyla canescens (lippia); however, efforts to address these issues have largely failed to curb ongoing degradation, potentially due to a lack of understanding of the key drivers of ecological change operating in this complex socio-ecological landscape.

This research addressed questions about the drivers of floristic composition, functional diversity and woodland condition in fragmented riparian woodland communities associated with a regulated dryland river system, and embedded in a production landscape. In particular, it investigated ecological responses to the range of disturbances (including altered hydrology, land use intensity, resource availability, and key species interactions) prevalent in this highly modified landscape. Two of the four studies presented test the hypothesis that the composition and condition of riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain are associated with current levels of longitudinal and lateral hydrological connectivity. These studies used a stratified sampling design which partitioned the study area into river sections, and also considered the influence of lateral overbank and overland flood flows, and grazing within ecosystem fragments (remnants). Full floristic sampling and condition assessments of mature *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* trees were conducted at a total of 24 sites in 2004/05. Significant patterns in floristic composition, functional diversity and woodland condition were explained by

differences in hydrological variability; however, the confounding influence of land use and interaction between within-remnant land use (specifically grazing) and hydrological factors for some measures, indicated response to a complexity of drivers.

A third study investigated the influence of local and landscape-scale hydrological and land use variables. It used a Bayesian model averaging (BMA) approach to identify informative model sets of explanatory variables, and key environmental predictors of floristic composition, community structure and ecological condition. A novel method was developed to examine dynamic transitions in species richness and abundance between reciprocal pairs of functional groups; this method used the ratio of species richness (or total abundance) in corresponding pairs of functional trait groups (e.g. C3:C4 species) as a community response variable reflecting the relative importance of each group along the environmental gradients tested. Groundwater decline was the primary predictor of ecosystem response, with lower floristic and functional diversity and more severe dieback associated with increasing depth to groundwater; this result suggests an overarching reliance on shallow groundwater resources for maintenance of ecosystem resilience not previously reported for this ecosystem type in Australia. Lippia abundance and dominant tree condition were also important biotic drivers of ecosystem condition in these communities, and key predictors of floristic composition and functional group richness and abundance transitions. Poor tree condition and loss of hydraulic function was associated with secondary impacts on less well adapted 'terrestrial' groundcover species, while the subdominant species Acacia stenophylla responded positively to competitive release due to poor tree function and reduced tree density. Lippia cover was also strongly associated with the density (positively) and mortality (negatively) of mature trees.

Small scale species interactions were investigated in a study which tested differences in groundcover vegetation composition and lippia cover, reproductive condition and growth habit between 'distance from tree' and topographic position treatments in a riparian woodland on the Upper Condamine floodplain. Sampling was conducted along twelve transects extending from the base of mature *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* trees into canopy gaps. Results indicated that scattered trees play a significant role in facilitating the abundance and condition of lippia in this landscape, with evidence of high lippia abundance, reproductive effort and consolidated clonal growth under trees canopies (described as a 'halo' effect). This interaction is likely to play a significant role in the persistence of this mesic, though highly adaptive, species in this drought prone landscape. Lippia cover greater than approximately 20% was also found to have a significant impact on the abundance and diversity of non-lippia species in these grassy woodlands.

Results of this research are synthesised in a conceptual resilience-based state and transition 'riparian woodland response' model identifying three critical transitions for riparian ecosystem condition and function related to effectively irreversible changes in the landscape: (i) transformation to a lippia-invaded landscape with the introduction, establishment and spread of lippia on the floodplain; (ii) transformation from riparian communities which are well buffered against drought, due to connection with shallow groundwater, to communities reliant on and susceptible to stochastic climatic variability; and (iii) population failure in the dominant functional species complex, Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis, canopy and transformation to non-eucalypt-dominant floodplain ecosystem types such as Acacia stenophylla-dominant woodlands, floodplain grasslands or lippia-dominant herblands with significantly reduced capacity to provide essential ecosystems services in riparian contexts.

In conclusion, this research indicates that observed condition in riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain is an integrated response to a range of disturbances, but that certain changes (in particular, groundwater decline due to overextraction in combination with extended drought) may be critical to the longterm persistence and function of these remnants. This study indicates the importance of systems-based empirical research to developing better understanding of the function and dynamics of remnant ecosystems in highly modified landscapes subject to both natural and anthropogenic disturbance regimes. The resilience-based approach also focuses attention on the key drivers of stability and critical transitions in these complex socio-ecological systems. Such research is vital to evaluating and predicting changes in remnant native ecosystems and the provision of important ecosystem services, and as a basis for adaptive management in multi-use production landscapes.

CERTIFICATION OF DISSERTATION

I certify that the ideas, experimental work, results, analyses, discussions and conclusions reported in this dissertation are entirely my own work, except where otherwise acknowledged. I also certify that the work is original and has not previously been submitted for any other award.

Date:/..../....

Signature of Candidate

ENDORSEMENT

Date:/..../....

Signature of Supervisor (1)

Date:/...../....

Signature of Supervisor (2)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My heartfelt thanks go to the many people who have shared the ups and downs of the PhD journey:

to the landholders of the Upper Condamine floodplain who willingly allowed me access to their properties and shared their insights and observations on the state of the riparian woodlands along the river;

to the University of Southern Queensland's Faculty of Sciences and Office of Research and Higher Degrees for support and encouragement throughout my candidature;

to Jarrod Kath and Keegan Roache for their invaluable assistance with fieldwork through a very hot dry summer on the floodplain;

to the lippia research 'team' who have shared the quest to better understand lippia's role in floodplain landscapes, especially Chengyuan-Stephen Xu, Jodie Price, Matt Macdonald, Rieks van Klinken, Celine Clech-Goods, Kate Stokes and Justine Murray;

to the members of the Australian Centre for Sustainable Ecosystems (and former Land Use Research Centre) for companionship and inspiration, especially Simon Attwood, Stuart Collard, Fiona Morris, Megan Brady, Justine Baillie, Jarrod Kath, Martine Maron, Shahbaz Mushtaq, Tek Marasini, Jerry Maroulis, Roger Stone, Charlie Zammit and so many more;

to Alan House, Kathleen Maze and Nicki Laws for reading and commenting on chapters;

to my fabulous foursome - Mardi, Susie, Hannah and Hugh - for their support and encouragement, their enthusiasm and good humour on fieldwork expeditions, and their tolerance of my increasing withdrawal from household responsibilities; and

finally, to my sage and ever patient academic advisor, Andy Le Brocque, who has persisted in his roles as both mentor and friend despite my many detours and side trips along the way.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
CERTIFICATION OF DISSERTATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
APPENDICES	xiv
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
LIST OF TABLES	xviii

Chapter 1: General Introduction1
1.1 Research overview1
1.1.1 Theoretical background2
1.1.2 Floodplain landscapes: patterns and processes
1.1.3 Floodplain development11
1.1.4 Disturbance ecology in modified floodplain landscapes
1.1.5 Key knowledge gaps18
1.2 Aims and scope of current study
1.2.1 Research questions
1.2.2 Thesis outline
Chapter 2 Hydrological and land use changes on the Upper Condamine
floodplain25
2.1 The Upper Condamine floodplain25

	2.1.1 Geology and Soils	25
	2.1.2 Climate	27
	2.1.3 Hydrology	29
2.2	Development on the Upper Condamine floodplain	31
	2.2.1 Land use development on the Upper Condamine floodplain	31
	2.2.2 Water resource development on the Upper Condamine floodplain	32
	2.2.3 Land cover change on the Upper Condamine floodplain	41
2.3	Assessment of environmental condition on the Upper Condamine floodplai	n
		.43
2.4	Current land use and resource condition in the study area	46
	2.4.1 Method of assessment	47
	2.4.2 Results	49
	2.4.3 Discussion	57
	2.4.4 Conclusions	58
Chapt	ter 3 Patterns in riparian woodland community composition, struct	ure
and fu	inction on the Upper Condamine floodplain	59
3.1	Introduction	59
	3.1.1 Vegetation responses to changes in hydrological connectivity	59
	3.1.2 Vegetation responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems	61
	3.1.3 Study overview	62
3.2	Methods	64
	3.2.1 Site selection	64
	3.2.2 Data collection	69
	3.2.3 Data treatment	70

	3.2.4 Statistical analyses	73
3.3	Results	75
	3.3.1 General floristics	75
	3.3.2 Patterns in community composition	75
	3.3.3 Patterns in community richness, abundance and diversity	77
	3.3.4 Patterns in functional group diversity	80
	3.3.5 Patterns in lippia abundance	
3.4	Discussion	
	3.4.1 Pattern in community diversity	85
	3.4.2 Patterns in functional group diversity	
	3.4.3 Patterns in the dominant weed, lippia	
	3.4.4 Significance and limitations	
3.5	3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions	92 94
3.5 Chapt	3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian	92 94 woodland
3.5 Chapt comm	3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain	92 94 woodland 96
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction	92 94 woodland 96
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes 4.1.3 Riparian tree responses to changes in hydrological connectivity 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes 4.1.3 Riparian tree responses to changes in hydrological connectivation 4.1.4 Tree responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes 4.1.3 Riparian tree responses to changes in hydrological connective 4.1.4 Tree responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems 4.1.5 Study overview 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1 4.2	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian numities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction 4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems 4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes 4.1.3 Riparian tree responses to changes in hydrological connective 4.1.4 Tree responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems 4.1.5 Study overview Methods 	
3.5 Chapt comm 4.1 4.2	 3.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian nunities on the Upper Condamine floodplain Introduction	

4.2.3 Data manipulation1	107
4.2.4 Statistical analyses1	108
4.3 Results	109
4.3.1 Patterns in tree health1	109
4.3.2 Patterns in foliage growth1	113
4.3.3 Patterns in canopy condition1	113
4.3.4 Patterns in reproductive condition1	113
4.3.5 Patterns in interacting species1	115
4.3.6 Correlations between variables1	115
4.4 Discussion	117
4.4.1 Tree condition and hydrological connectivity1	117
4.4.2 Tree condition and land use intensity1	121
4.4.3 Pattern and process in recruitment and survival of canopy species 1	122
4.4.4 Species interactions and dominant tree condition 1	123
4.4.5 Significance and limitations1	126
4.5 Conclusions 1	129
Chapter 5 Drivers of floristic composition, community structure an	nd
condition in riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condami	ne
1100dplain 1	131
5.1 Introduction	131
5.1.1 Environmental drivers in riparian ecosystems	131
5.1.2 Ecological response to environmental gradients 1	133
5.1.3 This study 1	135
5.2 Methods	136

	5.2.1 Data collection and treatment	136
	5.2.2 Statistical analyses	143
5.3	Results	145
	5.3.1 Best predictive model sets	147
	5.3.2 Response models for functional group transition ratios	150
	5.3.3 Response models for dominant species attributes	155
5.4	Discussion	158
	5.4.1 Floristic composition (frequency) and functional transitions	group 159
	5.4.2 Dominant species responses	160
	5.4.3 Drivers of riparian woodland ecosystem condition	164
	5.4.4 Significance and limitations	172
5.5	5.4.4 Significance and limitations	172 175
5.5 Chapt	5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood	172 175 Iplain
5.5 Chapt ripari	5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland	172 175 Iplain 178
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland Introduction	172 175 Iplain 178 178
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland Introduction 6.1.1 Species invasion in native ecosystems 	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland Introduction 6.1.1 Species invasion in native ecosystems 6.1.2 Interactions between native and invasive species 	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 179
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 179 181
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 179 181 183
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 181 183 184
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland Introduction 6.1.1 Species invasion in native ecosystems 6.1.2 Interactions between native and invasive species 6.1.3 Lippia on the Upper Condamine Floodplain 6.1.4 This research Methods 6.2.1 Study area	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 181 183 184 184
5.5 Chapt ripari 6.1	 5.4.4 Significance and limitations Conclusions ter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine flood ian woodland Introduction 6.1.1 Species invasion in native ecosystems 6.1.2 Interactions between native and invasive species 6.1.3 Lippia on the Upper Condamine Floodplain 6.1.4 This research Methods 6.2.1 Study area 6.2.2 Lippia-tree relations 	172 175 Iplain 178 178 178 181 183 184 184 184 186

	6.3.1 Floristic patterns	191
	6.3.2 Abiotic parameters	
6.4	Discussion	
	6.4.1 Trees as facilitators	
	6.4.2 Lippia response to environmental conditions	
	6.4.3 Vegetation responses to lippia	
	6.4.4 Lippia-tree interactions and ecosystem condition/function	214
	6.4.5 Significance and limitations	
6.5	Conclusion	
Chapt	er 7 A conceptual state and transition model for Upper C	condamine
floodp	lain riparian woodlands	
7.1	Introduction	
	7.1.1 Conceptual models and ecosystem dynamics	
	7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems	
	7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems7.1.3 This study	
7.2	7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems7.1.3 This studyMethods	
7.2 7.3	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 	
7.2 7.3	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on the statement of the stateme	229 230 231 231 the Upper
7.2 7.3	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on the Condamine floodplain 	229 230 231 231 the Upper 231
7.2 7.3	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on the Condamine floodplain 7.3.2 Significance and limitations 	
7.2 7.3 7.4	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on the Condamine floodplain	
7.2 7.3 7.4 Chapt	 7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems 7.1.3 This study Methods Results and discussion 7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on a Condamine floodplain 7.3.2 Significance and limitations Conclusions er 8 General discussion and conclusions 	

	210
connectivity	
8.1.2 Importance of vertical connectivity	
8.1.3 Importance of landscape legacy	
8.2 Management and policy implications	
8.2.1 Management for ecosystem resilience on the Upper C	ondamine
Floodplain	
8.3 Conclusions and future research directions	255
REFERENCES	

APPENDICES

Appendix A	Survey site details
Appendix B	Functional group classifications for species recorded on the Upper Condamine floodplain
Appendix C	Species frequency data, Upper Condamine floodplain
Appendix D	Environmental variables assessed for use in community composition and condition response modelling
Appendix E	Mean cover data and functional classifications for species recorded at St Ruth Reserve
Appendix F	Soil analysis results for shallow and deep soil samples from St Ruth Reserve

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Hierarchical relationships between hydrological, geomorphic and ecological systems associated with rivers (adapted from Thoms and Parsons 2002) 8
Figure 2.1	Map of the Condamine catchment, showing the location of the Upper Condamine and adjacent floodplains, major towns and drainage patterns 26
Figure 2.2	Mean monthly rainfall at Dalby
Figure 2.3	Cumulative rainfall departure patterns indicate major wetting and drying trends evident in annual rainfall from 1870 to 1999 at Dalby
Figure 2.4	Mean monthly streamflow at Loudon Weir, Dalby
Figure 2.5	Annual streamflow at Cecil Plains Weir, 1949/50-2004/05
Figure 2.6	Areal extents of different land uses on the Upper Condamine floodplain 32
Figure 2.7	Location of key instream storage structures on the Upper Condamine floodplain sections of the Condamine river, southern Queensland
Figure 2.8	Aerial photograph showing floodplain ringtanks, roads, and distribution channels on the North Branch section of the Upper Condamine floodplain35
Figure 2.9	Groundwater trends in selected bores within the Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management groundwater monitoring network.39
Figure 2.10	River section (Upper, Middle, Lower) and river bank (Left, Right) segments on the Upper Condamine floodplain
Figure 2.11	Streamflow patterns at (a) Talgai, (b) Yarramalong, (c) Lemon Tree and (d) Cecil Plains weirs by water year (Oct. – Sept.), 1995/96 - 2004/05
Figure 2.12	Density of irrigation infrastructure (water storages), across (a) river sections (Upper, Middle, Lower) and (b) river banks (Left, Right) within a 5 km zone either side of the river
Figure 2.13	Density of registered bores across (a) river sections (Upper, Middle, Lower), and (b) river banks (Left, Right) within a 5 km zone either side of the river
Figure 2.14	Relative proportions of cropping (dryland, irrigated, total), and native

Figure 2.14 Relative proportions of cropping (dryland, irrigated, total), and native vegetation (mapped remnant vegetation, grazed native vegetation), across (a)

- Figure 3.1 Upper Condamine floodplain study area, indicating survey site locations and the location of weirs defining the endpoints of river section treatments...... 65

- Figure 5.3 Conceptual flow diagram of key environmental factors associated with responses in ecosystem response variables (tree condition as indicated by site Weighted Wylie Index or WWI, lippia cover and floristic composition) in riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain. .. 175

- Figure 6.4 Average floristic similarity and lippia contributions to average similarity (SIMPER analysis in PRIMER) within distance from tree treatments. 194

Figure 6.6	Scatter plots showing linear correlation between lippia Phyla canescens
	cover and (a) cover of non-lippia species, and (b) Shannon-Wiener
	diversity199
Figure 6.7	Conceptual diagram of interactions and potential feedbacks between canopy
	cover, and cover of lippia and non-lippia vegetation
Figure 7.1	A conceptual state and transition model for Upper Condamine floodplain
	riparian woodland

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Groundwater entitlements and annual extractions in relation to modelled sustainable yields, and average salinity across the 5 Groundwater Management Units (GMUs) of the Upper Condamine Groundwater Management Area
Table 2.2	Details of weirs within the Upper Condamine Water Supply Scheme
Table 2.3	Hydrological details of study area River Sections
Table 2.4	Hydrological details of study area River Banks
Table 3.1	Distribution of survey sites per sampling stratification category (stream section, riverbank, land use)
Table 3.2	Site disturbance categories and scoring
Table 3.3	Measures of site condition and woodland structure by site groupings (river section, river bank, land use)
Table 3.4	Selected functional groupings, including categories within groups, gradient reflected and reported responses
Table 3.5	Summary of pairwise tests (ANOSIM) on species abundance data between river section groups
Table 3.6	Species contributing to 20% of Dissimilarity between river sections
Table 3.7	3-way ANOVA results for total, native and alien species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity by treatments (river section, river bank, land use)
Table 3.8	3-way ANOVA results for functional response group species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity by treatments (river section, river bank, land use)
Table 3.9	Lippia frequency (1000 m ² quadrats) and cover (FPC%, 1 m ² quadrats) by treatments (river section, river bank, land use)
Table 4.1	Definitions for (a) tree health parameters, including (b) categories used to assess crown structure, and (c) categories to assess the position of crown dieback, used in assessments of tree health in mature <i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> in Upper Condamine riparian woodlands 106

Definitions for (a) Health Class, and (b) Weighted Wylie Index (WWI) Table 4.2 categories used in assessments of tree health in mature Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis in Upper Condamine riparian woodlands 108 Table 4.3 Table 4.4 3-way ANOVA results for key woody species attributes by treatments (river Table 4.5 Reproductive condition, foliage condition, canopy condition and evidence of species interactions measures by site groupings (river section, river bank, land use) 114 Table 4.6 Spearman's correlations between measures of tree health, tree size, reproductive condition, canopy condition and evidence of species Table 5.1 Table 5.2 Minimum sets of predictor variables used in Combination, Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale and Local-scale (local landscape-scale) models......142 Table 5.3 Grades of evidence used to interpret the strength of the BIC values, BIC differences between models, and posterior effect probabilities for variable effect within Bayesian model averaging (BMA) models 144 Functional group richness and abundance transition ratios for reciprocal Table 5.4 Table 5.5 Dominant species attributes (condition, size, density and cover). 146 Table 5.6 BIOENV models (Combination, Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale) for floristic composition based on species frequency data......147 Table 5.7 Bayesian information criteria (BIC) values for the best predictor models within the Combination, Hydrology, Spatial and Patch-scale test variable sets for functional group richness and abundance transition ratios and Table 5.8 Individual models for functional species richness transitions using Bayesian Table 5.9 Individual models for functional species abundance transitions using Bayesian model averaging (BMA).....154

Table 5.10	Individual models for dominant species measures using Bayesian model averaging (BMA)
Table 6.1	Attributes of transect trees across topographic position treatments
Table 6.2	Soil attributes measured in shallow soil and subsoil samples collected from St Ruth Reserve
Table 6.3	Results of Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) pairwise comparisons on FPC data for distance from tree treatments
Table 6.4	Differences between distance from tree and topographic position treatments for lippia cover; total species richness, cover and Shannon-Wiener diversity; and non-lippia species richness, cover and Shannon-Wiener diversity 196
Table 6.5	Mean lippia condition response (scores: 0-4) to distance from tree and topographic position treatments
Table 6.6	Spearman's correlations between lippia cover and non-lippia functional and origin species groups richness and cover
Table 6.7	Differences between distance from tree (0.5r, 2r) and topographic position (low, mid, high) treatments for soil parameters
Table 6.8	Spearman's correlation results for abiotic parameters and (a) tree attributes at 0.5r; (b) lippia cover and lippia reproductive effort; and (c) non-lippia cover and Shannon-Wiener diversity
Table 7.1	Resilience-based concepts recommended for incorporation in the state-and- transition modelling framework
Table 7.2	Components of a proposed resilience-based state and transition model (STM) for riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1 Research overview

Natural systems worldwide are increasingly impacted by human activity (Chapin et al. 2006a, Hobbs et al. 2006, Safriel 2009), resulting in significant loss of ecological diversity (Laliberte et al. 2010). Yet ecosystem diversity (composition and function, sensu Noss 1990) is the fundamental basis of landscape function and the provision of ecosystem goods and services that underpin system productivity and human wellbeing (McCann 2000, Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). The combined effects of anthropogenic pressures, often in combination with natural stressors such as prolonged drought, may drive significant change in terms of composition and function, reducing the capacity of natural systems to respond to disturbances (Folke et al. 2004, Hooper et al. 2005), and leaving ecosystems prone to ongoing degradation, reinforced by further biodiversity decline (Folke et al. 2004, Safriel 2009). They also contribute to secondary impacts in terms of ecosystem service provision, leading to productivity constraints and higher input requirements in production systems (Bell 1999, Laliberte et al. 2010), and significant societal costs associated with addressing impacts such as species invasions, loss of landscape function, and declining water quality and availability for downstream water uses (Sinden and Griffith 2007). Understanding the impact of human activity on ecosystems and the consequences of biodiversity change for ecosystem function and service provision is fundamental to ensuring sustainable land management (Lindenmayer et al. 2008).

This is especially apparent in floodplain landscapes, which are some of the most highly modified landscapes worldwide (Décamps 1993, Tockner and Stanford 2002). Their low slope, inherent fertility and proximity to water make them a focus for agricultural development, resulting in significant change in land cover and the types and levels of disturbances (Swift 1984, Marston *et al.* 1995). Increasing evidence of declining biodiversity and ecosystem function associated with major land and water use development indicates that ecosystems in highly modified landscapes such as floodplains are at significant risk (Decamps *et al.* 1988, Peterken and Hughes 1995, Kingsford and Thomas 2002). Such landscapes provide an ideal model to investigate the impacts of, and ecological responses to, altered disturbance

regimes associated with human activity, and can contribute significantly to our understanding of how ecological systems respond to change. This knowledge is not only vital to our understanding of how management might most effectively respond to limit loss of biodiversity and vital ecosystem services, but also how future disturbances such as climate change might play out across landscapes. There is a significant social imperative to better understand the function and adaptive capacity of such ecosystems in order to minimise degradation and management constraints in high value production landscapes. However, remnant ecosystems in agricultural landscapes in general and floodplain agricultural landscapes in particular are relatively little studied and poorly understood in terms of their diversity, function and dynamics (resilience) under altered disturbance regimes.

This current research investigates the impacts and responses in remnant (*sensu* Saunders *et al.* 1991) floodplain riparian woodland ecosystems in a highly modified, relictual (*sensu* McIntyre and Hobbs 1999) production landscape. This review outlines the theoretical basis for the research, as well as current understanding of floodplain ecology and ecological responses to modified disturbance regimes associated with floodplain development. It concludes with an overview of the studies undertaken in this research, the key questions addressed and the significance of the research in terms of management and restoration of ecosystem function in the model socio-ecological landscape.

1.1.1 Theoretical background

One of the key ecological insights of the 1970s was the recognition of the importance of disturbance and non-equilibrial processes in ecosystems (Huston 1994). This has led to major developments in ecological theory regarding ecosystem change and the regulation of species diversity (i.e. how diversity varies in space and time), and also to a greater understanding of the role of disturbance as a fundamental driver of ecosystem dynamics (Holling 1973, Wu and Louks 1995, Gunderson 2000). It has also led to increasing recognition of the complexity of ecosystem responses and the potential for multiple alternative outcomes or ecosystem states (in terms of composition and function) for a given range of environmental conditions (e.g. Westoby *et al.* 1989, Seastedt and Knapp 1993, Huston 1994, Gillson 2004).

Non-linearities in system response and the possibility of alternative trajectories and ecosystem endpoints challenge the capacity of ecology to predict how systems will respond to new types or levels (intensity, frequency) of disturbance. Yates and Hobbs (1997), Shea and Chesson (2002) and Shea *et al.* (2004) all identify the need for an integrated theoretical framework within which disturbance dynamics can be adequately interpreted and outcomes predicted. Resilience thinking and a conceptual view of ecosystems (particularly socio-ecological systems which incorporate humans as a significant active component) as complex adaptive systems (CAS; Folke *et al.* 1996, Levin 1998, Walker *et al.* 2004, Kinzig *et al.* 2006) represent significant progress in this regard. These also provide an overarching framework within which to investigate, interpret and better understand the mechanics of individual systems. Predicting ecosystem outcomes, particularly where there are likely to be non-linear system responses to multiple disturbances, remains a significant challenge (Groffman *et al.* 2006).

Complexity

Ecological systems are inherently complex, comprising large numbers of diverse interacting components which exhibit collective behaviour (patterns and processes) due to emergent properties (Gallagher and Appenzeller 1999) such as self-organisation and adaptation (i.e. system development) in response to environmental change (Holling 1992, Levin 1998, 1999, Wu and Marceau 2002). Self-organization is evident in the hierarchical organization (e.g. trophic webs), spatial and temporal heterogeneity (patch dynamics), connections or flows (interactions, feedbacks) between components, and non-linearities (resilience, threshold behaviour) of ecosystems (Carpenter *et al.* 1999, Levin 1999, Wu and David 2002, Wu and Marceau 2002).

Adaptive capacity describes an ecosystem's ability to maintain a diversity of components (e.g. species with different traits and presumed 'function') (Liebold & Norberg 2004) and critical processes under dynamic environmental conditions (Norberg 2004). It also encompasses the system's ability to evolve through processes such as the sorting (filtering) and recombination of component species in response to change and altered selection processes (Liebold and Norberg 2004). CAS theory focuses on how community patterns result from the interaction of system

components, and how changes in individual components lead to system-level responses and adaptation (Hartvigsen *et al.* 1998, Norberg 2004, Green and Sadedin 2005).

The CAS concept has led to significant development in ecological thinking in relation to landscape ecology and phenomena such as pattern formation and patch dynamics, connectivity and fragmentation, and epidemic processes such as invasion of alien plants (Green 1993, Green and Sadedin 2005). Ecological foundations for the study of complex adaptive systems include an understanding of the role of disturbance in generating heterogeneous patterns within ecosystems (Wu and Loucks 1995), interactions or feedbacks between pattern, process and scale in the landscape context (Wu 1995), and the dynamics of system responses (i.e. stability/resilience, threshold behaviour) (Holling 1973, Gunderson 2000).

Disturbance

Disturbance has been variously defined (e.g. Grime 1979, Huston 1979, 1994, Pickett *et al.* 1989), but includes any discrete event that changes the physical environment or disrupts population, community or ecosystem structure (White and Pickett 1985, Petraitis *et al.* 1989, Laska 2001). Individual disturbance events may have marked effects in terms of biomass removal, and subsequent resource availability and ecosystem productivity (Myster 2001, Yeakley *et al.* 2003, Clarke *et al.* 2005). Disturbance initiates reorganization within ecosystems, frequently exposing new regeneration surfaces, increasing resource availability, and increasing opportunities for the establishment of novel species (Colautti *et al.* 2006, Richardson *et al.* 2007). It also potentially alters species interactions, fundamental processes such as nutrient cycling, successional trajectories and system feedbacks (Bendix and Hupp 2000, Raffa *et al.* 2008).

The history and sequence of disturbance events can significantly influence successional trajectories and ecosystem development (Turner *et al.* 1998), and combinations of different disturbance types, acting at different temporal and spatial scales, can lead to cross-scale interactions and complex ecosystem responses (Holling 1992, Peters *et al.* 2007). Greater levels of uncertainty and variability in successional trajectories are also associated with the occurrence of large infrequent disturbances (Turner *et al.* 1998), as species are unlikely to have evolved adaptive

responses to this scale of event. However, long-term dynamics within ecosystems are predominantly influenced by the nature of the prevailing disturbance regime (i.e. the magnitude and timing of historical disturbance events; Hobbs and Huenneke 1992).

Disturbance is a significant driver of diversity (Connell 1978, Huston 1979, 1994) and function in ecosystems (Hobbs and Huenneke 1992), altering the availability of specific resources and the dynamics of interspecific interactions at the local scale (influencing within-patch or *alpha* diversity) (Huston 1979, Hobbs and Huenneke 1992). Variation in disturbance intensity across landscapes contributes to heterogeneous patch conditions and asynchronous community development due to differential responses to the timing and intensity of disturbance events. In this way, disturbance also plays a key role in maintaining diversity at the landscape level (beta diversity) by creating a mosaic of patches of different ages and successional stages (Turner 1987, Hobbs and Huenneke 1992, Legendre et al. 2005). Succession, in turn, is influenced by differential rates of establishment, maturation and reproduction of species and outcomes of species interactions within patches, as well as biotic exchange (colonisation) between patches (Pickett et al. 1987). Current understanding of the importance of disturbance in supporting diverse, well-functioning landscapes is based on the concept of ecosystems as meta-communities which comprise multiple spatially linked (in terms of dispersal) but temporally independent patches (Ward and Stanford 1995b, Gillson 2004).

System response to disturbance can be measured in terms of resilience (i.e. capacity of a system to recover from disturbance and retain its fundamental character in terms of composition and function); resistance (i.e. the level of change in the natural disturbance regime which can be tolerated before significant change in ecosystem composition or function occurs); pattern of response (linear or non-linear); and rate of response (non-linear system responses may show no measurable change until some threshold level is reached, after which a rapid rate of change may occur; response may also occur some time after a disturbance where ecosystems are dominated by long-lived species) (Orwin and Wardel 2004, Orwin *et al.* 2006). A diverse well-functioning system subject to the range and intensity of disturbance historically experienced is expected to exhibit dynamic 'stability', indicative of a high level of system resilience (Turner *et al.* 1993, Szabo and Meszena 2007).

Conversely, disturbances which exceed the limits of natural dynamics over time may reduce resilience and increase the potential for unexpected system responses including transition to alternative ecological states with significant changes in community composition or condition indicative of fundamental change in ecosystem function (Cumming and Collier 2005, Briske *et al.* 2008).

Resilience

The concept of ecosystem resilience is fundamental to understanding the nature and dynamics of disturbance-driven systems. Resilient systems can undergo a level of change in response to disturbance, but will recover and retain their fundamental identity (composition, structure and function) through the influence of negative stabilizing feedbacks which confer 'dynamic stability' (Suding *et al.* 2004, Briske *et al.* 2006, Suding and Hobbs 2009). Theoretically, a diverse system with high redundancy (functional response diversity *sensu* Walker 1992) will be more resilient to disturbance and exhibit greater dynamic stability than one in which overall and, specifically, functional diversity is limited (Elmqvist *et al.* 2003, Hooper *et al.* 2005). Systems with low diversity, but a high proportion of resistant species, may also exhibit limited response to disturbance, but are likely to exhibit limited functionality (Loreau and Behera 1999, Maestre and Cortina 2004).

Disturbance, which alters underlying abiotic conditions or dominant species interactions and reduces the functional response diversity of a system, may result in loss of resilience (Scheffer *et al.* 2001, Folke *et al.* 2004, van Nes and Scheffer 2007, Hagerthey *et al.* 2008) and increased risk of a 'switch' from negative regulatory feedbacks to positive feedbacks which reinforce change (Briske *et al.* 2006, Suding and Hobbs 2009). Change associated with exceeding ecological tipping points (thresholds) is indicated by a fundamental shift in the identity, composition and function of a system, and reorganization into a new stability domain and 'alternative stable state' maintained by a new set of negative feedbacks (a 'regime shift') (Mayer and Rietkerk 2004, Carpenter and Scheffer 2009). A system which has undergone a regime shift to an alternative stable state is likely also to develop increasing resilience and resistance with time (Laycock 1991, Mayer and Rietkerk 2004, Suding *et al.* 2004), and will generally require management intervention and significant input (energy, investment) to return to its previous (preferred) condition

(Folke *et al.* 2004, Prober *et al.* 2005, Chartier and Rostagno 2006). System recovery may also be unpredictable in a system exhibiting threshold dynamics unless the biotic and/or abiotic changes which induced the threshold response are effectively addressed (Prober *et al.* 2002b, 2005, Hobbs 2007, Suding and Hobbs 2009).

1.1.2 Floodplain landscapes: patterns and processes

Riparian and active floodplain (i.e. parts of the floodplain subject to periodic inundation and progressive drying between flood events) systems are dynamic heterogeneous non-equilibrial adaptive systems, which integrate landscape processes across spatial and temporal scales (Frissell et al. 1986, Ward et al. 2002, Wiens 2002). The dynamics of riverine landscapes are primarily driven by the action of flowing water (Walker and Thoms 1993, Ward et al. 1999, Naiman et al. 2005), which drives geomorphic processes such as erosion and sedimentation, channel migration and floodplain formation (Hughes 1997, Ward et al. 2002), as well as species dispersal through the movement of plant propagules (Brown 2002, Ward et al. 2002) and flood-dependent establishment processes (Mahoney and Rood 1998, Pettit and Froend 2001a,b, Cooper et al. 2003a). However, as transitional ecosystems between riverine and terrestrial systems (Thoms 2003), they are also influenced by disturbance within the wider catchment (Tabacchi et al. 1998, Thoms et al. 1999, Allan et al. 2002). In combination, these events contribute to the exchange of materials and energy between riverine and floodplain systems, driving ecological processes, supporting floodplain function, and shaping and sustaining associated ecosystems (Lorenz et al. 1997, Gallardo 2003, Naiman et al. 2005).

Appreciation of the importance of dynamic processes (e.g. disturbance, recruitment, succession) in terrestrial systems (Wu and Loucks 1995) has contributed to greater understanding of the evolution of complex riverine and floodplain landscapes (Thorp *et al.* 2006), the importance of cross-scale interactions (Thorp *et al.* 2006; Figure 1.1) and mechanisms behind the spatial and temporal heterogeneity evident in dynamic riverine environments (Poole 2002, Thorp *et al.* 2006). Current understanding of the nature and function of active floodplain ecosystems is based on the interactive roles of connectivity and disturbance in driving ecological processes and patterns which shape ecosystem resilience in floodplain landscapes (e.g. Sedell *et al.* 1990, Stromberg *et al.* 1993).

SYSTEM



Figure 1.1 Hierarchical relationships between hydrological, geomorphic and ecological systems associated with rivers (adapted from Thoms and Parsons 2002). This conceptual diagram (based on the River Ecosystem Synthesis; Thorp et al. 2006) comprises hydro-geo-ecological hierarchies and cross-scale interactions driving abiotic and biotic processes (including connectivity) and ecological patterns (including heterogeneity) in riverine (riparian and floodplain) landscapes. Arrows indicate potential direction of major flows/influences, but are not exclusive of interactions in any direction, or across/between scales.

Connectivity

Conceptual hypotheses developed to explain geomorphic and ecological processes in river corridors focus on the spatial and temporal nature of hydrological connections. These include the River Continuum concept (Vannote *et al.* 1980), the Flood Pulse (a view of the floodplain as a mobile 'aquatic/terrestrial transition zone'; Junk *et al.* 1989) and Flow Pulse (Tockner *et al.* 2000) concepts, the Hyporheic Corridor concept (the hyporheos being the saturated substrate beneath the stream; Stanford

and Ward 1993, Boulton 2007), and the River Ecosystem Synthesis (Thorp *et al.* 2006). Overall, these concepts recognise four key dimensions of hydrological connectivity: longitudinal (upstream-downstream linkages along the river corridor); lateral (transverse linkages across the floodplain associated with overbank flooding); vertical (surface-groundwater linkages within the river corridor); and temporal (the range of timescales relevant to these spatial linkages).

Spatial connectivity plays a critical role in physically linking components across floodplain landscapes. The linear configuration and directional flow of energy and resources highlight the importance of longitudinal and lateral connectivity within the stream corridor (Tabacchi et al. 1998, Grant et al. 2007), and the ecological consequences of flows and floods are generally well recognised. In-stream flow supports aquatic and semi-aquatic species and ecosystems, and movement (including dispersal) of these within the river corridor (Tabacchi et al. 1998, Grant et al. 2007, Gurnell et al. 2008). Overbank flooding refills floodplain wetlands and promotes increased productivity by supplementing soil moisture and redistributing sediment and plant propagules across the floodplain (Thoms 2003, Leyer 2006, Gurnell et al. 2008). The importance of vertical connectivity is also recognised (e.g. Brunke and Gonser 1997, Mackay 2006, Boulton 2007). Exchange between surface and groundwater systems fills shallow alluvial aquifers, access to which is a critical resource for groundwater-dependent (phreatophytic) riparian vegetation (Busch et al. 1992, Smith et al. 1998, Costelloe et al. 2008) and an important buffer to streamflow (as baseflow back to the stream) during extended periods of low rainfall/drought (Dahm et al. 2003). Temporal variations in connectivity also play a major role in determining processes which influence the composition, structure and function of riverine (including floodplain) ecosystems (Amoros and Bornette 2002, Thoms et al. 2005, Porter et al. 2007). Temporal connectivity is often scaled into a hierarchy of hydrological phenomena including the flow regime, flow history, flood pulse, and flow hydraulics (Thoms and Sheldon 2000a,b, 2002, Thoms and Parsons 2003), which are linked to geomorphological and ecological responses (Figure 1.1).

The importance of spatial and temporal connectivity is especially evident in river systems in more arid regions ('dryland rivers'), where rainfall patterns are variable and erratic and result in ephemeral flows and contrasting states of flood and drought which, in many cases, occur at unpredictable intervals (Sheldon 2005). Ecosystem

processes in these naturally highly fragmented (temporally and spatially) river systems may differ significantly from those in perennially flowing river systems, being strongly influenced by wetting and drying cycles (Capon 2003) and by spatial and temporal scales of connectivity (highly variable and often short-lived levels of connectedness during floods, highly disconnected during droughts) between riverine and floodplain components (Sheldon *et al.* 2002, Sheldon and Thoms 2006b). Vertical connectivity between surface waterbodies and shallow alluvial aquifers supports persistence of floodplain waterholes and wetlands during periods of low surface flows (Hatton and Evans 1998, Murray *et al.* 2003, Brunke *et al.* 2003), and may be critical to the health and diversity of riparian ecosystems (Horton *et al.* 2001a, Harner and Stanford 2003, Lamontagne *et al.* 2005a) in these landscapes. Groundwater access may provide a critical temporal buffer for species either directly or indirectly dependent on shallow groundwater systems for survival during periods of extended and severe drought (Elmore *et al.* 2003, 2006a).

Heterogeneity

Variable levels of hydrological connectivity mean that floodplain ecosystems are naturally fragmented along rivers where large-scale dynamic natural processes (e.g. flooding, drought) occur (Ward *et al.* 2001, Thoms *et al.* 2005, Sheldon and Thoms 2006b). Interactions between climate, floods, and plant succession produce variable rates and levels of connectivity and patch turnover (Tockner *et al.* 1998, Whited *et al.* 2007) resulting in significant complexity with different patterns and processes occurring at a range of spatial scales in riverine and floodplain environments (e.g. Huggenberger *et al.* 1998, Thoms *et al.* 2005, 2007). These different landscape legacies (Foster *et al.* 1998, Parsons *et al.* 2006) influence the structure, composition and function of floodplain communities and contribute to high levels of heterogeneity in floodplain ecosystems (Gann *et al.* 2005, Jenkins *et al.* 2005, Jansson *et al.* 2007).

Vegetation patterns in floodplain ecosystems also arise from component species' tolerance and physiological response to disturbance and hydrological conditions such as inundation and waterlogging (Chen *et al.* 2002, Leyer 2005, Capon 2007), wetting-drying cycles, and frequency and timing (seasonality) of flows including floods and no-flow periods (Capon 2003, 2005, Stromberg *et al.* 2006). These

phenomena determine the survival, growth, competitive and reproductive fitness of individuals, and act as selective filters on the distribution and abundance of species. Flooding disturbance effectively limits the occurrence of species intolerant of high flow velocities, mobile substrates (scouring, sedimentation) or inundation in these landscapes (Turner *et al.* 2004), while floodplain ecosystems associated with dryland river systems may also exhibit limited diversity of species which are poorly adapted to cope with drought and extreme moisture conditions (e.g. Cleverley *et al.* 1997, Horton and Clark 2001).

Resilience in floodplain ecosystems

Resilience in floodplain ecosystems is fundamentally associated with variability in temporal and spatial connectivity, and the resultant heterogeneity of resources and species distributions across the active floodplain landscape (Tockner 2007). Community assemblages, comprising a diversity of species adapted to the range of conditions associated with the historical disturbance regime, retain the capacity (often through the formation of persistent seedbanks; e.g. Holzel and Otte 2004, Capon and Brock 2006) to respond to this variability, and maintain ecosystem function (e.g. Bagstad et al. 2005). For example, Capon (2005) found that frequently flooded sites on the Cooper Creek floodplain, central Australia, were more similar to each other than those which were rarely flooded. Capon and Brock (2006) similarly reported that spatial patterns in soil seed bank composition were associated with the broad flood frequency gradient in this same landscape. Extreme variability (e.g. severe drought) in arid and semi-arid floodplain systems may also be buffered by residual connectivity with shallow alluvial groundwater systems providing critical drought refugia (Sedell et al. 1990) which enable species persistence and facilitate the recovery of ecosystem function following drought (Lake 2003).

1.1.3 Floodplain development

By contrast, rivers and floodplains significantly modified by human activities are increasingly disconnected and at odds with their evolutionary dynamics. Anthropogenic changes in landscape configuration (e.g. ecosystem fragmentation), in combination with management intensity, mean that natural disturbance regimes are likely to be significantly altered (Hobbs and Huenneke 1992). Water resource

development (flow regulation or extraction) to support and protect irrigated agriculture or urban settlements has led to significant modification of hydrological flow in rivers (Baron *et al.* 2002). Streamflow modification, resulting in altered streamflow and flooding, constrains the exchange of materials (e.g. water, nutrients, sediment) and energy between riverine and floodplain systems which drives natural processes, supports floodplain function, and shapes and sustains associated ecosystems (above). Extraction of water resources to ensure supply to production systems on developed floodplain landscapes results in declining availability to support water-dependent natural systems (Zekster *et al.* 2005, Elmore *et al.* 2006a).

In addition to significant landscape and hydrological change, major land use modification is also almost universally associated with increased presence and diversity of non-native (alien) species (Vitousek et al. 1997). These species potentially increase the overall diversity of native ecosystems in these landscapes, particularly where they possess novel traits, occupy alternative niches or contribute to the functional response diversity of what are effectively now novel ecosystems (sensu Hobbs et al. 2006, 2009). However, where these species are competitive strategists (sensu Lambdon et al. 2008a), with traits that enable them to access a greater proportion of resources (e.g. Maron and Marler 2008, Schmidt et al. 2008) or directly inhibit other species (e.g. Callaway and Ridenour 2004, Vivanco et al. 2004), they may become dominant and contribute to declining diversity and heterogeneity within a landscape (Lodge 1993, Lambdon et al. 2008a, b). Such species constitute a major disturbance to invaded ecosystems (Mack and D'Antonio 1998, Gooden et al. 2009a,b), significantly reducing and displacing native species, altering ecosystem function (Hobbs and Huenneke 1992) and system responses to disturbances (Prober et al. 2002b), and modifying subsequent disturbance regimes (the frequency/intensity/type of disturbances) (D'Antonio and Vitousek 1992, Brooks et al. 2004).

Highly modified floodplain landscapes and their remnant native (often invaded) ecosystems represent integrated social-ecological systems (*sensu* Carpenter *et al.* 2001), with new or altered drivers of ecosystem structure and function, altered ecological processes and outcomes (Walker and Meyers 2004, Walker *et al.* 2006), and potentially altered resilience (Walker and Salt 2006). In many cases, undesirable changes in composition (with loss of key species and spread of invasives) and a

decline in ecosystem function are observed in these landscapes (Fischer and Lindenmayer 2007, Prober and Smith 2009). Despite recognition, the capacity to restore ecological function to developed landscapes is fundamentally constrained by a number of social, ecological and environmental factors. These include the social legitimacy of agricultural land and water use for food and fibre production, the legal property and resource access rights of current landholders, the legacy of historical development (including current extent of biodiversity change and lag effects into the future, and ecological feedbacks to environmental processes and provision of ecosystem services), and lack of understanding of the critical drivers of ecosystem function (Baron *et al.* 2002, Hooper *et al.* 2005).

1.1.4 Disturbance ecology in modified floodplain landscapes

Changes associated with floodplain development have effectively suppressed the range of fluvial dynamics in river systems (Ward and Stanford 1995b), reducing connectivity, limiting the range of natural disturbances and contributing to reduced heterogeneity across floodplain landscapes (Ward *et al.* 1999, Ward and Tockner 2001). This loss of natural environmental dynamism and heterogeneity poses a serious threat to the composition, function and persistence of riverine and floodplain ecosystems (Langhans *et al.* 2006, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a) and may have significant consequences for the continued function of these important socio-ecological systems (Naiman *et al.* 2005). Tockner and Stanford (2002) suggest that up to 90% of floodplains in Europe and North America are essentially functionally extinct as a result of land use change and altered hydrology, with consequent loss of ecological integrity, biodiversity (aquatic and riparian species) and capacity to provide ecosystem services.

'Disconnectivity'

A well-recognised consequence (and threat to biodiversity) of land use change is the incremental fragmentation of native ecosystems, leading to increasingly smaller and more isolated remnant patches within a relatively inhospitable matrix (Cox *et al.* 2001) and significant secondary impacts on biodiversity (McAlpine *et al.* 2002). Patch size and connectedness (proximity to similar patches) are important factors for the persistence of many species within agricultural landscapes (Dale *et al.* 2000,

Prober and Smith 2009), influencing the extent of available habitat and dispersal of native species (e.g. Cale 2003). However, it is not clear that this hypothesis is directly applicable to dynamic disturbance-driven riparian ecosystems (Holl and Crone 2004, Wimberly 2006), or to plant species whose dispersal is facilitated by the directional movement of water (Tabacchi *et al.* 1998, Jensen *et al.* 2008a, b).

Fragmentation of riparian ecosystems may be more strongly associated with the presence of in-stream and floodplain structures, such as dams, weirs and levees, which constrain flow, disrupt dispersal pathways and natural disturbance regimes, shorten environmental gradients and upstream-downstream linkages, and isolate river channels from riparian and floodplain systems (Ward 1998, Andersson et al. 2000, Jansson et al. 2000 a,b). These alterations interfere with successional trajectories, habitat diversification, migratory pathways and other processes associated with connectivity within riverine and floodplain systems (Ward 1998). The term 'serial discontinuity' (Ward and Stanford 1993, 1995a), was coined to describe the disruption of riverine biotic and abiotic processes as a consequence of dam and weir construction along the river continuum. However, this was based on an understanding of unregulated rivers as single-thread continually flowing systems (Ward and Stanford 1995a), and fails to account for the variability inherent in many systems (Ward et al. 2002). In reality, flow regulation may have disparate impacts, depending on the nature of the stream and the attribute of interest (Nagler et al. 2007). In ephemeral streams which undergo periodic fragmentation due to highly variable precipitation and flow conditions, smaller regulatory structures such as weirs may have limited adverse impact, and in fact may act to enhance the frequency of in-stream drought refugia (Sedell et al. 1990, Lake 2000) and the extent of surface-groundwater exchange (shallow groundwater aquifer recharge) (Lane and Zinn 1980).

Of greater significance to riparian ecosystems, particularly in dryland river systems, is flow regulation and management for flood mitigation or water supply purposes which significantly alter the frequency and seasonality of flows and reduce the inherent temporal variability of in-stream flow patterns (Ward and Stanford 1995b). In terms of spatial connectivity, flow regulation moderates flood peaks and the frequency, extent and duration of over-bank flooding, and hence, the extent of lateral connectivity across the floodplain (Ward and Stanford 1995b, Ward *et al.* 1999).

Failure to reconnect and rejuvenate floodplain wetlands, for example, limits dispersal and recruitment of flood- and wetland-dependent vegetation species and enables ecological succession to proceed, leading to increasing terrestrialisation (*sensu* Ward *et al.* 2001) and replacement with flood-intolerant habitat-generalist species (Marston *et al.* 1995). This may eventually result in loss of wetland ecosystems (Ward *et al.* 1999, Deil 2005) and functional diversity (specifically, species adapted to flooding) across the landscape (Capon 2007). Floodplain riparian forest structure may also be significantly impacted by altered flows which mimic drought conditions and restrict successful recruitment of ecosystem dominants, such as *Populus* and *Salix* in regulated sections of the upper Colorado basin, USA (e.g. Cooper *et al.* 2003b).

Water extraction (for urban, mining or agricultural purposes) can also have a major impact on in-stream flow volumes, particularly in dryland river systems subject to variable precipitation and flow (Pringle 2000, CSIRO 2008). This is further complicated where flows are diverted and distributed away from the main river channel, and where groundwater pumping from the shallow alluvial aquifer contributes to dewatering of river reaches (Zekster et al. 2005, Evans 2007, CSIRO 2008). Increasing discontinuity (intermittency of flow) in ephemeral streams and declining groundwater levels, associated with prolonged drought or dewatering of groundwater aquifers through extraction, can lead to disconnection between surface and underground waterbodies (Braaten and Gates 2003, Evans 2007, CSIRO 2008). This disconnectivity has potentially important consequences for phreatic (groundwater-dependent) species and ecological systems, exacerbating drought conditions and leading to decline in individual species and loss of functional diversity across affected landscapes (Stromberg et al. 1996, Elmore et al. 2003). Riparian species have been referred to as 'drought avoiders' due to their reliance on ready access to water (usually subsurface/groundwater) (Smith et al. 1998). They are frequently physiologically adapted to and dependent on high water availability, lack the physiological capacity to reduce water use, and risk significant physiological constraints due to hydraulic failure under low water conditions (Alder et al. 1996, Pockman and Sperry 2000, Rood et al. 2000). Decline in groundwater levels or reduced flooding can contribute to increased mortality in such species (e.g. Akeroyd et al. 1998, Lytle and Merritt 2004, Horner et al. 2009).

Homogeneity

Altered biodiversity patterns at a range of scales (e.g. reduced landscape diversity, ecosystem homogenisation, changes in species composition and population fitness) are universally reported where floodplain landscapes are subject to land use development and modified hydrological regimes (e.g. Rood and Mahoney 1990, Stromberg *et al.* 2005a, Dufour *et al.* 2007). Reduced frequency, extent and duration of flooding limit the lateral connectivity of the floodplain, its water bodies and vegetation communities with the main river channel. Fluvial processes and associated channel migration, erosion and sedimentation, become less dynamic (Shields *et al.* 2000), and dispersal of floodplain organisms or their propagules is suppressed (Beauchamp and Stromberg 2008, Middelton and Wu 2008), as is reproduction and recruitment in species responsive to flooding (Horton and Clark 2001, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a).

Comparisons between regulated and unregulated river systems show evidence of loss of heterogeneity at a range of temporal and spatial scales with reduced inundation and connectivity across the floodplain (Bowen *et al.* 2003). This includes a range of impacts, from reduced variation in patch distribution across the floodplain landscape (Ward and Stanford 1995b, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a) to changes in nutrient cycling and ecological processes associated with a moving littoral zone (Bowen *et al.* 2003). Lack of flooding and increasing isolation of the floodplain from the river removes an important environmental selection filter which maintains flood-dependent species and constrains the more terrestrial or flood-intolerant species, leading to increasing terrestrialisation and reduced functional diversity of vegetation patches across previously active floodplains (Ward *et al.* 2001, Petrone *et al.* 2005).

In combination, flow modification and geomorphic changes associated with reduced flooding result in a more homogeneous landscape, with overall loss of patch diversity and simplification of within-patch structure (Stromberg *et al.* 2005a) (i.e. reduced *beta*-diversity). Changes in species composition and declining species richness in response to reduced temporal and spatial heterogeneity associated with reduced disturbance and reduced resource availability contribute further to ecosystem homogenisation (Stromberg *et al.* 2005a) (i.e. reduced *alpha*-diversity). Reduced flooding, dewatering of rivers and associated aquifers, especially in
combination with periodic drought, drive floodplain landscape drying ('desertification') and may induce compositional shifts toward drought-tolerant species (e.g. Stromberg *et al.* 1996, 2005a).

These processes are also evident in dryland ephemeral river systems; flow regulation and abstraction contribute to significant flood modification and dewatering of the river system, its alluvial aquifer and potentially the floodplain landscape. However, the presence of in-stream regulatory structures such as weirs may act to counter the trend towards overall homogeneity and biodiversity decline to some extent, providing critical drought refugia which enable some species to persist (e.g. Sedell *et al.* 1990, Jacobsen and Kleynhans 1993, Kinzli and Myrick 2009), and supplementing alluvial aquifers through groundwater recharge (Lane and Zinn 1980).

Resilience in modified floodplain ecosystems

Altered hydrological pattern is a significant driver of change in riverine and riparian ecosystems, contributing to decline in dominant tree species (e.g. Rood and Mahoney 1990, Lytle and Merritt 2004, Stromberg et al. 2007a), increased opportunity for invasion by alien species (e.g. Stromberg et al. 2007b) and potentially a shift in community structure (Capon 2003), although few studies have investigated this. Stromberg et al. (2007a) report reduced diversity and cover of herbaceous (and particularly perennial) species at local scales and reduced landscape patch heterogeneity, where river regulation and water diversion resulted in increasing intermittency of in-stream flows, associated groundwater decline and replacement of dominant canopy species by more drought-tolerant and less groundwater-dependent canopy species. Altered sedimentation rates and coarsening of substrates downstream of reservoirs in this study also reduced the water- and nutrient-holding capacity of soils, contributing further to altered cover and richness of herbaceous vegetation (Stromberg et al. 2007a). Elmore et al. (2003, 2006a) report a shift in species composition in alkali meadows from perennial to alien annual herbaceous species where groundwater declined below the average rooting depth of 2.5 m, resulting in the decoupling of vegetation cover from shallow groundwater, which provided a buffer during drought, and a functional shift to increased response to precipitation. The study showed a slower rate of change where

deep-rooted woody (shrub) species were present suggesting that these moderated the effect of groundwater decline to some extent (Elmore *et al.* 2006a).

Altered hydrological regimes are also reported to facilitate the dominance of invasive alien species which further contribute to the altered composition, structure and function of remnant ecosystems in these landscapes. Flow regulation and the subsequent dampening of the hydrological variability of streams in the arid southwestern USA have contributed to decline in the native dominant canopy species, *Populus* spp. and *Salix* spp., and increased prevalence of the more drought-tolerant alien invasive species, *Tamarix ramosissima* (Stromberg 1998a,b, Stromberg *et al.* 2007b). However, the potential impact of such species on community structure and resilience in riparian ecosystems has received limited attention. In South Africa, restoration of alien-invaded riparian zones relies on regeneration of native species from the persistent soil seedbank after clearing of alien tree species such as *Acacia longifolia*; however, not all riparian species are represented in the soil seedbank (Vosse *et al.* 2008), indicating a potential impact on functional response diversity in invaded communities.

1.1.5 Key knowledge gaps

Increasing awareness of the importance of ecosystem services, in conjunction with evidence of significant decline in native ecosystems in highly modified landscapes, has led to an increased focus on understanding the response (i.e. resilience, stability, threshold behaviour) of these systems to anthropogenic change (Walker *et al.* 2002, Carpenter *et al.* 2006, Laliberte *et al.* 2010). However, despite considerable development in the theories of resilience and complex adaptive systems (Hobbs and Suding 2009), there has been limited empirical research reported to date. Research to identify alternative states and potential thresholds in managed ecosystems (predominantly in grazed rangelands) has also incorporated key elements of resilience thinking (Briske *et al.* 2006, 2008). However, terrestrial ecological systems research has largely focused on compositional and functional responses to grazing disturbances, predominantly in semi-natural grazed rangelands (e.g. McIntyre *et al.* 1995, Lavorel *et al.* 1999a, Diaz *et al.* 2007). Few studies have been conducted in highly modified landscapes where multiple, potentially interacting disturbances are at play, with the exception of work on resilience in socio-ecological

systems (*sensu* Holling 2001) (Walker *et al.* 2002, 2004, Folke 2006, Kinzig *et al.* 2006). As a result, there is limited understanding of the resilience of natural systems to the cumulative impacts of multiple disturbance gradients.

Studies into the ecology of remnant ecosystems in modified landscapes have focused on the geometry of landscapes (patch size, shape and separation) (Forman 1995) and, to a lesser extent, impacts associated with the nature of the surrounding agricultural matrix (e.g. Collard 2007, Martin *et al.* 2006). The majority of such studies have focused on individual (or select groups of) faunal species (e.g. Martin *et al.* 2006, Kath *et al.* 2009, Brady 2010), although Batterham (2008) investigated the effect of patch geometry on tree health and population processes in the dominant floodplain canopy species *Eucalyptus populnea*. Declining health of canopy species in response to land use intensification has also been investigated in a number of instances (e.g. Jones *et al.* 1990, Wylie *et al.* 1992, 1993, Davidson *et al.* 2007, Banks 2006). However, there has been little focus on understanding the effect of surrounding land use on the overall condition, composition or function of remnant ecosystems in these landscapes (Kleyer *et al.* 2007), and few, if any, studies looking at impacts on riparian communities.

Research in riparian communities has focused on the impacts of river regulation and altered flow regimes on diversity, health and population processes in dominant riparian canopy tree species (e.g. Shafroth *et al.* 2002a,b, Cooper *et al.* 2003a, Lambs *et al.* 2006). While these species are possibly keystone species (Mills *et al.* 1993, Manning *et al.* 2006) in these environments and often important in terms of ecosystem function (Stromberg *et al.* 1996, Sabater *et al.* 2000), the flow-on effects of changes in dominant structural species on community structure and resilience has received limited attention. Widespread recognition that floodplain riparian systems are disturbance-driven ecosystems, and of considerable importance in terms of ecological function and environmental service provision (Tockner and Stanford 2002, Sweeney *et al.* 2004), indicates a need for a systems-based understanding. The time-lag involved in measurable response in relatively long-lived and adaptive species such as canopy tree species (e.g. Chapin *et al.* 1993, Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002) further reinforces the potential risk associated with an approach which uses these as indicators of system response, increasing the risk that critical ecological

thresholds may be exceeded before the need for management response is apparent (Eamus *et al.* 2006, Michelson 2008).

A limited number of studies have investigated changes in the composition, structure and function of these systems in response to altered hydrology (e.g. Leyer 2004, 2005, Sluis and Tandarich 2004, Stromberg *et al.* 2005a, 2007b, Uowolo *et al.* 2005), and some have identified hydrological thresholds associated with alternative ecosystem states (e.g. Leyer 2004, Stromberg *et al.* 2005a). No such studies appear to have been conducted in Australia, where the focus has been on riparian and floodplain canopy tree health and population processes in response to altered flooding regimes (e.g. Pettit and Froend 2001b, Robertson *et al.* 2001), landscape hydrology and salinisation (e.g. Jolly *et al.* 1993, 1996, Overton *et al.* 2006).

Despite limited ecological understanding, there is considerable evidence that changes to hydrological regimes, as a result of flow modification and associated water resource development, are having significant ecological impact in riverine and riparian environments, including adverse impacts on population processes in a number of water-dependent species groups (e.g. waterbirds, fish, riparian tree species) (Kingsford 2000, Bunn and Arthington 2002). Within the last decade in Australia, there have been increasing moves to address this through the provision of environmental flows designed to meet the requirements of identified 'environmental assets' such as iconic species (e.g. Murray river cod Maccullochella peelii peelii and river red gum Eucalyptus camaldulensis) and high priority wetlands (e.g. the Barmah-Millewa Forest, Chowilla Floodplain, the Lower Murray lakes) (Reid and Brooks 2000, Stewart and Harper 2002). Within the Murray-Darling Basin, in which hydrological regimes are highly modified and water resources are significantly overallocated (Kingsford 2000, CSIRO 2008), this process faces significant social and legal (policy) hurdles associated with the current level of development (Ladson and Finlayson 2002). Lack of scientific 'certainty' is a significant factor in the public debate (White et al. 2010), and frequently acts to undermine both political will and ultimately the capacity for change. Variation in over-arching climatic systems across Australia also signifies the need for better understanding of the particular dynamics of individual systems, and the incorporation of these into planning and management, and increased adherence to and application of the 'precautionary principle' in natural resource management policy (COMEST 2005).

1.2 Aims and scope of current study

The review of literature presented above indicates a growing understanding of the role of disturbance, and in particular the hydrological regime, as a key driver of ecological patterns and dynamics in floodplain and riparian ecosysytems. However, it also indicates the importance of better understanding how these factors operate in conjunction with changes associated with anthropogenic modification in socio-ecological landscapes where ecosystem values, including the provision of ecosystem services, are significantly altered. This research seeks to address the fundamental need for hypothesis-driven systems-based empirical research to document, understand and predict native ecosystem responses and the socio-ecological consequences of altered hydrological regimes and land use change, to aid informed land and water management decision-making aimed at optimizing social, economic and ecological outcomes within 'working' landscapes such as the Upper Condamine Floodplain.

1.2.1 Research questions

This study examines the relationship between major landscape (land cover, land use) and hydrological change and the resilience of remnant native floodplain ecosystems embedded in a production landscape in southern Queensland. It investigates ecosystem responses to landscape modification and current disturbance regimes in riparian vegetation communities associated with the regulated section of the Condamine river system in an intensively farmed area of the Upper Condamine floodplain. It identifies major land and water use gradients associated with patterns in floristic composition and ecosystem condition in this landscape. It also investigates finer-scale interactions between community composition and key species which play a critical functional role in these communities.

Specific questions addressed include:

 (i) are patterns in floristic composition and ecological condition in riparian woodland remnants associated with current levels of longitudinal, lateral, vertical and temporal hydrological connectivity on the Upper Condamine floodplain;

- (ii) is the hydrological regime the dominant driver of floristic composition, community structure and ecological condition in remnant riparian woodland communities within the highly modified production landscape of the Upper Condamine floodplain;
- (iii) what are the key environmental gradients driving community dynamics as evident in measures of floristic composition, community structure and dominant species condition in remnant riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain;
- (iv) do interactions between key species (dominant canopy species, dominant invasive weed species) play a significant role in determining floristic composition and ecological condition in these communities; and
- (v) what are the implications of significant landscape modification for continued ecological function, including resilience, in riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain?

1.2.2 Thesis outline

A detailed overview of the study area is provided in Chapter 2, which describes the biophysical characteristics and major environmental changes associated with land and water use development on the Upper Condamine Floodplain. In particular, this chapter documents patterns in streamflow and land use type and intensity at the river section and river bank scales by which the riparian landscape is stratified in studies reported in Chapters 3 and 4.

Chapters 3 and 4 present the results of a survey of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* riparian woodlands and their composition and condition in relation to broad hydrological, spatial and land use criteria on the Upper Condamine floodplain. Chapter 3 focuses on major patterns in species composition, particularly in functional trait groups identified as relevant to the dominant disturbance regimes in this landscape. Chapter 4 is concerned with patterns in the abundance and condition of dominant canopy species. These studies test the hypothesis that longitudinal and lateral hydrological connectivity are key drivers of ecosystem pattern in riparian woodland remnants in this landscape (hence relate to Question1, above). They also test the role of within-remnant land use (i.e. grazing), which is reported to interact with hydrological disturbance to influence community composition and structure in riparian landscapes (e.g. Sharp and Whittaker 2003, Lunt *et al.* 2007a, b).

The study reported in Chapter 5 tests the over-riding importance of the hydrological regime in determining community patterns in remnant riparian woodland embedded in highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain landscape (i.e. Question 2, above) by modeling key community responses to sets of environmental variables which capture hydrological and spatial (land use/land cover) attributes at local landscape scales from within-patch to a multi-patch scale. This chapter also identifies key predictors ('drivers') in these woodland response models (i.e., Question 3, above). Potential drivers include environmental variables which capture gradients in levels of disturbance, connectivity, land use intensity and resource availability, as well as the abundance and condition of dominant species (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* and the invasive alien herb *Phyla canescens*) in these communities. Modelled community responses include multivariate floristic composition, gradients in community structure based on a newly developed dynamic measure of functional diversity transitions between reciprocal pairs of functional groups, and patterns in dominant species attributes.

Chapter 6 presents the results of a study investigating the role of local-scale species interactions (facilitation and competition) in these woodlands (i.e. Question 4, above). This study tests the influence of trees on resource availability and groundcover composition, with a focus on the invasive perennial species *Phyla canescens* as an indicator and possible driver of ecosystem change within a riparian woodland remnant on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

In Chapter 7, the results of these studies are synthesised and incorporated into a conceptual 'state and transition' model which identifies alternative ecosystem states and critical transitions apparent in these riparian woodland remnants within the broad context of the Upper Condamine production landscape (i.e. Question 5, above). Research limitations are discussed, and knowledge gaps and future research priorities are identified.

Chapter 8 presents the general conclusions from this research and discusses the potential implications (and limitations) for management aimed at supporting ecological function in remnant riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine

floodplain. It also discusses the relevance of these findings to the broader context of management to retain well-functioning native ecosystems, and in particular waterdependent ecosystems, in highly modified production landscapes.

Chapter 2 Hydrological and land use changes on the Upper Condamine floodplain

2.1 The Upper Condamine floodplain

Located in inland southern Queensland, Australia, the Condamine-Balonne River is a major headwater of the Murray-Darling, Australia's largest river system (Figure 2.1). The Condamine section of the river rises on the western slopes of the Great Dividing Range and flows inland in a broad north-western arc (Figure 2.1). Approximately 250 km from its source, it joins Dogwood Creek, where it becomes the Balonne River, and flows south into New South Wales to then become the Darling.

The Condamine catchment comprises an area of 29,150 km² (McKay *et al.* 1999). Approximately 30% (8,500 km²) of this is alluvial floodplain (Knowles-Jackson and McLatchey 2002), identified regionally as the Upper Condamine, Jimbour and Brigalow floodplains (Figure 2.1). The area of the Upper Condamine Floodplain (between Warwick and Macalister, north-west of Dalby) is approximately 5,000 km² and encompasses the main branch of the Condamine River, the Condamine North Branch, and the lower sections of a number of tributary streams (Figure 2.1).

2.1.1 Geology and Soils

The Upper Condamine floodplain comprises predominantly basalt-derived alluvial sediments consisting of heterogeneous deposits of sandy-silty clays up to 134 m thick (Huxley 1982, Kelly and Merrick 2007). These extend from the main river channel and its tributaries to the valley margins, where they are bordered by a broad elevated volcanic plateau to the east, and by low sedimentary and igneous hills to the south and west (Huxley 1982).

Major soil types on the floodplain are cracking clays, classed as Vertisols (Isbell 1996) or Black Earths (Great Soil Groups Ug5.15 and 5.16; Dalgleish 1998), with characteristic high fertility, high surface pH (>7) and high moisture-holding capacity (Dalgleish 1998, Douglas *et al.* 1999).



Figure 2.1 Map of the Condamine catchment, showing the location of the Upper Condamine and adjacent floodplains, major towns and drainage patterns. Inset indicates the catchment position at the head of the Murray Darling Basin.

2.1.2 Climate

The climate of the region is classed as an E4 agro-climate (Hutchinson *et al.* 1992, 2005), characterised as warm and seasonally wet or dry, with long hot summers, mild winters and plant growth limited by moisture rather than temperature. Average temperatures at Dalby (Dalby Post Office, 1893–1992) range from 11.9° C to 26.2° C (BoM 2010), although frost and heat wave conditions are frequently experienced (Douglas *et al.* 1999). Average rainfall is summer-dominant (Figure 2.2), but significant rainfall events can occur at any time of the year. Rainfall patterns vary spatially across the catchment along an east-west gradient (Thoms and Parsons 2003), with average annual rainfall of 944 mm.year⁻¹ in Toowoomba (Toowoomba, 1869–2007; BoM 2010) and 676 mm.year⁻¹ in Dalby (Dalby Post Office, 1870–1992; BoM 2010).



Figure 2.2 Mean monthly rainfall at Dalby (Dalby Airport Composite, 1870–2005; Clewett *et al.* 2003). Error bars are standard error.

Inter-annual variability is high, with annual rainfall at Dalby ranging from 268 mm to 1,273 mm over the recorded period (1870–2010) (BoM 2010). Significant supradecadal wetting and drying trends are also evident when the cumulative difference between annual and average rainfall is plotted using the cumulative rainfall departure method (Xu and van Tonder 2001, Weber and Stewart 2004) to provide a general indication of rainfall trends over the recorded period (e.g. Tilahun 2006) (Figure 2.3). The drying trend apparent since the 1990s (Figure 2.3) is in agreement with recent rainfall patterns (1997 to 2006), when average annual rainfall and runoff were 2% and 23% lower, respectively, than longterm (1895–2006) averages (CSIRO 2008).



Figure 2.3 Cumulative rainfall departure patterns indicate major wetting (positive slope) and drying (negative slope) trends evident in annual rainfall from 1870 to 1999 at Dalby (Dalby Airport Composite; Clewett *et al.* 2003).

Drought is a common feature in the climate record of the region. Douglas *et al.* (1999) report 21 moderate to severe droughts at Dalby in the 126 years of rainfall records to 1999. These are defined as periods of 12 or more months' duration which receive less rainfall than the driest 10% (moderate) and 5% (severe) of calendar years at that location. The average duration of droughts recorded is 20 months (Dougls *et al.* 1999), and the longest duration drought on record was from August 1990 to November 1993 (40 months, of which ten months was 'severe') (Douglas *et al.* 1999, BoM 2010). In the decade since 1999, there have been three significant drought periods of 21, 15 and 24 months' duration, the most severe being from March 2004 to May 2005, with 75% of this period in severe drought (BoM 2010).

2.1.3 Hydrology

As with rainfall, average streamflow in the Condamine is summer-dominant (Figure 2.4), but highly variable and essentially ephemeral, with periods of no-flow and occasional large over-bank flood events (Sheldon *et al.* 2000). Annual (water year) streamflow recorded at Cecil Plains Weir (the site of the longest running streamflow records) averaged 347.7 \pm 57.5 GL.year⁻¹ between October 1947 and September 2005, but ranged from 0.3 GL.year⁻¹ (2004/05 water year) to 1,695.9 GL.year⁻¹ (1987/88) (Figure 2.5). Over the period to 1999, localised flooding at Cecil Plains occurred on average every 1.1 years and major flooding (defined as gauged river heights of \geq 8 m at Cecil Plains Weir) every 5.1 years (Douglas *et al.* 1999).

Streamflow and flood events are naturally major sources of groundwater recharge to alluvial aquifers associated with the river (Kelly and Merrick 2007). Some contributions also derive from the upland basalt and sedimentary rock areas on the valley sides, but rainfall infiltration across the floodplain is thought to comprise a relatively small component (Kelly and Merrick 2007) due to the heavy clay soil types (Huxley 1982). Despite this, deep drainage under irrigated crops may be locally significant (Silburn *et al.* 2004, Kelly and Merrick 2007, Silburn and Montgomery 2008).



Figure 2.4 Mean monthly streamflow at Loudon Weir, Dalby (1970–1999; Clewett *et al.* 2003). Error bars are standard error.



Figure 2.5 Annual streamflow at Cecil Plains Weir, 1949/50–2004/05 (Streamflow records, Streamgauge #422316a, DERM 2010b).

2.2 Development on the Upper Condamine floodplain

2.2.1 Land use development on the Upper Condamine floodplain

Extensive agricultural development on the Upper Condamine floodplain has occurred as a consequence of its deep fertile soils and relatively mild climate, supplemented by significant development of surface and underground water resources (McKay *et al.* 1999). First described by Alan Cunningham in 1827 as "*open plains or downs of great extent*" (Favenc 1908, cited in Scott 2005), the area was initially settled in 1840 when sheep were first brought across the Condamine from NSW (French 1989, cited in Fensham and Fairfax 1997). Large scale pastoral enterprises dominated until the early 1900s when land subdivisions, as well as improved transportation and refrigeration, saw the rise of dairying (French 1994). By 1937, there were more than 6,500 dairy farms on the Darling Downs (Biggs and Carey 2006).

The first recorded cropping on the Downs was near Warwick in 1843. By 1887, some 20,000 hectares, mostly of sloping, better-drained land, were under cultivation (Carberry 1995, cited in McCosker 1996). The first tractor reported on the Downs was in 1912, and the first successful wheat harvest on the black soil plains was in 1931 (Queensland Newspapers 2001). Technological advances in large-scale farming equipment capable of cultivating heavy clay soils led to a rapid transition (post World War II) to cropping on the floodplain. By the late 1950s, most of the lower slopes and floodplains were under cultivation (Carberry 1996).

The development and intensification of both dryland and irrigated cropping has continued over the past 50 years or so. The floodplains of the Condamine catchment (part of the Darling Downs) are currently some of the most productive agricultural lands in Australia (Biggs and Carey 2006, CSIRO 2008). Current land use on the Upper Condamine floodplain is dominated by cropping (dryland and irrigated) (Figure 2.6), with a range of winter and summer crops grown including cereals, pulses, maize, sorghum and cotton (Biggs and Carey 2006).



Figure 2.6 Areal extents of different land uses on the Upper Condamine floodplain (Data source: DERM and BRS 1999).

2.2.2 Water resource development on the Upper Condamine floodplain

Since the 1960s, agricultural development, in particular the development of irrigated cropping, on the Upper Condamine has been accompanied and supported by significant water resource development (Thoms and Parsons 2003) to mitigate risk associated with the highly variable rainfall and streamflow of the region (McKay *et al.* 1999, Porter 2002). Water harvested for irrigation currently comprises regulated and unregulated in-stream flows, overland flow (rainfall runoff) and groundwater (Porter 2002). Water resource infrastructure in the Upper Condamine catchment includes Leslie Dam (a 106 GL capacity dam near Warwick and upstream of the Upper Condamine floodplain), a number of small in-stream regulatory weirs (publicly and privately owned), privately owned off-stream water storages, and licensed (irrigation and rural town water supply) and unlicensed (stock-and-domestic) groundwater bores (CSIRO 2008).

Regulation and harvesting of in-stream flows

Regulated and unregulated flows on Upper Condamine section of the river and its major tributaries have been extensively developed for irrigation and are regarded as fully allocated (McKay *et al.* 1999). Total diversions are approximately 31% of total available water (297.3 GL.yr⁻¹), based on modeled mean annual runoff and outflow (DSEWPC 2009), with a nominal 97.2 GL of in-stream surface water flow (30.6 GL regulated and 66.6 GL unregulated) licensed for extraction annually for irrigation purposes (CSIRO 2008).

Flow regulation occurs downstream of Leslie Dam, with the regulated section of the main river channel extending to Cecil Plains Weir (Figure 2.7). In this section, the Upper Condamine Water Supply Scheme (Upper Condamine WSS) provides supplementary flows to service licensed Water Access Entitlements, predominantly for irrigation purposes. Entitlement volumes are nominal and actual allocations and extractions are determined by seasonal water availability (CSIRO 2008). For example, in the 2006/07 and 2008/09 drought years, 'medium priority' (most irrigation) entitlements were reduced to 0%, but returned to 96% of nominal volumes in 2007/08 (SunWater 2009, SEC 2010). Harvested water is pumped from the river and diverted to privately owned off-stream storages located in riparian areas adjacent to the river. In 2001, there were 73 of these storages, with a total storage capacity of 53.5 GL, along the supplemented (Upper Condamine WSS) section of the river (Taylor and Meecham 2003).

Nominal entitlements in the Upper Condamine WSS include 14.5 GL diverted to the Condamine North Branch via pipeline from the Yarramalong Weir (Figure 2.7), and distributed to irrigators (McKay *et al.* 1999, DERM 2010a, SEC 2010). The North Branch project was designed to alleviate pressure on local groundwater supplies (BAE 1976), which are significantly impacted by extraction for irrigation purposes (Barnett and Muller 2008, CSIRO 2008). Fifty percent (7.3 GL) of diversions to this project are classed as high priority entitlements (DERM 2010a), and surface water and groundwater entitlements are exchangeable under certain conditions (i.e. managed conjunctively) in this area (DERM 2010a).



Figure 2.7 Location of key in-stream storage structures on the Upper Condamine floodplain sections of the Condamine River, southern Queensland.

Flow regulation in the Upper Condamine Supply Scheme is managed in response to seasonal conditions and ability to supply to registered users (DERM 2010a). While there is an element of retaining water in the system for environment purposes with 'no-flow, no-take' restrictions in unregulated sections (DERM 2010a), a significant shortcoming in water resource planning in the Upper Condamine is a lack of detailed understanding of the water (volumes, dynamics) required to maintain ecological function within riverine and riparian ecosystems (e.g. Arthington and Pusey 2003).

Diversion and harvesting of overland flow

Overland flow includes local on-farm stormwater runoff, general surface runoff from rainfall across the plains where there are no defined watercourses, flow in minor water courses, and overbank flow from major streams during flooding (Taylor and Meecham 2003, CSIRO 2008, DERM 2010a). This is an important component of regional water supply, with significant overland flow volumes currently intercepted and diverted into on-farm storages or 'ring tanks' (Porter 2002, Figure 2.8).



Figure 2.8 Aerial photograph showing floodplain ring-tanks (\Box), roads, and distribution channels on the North Branch section of the Upper Condamine floodplain, September 2001.

Construction of private off-stream water storages and the capture of overland flow across the Condamine floodplains increased rapidly from the mid-1970s (Porter 2002). Development of private storages, and the diversion, harvesting and storage of overland flow, was poorly regulated until the introduction of a moratorium on the construction of new ring tanks in 2000, and new legislation under the Queensland *Water Act 2000* (Porter 2002). For example, there was a 57% increase in the number, and a 61% increase in total capacity, of private off-stream storages over a period of less than 3 years from early 1997 to late 1999, with a trend towards construction of larger capacity ring tanks (Porter 2002). By 1999, there were some 320 off-stream storages, storing water harvested from in-stream and overland flows (McKay *et al.* 1999, Taylor and Meecham 2003). These had a combined capacity of approximately 170 GL (greater than that of Leslie Dam), and approximately 50% of stored water derived from overland flow (McKay *et al.* 1999). Licensed ring tank capacity in the Upper Condamine is currently 41.9 GL, with volumes harvested limited by the size of the storage and maximum pumping restrictions of 8.4 GL.day⁻¹ (CSIRO 2008).

Diversion of overland flow intercepts significant volumes of run-off water, and can significantly reduce flows reaching receiving streams (Porter 2002). Porter (2002) modeled flows in two subcatchments on the Upper Condamine floodplain with and without ring tanks, and reported a 39 to 62% reduction in flows reaching receiving streams. Porter (2002) predicted that a further 50% increase in total storage volume from 1999 levels would result in an additional 9% (approximately 23.5 GL) reduction in average annual flows at Macalister at the downstream end of the Upper Condamine floodplain.

Similarly, roads, rail corridors, irrigation channels, fence lines and crop strips represent significant impediments to historical overland flow paths across the floodplain (Knowles-Jackson and McLatchey 2002, Taylor and Meecham 2003). There has been limited planning or coordination of floodplain development, and the impact of these changes on local hydrological condition is essentially unknown (Knowles-Jackson and McLatchey 2002, Taylor and Meecham 2003).

Groundwater extraction

Extraction from registered groundwater bores constitutes between 18 and 61% of regional water use in the Condamine-Balonne system (highest in years of low

surface water availability) with around 97% of this occurring in the Upper Condamine (CSIRO 2008). Rapid development of regional groundwater resources occurred in the 1960s and '70s, resulting in declining groundwater levels in many areas (Kelly and Merrick 2007, DNRMW 2008). Extraction of groundwater resources in the Condamine Alluvium is now regulated within the Condamine Groundwater Management Area, consisting of five sub-areas known as Groundwater Management units or GMUs (Porter 2002, Kelly and Merrick 2007). However, despite regulation, groundwater usage of up to 54 GL.year⁻¹ across the Condamine GMUs in the ten years to 2006 exceeded estimated viable (sustainable) yields by between 20 and 60% (Kelly *et al.* 2006). Annual groundwater extraction from the Condamine Alluvium currently exceeds recharge (modeled at between 31 and 36 GL.year⁻¹) in over 90% of modeled years (Barnett and Muller 2008, CSIRO 2008).

Significant development of groundwater resources is evident in the study area. In 2003, there were 3,533 current groundwater authorisations in the Upper Condamine region (Free 2003, cited in Kelly *et al.* 2006). There are also an estimated 25% more unregistered (non-irrigation 'stock and domestic') bores in the region (CSIRO 2008). Extraction pressure on groundwater resources varies spatially across the floodplain (Table 2.1), in response to soil type and level of floodplain development (i.e. relative proportions of dryland and irrigated agriculture), the availability of alternative water sources (e.g. surface water and overland flow harvesting), and water quality. For example, extensive floodplain development on good quality cropping soils, in combination with good quality (low salinity) groundwater, in the area between Brookstead (near Yarramalong Weir) and Dalby (GMU Sub-Area 3, encompassing the North Branch area) has resulted in high levels of groundwater extraction (Table 2.1). The opposite is true of parts of the floodplain with limited development due to constraints such as soil type or water quality (e.g. GMU Sub-Area 5) (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1Groundwater entitlements and annual extractions in relation to modelledsustainable yields, and average salinity across the 5 Groundwater Management Units(GMUs) of the Upper Condamine Groundwater Management Area. (Source: DSEWPC2009).

GMU*	Area	Total Water Allocated		Total Water Used		Sustainable Yield	Avge salinity
	km2	ML/yr	% of sustainable yield	ML/yr	% of sustainable yield	ML/yr	mg/l
Sub-area 1	305	3,560	250%	2,157	150%	1,440	2,302
Sub-area 2	500	10,723	430%	3,436	140%	2,490	656
Sub-area 3	1,280	49,562	335%	18,323	125%	14,810	537
Sub-area 4	500	3,694	190%	1,284	65%	1,930	548
Sub-area 5	1,020	1,126	75%	155	10%	1,500	11,263

* Sub-area 1: Dalby to MacAlister (north of the river); Sub-area 2: Cecil Plains to Mirrabooka (south of the river); Sub-area 3: Brookstead to Dalby (east of the river); Sub-area 4: Leyburn-Brookstead; Sub-area 5: Millmerran to Cecil Plains (west of the river)

Groundwater levels on the Upper Condamine floodplain have been monitored since the 1960s (DNRMW 2008, DSEWPC 2009). Monitoring bores close to the river generally maintained levels (with minor fluctuations in response to rainfall and streamflow) until the 1990s (Figure 2.9a). However, many bores, particularly those at greater distance from the river, have shown a steady decline in groundwater depth levels since recording began, in some cases in the 1960s (Figure 2.9b–d). Significant decline of between 6 and 20 m is evident from 1990 onward in the majority of bores in Sub-Area 3 (Table 2.1), extending east of the river from Brookstead (near Yarramalong Weir) to Dalby (DSEWPC 2009). Declining groundwater levels have been of particular concern in this GMU and, particularly, in the North Branch area, where extraction levels well in excess of estimated sustainable yields have resulted in a significant depression under the floodplain and disconnection of the alluvial aquifer from surface flows in the main river channel (Barnett and Muller 2008, CSIRO 2008). This section of the river (i.e. downstream from Yarramalong Weir; Figure 2.7) is classed as under 'maximum losing' condition. However, little of this lost surface flow contributes to groundwater recharge due to the loss of connectivity and resulting thickness of unsaturated sediments beneath the river (Barnett and Muller 2008). This is in contrast to the section upstream of Yarramalong Weir (the Talgai-Yarramalong reach; Figure 2.7) in which high losses from surface flows are a major source of groundwater recharge to the alluvial aquifer (CSIRO 2008). New coal seam gasfield developments across the northern Murray Darling Basin, including the Condamine catchment, are likely to exacerbate pressure on groundwater resources (Moran and Vink 2010).



Figure 2.9 Groundwater trends in selected bores: (a) #42230060; (b) #42230071; (c) #42230061; (d) #42230069, within the Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management groundwater monitoring network (DNRMW 2008). Bores were chosen to show the range of responses within the alluvial aquifer associated with the main Condamine River channel.

Altered hydrological regimes

Changes in the spatial and temporal aspects of the Condamine-Balonne's hydrology associated with development have been investigated under modelled 'reference' (no regulation, abstraction or catchment development) and 'current' (1999-2000 water resource and catchment development conditions) scenarios (Sheldon et al. 2000, Thoms and Parsons 2003). Modelling by Sheldon et al. (2000) indicated that water resource development in the Condamine-Balonne has resulted in a 140% increase in the frequency of no flow periods, a 69% reduction in the frequency of low flows, and a 59% reduction in the frequency of medium and high flows compared with natural (predevelopment) flows. Thoms and Parsons (2003) concluded that the hydrological character (e.g. magnitude and frequency of flood events and low flows) of the mid-zone (which includes the Upper Condamine floodplain section) of the river is significantly altered under the current water-resource development scenario, with evidence of reduced spatial and temporal heterogeneity. These studies are in agreement with findings from studies in other river systems (e.g. Gaeuman et al. 2005, Nilsson et al. 2005, Thoms et al. 2005) which indicate that water-resource development alters the hydrological character of rivers at the whole-of-river system scale (Ward 1998). However, Thoms and Parsons (2003) comment on the difficulty of determining the impacts of development on the hydrological regime based on historical data in the Condamine-Balonne, given the rapid rate of water resource development and the naturally variable flow regime of the river. This view is reiterated by the recent CSIRO Sustainable Yields report for the Condamine-Balonne (CSIRO 2008).

Modeling of hydrological condition in the Condamine-Balonne under different climate change scenarios indicates that runoff in the region is more likely to decrease than increase; the 'best estimate 2030 climate' indicates reductions of 8% in surface water availability and 5% in average surface water diversions, an increase in the period between floods but a reduction in flood magnitude, and a decline in groundwater recharge (CSIRO 2008). As above, estimates are constrained by lack of consistent and comprehensive long-term hydrological data for the region (CSIRO 2008).

2.2.3 Land cover change on the Upper Condamine floodplain

Floodplain sections of the catchment were originally covered by extensive floodplain grasslands and grassy open woodlands (EPA 2005). Land use change associated with agricultural development on the floodplain has resulted in significant land cover change, with over 75% of native vegetation converted to cropping (dryland and irrigated) land uses (Figure 2.6). Of the remaining native vegetation, most has been subject to some level of selective clearing, pasture modification or grazing pressure associated with livestock enterprises (Phillips and Moller 1995, Fensham 1998a, Sattler and Williams 1999).

Currently, less than 5% of vegetation cover on the Upper Condamine floodplain remains as mapped native remnants (EPA 2005), and a number of vegetation types (Regional Ecosystems or REs) are identified as of significant conservation concern (Sattler and Williams 1999, DERM 2009). Extensive Queensland bluegrass (*Dichanthium sericeum*)-dominant grasslands (RE 11.3.21) originally covered 55.8% (over 272,000 ha) of the Upper Condamine floodplain, but have been largely converted to cropping land (Fensham 1998a, Sattler and Williams 1999, Goodland 2000). The mapped area of remnant grassland on the floodplain is now 2,450 ha, just 0.9% of the pre-European extent (EPA 2005), and this ecosystem type is currently listed as 'critically endangered' under the Australian Government *Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999*.

Clearing for agriculture has also contributed to a significant reduction in the extent of grassy woodland ecosystems systems on the floodplain. Poplar box (*Eucalyptus populnea*) woodlands (RE 11.3.2, Sattler and Williams 1999) currently occupy less than 5% (approximately 5,500 ha) of their original (pre-European or pre-clearing) extent (114,290 ha), and are at risk of further decline due to patch degradation and altered population processes (Batterham 2008). Riparian *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*-dominant ecosystems (REs 11.3.25 and 11.3.4, Sattler and Williams 1999) have been reduced to 14.3% (6,275 ha) of their 43,900 ha pre-clearing extent on the Upper Condamine floodplain (EPA 2005). All three of these floodplain woodland ecosystems types are currently classed as 'of concern' (Sattler and Williams 1999, DERM 2009).

Extent of riparian woodlands

Riparian *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*-dominant woodlands (REs 11.3.25 and 11.3.4, Sattler and Williams 1999) once formed a continuous belt of fringing (riparian) vegetation along the floodplain sections of the main river channel and its major tributaries (EPA 2005). Mapped as "Tall woodland or open forest of *E. tereticornis* on Cainozoic alluvial plains" (RE 11.3.4; Sattler and Williams 1999) and "Fringing woodlands of *E. tereticornis* or *E. camaldulensis* on Cainozoic alluvial plains" (RE 11.3.25; Sattler and Williams 1999), both ecosystem types occur on deep cracking clay soils in association with major watercourses on the floodplain. RE 11.3.4 occurs on alluvial plains and terraces adjacent to water courses, while RE 11.3.25 is more closely associated with streambanks. Both have a prominent perennial grassy understorey, but RE 11.3.4 tends to lack a midstorey while RE 11.3.25 often has a sparse, tall shrub layer dominated by species such as *Acacia salicina* and *A. stenophylla* (Sattler and Williams 1999).

The distribution of these riparian woodland ecosystems is naturally constrained to long linear patches associated with the river channel, its main tributaries and alluvial plains and terraces (Sattler and Williams 1999). Altered extent of these woodlands is largely associated with the narrowing and fragmentation of remnants as floodplain agriculture, in particular irrigated cropping, has developed (Phillips and Moller 1995). Both types are almost universally reduced to a narrow band of trees along the larger watercourses, and mapped as small highly fragmented ecosystem remnants (Sattler and Williams 1999). However, despite their limited extent, *Eucalyptus tereticornis/E. camaldulensis* forests and woodlands are significant features of the floodplain landscape of the Upper Condamine where they are frequently the only remaining native woody vegetation, providing critical habitat and connectivity across the agricultural landscape of the floodplain (DERM 2009).

Condition in riparian woodlands

Riparian woodland remnants on the floodplain are also significantly degraded, with widespread evidence of dieback and high mortality in mature eucalypts, limited recruitment of eucalypt seedlings and locally high abundance of invasive weed species (McCosker 1996, Voller 1998). This decline is of concern to land managers in the region (pers.obs.); however, there is limited understanding of the key drivers

of change in these ecosystems and restoration attempts have generally had limited success (Greening Australia 2003).

Investigations into tree decline in these woodlands in the mid-1990s considered a range of potential causes (Voller and Eddie 1995), but failed to identify any primary driver (Voller 1998). Observed changes were attributed to a combination of factors, including repeated defoliation by possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*), insect attack, damage by sulphur-crested cockatoo (*Cacatua galerita*)/little corella (*C. sanguinea*), drought severity, weed competition, grazing, and intensification of land use (Voller 1998). Salinity was not closely associated with the observed decline (Voller 1998), and hydrological factors (e.g. altered flow and flood regimes, groundwater changes) were not considered. This current research represents a first attempt to better understand the role of changed hydrology, in combination with spatial context and land management, on riparian woodland composition and condition in this highly modified landscape.

2.3 Assessment of environmental condition on the Upper Condamine floodplain

The Upper Condamine floodplain landscape has been significantly modified for agricultural production purposes, with extensive development and intensification of both dryland and irrigated cropping. This has involved significant reduction in the extent of native floodplain vegetation communities, the areal extent of which is well below the nominal 30% threshold thought to be the minimum required to retain biodiversity and ecological function within landscapes (Fahrig 2003, Fischer and Lindenmayer 2007, Walker *et al.* 2009). Little of the remnant extent of these ecosystems is held in reserves, and larger remnants are generally used for grazing production purposes, frequently reported as a key driver of changes in community composition and function (e.g. Clarke 2003, Leonard and Kirkpatrick 2004). A number of previous studies report significant decline in remnant condition in native floodplain riparian woodland ecosystems in this landscape; however, there has been limited investigation of this, and there is little understanding of the proximal drivers of ecological change in this landscape.

While high levels of land use and water resource development are evident in this landscape, attempts to characterise hydrological changes by modeling the impacts of development on hydrological regimes in this system are constrained both by poor records of pre-development flows and the extreme natural variability in the system. Despite this uncertainty, diversion of in-stream flows is thought to have contributed significantly to altered hydrological regimes in this system (Sheldon *et al.* 2000, Thoms and Parsons 2003). Impacts include a reduction in low, medium and high flows and a significant increase (over modeled historical flows) in the duration of no-flow periods (Sheldon *et al.* 2000), effectively compounding the effects of significant climatic variability and leading to a greater degree of ephemerality (and potentially effective drought) in riverine flows in this system (e.g. Jenkins *et al.* 2005). Changes in hydrological characteristics in the Condamine-Balonne river system vary both spatially and temporally, indicating potential for cross-scale interactions and complex ecological responses in this system (Thoms and Parsons 2003).

Along the Condamine-Balonne River, reductions in the magnitude of flows and in the extent and duration of overbank flooding increasingly disconnects parts of the floodplain from the main river channel (Thoms 2003, Sheldon and Thoms 2006b), and limits the soil moisture and nutrient supplementation usually associated with flooding (Thoms 2003). This is further compounded by the construction of roads, levees, storages and other infrastructure, which constrain overbank flooding and divert overland flows from historical flowpaths, limiting connectivity and resource supplementation within riparian areas and across the floodplain (Thoms 2003). Reductions in the frequency and duration of overbank flooding and overland flow diversions also limit deeper infiltration to subsoil and groundwater layers, and may further contribute to groundwater decline (Huxley 1982, Barnett and Muller 2008). While overland flows may make a relatively minor contribution to groundwater recharge in the Upper Condamine due to the high clay content and surface-sealing characteristic of Vertisol soil types (Huxley 1982, Kelly and Merrick 2007), significant localized infiltration occurs on high clay content soil types on the Chowilla floodplain, southern Australia, in association with trees and gilgai ('melonholes') (Bramley et al. 2003, Holland et al. 2006). This indicates that riparian areas may contribute significantly to groundwater recharge where overland

flows are not diverted and tree function/groundcover vegetation/soil structure is not compromised.

There is also increasing disconnection of surface and groundwater systems in this system under current development and water management regimes. Increasing ephemerality of in-stream flows in this system constrains groundwater recharge to shallow alluvial aquifers associated with the river channel (Barnett and Muller 2008, Reid et al. 2009), while falling water tables contribute, in turn, to reduced baseflow back to surface waterbodies (Barnett and Muller 2008, Reid et al. 2009). This situation is compounded by unsustainable groundwater extraction evident in the sections of the river below Yarramalong Weir (Barnett and Muller 2008), the Middle and Lower sections in this study (Table 2.1). While these river sections are classed as under 'maximum losing' condition by the CSIRO (2008) Sustainable Yields report, streamflow losses no longer contribute to groundwater recharge due to increasing disconnection between surface and groundwater systems resulting from unsustainable levels of groundwater extraction (Barnett and Muller 2008, CSIRO 2008). This may have significant implications for water-dependent riparian and floodplain species in this part of the Upper Condamine, particularly during extended drought periods when access to shallow groundwater systems is likely to provide an important buffer against moisture stress (Kerle et al. 1992, Tyree et al. 1994, Pockman and Sperry 2000).

In contrast to the situation in the southern Murray-Darling system (Holland *et al.* 2006, Overton *et al.* 2006), groundwater quality in the Condamine Alluvium is considered to be good, with relatively low levels of salinity recorded in the majority of monitoring bores (DSEWPC 2009) and limited evidence of soil salinisation on the floodplain sections of the main river channel (Jolly *et al.* 2001, Biggs and Power 2003). Widespread groundwater decline evident in the majority of monitoring bores intercepting these aquifers indicates a relatively low risk of salinisation associated with shallow (and rising) watertables (Biggs *et al.* 2009), although application of poorer quality groundwater for irrigation purposes is still a potential source of induced salinity (Rengasamy and Olsson 1993, Biggs and Power 2003). Poorer water quality (higher salinity levels) in groundwater systems on the left bank of the river (Sub-area 5 in Table 2.1) in part explains the limited development of irrigated cropping on this section of the floodplain.

National and state government moves to deliver environmental water allocations to support water-dependent species and ecosystems are yet to be implemented in the Condamine-Balonne (DERM 2010a). While the need for environmental water allocations in this highly modified system is not questioned, this research does question whether an understanding of system dynamics developed from research conducted predominantly in southern Australia is directly applicable to systems outside that region. Similarly, State government legislation limiting further clearing of mapped remnants and significant local effort invested in revegetation and weed control have had little apparent impact on the condition of these woodlands.

2.4 Current land use and resource condition in the study area

It is apparent from the review above that the Upper Condamine floodplain is a highly developed agricultural landscape exhibiting significant changes in hydrology, land use intensity and native vegetation cover. Native ecosystem remnants embedded in this landscape are significantly reduced in extent and generally reported to be in poor condition. Studies reported in subsequent chapters in this thesis investigate riparian woodland condition along the regulated floodplain section of the Upper Condamine (i.e. the river section, between Talgai and Cecil Plains weirs, receiving supplemental flows through the Upper Condamine Water Supply Scheme). This section of this chapter identifies spatial patterns in land use and resource condition on that portion of the floodplain (i.e. the study area). Specifically, it reports differences in hydrological patterns, as well as water and land use intensity, between the River Section and River Bank treatments which stratify the study area in studies reported in Chapters 3 and 4.

The longitudinal zonation of rivers (both natural and anthropogenic) is well recognised (Chapter 1). Large-scale hydrogeomorphic gradients are evident from constrained upland zones to mobile and meandering zones on floodplains (Thoms and Parsons 2003). At finer scales, river reaches may differentiate into distinct 'functional process zones' within riverine ecosystems (Thorp *et al.* 2006). In-stream structures associated with flow regulation are also frequently associated with changes in longitudinal connectivity (serial discontinuity) along rivers (Ward and Stanford 1995a, Stanford and Ward 2001), and to altered flood regimes and lateral

connectivity with their floodplains, and subsequent responses in riparian ecosystems (Ward and Stanford 1995b, Ward *et al.* 1999, Thoms *et al.* 2005).

The importance of lateral connectivity associated with overbank flooding is also recognised in the literature (Chapter 1), but rarely investigated in the context of riparian or floodplain (non-wetland) vegetation communities. Lateral connectivity across floodplains is restricted (temporally and spatially) where flood frequencies and magnitudes are reduced by flow modification (Ward and Stanford 1995b, Ward *et al.* 1999). It can also be disrupted by the presence of anthropogenic structures on the floodplain (roads, channels, levees) (e.g. Kingsford 2000, Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008), which constrain both overbank flooding extent and overland rainfall runoff to riverine and riparian environments from upslope parts of catchments. Differences in runoff area, land surface condition, and the presence of structures associated with floodplain development can disrupt historical runoff flowpaths (e.g. Souchere *et al.* 1998, Kingsford 2000, Costelloe *et al.* 2005), potentially influencing floodplain and riparian ecosystem function and condition (Kingsford 2000).

2.4.1 Method of assessment

Study area stratification

The relationship between current hydrological condition, floodplain development intensity (the integrated impacts of land use change, land cover change and resource use) and patterns in vegetation composition and condition was investigated within landscape elements broadly defined by longitudinal and lateral sections of the riparian landscape of the Upper Condamine. On this basis, the study area was subdivided into three river sections (based on the location of stream gauges at Talgai, Yarramalong, Lemon Tree and Cecil Plains weirs) (Figure 2.10, Table 2.2,), and two river bank sections (the Left and Right banks, facing downstream, between Talgai and Cecil Plains weirs) (Figure 2.10).



Figure 2.10 River section (Upper, Middle, Lower) and river bank (Left, Right) segments (buffered) on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

Weir	Constructed	AMTD* (km)	Storage capacity (GL)	Max. regulated discharge (ML.day ⁻¹)
Talgai	1981	68.6	0.64	740
Yarramalong	1989	131.2	0.39	560
Lemon Tree	1979	154.5	0.30	830
Cecil Plains	1947	206.8	0.70	0

Table 2.2Details of weirs within the Upper Condamine Water Supply Scheme.(Source: DERM 2010a, SEC 2010)

* Adopted Middle Thread Distance (i.e. within channel distance) downstream from Leslie Dam

Data collation

Data presented in the following section were derived from a range of databases held by government departments and resource management bodies. These were in the form either of time-series records, which were analysed in Windows Excel (Microsoft Corporation 2003), or spatially arrayed datasets (data extracted using ArcGIS v9.2; ESRI 2007).

The areal extent of floodplain land uses (cropping, irrigated cropping, grazing, water storages), major flood event extents (1975, 1981, 1988) and native vegetation remnants within river section and river bank segments was quantified within a 5 km buffer extending laterally from the main river channel (Figure 2.10). Values were standardised (i.e. converted to a proportion of buffer segment area) to enable meaningful comparison.

Streamflow data were calculated from the daily time-series datasets (BOM 2010, DERM 2010b, SunWater pers.com.) for the key streamflow gauges at Talgai, Yarramalong, Lemon Tree, and Cecil Plains weirs. Seasonal (summer, winter) streamflow patterns (discharge volumes) are presented by 'water year' (i.e. October to September), for the 10 year period preceding this study (i.e. 1995/96 to 2004/05).

Numbers of groundwater bores were derived from the Queensland Government 'Water Entitlements Register Database' (DNRMW 2008). Density of bores within the 5 km buffer zone was determined within river section and river bank segments, as above. Floodplain width and catchment width were measured in ArcGIS (above) at 5 km intervals along and perpendicular to the main river channel for each river bank.

2.4.2 Results

Streamflow

Patterns in hydrological parameters were evident across river section (Upper, Middle, Lower) and river banks (Left, Right) segments of the study area. Catchment dimensions for river sections (Upper, Middle, Lower) increase with distance downstream (Table 2.3). Average streamflow volumes correspond to some extent to the geometric increase in cumulative catchment area in the longer-term (1995/96–

2004/05). However, high variability in streamflow is evident between and within these stream sections, with most variability apparent in the Lower (59% of mean annual flow) and least in the Middle (28%) section (Table 2.3). Extended drought conditions were experienced over the 10-year period reported (1995/96 to 2004/05). Extremely low rainfall during the 2004/05 water year (e.g. 476 mm at Dalby; BoM 2010) is reflected in low annual streamflow volumes across all river sections, with no flow recorded for the Middle section at Lemon Tree Weir, and only minor flows recorded for the Upper and Lower sections (Table 2.3).

Mapping of major flooding in 1975, 1981 and 1988 indicates that flood inundation patterns in the study area are highly event-specific, and not consistent within river sections (Table 2.3). The most recent major flood event prior to sampling was in May 1996, when high rainfall resulted in high flows in all stream sections with significant flooding reported across the study area (Taylor and Meecham 2003). However, no flood mapping is available for this event (DERM, pers.com.), and spatial extent of flood inundation was unable to be determined.

Table 2.3Hydrological details of study area River Sections (Upper, Middle, Lower).Streamflow volumes are end of river section volumes recorded at gauging stations (Upper:
Yarramalong Weir; Middle: Lemon Tree Weir; Lower: Cecil Plains Weir). Flood extent (%)
is the proportion of 5 km River Section buffers mapped as inundated by major floods (1975–
1988). (Sources: Sunwater 2009, DERM 2010b).

River section	Upper	Middle	Lower	
Length (km)	62.2	23.6	52.3	
Catchment area (km ²)	6,357	7,080	7,795	
Cumulative catchment (km ²)	24,717	31,797	39,592	
End of river section streamflow volumes (GL/water year \pm SE)				
2004/05 (1 yr)	2.70	0.00	0.31	
2003/04–2004/05 (2 yrs)	24.2 ± 21.5	9.7 ± 9.7	64.7 ± 64.4	
1995/06–2004/05 (10 yrs)	132.1 ± 76.5	242.7 ± 68.7	246.2 ± 145.6	
Flood extent (%)				
1988	4	7	10	
1981	12	0	0	
1975	54	82	52	

Flood patterns associated with River Bank sections varied considerably between major flood events (1975, 1981, 1988), and showed no consistent relationship with either differences in catchment and floodplain width on opposite sides of the river (Table 2.4), or the greater rainfall runoff on the right hand side of the river which drains the higher rainfall slopes of the Great Dividing Range.

	Left bank	Right bank	
Flood extent (%)			
1988	8	5	
1981	2	9	
1975	69	48	

Table 2.4Hydrological details of study area River Banks (Left, Right). Flood extent(%) is the proportion of 5km River Bank buffers mapped as inundated by major floods from1975-1988.

Seasonal streamflow records between 1995 and 2005 indicate variable patterns within and between stream sections. Records from weirs in the Upper and Lower sections exhibit similar patterns with maximum discharges generally occurring in summer months (October–March) and minimal flows in winter months (April–September), with the exception of flooding rains received in May 1996 (Figure 2.11). Records for the Middle (Lemon Tree Weir) section are anomalous, due to significant alteration of flow pattern (volumes and seasonality) associated with flow regulation and redistribution of in-stream flows through the Condamine North Branch irrigation area; Figure 2.11c). Volumes at Cecil Plains Weir reflect the greater downstream catchment area (Table 2.3).


Figure 2.11 Streamflow patterns at (a) Talgai, (b) Yarramalong, (c) Lemon Tree and (d) Cecil Plains weirs by water year (Oct.–Sept.), 1995/96–2004/05. Summer flows () and winter flows () are indicated. (Source: DERM 2010b, SunWater 2009).

Data limitations are a significant impediment to more detailed investigation of historical flow and flood patterns in the Upper Condamine. Time-series records are not consistently available across the gauging stations on floodplain sections of the river, commencing in 1947 for Cecil Plains Weir, but in 1990 and 1995, respectively, for Yarramalong and Lemon Tree weirs (DERM 2010b). Other studies have noted the constraints imposed by the limited and inconsistent streamflow record in the Condamine-Balonne catchment to accurately assessing the impacts of water resource and floodplain development (regulation, diversion, extraction) on streamflow (Thoms and Sheldon 2002, Thoms and Parsons 2003) and predicting future impacts of climate change (CSIRO 2008).

Overland flows

Significant capacity to divert and store overland flow associated with rainfall runoff and overbank flooding is evident in the study area. The density of off-stream storages (ring tanks, associated levees and ditches) was greatest in the Middle and Lower river sections (Figure 2.12a), with the greater proportion, and almost six times the area, of these situated on the eastern side of the river (the right river bank) (Figure 2.12b).



Figure 2.12 Density of irrigation infrastructure (water storages), across (a) river sections (Upper, Middle, Lower) and (b) river banks (Left, Right) within a 5 km zone either side of the river. Data source: DERM and BRS 1999.

Groundwater

A total of 620 registered groundwater bores occur within the buffered sections of the floodplain. The Middle river section (Yarramalong to Lemon Tree weirs) supports the greatest density of these (Figure 2.13a). Similarly, groundwater resources on the right bank of the river are more intensely developed than those on the left (Figure 2.13b), possibly due to the higher average salinity levels associated with groundwater in Sub-area 5 (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.13 Density of registered bores across (a) river sections (Upper, Middle, Lower), and (b) river banks (Left, Right) within a 5 km zone either side of the river. (Data source: DNRMW 2008)

Land use and land cover patterns

Differences in the proportion of land cover and land use types are evident at the River Section scale. The Middle river section (Yarramalong-Lemon Tree weirs) is most developed, with a greater proportion (86%) of the total area under cropping (dryland and irrigated) (Figure 2.14a), and least grazing and mapped remnant vegetation cover compared to either the Upper or Lower sections (Figure 2.14c). The right side of the river is also more intensely developed with the greater proportion of cropping (in particular, irrigated cropping) land uses, and a lower proportion of natural vegetation (Figure 2.14b, d).



Figure 2.14 Relative proportions of cropping (dryland, irrigated, total), and native vegetation (mapped remnant vegetation, grazed native vegetation), across River Sections (a and c, respectively), and River banks (b and d, respectively) within a 5 km zone either side of the river. Data sources: DERM and BRS (1999).

2.4.3 Discussion

Differences in the hydrology, land cover and intensity of land and water use are evident between River Sections defined by the location of in-stream weirs on the regulated floodplain portion of the Upper Condamine. These include differences in flow volumes and variability, differences in the extent of major flood events, and differences in seasonal discharge volumes in storages between the Upper (Talgai Weir to Yarramalong Weir), Middle (Yarramalong Weir to Lemon Tree Weir) and Lower (Lemon Tree Weir to Cecil Plains Weir) sections.

Differences in land use and land cover variables were also evident across the three River Sections, indicating the potential for confounding influence on ecosystem response. The Middle river section, where flow volumes and variability are least, is also most heavily impacted by floodplain development with the highest levels of cropping and overall water resource development; this section also has the lowest levels of remnant vegetation and grazing land use. The Upper and Lower river sections both support lower levels of cropping and higher levels of grazing and native vegetation cover than the Middle section; however, while floodplain development in terms of the proportion of water storages is greatest on the Lower river section, the density of groundwater bores is least, in contrast to the Upper river section which has limited water storage infrastructure but a relatively high density of groundwater bores compared to the Lower river section.

Differences were also apparent between the Left and Right river banks. Comparisons of hydrological, land cover and land use parameters showed that the Right bank of the river associated with this part of the floodplain is more intensely developed in terms of both land and water use, and supports a relatively smaller proportion of native vegetation. This portion of the floodplain represents the main depositional environment and constitutes the greater area of the floodplain, comprising sediments eroded from the eastern and northern slopes of the catchment (DNR and DoE 1998) under the influence of relatively higher rainfall and rainfall runoff.

2.4.4 Conclusions

The highly developed agricultural landscape of the Upper Condamine floodplain exhibits significant changes in hydrology and native vegetation cover. Native ecosystem remnants embedded in this landscape are significantly reduced in extent and generally reported to be in poor condition. Despite this, riparian remnants are often the only relatively contiguous native habitat remaining on the floodplain, and their persistence is critical to both the retention of biodiversity and provision of a range of ecosystem services in this landscape.

The hydrological regime of the Upper Condamine is governed to a large extent by significant climatic variability, resulting in ephemeral streamflow conditions punctuated by periodic and often widespread flooding, and it is likely that local species are, at least to some extent, adapted to significant environmental variability (Colloff and Baldwin 2010). However, high levels of water resource development have led to substantial changes in surface flows and groundwater levels, often compounding the effects of climatic variability. This has resulted in a more highly disconnected (temporally and spatially fragmented) hydrological system.

Measurable differences in hydrology, land cover and land use occur between river sections and river banks in the study area, and these differences have potential implications for the composition and condition of remnant woodland ecosystems in this landscape. The following chapters investigate whether patterns in riparian woodland composition (Ch.3) and condition (Ch.4) are associated with these broad environmental patterns. Chapter 5 takes a finer-scale approach, focusing on potential drivers of change in these ecosystems by investigating the influence of gradients in hydrology, land cover and land use.

Chapter 3 Patterns in riparian woodland community composition, structure and function on the Upper Condamine floodplain

3.1 Introduction

Many of the world's river systems are under significant pressure to support human populations and activities, with modification of hydrological regimes through impoundment, flow regulation (including flood mitigation) and high levels of water extraction (Arthington and Pusey 2003). Native riparian and floodplain ecosystems along these rivers have evolved in response to disturbance driven by hydrological extremes (flooding, drought) and associated levels of resource availability (Junk et al. 1989, Poff et al. 1997). However, human activities which appropriate resources (e.g. grazing, irrigated cropping), alter natural disturbance regimes or instigate novel disturbances (e.g. species invasions) contribute to new species combinations and biotic responses in these systems. These changes may introduce new thresholds and result in new emerging (Milton 2003) or 'novel' (Hobbs et al. 2006, 2009) states within these ecosystems, with altered system dynamics and resilience to subsequent change. Understanding the relationships between disturbance, ecosystem pattern and underlying ecological processes in these novel ecosystems is critical to sustainable land management, and in particular, biodiversity conservation and ecosystem service provision in landscapes subject to significant anthropogenic change.

3.1.1 Vegetation responses to changes in hydrological connectivity

Hydrological drivers (e.g. overland flows, flood regimes) are considered to be of overriding importance to ecosystem composition and function in riparian and floodplain systems (Thoms and Sheldon 2002, Thoms *et al.* 2005). Studies of riparian ecosystem responses to altered hydrological regimes primarily focus on changes in longitudinal and lateral connectivity associated with in-stream regulatory structures, and, in particular, large dams (e.g. Uowolo *et al.* 2005, Lambs *et al.* 2006). These studies frequently call for water resource management to restore environmental flows which mimic historical hydrological dynamics (e.g. Hughes *et al.* 2001, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a). Such calls are based on an understanding of the direct effects of disturbance, connectivity and resource supplementation on species survival and fitness (e.g. Elger *et al.* 2004), and on community dynamics including succession

(Amoros *et al.* 1987, Corenblit *et al.* 2007). In terms of community composition, flooding disturbance acts as an ecological filter, screening out species unable to tolerate inundation or waterlogging (Poff 1997, Hobbs and Norton 2004, Toogood *et al.* 2008), while decline in the historical frequency, duration and extent of flood events may result in the loss of flood-dependent species (Poff 1997, Hobbs and Norton 2004).

Comparisons of community composition on paired regulated and unregulated rivers indicates homogenization of floodplain riparian ecosystems, with reduced species diversity at both local and landscape scales (i.e. alpha- and beta-diversity) on regulated streams (Nilsson et al. 1991, Nilsson and Jansson 1995, Ward et al. 1999, Uowolo et al. 2005). Studies using functional trait approaches (specifically, hydrological response groups) also report increasing frequency of flood-intolerant species in riparian woody vegetation with flow regulation and altered hydrological regimes (Burton et al. 2009), and changes in proportions of hydric, mesic and xeric annuals with altered seasonal moisture conditions, flooding extent and streamflow permanence (Tabacchi et al. 1996, Stromberg et al. 2005a, 2008). Extended periods without flooding in such systems may lead to drying out of floodplain wetlands (Ward and Stanford 1995), loss of flood-dependent species, and increased richness and abundance of flood-intolerant (terrestrial) species (Marston et al. 1995, Nicol et al. 2007). Such compositional change infers altered ecosystem function (e.g. changes in infiltration and moisture storage capacity; Rietkerk and van de Koppel 1997), as well as functional change in terms of community response diversity (Capon 2003, Bezemer et al. 2006), potentially leaving floodplain systems increasingly vulnerable to further degradation (Boer and Puigdefabregas 2005, Stromberg et al. 2007b).

Equally important to ecosystem dynamics and resilience, particularly in systems associated with dryland rivers, are low flow periods. Many perennial species in these systems are adapted to survival during drought conditions which similarly act to screen out less well adapted species (Elmore *et al.* 2003, Gitlin *et al.* 2006). Other species exhibit adaptations to wetting and drying cycles, enabling them to survive (often in the persistent soil seedbank) and respond strategically when conditions are likely to be most favourable for establishment, growth or reproduction (Capon 2003). Significant changes in the frequency, duration and seasonality of drying events contribute to changes in the composition, condition and function of floodplain

ecosystems, altering the relative abundance of locally adapted species (e.g. Bren 1992), contributing to increasing homogenization of vegetation patches across a landscape (Stromberg *et al.* 2007a), and potentially reducing the functional diversity of riparian and floodplain ecosystems and their subsequent resilience to drought (Stromberg *et al.* 2007a).

Floodplain development can also influence connectivity across floodplains. For example, flood mitigation levees which limit the extent of overbank flooding effectively act to alienate or disconnect the floodplain from overbank flood flows (Galat *et al.* 1998, Gergel *et al.* 2002a, Kang and Stanley 2005). These are reported to have significant ecological impact in terms of altered soil microbial activity (Kang and Stanley 2005), denitrification rates (Gergel *et al.* 2005), and riparian canopy tree composition (Gergel *et al.* 2002a) and condition (Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008). However, the ecological impact on riparian ecosystems of development infrastructure which diverts or interrupts lateral flow across floodplains to riparian ecosystems is rarely considered. Very few, if any, studies have investigated the impact of such structures on historical overland flows and the transport of nutrients, sediment and plant propagules in storm runoff to riparian ecosystems, although diversion of flood flow paths on floodplains is acknowledged as a potential risk to riparian ecosystems (Porter 2002, Kingsford and Roff 2008).

3.1.2 Vegetation responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems

Livestock grazing is also recognised as a key driver of degradation in riparian ecosystems (Lunt *et al.* 2007b), largely due to the tendency of stock to congregate close to water (Andrew 1988, James *et al.* 1999, Jansen and Robertson 2001). For example, grazed riparian woodlands along the Murrumbidgee River, southern Australia, are reported to have lower biomass of groundcover plants, less litter and particulate organic matter and a higher percentage of bare soil, as well as significantly fewer eucalypt seedlings and saplings, than areas without stock (Robertson and Rowling 2000). As in other landscapes, high grazing intensity alters the composition, structure and function of wetland and riparian communities by reducing the structural complexity and spatial heterogeneity of vegetation and facilitating exotic species

invasions (Robertson and Rowling 2000, Jansen and Robertson 2001, Hopfensperger *et al.* 2006).

Interactions between grazing and resource availability are potentially important in terms of ecosystem stability (Allen-Diaz and Jackson 2000, Wright and Chambers 2002, Lunt *et al.* 2007a), and may result in significant changes in vegetation species composition (Allen-Diaz and Jackson 2000, Wright and Chambers 2002). Soil compaction and reduced plant cover associated with grazing may alter the flow of resources and energy in riverine systems by reducing the capacity of vegetation to slow overland flow rates, and trap sediment and nutrients (Bilotta *et al.* 2007, Schacht and Reece 2008), potentially contributing to changes in community composition and function (Stromberg *et al.* 2007a, Beauchamp and Stromberg 2008). State shifts in low or reduced productivity riparian systems may lead to increasing resistance and resilience in the degraded state (e.g. due to altered soil condition, hydrology or a depleted seedbank) and limited recovery in vegetation condition (cover, richness and composition) with grazing exclusion (Lunt *et al.* 2007b).

While river regulation and livestock grazing are both regarded as significant drivers of declining riparian condition, they are only rarely considered in conjunction (e.g. Meeson *et al.* 2002). Robertson and Rowling (2000) warn that restoration efforts that focus only on reducing the impact of altered flow regimes may be less than successful if livestock grazing is not considered as part of river ecosystem management, although Westbrooke *et al.* (2005) suggest that disturbance associated with major flood events is likely to override grazing impacts in floodplain riparian systems.

3.1.3 Study overview

This study investigated key community patterns in riparian woodland composition in relation to landscape-scale hydrological (longitudinal and lateral connectivity) and local-scale land use (grazing) factors associated with the highly modified intensive agricultural landscape of the Upper Condamine floodplain. Riparian remnants in this landscape are associated with an ephemeral river system subject to flow regulation and significant levels of water resource extraction (in-stream flows harvesting, overland flow diversion and harvesting, groundwater extraction) to support irrigated agriculture in the highly modified surrounding landscape. The region is also subject

to significant climatic variability (Chapter 2), which is likely to increase with ongoing climate change (Hughes 2003).

Riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain are reported to be in poor condition (Phillips and Moller 1995, Voller 1998), with significant dieback and limited recruitment of the dominant canopy species, Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis, and locally significant populations of the functionally important alien plant species, Phyla canescens (lippia). While these broad issues are well recognised, more detailed changes in riparian woodland composition and function in this landscape have not been investigated. Nor are mechanisms of ecological change in this landscape well understood. Significantly, management efforts over recent decades (e.g. weed management, grazing management, tree planting to address poor recruitment and survival of riparian eucalypts), as well as State vegetation clearing laws to protect the extent of native ecosystem remnants, have not noticeably redressed ecological decline in this system. A better understanding of vegetation responses to biophysical conditions associated with current levels of development, in conjunction with prevailing climatic conditions, will contribute to management aimed at enhancing ecosystem resilience and ecosystem service provision in this highly modified production landscape.

This study asks whether current perceptions regarding key drivers of response dynamics in remnant floodplain riparian ecosystems subject to modified hydrological regimes are applicable in a highly modified production landscape. It takes a natural experimental approach (Diamond 1983) to test hypotheses relating to river flow, overland flow and land use. Specifically, the study investigates whether there are significant effects of longitudinal and lateral connectivity (i.e. between river section and between river bank treatments, respectively) and within-remnant land use (i.e. the presence or absence of livestock grazing) on the floristic composition and community structure of remnant riparian woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Site selection

Remnant floodplain riparian woodlands along a 150 km section of the Condamine River were sampled between January and April in the summer of 2004–2005. A total of 24 sites was selected from mapped (EPA 2003) and unmapped remnants, verified in the field as *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*-dominant fringing or floodplain woodlands (Regional Ecosystems 11.3.4 and 11.3.25, Sattler and Williams 1999) associated with the main channel of the Condamine River (Figure 3.1). All sites were on private properties involved in agricultural production (cropping or grazing). Sampled remnants were characteristically linear configurations aligned with the river channel (mean remnant or riparian width was 355.0 ± 51.2 m and ranged from approximately 75 to 975 m), embedded in a contrasting matrix of irrigated and dryland cropland.

The study area and survey sites were stratified a priori by (i) river section (Upper, Middle, Lower); (ii) river bank (Left, Right), and (iii) within-remnant land use (Grazed, Ungrazed by domestic livestock). River section strata corresponded to the scale of stream-flow data (end-points are streamflow gauging stations at in-stream weirs indicated in Figure 3.1) and were designed principally to capture longitudinal or 'reach' differences in drainage, streamflow, surface-groundwater exchange, and water use patterns for this stretch of the river (Thoms and Parsons 2003, CSIRO 2008). However, these hydrological influences cannot be isolated from the associated land use/land cover context in this landscape. Hence, the study also effectively investigates vegetation patterns associated with differences in development intensity across these three river sections (Chapter 2). Similarly, River bank treatments capture differences in factors influencing lateral overland flow parameters on opposite sides of the main river channel. These are associated with variables influencing runoff such as floodplain extent, land use and land cover, and water-harvesting infrastructure (diversion channels, ringtanks), while floodplain hydrogeomorphology will also influence over-bank flooding patterns (Steiger and Gurnell 2003, Thoms 2006). Within-remnant land use was used as a third treatment factor, to enable investigation of patch-scale management impacts on vegetation composition and condition, as well as potential interactions between hydrology and grazing. Table 3.1 indicates the

distribution of sites. (Further details are provided in Appendix A). Replication in some groups was constrained by a lack of suitable remnants in this relictual landscape.



Figure 3.1 Upper Condamine floodplain study area, indicating survey site locations and the location of weirs defining the end-points of river section treatments.

River	Reach (defined by in-	River	r bank	Lan	T - 4 - 1	
section	stream weirs)	Left	Right	Grazed	Ungrazed	1 otal
Upper	Talgai – Yarramalong	3	5	6	2	8
Middle	Yarramalong – Lemontree	4	5	3	6	9
Lower	Lemontree – Cecil Plains	3	4	1	6	7
Total		10	14	10	14	24

Table 3.1Distribution (number) of survey sites per sampling stratification category(stream section, riverbank, land use). Weir and site locations are indicated in Figure 3.1.

Sampling locations

Sample sites within remnants were selected according to predetermined criteria. Those on the same side of the river were at least 500 m apart in different remnant patches or management units (to reduce spatial autocorrelation due to proximity of sites), in a representative patch of vegetation near the centre of the remnant (in terms of distance from the river channel) and, where possible, at least 40 m from both the river channel and the remnant edge to limit edge effects (e.g. Thorburn and Walker 1994).

Auto-correlation (spatial, temporal) of observations is a potential issue in studies where survey sites are not effectively independent at all relevant ecological scales (Wintle and Bardos 2006, Lawrence Lodge *et al.* 2007). While efforts were made to minimise this at the local patch scale, patterns related to precipitation (for example) across the study area could not be effectively managed and were assumed to be random. The study design in this case is inherently auto-correlated as river sections are related (effectively, nested catchment areas) in terms of location, and patterns which conformed to the order of river sections were interpreted cautiously.

Site details

For each site, location and elevation were recorded by hand-held GPS (easting, northing, UTM reference, altitude). Distances from river, remnant edge and property boundary were either measured or estimated (if greater than 100m). Patch condition and context were visually assessed for each site. Details recorded included landform

(floodplain, terrace), current within-patch land use, evidence of site disturbance and adjacent land use(s). Evidence of site disturbance (clearing, fire, grazing, weed control, flooding, erosion and mechanical disturbance was scored on a 5 point intensity scale (after Batterham 2008) (Table 3.2).

Disturbance	Type (evidence)	Intensity
Clearing	Selective (stumps), mechanical (windrowed)	No evidence (0) – severe (4)
Fire	Recent, past (fire scars etc)	No evidence (0) – severe (4)
Grazing	Native, domestic, feral (tracks, dung)	No evidence (0) – severe (4)
Flooding	Recent (waterlogging, debris), past (flood scours)	No evidence (0) – severe (4)
Other	Erosion, mechanical disturbance	No evidence (0) – severe (4)

Table 3.2Site disturbance categories and scoring (after Batterham 2008)

No significant differences for clearing, fire or soil disturbance scores were identified across river section, river bank or land use treatments (Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U, p > 0.05; Table 3.3). Grazing scores differed significantly across river sections ($p \le 0.05$) and land use groups ($p \le 0.005$), but not river banks (p > 0.05). Grazing (native and domestic animals) was significantly greater at Upper section sites than Middle, with Lower section sites intermediate ($p \le 0.05$), and at Grazed sites than Ungrazed ($p \le 0.005$). Significantly higher scores for evidence of previous flooding were recorded for left bank than right bank sites ($p \le 0.05$), but there was no significant difference in flooding between river sections or land use groups (p > 0.05, Table 3.3).

Table 3.3	Measures of site co	ondition and woodlan	d structure by si	te groupings	(river section,	, river bank,	land use).	Treatment va	lues are mean	ns and
standard errors	(in parentheses). S	Significant differences	within treatmer	t factors are	indicated in	bold type; v	values shari	ing the same	superscript a	are not
significantly di	fferent (p > 0.05).									

Treatment factor		River section ¹		River	bank ²	Land use ²		
Treatment level	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed	
Number of sites	8	9	7	10	14	10	14	
Site condition								
Clearing (score: $0 - 4$)	0.9 (0.5)	0.3 (0.2)	1.4 (0.3)	0.8 (0.2)	0.9 (0.3)	1.0 (0.4)	0.7 (0.2)	
Fire (score: $0-4$)	0.3 (0.2)	0.4 (0.2)	0.3 (0.2)	0.5 (0.2)	0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.4 (0.2)	
Grazing (score: $0 - 4$)	1.9^a (0.4)	$1.0^{b} (0.2)$	1.1 ^{ab} (0.1)	1.5 (0.3)	1.2 (0.2)	$1.9^{a}(0.3)$	0.9^b (0.1)	
Flooding (score: $0 - 4$)	0.3 (0.3)	0.6(0.3)	0.0 (0.0)	$0.7^{\mathrm{a}}(0.3)$	0.0^b (0.0)	0.4 (0.3)	0.2 (0.2)	
Soil disturbance (score: $0 - 4$)	0.5 (0.3)	0.2 (0.2)	0.0 (0.0)	0.4 (0.3)	0.1 (0.1)	0.4 (0.2)	0.1 (0.1)	
Woodland structure ³								
Trees > 20m (FPC%)	5.8 ^a (1.9)	0.3^b (0.2)	6.4 ^{ab} (4.1)	4.2 (1.7)	3.7 (2.2)	4.2 (1.6)	3.7 (2.2)	
Trees 10 to 20m (FPC%)	7.6 (1.7)	5.4 (0.8)	5.9 (2.1)	5.7 (1.8)	6.7 (0.9)	6.4 (1.5)	6.2 (1.1)	
Trees < 10m (FPC%)	$0.5^{a}(0.3)$	$2.4^{a}(1.2)$	6.9^b (2.0)	3.1 (1.4)	3.1 (1.2)	$0.7^{a}(0.4)$	4.8^b (1.3)	
Shrubs > 2m (FPC%)	0.1 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.6 (0.6)	0.0 (0.0)	0.3 (0.3)	0.0 (0.0)	0.3 (0.3)	
Shrubs 1 to 2m (FPC%)	0.1 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.1 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.1 (0.0)	
Shrubs < 1m (FPC%)	0.7 (0.4)	6.4 (3.4)	1.9 (0.9)	2.8 (1.6)	3.5 (2.1)	3.6 (2.9)	2.9 (1.1)	
Forbs (FPC%)	42.4 (5.5)	31.8 (7.2)	35.1 (8.9)	35.3 (7.0)	37.0 (5.2)	37.6 (8.2)	35.4 (4.2)	
Graminoids (FPC%)	49.3 (6.2)	50.6 (5.3)	54.3 (8.3)	61.5 (6.8)	51.0 (4.1)	53.4 (7.5)	49.6 (3.4)	
Logs > 30cm (FPC%)	1.4 (0.5)	1.0 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	1.1 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	1.0 (0.3)	1.4 (0.3)	
Logs 10 to 30cm (FPC%)	1.0 (0.3)	0.9 (0.1)	1.1 (0.3)	0.9 (0.2)	1.0 (0.2)	1.1 (0.2)	0.9 (0.2)	
Woody litter < 10cm (FPC%)	0.8 (0.2)	0.9 (0.2)	0.7 (0.3)	0.9 (0.2)	0.7 (0.2)	0.6 (0.2)	0.9 (0.2)	
Non-woody litter (FPC%)	47.6 (11.9)	66.1 (6.1)	66.0 (11.7)	70.1 (8.5)	52.7 (7.3)	54.1 (10.8)	64.1 (6.2)	
Bare ground (FPC%)	1.9 (0.7)	2.1 (1.0)	1.6 (1.4)	1.2 (0.6)	2.4 (0.9)	2.2 (1.0)	1.7 (0.8)	

Structural composition

Vegetation structure within a 1,000 m² sampling quadrat was subjectively determined by estimating projected cover (%) for trees (>20 m, 10-20 m, <10 m), shrubs (>2 m, 1-2 m, <1 m), forbs, graminoids, logs (>30 cm diameter, 10-30 cm diameter), woody litter (<10 cm diameter), non-woody litter, rocks and bare ground (after Le Brocque and Buckney 1997).

There were significant differences in the cover of trees greater than 20 m in height and trees less than 10 m in height across river sections (Kruskal-Wallis, $p \le 0.05$; Table 3.3), and for trees less than 10 m in height between land use treatments (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.05$). The cover of trees greater than 20 m high was significantly higher for Upper river section sites than Middle river section sites (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.05$); Lower river section sites were intermediate and not significantly different from either Upper or Middle river section sites (p > 0.05), although there was greater variability in tall tree cover at Lower river section sites (standard error = 4.1). Upper and Middle river section sites ($p \le 0.05$), and grazed sites also had significantly lower cover of smaller trees less than 10 m high than ungrazed sites ($p \le 0.05$). There were no significant differences in other measures of woodland structure across river section or land use treatments, and no significant differences between river banks (Table 3.3).

3.2.2 Data collection

Floristic composition

Floristic composition was assessed using a modified 1,000 m² nested quadrat system (Morrison *et al.* 1995) comprising seven concentric square subquadrats (cumulative areas: 1, 2, 5, 10, 100, 500 and 1,000 m²). All vascular plant species rooted in a quadrat were recorded and assigned a frequency score (0 to 7) based on the number of subquadrats in which they were found. This method limits sampling bias due to non-random dispersion (e.g. clumping) of organisms, enables higher detection rates of rare species than standard quadrat sampling methods, and provides a reasonable approximation of species density and improved ability to detect patterns particularly in species-poor communities (Morrison *et al.* 1995). It has been successfully adopted

in a number of studies to investigate vegetation community patterns (e.g. Le Brocque and Buckney 1997, King and Buckney 2002, Clarke 2003, Lewis *et al.* 2008, Le Brocque *et al.* 2009). Frequency methods are generally appropriate to the investigation of ecosystem response to disturbance as minor species, which constitute the bulk of site diversity and system redundancy (Walker 1992), are more heavily weighted compared to cover abundance methods (Lavorel *et al.* 2008).

A key weed species investigated in this study was the introduced invasive species, *Phyla canescens* (lippia), which has been present in the Upper Condamine since 1927 (Lucy *et al.* 1995, Earl 2003). Lippia is a flood-tolerant perennial clonal C3 forb. It is capable of both sexual and asexual reproduction, and its propagules (seed and vegetative fragments) are readily dispersed by floodwaters. It proliferates rapidly on moist heavy clay soils, such as occur on the Upper Condamine floodplain, particularly where the cover of competitive native species (e.g. tussock grasses) is reduced by disturbance or overgrazing, and has been of significant concern to the grazing industry, particularly in riparian and floodplain pastures in the northern Murray-Darling Basin (Lucy *et al.* 1995, Earl 2003). It is also widespread and highly abundant in this landscape (pers. obs.).

As a result, cover of herbaceous groundcover species (including lippia) was also estimated in four 1 m² quadrats randomly positioned within each quadrant of the largest 1,000 m² quadrat above. This was necessary as the nested quadrat frequency score method fails to pick up differences in the abundance of very common over- or evenly dispersed species due to saturation effects common to all frequency methods (Morrison *et al.* 1995). Randomisation was by pairs of random numbers pregenerated using an online randomiser.

3.2.3 Data treatment

Floristic composition

Plant species identifications were based on Stanley and Ross (1983, 1986, 1989), Harden (1990–1993) and Sharp and Simon (2002), and verified against specimens in herbarium collections at the University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba and the Queensland Herbarium, Mt. Coot-tha. Current nomenclature was updated according to the Australian National Botanic Gardens' Australian Plant Name Index (ANBG 2009). Observations for three pairs of closely related species which could not readily be distinguished were combined. These were (i) *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* and *E. tereticornis* (referred to as *Eucalyptus camaldulensis*), (ii) *Einadia nutans* and *E. polygonoides* (referred to as *Einadia* spp.), and (iii) *Eriochloa procera* and *E. pseudoachrotricha* (*Eriochloa* spp.). *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* and *E. tereticornis* can be similar in form and not readily distinguishable unless fruiting (the distinguishing characteristic is the operculum on flower buds) (Doran and Burgess 1993, McDonald *et al.* 2009). They have also been noted to interbreed when occurring in close proximity creating a hybrid type which has intermediate characteristics (Butcher *et al.* 2002, 2009). *Einadia nutans* and *E. polygonoides* were readily distinguished when fresh fruit was present, but less so from leaf form which can be variable and similar (Harden 1990). *Eriochloa procera* and *E. pseudoachrotricha* were difficult to distinguish unless grain was present.

A number of broad functional response groups were identified on the basis of traits associated with responses to disturbance (flooding and grazing), and resource availability. Species were then assigned to a total of ten different (but not mutually exclusive) response groups on the basis of physiology (C3, C4), life history (short-lived, perennial), growth form (forb, tussock grass, clonal), and habitat preference (wetland, floodplain, terrestrial) (Table 3.4) on the basis of information available from the literature and other sources (Appendix B). Native and alien species were treated equally. Within functional groups, alien species may be expected to perform similar or complementary functions to native species (Hobbs *et al.* 2006, 2009). Richardson *et al.* (2007) suggest that it is legitimate to include both native and alien species in an analysis of ecosystem function. This is particularly so for highly modified systems, where alien propagule pressure is typically high and both natural and anthropogenic disturbances promote invasion (Hobbs *et al.* 2007).

Group	Categories	Environmental gradient(s)	Response	References
life history	short-lived, perennial	nutrient availability	annual and short-lived species favoured under high nutrient conditions	Chapin 1980; Prober <i>et al.</i> 2002b, 2005; McIntyre & Lavorel 2007
		disturbance	annual and short-lived species favoured under high levels of disturbance, including grazing	Dorrough <i>et al.</i> 2004a,b; McIntyre & Lavorel 2001, 2007
life form	forb, graminoid	disturbance	forbs benefit where limits to grass production exist (e.g. under grazing)	Lavorel <i>et al.</i> 1999 a,b; McIntyre & Lavorel 2001; Fay <i>et al.</i> 2003
physiology	C3, C4	water availability	C4 species favoured over C3 species under water- limited conditions due to their high intrinsic water use efficiency	Epstein et al. 1997; Yu et al. 2005
clonality	clonal	grazing	high resprouting capacity favoured with grazing disturbance; long distance clonal growth forms (i.e. plants producing rhizomes or stolons) favoured in disturbed sites	Fahrig <i>et al.</i> 1994; Kleijn & Steinger 2002; McIntyre & Lavorel 2007
		resource availability/risk	clonal species well adapted for finding and occupying gaps in heterogeneous environments	De Kroon & Hutchings 1995; Stuefer & Huber 1999; Rosenthal & Lederbogen 2008
habitat	wetland, floodplain, terrestrial	flood disturbance	flood-tolerant and intolerant (terrestrial) species composition and abundance provide consistent indication of flooding regime	Turner et al. 2004; Lite et al. 2005
		water availability	mesic (wetland) and xeric (terrestrial) species composition and abundance sensitive to water availability	Lite <i>et al.</i> 2005

Table 3.4Selected functional groupings, including categories within groups, gradient reflected and reported responses.

Functional group approaches to investigating ecosystem responses to disturbance provide insight into the mechanisms driving change in multi-species communities, particularly in disturbance-driven and invasion-prone systems such as riparian communities (Richardson *et al.* 2007). Sorting species into functional response groups relevant to the type of disturbance under investigation thus facilitates critical examination of compositional change which may relate directly to emergent ecosystem function (or dysfunction) and indicate potentially critical changes in ecosystem dynamics/resilience. Reduced richness, abundance or associated diversity in functional response groups may indicate a loss of resilience (functional redundancy *sensu* Walker 1992) within communities to environmental change, and suggests that these groups might be most responsive (and potentially vulnerable) to changes in this landscape.

Floristic and functional group indices

Species richness (S: the number of species per sample area) and diversity (H': Shannon-Wiener diversity index) were calculated for total species, total native species and total alien species in the 1000m² quadrat. Cumulative abundance (N) indices were calculated by summing over frequency data (nested quadrat scores). Richness, abundance and diversity measures for the functional response groups listed in Table 3.4 were also calculated.

3.2.4 Statistical analyses

Multivariate analyses

Variation in community composition was investigated using the PRIMER software package v5.2.9 (PRIMER-E Ltd. 2002, Clarke and Gorley 2001). The sites by species matrix of frequency data was converted to a matrix of similarities using the Bray-Curtis similarity coefficient. The dataset was standardised but not transformed as it was already effectively geometrically scaled (Morrison *et al.* 1995). Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) was used to investigate differences in community composition between river section, river bank and land use treatments. Significant interaction between groups (2-way crossed ANOSIM) was addressed by averaging the test group across the interacting group (Clarke and Gorley 2001). Results of pairwise tests (ANOSIM) were interpreted using Global R values due to the relatively small number of samples (Global R > 0.75 indicated well separated; > 0.5, overlapping but clearly separated; < 0.25, barely separable: Clarke and Green 1988, Clarke and Gorley 2001). Similarity percentage (SIMPER) analyses were used to identify the relative contributions of species to identified patterns (similarity within and dissimilarity between site groupings) (Clarke and Warwick 2001).

Univariate analyses

Community response variables (species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity of total, native and alien species, and functional groups), were compared across treatments (river section, river bank, land use) using the 3-way Analysis of Variance (3-way ANOVA) procedures in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009). Prior to analysis, bounded (proportional) data were arcsine transformed, and all data were screened and transformed (either square root or log_{10}), where required, to meet assumptions of normality and homoscedascity (Quinn and Keogh 2002). Where heteroscedastic variances were unable to be corrected for by transformation, no further analysis was undertaken. Where variances were homogeneous (Levene's), 3-way ANOVA was conducted and Tukey's unplanned multiple comparison procedure with Bonferroni adjustment for unequal sample size (Day and Quinn 1989) was used to determine significant difference between treatment pairs in treatments with significant main effects. Where there was significant interaction between river section, river bank and land use treatments, results indicating significant main effect differences were not able to be interpreted (Zar 1999); however, major patterns were explored graphically.

Pearson's correlation procedure in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009) was used to investigate the strength of association between native and alien species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity. Prior to analysis, bounded (proportional) data were arcsine transformed, and all data were screened and transformed (either square root or log_{10}), where required, to meet assumptions of normality and homoscedascity (Quinn and Keogh 2002).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 General floristics

A total of 131 vascular plant species was recorded in this survey, of which 95 (72.5%) were native and 36 (27.5%) alien (Appendix C). Of these, the five most frequently recorded species were the alien *Phyla canescens* (present at all 24 sites), and natives, *Einadia* spp., *Eucalyptus camaldulensis*, *Dichanthium sericeum*, *Cyperus gunnii* and *Elymus multiflorus* (each recorded at 23 sites). The five most abundant species were the alien species *Phyla canescens* (with a mean within-site frequency of 6.9 ± 0.1), and the natives *Einadia* spp. (4.9 ± 0.6), *Cyperus gunnii* (4.2 ± 0.5), *Dichanthium sericeum* (3.7 ± 0.5) and *Eriochloa* spp.1 (3.3 ± 0.5).

3.3.2 Patterns in community composition

No significant interaction was evident in overall floristic composition between river section and river bank or river section and land use treatments (2-way crossed ANOSIM, p > 0.05); however, there was a significant interaction between river bank and land use treatments ($p \le 0.05$). There was a significant, but limited, difference in community composition between river sections (ANOSIM: Global R = 0.196, p = 0.002; Table 3.5) and a significant difference between grazed and ungrazed sites when land use effects were compared within riverbank treatments (2-way crossed ANOSIM, grouping across riverbanks; Global R = 0.312, p = 0.004), but no significant difference in community composition between left and right river bank groups (Global R = -0.052, p > 0.05).

Table 3.5Summary of pairwise tests (ANOSIM) on species abundance data betweenriver section groups. Values are R statistics with significance levels indicated. Significantdifference is indicated in bold type (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

	Upper	Middle
Middle	0.207*	-
Lower	0.223*	0.168*

Dissimilarity

Differences in the relative abundance of native perennial species contributed most to the dissimilarity between river section treatments (SIMPER, Table 3.6). The alien perennial forb, *Phyla canescens* (lippia), contributed less than 0.5% to dissimilarity between treatment factors (Table 3.6).

Table 3.6Species contributing to 20% of Dissimilarity between river sections. Lippia(*Phyla canescens*) contribution is also shown. 'Abundance' is frequency recorded acrossseven nested quadrats (maximum abundance = 7).

Species	Average a	bundance	Contribution %	Cumulative %
Average Dissimilarity = 62.1	Upper	Middle		
Einadia spp. 1	4.4	4.7	3.2	3.2
Cyperus gunnii	3.4	5.6	3.0	6.2
Eriochloa spp.	2.4	4.4	2.7	8.9
Dichanthium sericeum	4.6	3.6	2.6	11.5
Panicum decompositum	1.6	2.4	2.6	14.0
Marsilea sp.	4.0	2.8	2.5	16.6
Eulalia aurea	3.3	1.6	2.5	19.0
Paspalidium aversum	2.8	1.4	2.4	21.4
Phyla canescens	7.0	7.0	0.0	-
Average Dissimilarity = 59.0	Middle	Lower		
Leptochloa divaricatissima	1.8	5.3	4.3	4.3
Cynodon dactylon	1.3	4.9	4.1	8.4
Einadia spp. 1	4.7	5.7	3.5	11.9
Cyperus gunnii	5.6	3.3	3.4	15.3
Paspalidium aversum	1.4	3.0	2.8	18.1
Eriochloa spp.	4.4	3.0	2.7	20.8
Phyla canescens	7.0	6.6	0.4	-
Average Dissimilarity = 62.9	Upper	Lower		
Leptochloa divaricatissima	1.1	5.3	3.8	3.8
Cynodon dactylon	2.5	4.9	2.8	6.7
<i>Marsilea</i> sp.	4.0	1.9	2.6	9.3
Einadia spp. 1	4.4	5.7	2.6	11.9
Paspalidium aversum	2.8	3.0	2.6	14.5
Cyperus gunnii	3.4	3.3	2.3	16.8
Dichanthium sericeum	4.6	2.9	2.2	19.0
Carex inversa	1.9	2.4	2.2	21.2
Phyla canescens	7.0	6.6	0.3	-

Similarity

Lippia was the most abundant species across all treatments, contributing 18.4%, 20.7% and 15.1% to the Bray-Curtis Similarity (PRIMER SIMPER) within Upper, Middle and Lower river section treatments, respectively; 21.1% and 18.6% in Left and Right river bank treatments, respectively; and 19.5% and 18.0% in Grazed and Ungrazed land use treatments, respectively. The next most influential species were native perennial species (e.g. *Dichanthium sericeum, Cyperus gunnii, Einadia* spp.) whose contributions never exceeded 13.3%.

3.3.3 Patterns in community richness, abundance and diversity

Total species richness ranged from 17 to 50 species per 1,000 m^2 quadrat; native and alien species richness ranged from 14 to 35 and 3 to 16 species, respectively (Appendix C).

There was a significant interaction between the river section and land use treatments for total species richness (3-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$; Table 3.7, Figure 3.2a), but no significant interaction between river section and land use treatments for other measures reported in Table 3.7 (p > 0.05). There were significant differences in native and alien species richness, and total and native Shannon-Wiener diversity between river section treatments ($p \le 0.05$). Middle river section sites had significantly lower native and alien species richness and total and native diversity than Upper river section sites ($p \le 0.05$); Lower river section sites were intermediate (p > 0.05). There was no significant difference in species abundance between river section treatments (p > 0.05, Table 3.7).

There were significant interactions between river bank and land use treatments for total diversity and native species richness (Figure 3.2b), abundance and diversity (p ≤ 0.05); interactions patterns were consistent across these measures. No significant interactions were found for total species richness or abundance, or alien species richness, abundance or diversity (p > 0.05). There were no significant differences in main effects for richness, abundance or diversity between river bank treatments or land use treatments (p > 0.05, Table 3.7).

Table 3.73-way ANOVA results for total, native and alien species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity by treatments (river section, river
bank, land use). Treatment values are means and standard errors (in parentheses). Significant main effects are indicated in bold type; values sharing the same
superscript are not significantly different (p > 0.05). Interaction values are F statistics with significance indicated in bold type (** p ≤ 0.005 , * p ≤ 0.05).

		TREATMENTS							INTE	RACTIONS	
	Ri	iver section (RS	5)	River ba	nk (RB)	Land u	ise (LU)	DC DD	DC - I II		DC DD I II
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	right	Grazed	Not grazed	кз х кв	KS X LU	KB X LU	KS X KB X LU
n	8	9	7	10	14	10	14				
Total specie	\mathbf{s}^1										
S	36.3 (3.2)	26.3 (3.0)	32.1 (1.8)	30.0 (2.7)	32.3 (2.4)	31.6 (2.2)	31.1 (2.7)	0.04	4.91*	3.78	2.85
N^2	104.5 (10.9)	81.4 (11.0)	95.9 (7.8)	94.4 (10.1)	92.6 (7.8)	93.6 (8.2)	93.1 (8.8)	0.27	2.32	4.33	0.50
Н	3.4 ^a (0.1)	$3.0^{b}(0.1)$	3.3 ^{ab} (0.1)	3.1 (0.1)	3.2 (0.1)	3.2 (0.1)	3.2 (0.1)	0.13	2.77	5.37*	3.92
Native speci	ies ¹										
S	$27.5^{a}(3.0)$	$20.6^{b}(2.2)$	24.9 ^{ab} (1.3)	23.4 (2.2)	24.6 (2.0)	24.9 (2.3)	23.6 (1.9)	0.09	3.27	5.52*	0.60
N^2	82.6 (11.7)	63.2 (8.7)	73.4 (4.2)	74.0 (8.6)	71.7 (6.9)	75.4 (8.9)	70.7 (6.7)	0.19	2.57	5.26*	0.15
\mathbf{H}^4	3.1 ^a (0.1)	$2.8^{b}(0.1)$	$3.0^{ab}(0.0)$	2.9 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	3.0 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	0.01	3.11	6.32*	0.35
Alien specie	\mathbf{s}^1										
S ³	8.8 ^a (1.4)	5.8^b (0.8)	7.3 ^{ab} (1.4)	6.6 (1.1)	7.6 (1.0)	6.7 (0.9)	7.6 (1.1)	0.24	1.23	0.00	3.85
N ^{2,3}	21.9 (2.9)	18.2 (2.8)	22.4 (5.1)	20.4 (3.0)	20.9 (2.7)	18.2 (2.2)	22.4 (3.0)	0.07	0.05	0.08	1.71
н	1.8 (0.2)	1.4 (0.2)	1.7 (0.2)	1.5 (0.2)	1.7 (0.1)	1.6 (0.2)	1.7 (0.1)	0.38	0.54	0.20	3.57

¹S is species richness, N is total abundance, H is Shannon-Wiener diversity (log_e); ² arcsin transformed; ³ square root transformed; ⁴ log₁₀ transformed.



Figure 3.2 Significant interactions between river sections and land use (grazed, ungrazed) for patterns in total species richness (a), and river bank and land use (grazed, ungrazed) for patterns in native species richness (b) on the Upper Condamine floodplain. Values are means for grazed (solid line) and ungrazed (broken line) sites; error bars are standard error.

3.3.4 Patterns in functional group diversity

There were significant interactions between river section and land use treatments for C3, perennial, forb, terrestrial and floodplain species richness and forb Shannon-Wiener diversity, and complex 3-way interactions for tussock grass species and terrestrial species diversity (3-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$; Table 3.8); these conformed with the pattern for total species richness indicated in Figure 3.2a. Heterogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$) for tussock grass species richness and perennial species Shannon-Wiener diversity could not be corrected by transformation, and further analysis was not conducted on these variables (Table 3.8).

Middle river section sites had significantly lower abundance of forbs and perennial species, and lower diversity of C3 and C4 species than the Upper section ($p \le 0.05$); Lower river section sites were intermediate and not significantly different from Upper and Middle river section sites for any of these measures (p > 0.05, Table 3.8). There was no significant interaction between river section and riverbank or land use treatments for these response variables (3-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 3.8).

There were significant interactions between river bank and land use treatments for perennial, forb and wetland species richness, perennial and wetland species abundance and forb Shannon-Wiener diversity, and in all measures for terrestrial species (3-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$; Table 3.8). Interactions patterns were consistent with those of native species richness (Figure 3.2b), with the exception of wetland species richness (Figure 3.3a) and abundance (Figure 3.3b). There were no significant differences in main effects for river bank or land use treatments (p > 0.05, Table 3.8).

Table 3.83-way ANOVA results for functional response group species richness, abundance and Shannon-Wiener diversity by treatments (river section,river bank, land use).Treatment values are means and standard errors (in parentheses). Significant main effects are indicated in bold type; values sharing thesame superscript are not significantly different (p > 0.05).Interaction values are F statistics with significance indicated in bold type (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

				TREATMENTS					INTE	ERACTIONS	
		River section (RS	S)	River ba	unk (RB)	Land u	ise (LU)	DG DD	DO LU		
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed	KS X KB	RS x LU	KB X LU	KS X KB X LU
C3 species ¹											
S	19.9 (2.4)	13.0 (1.3)	17.9 (1.4)	15.5 (1.9)	17.6 (1.5)	16.0 (1.3)	17.2 (1.8)	0.41	6.64*	0.92	1.17
N^2	52.6 (6.3)	39.1 (4.5)	50.4 (5.5)	45.6 (5.5)	47.9 (4.1)	42.3 (4.3)	50.2 (4.6)	0.11	0.93	1.34	0.15
н	2.7 ^a (0.1)	2.3 ^b (0.1)	2.6 ^{ab} (0.1)	2.4 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	2.5 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	0.36	2.37	1.64	1.91
C4 species ¹											
S^3	11.1 (1.2)	8.6 (1.2)	10.6 (0.6)	9.5 (1.0)	10.4 (0.9)	10.5 (1.1)	9.6 (0.9)	0.06	1.54	2.84	1.30
N^2	36.6 (4.9)	29.7 (5.9)	37.1 (3.2)	33.9 (4.2)	34.4 (4.1)	37.6 (5.2)	31.7 (3.3)	0.01	2.29	4.62	2.15
н	2.2 ^a (0.1)	1.9^b (0.2)	2.2 ^{ab} (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)	2.1 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)	0.08	1.58	3.63	1.54
Perennial s	pecies ¹										
S	28.8 (2.5)	18.7 (2.3)	25.1 (1.2)	23.1 (2.5)	24.5 (1.9)	24.9 (2.0)	23.2 (2.2)	0.47	4.59*	6.96*	0.98
N^2	88.5 ^a (10.1)	62.3 ^b (9.0)	77.1 ^{ab} (4.3)	77.0 (9.1)	74.2 (6.6)	79.8 (7.8)	72.2 (7.2)	0.61	2.77	5.59*	0.19
\mathbf{H}^{5}	3.1 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	3.0 (0.0)	2.9 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	3.0 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	-	-	-	-
Short-lived	(annual/biannual)	species ¹									
S^4	7.5 (1.2)	7.7 (1.0)	7.0 (1.5)	6.9 (0.8)	7.8 (1.0)	6.7 (0.6)	7.9 (1.1)	0.19	1.21	0.03	2.29
N ^{2,3}	16.3 (2.8)	19.1 (3.6)	18.7 (5.4)	17.4 (3.4)	18.5 (2.9)	14.0 (1.8)	20.9 (3.4)	0.05	0.22	0.41	1.69
н	1.8 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	1.7 (0.2)	1.7 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	1.7 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	0.28	0.99	0.01	2.40
\mathbf{Forbs}^1											
S	12.9 (1.9)	7.7 (1.3)	10.3 (1.4)	8.9 (1.4)	11.1 (1.3)	10.4 (1.4)	10.0 (1.4)	0.23	6.91*	8.03*	0.33
\mathbf{N}^2	33.3 ^a (4.8)	21.0 ^b (2.7)	28.1 ^{ab} (5.2)	24.1 (4.1)	29.4 (3.3)	25.8 (3.3)	28.1 (3.8)	0.38	2.72	4.66	0.02

				TREATMENTS					INTE	ERACTIONS	
		River section (RS	5)	River ba	ank (RB)	Land	use (LU)	DG DD	DG LU		
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed	KS X KB	KS X LU	KBXLU	K5 X KD X LU
Н	2.2 (0.2)	1.7 (0.2)	2.0 (0.1)	1.8 (0.2)	2.1 (0.1)	2.0 (0.2)	1.9 (0.1)	0.19	4.49*	10.68*	1.40
Tussock gr	rasses ¹										
S^5	11.8 (1.3)	9.4 (1.2)	10.1 (0.3)	10.2 (0.9)	10.6 (0.9)	10.5 (0.9)	10.4 (0.9)	-	-	-	-
N^2	38.4 (4.8)	33.2 (6.1)	37.1 (3.3)	37.7 (4.9)	34.9 (3.6)	37.5 (4.7)	35.1 (3.7)	0.03	1.13	3.78	1.83
H^3	2.3 (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)	2.2 (0.0)	2.1 (0.1)	2.1 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.1 (0.1)	0.14	0.99	2.45	4.81*
Clonal spe	cies ¹										
S	9.0 (0.5)	7.1 (0.7)	7.6 (0.7)	7.8 (0.4)	7.9 (0.6)	8.7 (0.5)	7.3 (0.6)	0.10	3.60	1.07	2.56
N^2	32.4 (2.0)	24.8 (2.1)	26.6 (3.2)	29.3 (2.3)	26.8 (2.0)	31.8 (1.6)	25.0 (2.0)	0.07	1.49	0.01	0.23
н	2.0 (0.1)	1.7 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	1.8 (0.1)	2.0 (0.0)	1.7 (0.1)	0.12	2.44	0.93	1.29
Terrestrial	l (generalist) specie	\mathbf{s}^{1}									
S	24.6 ^a (2.3)	15.8(2.5)	20.7 (2.1)	19.0 (2.1)	21.0 (2.1)	20.9 (1.9)	19.6 (2.2)	0.11	4.05*	4.81*	3.23
N^2	61.6 (7.8)	41.8 (8.7)	53.7 (6.9)	52.0 (7.3)	51.8 (6.5)	53.8 (6.8)	50.5 (6.8)	0.37	2.35	7.04*	0.49
н	3.0 (0.1)	2.5 (0.2)	2.8 (0.1)	2.7 (0.1)	2.8 (0.1)	2.8 (0.1)	2.7 (0.1)	0.29	1.91	6.33*	5.02*
Wetland sj	pecies ¹										
S	2.3 (0.3)	2.7 (0.2)	2.3 (0.3)	2.5 (0.3)	2.4 (0.2)	2.4 (0.3)	2.4 (0.2)	0.84	0.31	7.76*	0.61
N ^{2,3}	8.9 (1.9)	9.8 (1.6)	6.7 (1.7)	10.3 (2.0)	7.4 (0.9)	9.5 (2.0)	7.9 (1.0)	0.03	1.28	5.07*	0.43
н	0.7 (0.1)	0.8 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.59	0.45	3.80	0.34
Floodplain	species ¹										
S^4	11.6 (1.1)	10.6 (0.7)	11.4 (0.6)	11.0 (0.8)	11.3 (0.6)	10.7 (0.6)	11.5 (0.7)	1.33	3.85*	0.10	1.83
\mathbf{N}^2	43.1 (4.5)	39.7 (3.3)	42.1 (3.9)	42.4 (3.5)	40.9 (2.9)	40.0 (3.1)	42.6 (3.1)	0.05	0.58	0.04	0.31
н	2.2 (0.1)	2.1 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	0.01	1.26	0.17	0.65

¹S is species richness, N is total abundance, H is Shannon-Wiener's diversity index (log_e); ² arcsin transformed; ³ square root transformed; ⁴ log₁₀ transformed; ⁷ transformation unable to correct for heteroscedascity (unequal variance).



Figure 3.3 Significant interactions between river bank and land use (grazed, ungrazed) for patterns in wetland species richness (a) and abundance (b) on the Upper Condamine floodplain. Values are means for grazed (solid line) and ungrazed (broken line) sites; error bars are standard error.

3.3.5 Patterns in lippia abundance

Heterogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$) for lippia frequency and cover could not be corrected by transformation, and further analysis was not conducted on these variables (Table 3.9).

Table 3.9Lippia frequency (1000 m^2 quadrats) and cover (FPC%, 1 m^2 quadrats) bytreatments (river section, river bank, land use). Values are means and standard errors (inparentheses).

		TREATMENTS									
		River sectior	1	River	bank	Lan	Land use				
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed				
n	8	9	7	10	14	10	14				
Lippia frequency ^{1,2}	7.0 (0.0)	7.0 (0.0)	6.6 (0.4)	7.0 (0.0)	6.8 (0.2)	7.0 (0.0)	6.8 (0.2)				
Lippia cover ^{1,2}	21.7 (4.6)	12.1 (3.0)	10.1 (2.6)	16.3 (4.1)	13.6 (2.5)	17.3 (4.7)	12.9 (1.8)				

¹ arcsin transformed; ² transformation unable to correct for heteroscedascity

3.4 Discussion

Overall, this study found significant variation in floristic composition and community structure between longitudinal river sections, and significant interactions between river bank and within-patch land use (grazed, ungrazed) treatments in riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

Within river section treatments, and for measures in which significant patterns were detected, Middle river section sites supported consistently lower floristic richness, abundance and diversity than Upper river section sites, while Lower river section sites were consistently intermediate to the other river sections. This pattern was evident for native and alien species richness and total and native species diversity, and for the functional group measures, forb and perennial species abundance and C3 and C4 Shannon-Wiener diversity. These patterns correspond with broad differences in land and water use intensity patterns across the river sections reported in Chapter 2,

with the Middle river section exhibiting more extreme hydrological patterns and a greater level of land use development than the Upper river section, while the Lower river section was in many cases intermediate.

No significant patterns in community structure were evident in relation to river bank treatments, despite major differences in floodplain and catchment width and in land use development on opposing sides of the river (Chapter 2). Nor were there significant patterns evident in response to grazing (i.e. within-remnant land use). However, significant interaction between river section, riverbank and within-remnant land use treatments was evident for a number of measures, indicating that community patterns in this landscape may be the result of complex responses to a number of drivers operating at different scales.

Treatments effects on lippia frequency and cover were unable to be analysed in this study due to heterogeneous variances. However, lippia had higher frequency and cover across all treatments than any other species in this study, and contributed more than any other species to floristic similarity and relatively little to dissimilarity between treatment levels, indicating that it was a dominant and widespread species in riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine floodplain, and that its presence had an overall homogenizing effect on floristic composition in these communities.

3.4.1 Pattern in community diversity

Total species richness (131 species) in this landscape was considerably lower than that reported from floodplain landscapes elsewhere (e.g. Pollock *et al.* 1998, Bagstad *et al.* 2005, Aguiar *et al.* 2006, Beauchamp and Stromberg 2008), although the proportion of alien species (28%) was at the higher end of the reported range. For example, Aguiar *et al.* (2006) reported 9% alien richness in floodplain communities in southern Portugal, while Stohlgren *et al.* (1998) found levels ranging from 6 to 24% in riparian communities of the central grasslands in the USA. While low total species richness in this study may, in part, be due to the prevailing drought conditions experienced in the period prior to sampling (BoM 2010, Chapter 2), it may also be indicative of significant degradation in the state of these woodlands as a result of changes in the landscape associated with current levels of development, associated hydrological changes or the prevalence of the dominant invasive alien species, *Phyla*

canescens (lippia). The legacy of past land use, which involved significantly greater levels of grazing across the landscape and more intense use of riparian ecosystems (e.g. QMDC 2005, Chapter 2), may also continue to influence current community composition as has been reported elsewhere (e.g. Turner *et al.* 2004, Dale *et al.* 2005, Elmore *et al.* 2006b).

The richness of alien species recorded in this landscape indicates, from a community assembly viewpoint, that native ecosystem remnants in this landscape are not particularly resistant to invasion by non-native species (Gilbert and Lechowicz 2005). Non-equilibrial disturbance-driven systems such as riparian communities are inherently prone to invasion (Hobbs and Huenneke 1992), and disturbance, in conjunction with propagule pressure (Foxcroft et al. 2007), is widely recognised as a key driver of species invasion (Vosse et al. 2008). Disturbances such as flooding, drought and grazing result in stochastic establishment opportunities and fluctuating resource levels which facilitate establishment of species (both alien and locally adapted native species) capable of rapid response to these conditions (Davis and Pelsor 2001, Kreyling et al. 2008). Similar response in alien and native species diversity also indicates that both native and alien species in this landscape respond more strongly to environmental gradients than to each other (Shea and Chesson 2002, Deutschewitz et al. 2003, Gilbert and Lechowicz 2005). This is in agreement with the Coexistence Theory which proposes that temporal and spatial environmental heterogeneity (e.g. variations in resource availability) increase invasion success (e.g. of opportunistic native and alien species) and promote species coexistence (Davies et al. 2005, Melbourne et al. 2007, Stohlgren et al. 2008). Conversely, environmental filters (e.g. resource limitation, lack of stochastic disturbance), associated with a degraded system and which result in native species loss and subsequent low native niche-saturation levels due to recruitment limitation (Sax and Brown 2000, Moore et al. 2001), may also limit invasion success of alien species (Kreyling et al. 2008).

Reduced richness, abundance and diversity of native and, to a lesser extent, alien species potentially indicate a more degraded or, at least, a less heterogeneous state (Chapter 1) in the Middle river section of this study. Negligible in-stream flows in this river section in the one and two year periods preceding sampling (Chapter 2), indicate a relatively low level of resources associated with moisture availability, potentially exacerbating prevailing drought conditions. Highly variable flow patterns in streamflow volumes recorded at Lemon Tree Weir over the 10 years prior to sampling indicate considerable variability and altered seasonality in the Middle river section compared to the Upper and Lower sections. However, in this instance, it is likely that these influence only a small portion of this river section (that immediately upstream of the weir), and do not represent flow within the full reach due to the confounding influence of the Condamine North Branch Project (Chapter 2); the diversion of up to 14.5 GL of annual in-stream flows from the Yarramalong Weir represents a significant reduction in in-stream flows and increased potential for impacts on the hydrological dynamics of this section of the river. This is supported by reported declines in exchange between surface flows and groundwater (CSIRO 2008, Chapter 2) in this river section. The floodplain adjacent to the Middle river section is also the most highly developed and modified of the three river sections sampled, with a greater relative proportion of cropping, offstream storages and groundwater bores and a lower proportion of natural vegetation than either the Upper or Lower river sections (Chapter 2).

Shallow alluvial aquifers have been found to play a critical role in supporting phreatophytic vegetation and buffering riparian ecosystems through periods of low precipitation and soil moisture availability (Elmore *et al.* 2006a). Reduced buffering capacity, contributing to more extreme 'effective drought' conditions (Elmore *et al.* 2006a), may drive a higher rate of species decline in this section of the study area, relative to the Upper and, in some cases, Lower river sections. Surrounding land use has been found to play a large role in riparian community condition (e.g. Tabacchi *et al.* 1996, Aguiar and Ferreira 2005), and has significant potential to influence both native species diversity (Moffatt and McLachlan 2004, Martin *et al.* 2006) and the presence and dispersion of alien plant species (Moffatt and McLachlan 2004).

The significant interaction between river section and grazing treatments for total species richness and diversity may also be important, although lack of adequate replication for grazed sites in the Lower river section indicates that this result should be treated cautiously. Significant grazing-precipitation interaction reported in other studies (e.g. Burke *et al.* 1998, Allen-Diaz and Jackson 2000, Lunt *et al.* 2007a), especially at higher grazing intensities, suggests that interactions between grazing and resource availability are potentially important factors in the stability of ecosystems. This is supported by evidence of significant interaction between grazing and flooding

on the condition of riverine and riparian ecosystems along the Murrumbidgee River, southern NSW (Roberston and Rowling 2002), and also in the lippia-invaded Gwydir wetlands, northern NSW (Berney *et al.* 2010, Price *et al.* 2010a). These findings indicate the potential for cross-scale interactions and for complex ecosystem responses in floodplain landscapes.

3.4.2 Patterns in functional group diversity

Differences in richness, abundance and diversity patterns in a number of functional response groups across river section treatments further support an interpretation of reduced hydrological and ecological function (or increased dysfunction; Chapter 1) along the Middle river section of the study area. While the functional groups examined are not mutually exclusive (i.e. species in this dataset are members of several functional response groups), and responses are likely to be the result of multiple interacting influences in this landscape, significant response in these groups (specifically, C3, C4, forb and perennial species groups) supports the proposition that this more degraded (less dynamic) ecological state is likely to be predominantly associated with more intense effective drought conditions due to a low level of accessible moisture resources.

Both C3 and C4 species are significantly impacted by severe dehydration. Species with C3 physiology are physiologically vulnerable to low moisture availability (Yu *et al.* 2005). In these species, stomatal closure to prevent dehydration constrains photosynthesis, resulting in poor fitness (i.e. low growth and reproductive effort) (Lee and Bazzaz 1986, Moreno *et al.* 2008). While C4 species are physiologically adapted to avoid moisture stress and inherently more water-use efficient than C3 species (Yu *et al.* 2005), they have also been found to suffer metabolic failure under extreme soil moisture deficit (Kalapos *et al.* 1996, Ripley *et al.* 2007).

Regardless of metabolic pathway, many perennial species in water-stressed environments develop deep-root systems (Owensby *et al.* 1999, Huang and Fu 2000), and persistence of these species in drought periods may depend on continued access to stored subsoil moisture (Gibbens and Lenz 2001, Veneklaas and Poot 2003). In alkali meadows in California USA, such species have been found to be highly responsive to the presence of shallow groundwater, which effectively buffers them against drought and soil moisture deficit (Elmore *et al.* 2006a). However, over a
period of 16 years, groundwater decline below the average maximum effective rooting depth of perennial groundcover species in that system (2.5 m) induced a threshold response in the abundance of those species; cover remained high at groundwater depths above 2.5 m, despite variation in precipitation, but was significantly reduced where depths exceeded 2.5 m (Elmore *et al.* 2006a).

More complex interactions are also reported in some systems. Persistence of perennial species in drought periods may be dependent on access to moisture redistributed by deep-rooted species through hydraulic lift from deeper soil layers (Dawson 1993a,b,c, Hawkins *et al.* 2009). In the study reported by Elmore *et al.* (2006a), significantly slower response to groundwater decline was evident where there was greater cover of deep-rooted shrubs, which acted to minimise the impact on associated herbaceous species. However, Ludwig *et al.* (2004a, b) report that increased competition for scarce surface soil moisture from hydraulic lift by *Acacia tortilis* in East Africa results in no net benefit for undercanopy herbaceous species.

Diverse groups, such as forbs, are likely to encompass both short-lived and perennial species, and C3 and C4 species, and hence a wide range of adaptations and water-use efficiencies. Ephemeral forbs, in particular, are adapted to rapid response (germination, establishment, growth, reproduction) to improved environmental conditions, and are therefore likely to be adversely affected by low resource conditions (Tsialtas *et al.* 2001, Lechmere-Oertel *et al.* 2005). However, species not specifically adapted to the hydrological extremes experienced in dryland floodplain environments (Colloff *et al.* 2010, Colloff and Baldwin 2010) may be more susceptible to changes in landscape hydrology which increase effective drought conditions and act to filter poorly adapted species (Chapin *et al.* 1993).

While reduced hydrological function is likely to be a primary factor in the observed responses in this study, significant interaction between land use and river section treatments was also apparent in a number functional group patterns, indicating the potential for complex ecological responses to interactions between grazing and resource availability as previously recognised in a number of studies (e.g. Burke *et al.* 1998, Allen-Diaz and Jackson 2000, Lunt *et al.* 2007a). This is reinforced by the finding that within-patch grazing had limited independent impact on functional group responses in this study. However, significant functional group response is generally associated with gradients in grazing intensity (e.g. Lavorel *et al.* 1997, McIntyre and

Lavorel 2001); these were not tested in this study, which was concerned only with broad responses to the presence or absence of grazing *per se*.

The lack of significant response in the abundance and diversity of clonal species in this study is counter to previous studies which generally classify such species in the 'increaser' response group under high grazing pressure (Lavorel *et al.* 1997, McIntyre and Lavorel 2001, Vesk and Westoby 2001). Such species are well adapted to surviving grazing damage, possessing multiple resprouting buds (Liu *et al.* 2007, Benot *et al.* 2010), and frequently increase under grazing pressure as other more susceptible species decline (Liu *et al.* 2007). They are also well adapted to flooding disturbance, and are typically common in floodplain environments, where interactions between flooding and grazing can frequently contribute to their proliferation (Benot *et al.* 2010). Limited response in this group under current climatic conditions may be an indication that this group is not well-buffered against drought or that responses in this group occur at a finer scale than was tested in this study, as suggested above.

3.4.3 Patterns in the dominant weed, lippia

Lippia, a clonal deep-rooted perennial C3 species, was the most frequent and abundant species recorded in this study. As predicted, frequency was a poor measure for such a pervasive (over-dispersed) species (Morrison *et al.* 1995). Cover estimates $(1 \text{ m}^2 \text{ quadrats})$ indicated a high level of variability between samples, especially where grazing was present; however, distinct patterns were not evident at the scales investigated in this study (landscape-and patch-scale). Patterns in lippia abundance have been noted in response to different grazing and flooding intensities (Price *et al.* 2010a), small-scale variations in microclimatic conditions due to topography (Arias *et al.* 2005) and interactions with other species (Taylor and Ganf 2005).

The prevalence of lippia in the study landscape has been linked to high stocking rates and grazing pressure (both current and historical) in these woodlands (QMDC 2005). Lippia establishment and abundance is promoted by flooding, in combination with disturbances such as grazing which provide areas of bare soil and reduce competition from existing groundcover species (Price *et al.* 2011). Grazing exclusion enables recovery of native groundcover (QMDC 2005) and results in a decline in lippia cover in many, but not all, instances (pers. obs.). However, this study indicates that, despite this, lippia persists and is a dominant component of native ecosystems in this landscape independent of current land management.

Lippia has been present in the study landscape for over 80 years, having been first recorded at Tummaville (in the Upper river section of this study, between Talgai and Yarramalong weirs) in 1927 (Lucy et al. 1995, Earl 2003). Prior to the 1950s and '60s and development for cropping, the predominant land use on the floodplain was livestock grazing (Chapter 2). Interactions between flooding and high intensity grazing are likely to have promoted the spread and establishment of lippia, particularly within riparian areas (Stokes et al. 2007, Price et al. 2010a, 2011, Berney et al. 2010). The removal of grazing from many of these areas with the development and intensification of irrigated agriculture has seen a decline in the abundance of lippia in many remnants (e.g. QMDC 2005); however, lippia persists as the most widespread species within floodplain riparian vegetation communities in the Upper Condamine landscape. A soil seedbank germination trial conducted in conjunction with this study (results not presented) indicated that this species has a significant persistent germinable soil seedbank at most sites (22 of 24 sites sampled, and second only to Einadia spp. in terms of abundance) in this landscape. This is further supplemented by its ability to propagate from vegetative fragments, which are also spread by floodwaters (Taylor and Ganf 2005), under suitable conditions (MacDonald 2008, Price *et al.* 2011). These factors are indicative of ongoing significant risk to native riparian ecosystems associated with lippia in the Upper Condamine landscape.

While this study was not designed to investigate the ecological impact of lippia, it does report the major contribution by lippia to the similarity of sites within treatments in this study. This suggests a significant homogenizing effect (Reinhart *et al.* 2005, McKinney and La Sorte 2007) on community composition and diversity in the study landscape. This may be particularly associated with reduced diversity of ephemeral herbs (forbs and graminoids) in this landscape, in response to past or current prevalence of lippia in these ecosystems. Forbs contribute significantly to ecosystem biodiversity and provide important inter-tussock groundcover in native perennial grasslands (Tremont and McIntyre 1994, Fensham 1998a). Lippia, a perennial clonal forb with highly plastic growth habits (Taylor and Ganf 2005), is adept at pre-empting space in invaded landscapes (Taylor and Ganf 2005). This species exhibits a densely rooted matting ('phalanx') growth form under suitable growing conditions of

high light (Xu *et al.* 2010b) and nutrient (Clech-Goods 2010) availability, in combination with adequate soil moisture (Taylor and Ganf 2005). Where conditions are less suitable, especially where taller-growing perennial tussock grasses are dominant, it tends to grow in an elongated trailing exploratory ('guerrilla') form (Taylor and Ganf 2005). Both forms indicate a capacity to pre-empt available space and temporally available resources in invaded landscapes, roles usually occupied by ephemeral species (e.g. Morgan 1998a,b, Rosenthal and Lederbogen 2008) which may consequently be excluded. Long-term persistence of lippia in these landscapes may further exacerbate the decline of ephemeral native species, including forbs, through depletion of persistent seedbanks (Benson and Hartnett 2006, Navarro *et al.* 2006).

3.4.4 Significance and limitations

This study confirms the perception that the Upper Condamine is a lippia-dominated landscape, at least in riparian and active floodplain sections of the catchment. This species has high reproductive capacity and the ability to form an abundant and persistent germinable soil seedbank (Macdonald 2008), as well as effective dispersal, establishment and growth strategies under suitable disturbance and resource availability conditions (Stokes *et al.* 2007, 2008, Price *et al.* 2011), and is unlikely to be readily controlled in these systems. These systems therefore fall into the category of novel ecosystems as defined by Hobbs *et al.* (2006), where altered species composition, due to the effectively irreversible presence of alien species or 'human agency', implies new interactions, responses and function in these systems. Hobbs *et al.* (2006, 2009) argue that the management of such systems is therefore more efficiently and effectively directed towards retaining ecological function than in attempting to restore these systems to an original pre-development state, particularly given the limited societal resources and potential trade-offs involved.

In terms of function in these systems, this study identifies significantly different floristic composition and lower response diversity (functional redundancy) in a number of functional response groups in the Middle and, to a lesser extent, the Lower river sections of the Upper Condamine Water Supply Scheme. This coincides with evidence of more highly impacted in-stream flow patterns, more intense water resource use and greater levels of floodplain development reported in Chapter 2. However, this study was not able to effectively separate either the spatially correlated influence of current hydrological conditions and adjacent land use, or the temporally correlated impact of past land use and altered hydrological regimes, on overall community composition and structure.

Despite this, drought impacts at the time of the study were more intense in the Middle and Lower river sections, with significantly greater response in hydrologically sensitive groups (i.e. C3, C4 and forb species). Species associated with dryland river systems are likely to be variously adapted to the hydrological extremes of both drought and flooding (Colloff and Baldwin 2010), and may display considerable resilience in landscapes which have historically experienced a high degree of stochasticity in these events (Capon 2003). However, the potential for ecological processes to buffer the full impact of these extremes (e.g. Elmore et al. 2006a) indicates that susceptible species may also show limited response where stabilizing feedbacks (e.g. hydraulic lift in response to declining soil moisture levels) occur in such systems. Significant decline in these functional groups in this study may be associated with increased sensitivity to rainfall variability due to reduced buffering capacity in parts of the landscape where there has been more extensive groundwater decline (CSIRO 2008, Chapter 2) or which support a relatively low cover of deeprooted phreatic species (as suggested by Elmore et al. 2006a); this is supported by evidence of reduced abundance of perennial herbaceous species in this study, which also corresponds with findings previously reported by Elmore et al. (2006a).

While community response in this study varied in relation to longitudinal river sections, the impact of flow regulation on overall ecosystem function is difficult to establish with any certainty in such a highly modified landscape, where the level of hydrological modification and land use intensification are interconnected (Chapter 2). In addition, this study was not designed to test temporal variability associated with patch dynamics (e.g. in response to flooding), the influence of historical landscape legacies, or variability associated with species interactions at finer (within-patch) scales which may be relevant in these dynamic woodland ecosystems (Fay *et al.* 2008).

Similarly, response to differences in lateral connectivity (i.e. between river bank treatments which captured broad hydrological and land use patterns lateral to the main river channel), may also have been confounded by differences in land use

development intensity (as indicated in Chapter 2). Patterns associated with lateral flows (and responses associated with disruption to these) may also be more apparent at the local scale at which changes in historical flowpaths (e.g. due to diversion and capture of overland flow and the location of floodplain infrastructure) and interactions between hydrological connectivity and land use intensity are likely to occur. This is supported by evidence of significant interaction between river bank and within-patch land use treatments in many of the responses measured in this study (e.g. multivariate floristic composition; total or native species richness, abundance and diversity; and a number of functional group measures).

Within-remnant land use (i.e. the presence or absence of grazing) had no discernable over-riding impact on total, native or alien richness, abundance or diversity in this study. Grazing at the scale measured in this study was not designed to differentiate between different levels of grazing pressure (often highly influential in terms of vegetation composition responses, e.g. Fuhlendorf *et al.* 2001, Allsopp *et al.* 2007), hence data from sites that were more conservatively grazed may have masked more substantial responses at those which were intensively utilised. Nor did this study account for the previous grazing history (legacy) of sites, which may continue to influence composition (Lunt *et al.* 2007a) at both currently grazed and ungrazed sites. For example, Prober *et al.* (2002b) report a hysteresis effect in previously grazed grassy box woodlands in south-eastern Australia, associated with feedbacks between high soil nutrient levels and annual weed species, which prevents recovery. However, as stated above, significant interactions between grazing and hydrology (in particular, lateral connectivity) were apparent and may be important.

3.5 Conclusions

The overall conclusion from this study is that a number of community patterns in riparian woodland remnants on Upper Condamine floodplain conform to broad-scale longitudinal patterns in hydrology and land use, with significant changes in community structure and response diversity in sites along river sections most significantly impacted by floodplain development and by changes in hydrological conditions (as identified in Chapter 2). Significant patterns in vegetation community composition and structure (overall and functional group richness, abundance and diversity) were especially apparent in groups which were sensitive to drought

conditions at the time of sampling, suggesting reduced buffering capacity and increased sensitivity to drought in these sections of the landscape. While this research was not designed to identify causal relationships, the potential involvement of groundwater in conferring resistance/resilience to drought raises questions regarding the impact of groundwater decline and potentially the function of deep-rooted canopy trees in these ecosystems. These issues are explored further in Chapters 4 and 5.

The study also confirms the invaded extent and abundance of the introduced clonal perennial herb, *Phyla canescens* (lippia) within these woodlands (e.g. Voller 1998, McCosker 1996), and supports a general conclusion that the Upper Condamine floodplain is a lippia-invaded landscape (Earl 2003). However, there was no significant pattern in lippia abundance in this landscape in relation to large-scale hydrological connectivity or land use intensity, or within-patch land use, indicating the need for a different approach to investigating lippia responses in these ecosystems (Chapters 5 and 6).

The relative importance of hydrological connectivity in shaping ecosystem response was unable to be identified due to confounding patterns in land use development intensity in this landscape. This study also indicates the importance of cross-scale interactions between hydrological connectivity and land use, and the potential for complex ecosystem responses in highly modified floodplain landscapes. This suggests the need to consider the range of interacting factors, both locally and within the broader landscape context, including land use intensity, hydrology, the presence of invasive weed species, and the role of deep-rooted phreatic species, in order to determine factors driving ecosystem condition and function, and to enable assessment of the resilience and potential future status of these systems (Chapter 5).

Chapter 4 Patterns in canopy tree condition in riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain

4.1 Introduction

Native floodplain ecosystems in production landscapes are subject to significant degradation pressure associated with altered disturbance regimes (Tockner and Stanford 2002). Modification of the hydrological, material and energy flow regimes which define floodplain ecosystem structure and function (Walker and Thoms 1993, King et al. 2009) can contribute to reduced resilience to disturbance, and threaten the long-term persistence of native ecosystems (Walker and Meyers 2004, Walker et al. 2006). The impacts of disturbance and environmental change on key functional species, such as dominant canopy species in woodland or forest ecosystems, may be of critical importance in understanding the response dynamics of these systems (Walker 1995). This may be particularly true in systems in which these species play a critical functional role on which other species depend (Ebenman and Jonsson 2005). Changes in the condition (health, population structure) of dominant 'controlling' (sensu Holling 1992) or 'driver' (sensu Walker 1995) species may contribute disproportionately to the rate of ecological change (Ebenman and Jonsson 2005), and be indicative of significant shifts in the structure and function of ecosystems subject to anthropogenic modification (Jones et al. 1994, Walker 1995, Peterson et al. 1998). Response dynamics in such species may provide a critical indication of ecosystem health and resilience and an important yardstick to sustainable land management for ecosystem service provision (including biodiversity conservation) in highly modified landscapes.

This chapter explores the condition of dominant canopy species in remnant riparian grassy woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain, a highly modified production landscape.

4.1.1 Trees and resilience in grassy woodland ecosystems

Savanna ecosystems exhibit key characteristics of complex adaptive systems (Mills *et al.* 2006, Chapter1). Their structure and productivity are governed by dynamic interactions between climate, soils, and disturbances such as fire and herbivory

(House *et al.* 2003, Beerling and Osborne 2006), operating across temporal and spatial scales (Coughenour and Ellis 1993). Water availability appears to be an important factor controlling the tree: grass ratio in these environments. Coexistence is based on resource partitioning by shallow-rooted herbaceous species and deeperrooted tree species, with relative rooting depth (and tree separation) increasing with aridity (Schenk and Jackson 2002a,b). The rooting depth of plants has important implications for hydrological balance and carbon and nutrient cycling in ecosystems (Canadell *et al.* 1996); this is particularly the case where species influence ecosystem water balance through hydraulic redistribution, a phenomenon reported in a number of savanna-type ecosystems (e.g. Scholz *et al.* 2002, Ludwig *et al.* 2003, 2004b, Scott *et al.* 2008).

In harsh environments, woody species may contribute to increased community diversity by moderating microclimatic conditions and soil physical and chemical properties, thereby facilitating recruitment and improving the water status, nutrient content, carbon assimilation rates and growth of herbaceous species (Moro *et al.* 1997a,b, Ludwig *et al.* 2004b, Armas and Pugnaire 2005). While community patterns and dynamics are the product of multiple, complex interactions including resource competition (e.g. Ludwig *et al.* 2003, 2004a), facilitative processes such as hydraulic redistribution, 'nurse'-plant effects and N-fixation are increasingly recognised as critically important processes in plant communities (Callaway 1995, Pugnaire *et al.* 1996). Positive interactions such as these underpin the importance of functional (keystone, foundation, driver) species, particularly in highly variable environments, and highlight the potential risks associated with their loss (or in some cases, introduction).

Forests and woodlands with only one or two foundation species, have limited functional redundancy (Walker 1992, Chapter 1). The loss of such species entails a loss of ecosystem function, and is also likely to lead to rapid and irreversible non-linear shifts in biological diversity, system-wide changes in structure and function (Ebenman and Jonsson 2005) and the emergence of novel forest types (Ebenman and Jonsson 2005, Hobbs *et al.* 2009). However, while there is general understanding that plants contribute to overall ecosystem function through changes to micro-climatic conditions and regulation of resource availability (Facelli and Pickett 1991), the specific role of key plant species in the function and stability of ecosystems has not

been widely investigated or reported (Ellison *et al.* 2005). Ellison *et al.* (2005) warn that because such tree species tend to be common, abundant, and large, our responses to their decline are frequently too late and at inappropriate scales. This is compounded by the incremental pattern of decline in such species across a range of temporal and spatial scales, often resulting in a mosaic of increasingly fragmented remnant communities across landscapes (Ellison *et al.* 2005), which is likely to escape attention unless systematically monitored.

4.1.2 Tree condition in modified landscapes

Studies investigating tree decline in dominant species have shown association with a range of often interacting factors, including drought, insect irruptions and intensification of land use (e.g. Fensham 1998b, Reid 1999, Banks 2006, Allen 2007). Dieback responses in eucalypts appear to be driven by fundamental abiotic stressors such as drought (Rice et al. 2004, Fensham and Fairfax 2007), and altered disturbance (fire, flooding) regimes (Jurskis 2005a, Wen et al. 2009) associated with changed land use cover and management (Wylie et al. 1992). While dieback has been noted in larger woodland or forested areas (e.g. Kemmerer et al. 2008, Cunningham et al. 2010), it is particularly evident in rural landscapes which have been significantly modified and developed for agriculture (Landsberg and Wylie 1988, Wylie et al. 1992, 1993). In a survey of rural tree dieback, landholders in Queensland reported poor condition in 67 species (Wylie et al. 1992); this was thought to be symptomatic of changes in resource availability associated with land degradation. (e.g. changes in landscape function; Ludwig and Tongway 1995) or altered hydrological processes (e.g. Bramley et al. 2003). Alternatively, altered tree condition may be in response to novel environmental factors introduced as a component of current land use. For example, Banks (2006) reported significant impact on tree condition in Eucalytus *populnea* associated with herbicide drift on the intensively farmed Liverpool Plain, northern NSW. Biotic factors, such as root fungi (e.g. Weste and Marks 1987) and chronic insect attack (Landsberg 1990a, Lowman and Heatwole 1992, Clarke and Schedvin 1999), can also play a critical role. However, biotic involvement appears to be generally associated with physiological responses in trees (e.g. production of palatable nutrient-rich epicormic growth, changed chemical signals) to initial (primary) environmental stresses (Lowman and Heatwole 1992, Clarke and Schedvin 1999, Hanks et al. 1999).

Changes in tree condition may also actively reinforce land degradation trends through positive feedback loops (Hobbs and Suding 2009). For example, some eucalypt species (e.g. Eucalyptus nova-anglica) on the New England tablelands, northern NSW, are subject to high levels of insect defoliation linked to fertilization of nonnative 'improved' pastures to improve livestock productivity (Reid 1999, Close and Davidson 2004). Tree responses to defoliation in these species include prolific production of fresh epicormic growth which reinforces further insect attack in a positive feedback loop contributing to declining fitness and increased risk of mortality in individual trees (Lowman and Heatwole 1992), altered population processes in affected species, and landscape change in terms of tree cover and species dominance (Reid 1999). Changes in catchment hydrology associated with broadscale tree clearing in the wheat-sheep belt of southern Australia has resulted in groundwater rise, increasing soil salinity, and tree decline in discharge (frequently floodplain) environments (Jolly et al. 1993, Overton et al. 2006). The ecological impact of this process is compounded by declining functionality and evapotranspiration in deeprooted trees in these environments, contributing to further groundwater rise, more widespread salinisation and accelerating tree decline (Thorburn et al. 1993).

4.1.3 Riparian tree responses to changes in hydrological connectivity

The function and dynamics of floodplain riparian ecosystems are understood to be largely controlled by hydrological disturbance regimes (Hughes 1997); however, much of this understanding is based on studies of ecological responses in floodplain and riparian ecosystem on perennially flowing streams in humid environments with a long history of human-induced landscape modification (Thoms and Sheldon 2002, Vervoort 2007). Flooding in these systems provides recruitment opportunities for flood-adapted and flood-tolerant tree species, filters out those which are less well adapted to cope with flooding disturbance or inundation, and maintains a stable species dominance regime (Hughes 1997, e.g. Bornette and Amoros 1996, Cowell and Dyer 2002). Hydrological modification (flow regulation) and altered dynamics in these systems contribute to increased diversity of generalist canopy species and woodland systems which are more susceptible to major flood events (e.g. Deiller *et al.* 2001, Cowell and Dyer 2002).

In ephemeral dryland (semi-arid) systems, riparian community responses indicate that native tree species in these systems are adapted to, and often dependent on natural disturbance dynamics and associated levels of resource availability inherent in these systems (e.g. Thorburn and Walker 1994, Stromberg and Patten 1996). In such landscapes, flow regulation and extraction of water resources for agricultural production (irrigation) or urban purposes can result in extreme hydrological stress in affected ecosystems (Horton *et al.* 2001a,b), and changes in the condition and function of individual trees, population processes of dominant species or the structure and function of ecological communities (Rood and Mooney 1990, Scott *et al.* 1999, Lite and Stromberg 2005).

Riparian tree species, even in arid and semi-arid regions, are frequently mesic and highly dependent on access to reliable water sources, including in-stream surface water, soil moisture (supplemented by over-bank flooding), and shallow groundwater (e.g. Mensforth et al. 1994, Thorburn and Walker 1994, Stromberg and Patten 1996). Such species tend to be poorly adapted to cope with water deficit, and their health is likely to be closely related to hydrological status (McDowell et al. 2008, e.g. Bacon et al. 1993, Cooper et al. 2003b). Under water deficit conditions due to drought or modified hydrological conditions, trees in these systems may exhibit stress responses ranging from adaptive canopy thinning and minor branch sacrifice, which reduce transpirational demand and conserve hydraulic status (Tyree and Sperry 1988, Rood et al. 2000), to irreversible failure (embolism and cavitation) in transporting xylem tissue (Tyree and Ewers 1991, Breda et al. 2006, McDowell et al. 2008). Changes in critical plant processes (e.g. water uptake, photosynthesis) associated with hydraulic dysfunction may result in secondary impacts associated with carbon starvation. These may include reduced capacity for root growth (Friend et al. 1994), and potentially reduced resistance to biotic agents, such as borers, often observed in drought-stressed trees (e.g. Hanks et al. 1999).

Native tree species in systems affected by hydrological stress due to regulation and extraction often exhibit major shifts in population dynamics which contribute to altered community dominance, ecological function, and system dynamics (e.g. Merritt and Cooper 2000, Lite and Stromberg 2005). For example, on semi-arid zone rivers in western USA, flow regulation and diversion have dampened hydrological dynamics, reduced flooding and contributed to declining groundwater levels (e.g.

Shafroth *et al.* 2000, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a). Reported impacts include declining health and altered population processes in dominant native riparian woodland canopy species such as *Populus fremontii* and *Salix gooddingii*, and an increase in establishment and replacement opportunities for more drought-tolerant tree species such as the alien *Tamarix ramosissima* (e.g. Stromberg *et al.* 1996, Smith *et al.* 1998, Lite and Stromberg 2005).

River red gum responses to hydrological change

The river red gum *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* (Dehnh.) is one of the most widespread species in Australia, occurring along many inland river systems including those of the Murray-Darling (Wen *et al.* 2009). Declining crown condition in *E. camaldulensis* communities in the southern Murray-Darling Basin has been reported in association with increasing landscape salinisation, reduced flooding due to river regulation and surface water extraction, and persistent drought on the Murray and Murrumbidgee floodplains (Cunningham *et al.* 2010, Wen *et al.* 2009). Poor tree health is reported particularly where flooding is restricted in conjunction with high salinity levels (e.g. Chowilla floodplain, Jolly *et al.* 1993, 1996, Overton *et al.* 2006). Despite moderate to high salinity tolerance (Bell 1999, Benyon *et al.* 1999), *E. camaldulensis* exhibits reduced leaf area and loss of hydraulic function with increasing salinity levels above 8 dSm⁻¹ (Benyon *et al.* 1994). Flooding plays a vital role in maintaining tree health by flushing salt from surface soils where it has accumulated due to rising groundwater tables (Slavich *et al.* 1996, Akeroyd *et al.* 1998, Bramley *et al.* 2003).

Conversely, river regulation resulting in a higher frequency of unseasonal flows and flooding has contributed to widespread tree decline where *E. camaldulensis* forests occur in conjunction with effluent wetlands in this system (e.g. the Barmah-Millewa forest) (Chong and Ladson 2003). This may be associated with a number of environmental factors, including duration of inundation, moisture stress following inundation, and salinity. Bren (1987) reported that *E. camaldulensis* was able to survive extended continuous inundation for 24 to 48 months before showing signs of stress. Kozlowski (1997) suggests that, while flood-tolerant species such as E. *camaldulensis* exhibit a range of morphological and physiological adaptations to waterlogging, extended periods of inundation may lead to reduced drought-tolerance post-flooding due to changes in root function, mycorrhizal associations, and the

root:shoot ratio. Combinations of inundation and salinity may also have greater impact on growth and survival than either stress alone (Kozlowski 1997). Seedlings of *E. camaldulensis* have been reported to be relatively tolerant of waterlogging conditions, but less so of waterlogging where waters are highly saline (van der Moezel *et al.* 1989).

Declining condition in *E. camaldulensis* due to water deficit has been reported in sections of the Murray Darling Basin over the recent prolonged drought and associated period of low-flow conditions (Doody and Overton 2009). Poor condition of *E. camaldulensis* on the Macquarie River and sections of the Macquarie Marshes in central New South Wales has also been linked to disconnection of the floodplain from the river due to a proliferation of earthen banks and levees associated with floodplain farming which limit the extent of overbank flooding (Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008), although it is not clear from this study whether this response was primarily due to water deficit or the involvement of salinisation processes.

Access to groundwater during drought periods is likely to be an important factor for *E. camaldulensis*, which is well-recognised as a facultative phreatophyte (Mensforth *et al.* 1994, Thorburn and Walker 1994); however, the impact of groundwater decline on this species has not been widely investigated. Groundwater decline due to extended drought or lack of flooding was thought to be a significant factor in increased mortality in a 40-year old *E. camaldulensis* plantation on the Murrumbidgee floodplain (Horner *et al.* 2009). This study reported significantly increased mortality where groundwater depths exceeded 12–15 m. Rooting depth is an adaptive characteristic in young *E. camaldulensis*, as indicated by rapid root extension in saplings in response to falling subsoil moisture levels (Calder *et al.* 1997); however, in other species, trees which have matured during periods of high water availability may be less tolerant of water stress than those which have survived water deficit as they were growing, indicating a limit to further adaptation in older trees (Shafroth *et al.* 2000, Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002).

4.1.4 Tree responses to grazing in riparian ecosystems

Few studies have considered the additional impacts associated with within-remnant management (e.g. grazing) in riparian ecosystems (Robertson and Rowling 2000, Jansen and Robertson 2001), and none have specifically addressed the impact of

grazing on the condition of riparian trees. Studies conducted in riparian woodlands are largely focused on the impact of grazing on canopy species population processes, and specifically recruitment (e.g. Meeson *et al.* 2002). Seedling survival is also frequently constrained by grazing (Fischer *et al.* 2009) leading to recruitment failure and skewed populations of canopy species in grazed landscapes (e.g. Pettit 2002).

4.1.5 Study overview

Community patterns, including floristic composition, community structure and response diversity, in riparian woodland remnants on Upper Condamine floodplain, reported in Chapter 3, conform to broad-scale longitudinal patterns in hydrology and land use in this highly modified landscape. Significant response was apparent in functional groups which were sensitive to drought, suggesting reduced buffering capacity and increased sensitivity to drought particularly in the most altered Middle river section of the landscape. The question was raised regarding links between groundwater decline and the function of deep-rooted phreatic canopy trees (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*) in these ecosystems. High levels of dieback, reported in this species complex, are potentially indicative of major ecological change and altered processes in this landscape.

While light to moderate eucalypt dieback was reported earlier on the Darling Downs (Wylie *et al.* 1992), significant decline in the condition of the floodplain 'river frontage' forests occurred following the onset of prolonged drought in 1991 (Voller 1998). Voller (1998) identified changes in the riverine landscape over the 60 years since 1935, including increased evidence of dieback symptoms in canopy species, limited regeneration and growth of dominant eucalypt species, and increased prevalence of the native subcanopy species *Acacia stenophylla*. Several potential causes (salinity, psyllids, herbivory) of tree decline in Upper Condamine riparian woodlands were investigated by Voller and Eddie (1995), but the study failed to identify any primary cause (Voller 1998). Observed changes were attributed to a combination of factors, including repeated defoliation by high common brushtail possum (*Trichosurus vulpecula*) numbers, combined with insect attack and cockatoo damage, drought severity, weed competition, grazing, and intensification of land use (Voller 1998). Salinity was not found to be closely associated with the observed

decline (Voller 1998), and hydrological factors (e.g. altered flow and flood regimes, groundwater changes) and broader landscape patterns were not considered.

As indicated above, studies in other river systems have found significant impacts on the condition and survival of mature canopy trees in riparian woodlands associated with rivers subject to altered hydrological regimes due to impoundment, flow regulation or diversion. This study asks whether current perceptions regarding the impact of modified hydrological regimes on the response dynamics of dominant tree species in remnant floodplain riparian ecosystems are applicable in this highly modified production landscape. It uses the stratified design implemented in Chapter 3 to investigate whether there are significant effects of differences in longitudinal and lateral connectivity (i.e. between river section and between river bank treatments, respectively) and within-remnant land use (i.e. the presence or absence of livestock grazing) on the size, condition and frequency of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* and *Acacia stenophylla* in remnant riparian woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

4.2 Methods

A general description and map of the study area is provided in Chapter 2.

4.2.1 Survey design

This study used the same survey design and sites as the study reported in Chapter 3. In summary, a total of 24 sites was sampled within remnant *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*-dominant riparian woodlands along the regulated section of the Condamine River between January and April in the summer of 2004–2005. The study area was stratified *a priori* by (i) river section (Upper, Middle, Lower); (ii) river bank (Left, Right), and (iii) within-remnant land use (Grazed, Ungrazed by domestic livestock). River sections corresponded to the scale of stream-flow data, with end-points of each longitudinal section marked by the location of streamflow gauging stations at in-stream weirs: Talgai to Yarramalong (Upper), Yarramalong to Lemon Tree (Middle), Lemon Tree to Cecil Plains Weir (Lower). River bank treatments investigated differences in factors influencing lateral overland flow parameters on opposite sides of the main river channel. Within-remnant land use

captured broad patch-scale management impacts on vegetation composition and condition.

Sample site locations are as described in Chapter 3.

4.2.2 Data collection

Site details

Site condition and woodland structural composition details are reported in Chapter 3.

Woody species composition

At each site, seedling count data were collected for woody species rooted within the modified $1,000 \text{ m}^2$ nested squares quadrat system, as reported in Chapter 3.

Tree health

The size, dispersion, canopy condition and reproductive condition of the four mature canopy trees (one per quadrant) nearest to the centre point of the 1,000 m^2 quadrat were recorded.

Measurements included distance from the quadrat centre point, tree girth (D_{130} : circumference at 130 cm height converted to diameter), and tree height. Canopy projected foliage cover (%) of trees was estimated visually. Canopy condition was scored on a 4-point scale (0: no evidence to 3: considerable evidence; after Le Brocque and Buckney 1995) for dieback (as indicated by tip death, epicormic growth), pathology (yellowing or necrosis of leaves), arboreal herbivory (damaged leaves), and cockatoo damage (tip pruning), where 'tip' refers to new growth at the outer canopy edge and 'tip pruning' was quantified on the basis of the quantity of 'tip litter' (pruned tips) on the ground. Reproductive condition was scored using the same 4-point scale for abundance of buds, flowers and fruit. The number of mistletoe on trees, and the number of standing stags (size classes: >50 cm D_{130} , 20-50 cm D_{130} , <20 cm D_{130}) within the sampling quadrat was also recorded.

Measures indicative of tree condition (Table 4.1) were recorded for each tree, including foliage index (FI: estimated proportion remaining of entire canopy) and percentage tree remaining (PTR, a measure of structural integrity). Canopy thinning and loss of major branches resulted in lower estimates for FI and PTR (Banks 2006).

Table 4.1Definitions for (a) tree health parameters, including (b) categories usedto assess crown structure, and (c) categories to assess the position of crown dieback,used in assessments of tree health in mature *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*in Upper Condamine riparian woodlands.

Variable	Code	Data type	Definition
Foliage Index (FI) (%)	FI	%	percent leaf biomass present relative to healthy reference tree (full crown)
Percent tree remaining (PTR) (%)	PTR	%	percent woody architecture remaining: from 100% (perfect habit) to 10% (trunk only)
Crown structure (CS)	CS	categorical	4 categories ^(b) describing the states of the foliage in the dominant proportion of the tree crown
Crown Dieback (CD)	CD	categorical	4 categories ^(c) describing the position of dieback in the crown and the pattern of foliage loss
Foliage colour	-	ordinal	4 categories describing the severity of foliage necrosis (browning) or chlorosis (yellowing): 4-point scale (0: no evidence to 3: considerable evidence)
Foliage growth pattern		categorical	% of canopy for 4 types of foliage growth: tip growth, normal growth, epicormic growth (primary branches), epicormic growth (stem)
Dropped branches	-	binary	absence (1) or presence (2) – indicative of recent structural damage
Tree size	D130	ratio	tree size, as a surrogate measure of age
Mistletoe	-	ratio	number of mistletoe
Herbivory (insect, arboreal herbivores)	-	ordinal	4 categories describing the severity of arboreal herbivory/damage: 4-point scale (0: no evidence to 3: considerable evidence)
Cockatoo/corella damage		ordinal	4 categories describing the extent of tip-pruning activity: 4-point scale (0: no evidence to 3: considerable evidence)

(a) Tree health parameters (after Wylie et al. 1992, 1993 and Banks 2006).

(b) Crown structure (CS) categories (as in Banks 2006)

Crown Structure category	Definition
1	Primary crown – typical form of a healthy tree in its class
2	Secondary crown – developed from epicormic shoots \geq 50cm
3	Recent epicormic growth \leq 50cm – along the trunk and main branches
4	Apparently dead crown

(c) Crown dieback (CD) categories (as in Banks 2006)

Crown Dieback category	Position of dieback/foliage loss
1	One side of the tree
2	Lower canopy
3	Progressing from the top of the tree and tips of branches
4	No pattern

4.2.3 Data manipulation

Tree density and health

Tree density was calculated using the point-centred quarter (PCQ) method (Cottam and Curtis 1956), based on the distance of measured trees from the centre point of the quadrat. Although Engerman *et al.* (1994) report that this (and other) plotless density estimation methods are prone to bias where distribution is non-random, the PCQ approach provides a quick and simple comparative measure appropriate to the purposes of this study (random dispersion of trees was assumed, based on a lack of evidence of significant clumping or even-dispersion) (e.g. Debski *et al.* 2000).

Average Foliage Index (AFI) and mean Percentage Tree Remaining (mean PTR) were calculated from Foliage Index (FI) and Percentage Tree Remaining (PTR) estimates of measured trees at each site. Each tree was also categorised according to a health class (HC) system (Wylie *et al.* 1992, Banks 2006), based on its FI and the condition of its woody architecture (Table 4.2). A tree health site index (Weighted Wylie Index or WWI; Wylie *et al.* 1992) was then calculated from the sum of the percentage of trees in each health class (1 to 5) multiplied by a progressive weighting factor to account for increasing levels of dieback severity (i.e. a low WWI indicates good site health):

WWI = (% trees in HC1 x 1) + (% trees in HC2 x 2) + (% trees in HC3 x 3)+ (% trees in HC4 x 4) + (% trees in HC5 x 5) **Table 4.2**Definitions for (a) Health Class, and (b) Weighted Wylie Index (WWI)categories used in assessments of tree health in mature *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E*.*tereticornis* in Upper Condamine riparian woodlands (after Wylie *et al.* 1992, 1993 andBanks 2006).

(a) meanin chass categories

Health Class	Definition
1. very healthy	\geq 95% Foliage Index (FI), vigorous, full habit, few or no stags
2. healthy	75-94% FI, vigorous, few stags, little epicormic growth
3. moderate to severe dieback	30–74% FI, loss of vigour, epicormic regrowth generally present, moderate to poor health
4. very severe dieback	\leq 30% FI, loss of vigour, recent epicormic shoots along trunk and branches from main canopy, stags, very poor condition
5. dead	No foliage, apparently dead crown

(b) Weighted Wylie Index (WWI) categories

WWI range	Dieback severity category
0–100	No dieback
101–200	Slight to moderate dieback
201–300	Moderate to severe dieback
301–400	Severe dieback
401–500	Very severe dieback

4.2.4 Statistical analyses

Response variables including health, recruitment and abundance of dominant canopy species (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*, *Acacia stenophylla*) were compared across treatments (river section, river bank, land use) using the 3-way Analysis of Variance (3-way ANOVA) procedure in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009). Prior to analysis, bounded (proportional) data were arcsine transformed, and all data were screened and transformed (either square root or log_{10}), where required, to meet assumptions of normality and homoscedascity (Quinn and Keogh 2002). Where heteroscedastic variances were unable to be corrected for by

transformation, no further analysis was undertaken. Where variances were homogeneous (Levene's), 3-way ANOVA was conducted and Tukey's unplanned multiple comparison procedure with Bonferroni adjustment for unequal sample size (Day and Quinn 1989) was used to determine significant difference between treatment pairs in treatments with significant main effects. Where there was significant interaction between river section, river bank and land use treatments, results indicating significant main effect differences were not able to be interpreted (Zar 1999).

Ordinal categorical variables were analysed using non-parametric procedures in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009). The Kruskal-Wallis procedure for *k*-independent samples (Quinn and Keogh 2002) was used to test for significant difference from expected in river section treatments, with *post-hoc* comparisons between pairs of river section treatments conducted using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U procedure (Day and Quinn 1989). The Mann-Whitney U procedure was used to test for significant differences from expected in riverbank and land use treatments. No test for treatment interactions was undertaken for these variables (Quinn and Keogh 2002).

Spearman's rank correlation procedure in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009) was used to investigate the strength of association between measures or scores for tree dimensions (diameter, height, canopy area and volume, density), canopy growth (new tips, normal growth, epicormic growth on stems and primary branches), reproductive condition (buds, flowers, seed capsules), tree condition (dead tips, foliage colour, dropped branches, Health Class, Foliage Index (FI), Percent Tree Remaining (PTR)), and evidence of interacting species (mistletoe, arboreal herbivory, tip litter).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Patterns in tree health

Dominant canopy tree species condition varied considerably across the study area in terms of canopy integrity (AFI), structural integrity (PTR), and dieback severity

(WWI) (Table 4.3). There was also considerable variation in the ranges in size (mean D_{130}) and density of mature canopy trees and in the number of dead trees and number of *E. camaldulensis* and *A. stenophylla* seedlings within 1000m² quadrats (Table 4.3).

Variable	Mean (SE)	Minimum	Maximum
Average Foliage Index (%)	47.6 (4.4)	17.5	86.3
Weighted Wylie Index	327.8 (16.8)	175	475
Mean Percentage Tree Remaining (%)	73.3 (3.7)	30.0	98.8
Mean D ₁₃₀ (cm)	69.2 (4.2)	40.6	129.1
Mature tree density (number/ha)	43.3 (3.9)	12.8	99.5
Age structure (number of age classes)	3.0 (0.3)	1	6
Dead trees (number/1000m ²)	1.6 (0.3)	0	4
<i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> seedling density (number/1000 m^2)	0.6 (0.2)	0	4
Acacia stenophylla seedling density (number/1000m ²)	1.4 (0.6)	0	12

Table 4.3Summary data for canopy species response variables. Values are mean andstandard error (24 sites); minimum and maximum values are listed for each variable.

There was no significant interaction between river section, riverbank or land use treatments for measures with homogeneous variances (3-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 4.4). Heterogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$) for average foliage index (AFI), density of dead trees and eucalypt seedling density could not be corrected by transformation, and further analysis was not conducted on these variables.

Significant patterns in canopy tree species health indices (WWI, mean PTR) were found across river section treatments (3-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$). Significantly higher levels of dieback (WWI) and lower levels of structural integrity (mean PTR) were found at Middle river section sites than at Lower river section sites, but there was no significant differences in these variables between either of these river sections and the Upper river section sites (p > 0.05). There was significantly lower *A*. *stenophylla* seedling density (acregen) at grazed than ungrazed sites (3-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$; Table 4.4).

There were no significant differences in canopy tree species health indices across land use or river bank treatments or in *A. stenophylla* recruitment across river section or river bank treatments (3-way ANOVA, p > 0.05), and no significant patterns for tree density (treedens), tree diameter (mean D₁₃₀), or age structure of trees (p > 0.05, Table 4.4).

Table 4.43-way ANOVA results for key woody species attributes by treatments (river section, river bank, land use). Treatment values are means andstandard errors (in parentheses). Significant main effects are indicated in bold type; values sharing the same superscript are not significantly different (p > 0.05). Interaction values are F statistics with significance indicated in bold type (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

			INTERACTIONS									
	River section (RS)		River ba	River bank (RB)		se (LU)	DC - DD	DC I U				
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed	K5 X KD	K5 X LU	KD X LU	NO A ND A LU	
n	8	9	7	10	14	10	14					
AFI ³	54.7 (7.4)	33.5 (5.5)	58.3 (10.2)	50.9 (8.0)	45.6 (6.1)	44.4 (7.2)	50.3 (6.5)					
WWI ^{1,2}	303.1 ^{ab} (28.1)	383.3 ^a (21.7)	282.1 ^b (38.1)	317.5 (31.4)	333.9 (22.9)	345.0 (28.3)	314.3 (24.4)	0.49	0.83	1.26	0.01	
meanPTR ¹	74.4 ^{ab} (6.9)	58.3 ^a (4.4)	85.2 ^b (6.3)	79.0 (5.6)	66.2 (5.2)	72.1 (6.5)	71.1 (5.2)	0.14	0.30	0.18	0.00	
treedens	32.3 (5.4)	49.6 (9.1)	50.2 (5.5)	43.1 (8.1)	44.6 (5.0)	39.1 (5.8)	47.5 (6.2)	0.76	0.80	0.04	3.67	
meanD ₁₃₀	86.8 (7.6)	57.7 (4.4)	57.9 (4.5)	64.0 (4.2)	69.9 (6.7)	79.6 (7.3)	58.7 (3.8)	0.77	0.20	0.07	0.07	
agestruct ⁴	2.6 (0.6)	2.7 (0.4)	4.0 (0.5)	3.1 (0.4)	3.0 (0.4)	2.3 (0.2)	3.6 (0.4)					
deaddens ³	0.5 (0.3)	2.4 (0.5)	2.0 (0.5)	1.5 (0.4)	1.8 (0.4)	1.8 (0.6)	1.6 (0.3)					
eucregen ³	0.4 (0.3)	0.6 (0.2)	0.4 (0.3)	0.9 (0.2)	0.1 (0.1)	0.4 (0.2)	0.5 (0.2)					
acregen	1.4 (1.4)	0.1 (0.1)	3.7 (1.6)	0.9 (0.6)	2.1 (1.1)	$0.2^{a}(0.2)$	2.6^b (1.1)	2.91	1.56	4.52	3.02	

¹ arcsin transformed; ² square root transformed; ³ transformation unable to correct for heteroscedascity (unequal variance) in 3-way ANOVA; ⁴ categorical variable (analysis by Kruskal-Wallis and/or MannWhitney U).

AFI: average foliage index; **WWI:** Weighted Wylie Index; **meanPTR:** mean percent tree remaining; **treedens:** density of mature trees; **meanD130:** mean diameter at 130cm (mature trees); **agestruct:** age structure of trees; **deaddens:** density of dead trees; **eucregen:** number of eucalypt seedlings (1,000 m² quadrat); **acregen:** number of *Acacia stenophylla* seedlings (1,000 m² quadrat).

4.3.2 Patterns in foliage growth

There were significant differences between river sections for the proportions of normal growth and epicormic growth on tree stems (Kruskal-Wallis, $p \le 0.05$), but not for new tips or epicormic growth on primary branches (p > 0.05; Table 4.5). The proportion of normal growth was least and epicormic growth on stems greatest at Middle section sites (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.05$), while Upper and Lower section sites did not differ significantly from each other in either case (p > 0.05). There was a significantly higher proportion of epicormic growth on stems at right bank sites than at left bank sites ($p \le 0.05$), while the proportion of new tip growth was significantly lower ($p \le 0.05$) and the proportion of epicormic growth on primary branches was higher ($p \le 0.05$) in trees at grazed sites compared with those at ungrazed sites (Table 4.5).

4.3.3 Patterns in canopy condition

Scores for dead tips were significantly greater in trees on the left bank of the river (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.005$), but did not differ significantly across river section or land use treatments (Kruskal-Wallis or Mann-Whitney U, p > 0.05). Trees at Middle section sites were in a significantly higher Health Class, exhibiting more dieback symptoms (Table 4.2a), than those in the Upper or Lower sections (Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.005$). There were significant differences between all three river sections in terms of mean scores for dropped branches (Kruskal-Wallis, $p \le 0.005$), with Middle section trees scoring significantly higher than those in the Upper section (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.05$) and both significantly higher than Lower section trees (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.005$). No significant pattern in foliage colour was evident across any of the treatments (Kruskal-Wallis or Mann-Whitney U, p > 0.05; Table 4.5).

4.3.4 Patterns in reproductive condition

There were no significant patterns in reproductive condition (abundance of buds, flowers or seed capsules) across river section, riverbank or grazing treatments (p > 0.05, Table 4.5).

Table 4.5Reproductive condition, foliage condition, canopy condition and evidence of species interactions measures by site groupings (river section,
river bank, land use). Treatment values are means and standard errors (in parentheses). Significant within-treatment effects are indicated in bold type; values sharing the
same superscript are not significantly different (p > 0.05).

		River section ¹		Rive	r bank ²	Land use ²			
	Upper	Middle	Lower	Left	Right	Grazed	Not grazed		
Number of trees	32	36	28	40	56	40	56		
Reproductive condition									
Flower buds (score: 0-3)	0.8 (0.2)	0.7 (0.1)	0.8 (0.1)	0.8 (0.1)	0.8 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)		
Flowers (score: 0-3)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)		
Seed capsules (score: 0-3)	1.2 (0.2)	1.5 (0.1)	1.3 (0.2)	1.2 (0.2)	1.5 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1.5 (0.1)		
Foliage condition									
New tips (%)	8.9 (1.3)	10.8 (1.9)	16.4 (3.2)	12.3 (1.6)	11.5 (1.9)	7.6 ^a (1.2)	14.8 ^b (2.0)		
Normal growth (%)	45.3 ^a (7.0)	27.7 ^b (5.7)	49.1 ^a (6.7)	46.8 (5.6)	34.8 (5.1)	36.1 (6.2)	42.5 (4.8)		
Epicormic growth – primary branches (%)	34.4 (6.1)	35.6 (5.5)	21.9 (4.8)	31.6 (4.7)	30.9 (4.5)	40.8 ^a (5.5)	24.2 ^b (3.6)		
Epicormic growth - stem (%)	$11.4^{a}(4.1)$	27.6 ^b (5.6)	11.5 ^a (4.8)	8.6 ^a (3.2)	23.8 ^b (4.4)	15.7 (4.2)	18.7 (4.1)		
Foliage colour (score: 0-3)	1.1 (0.0)	1.2 (0.1)	1.1 (0.0)	1.1 (0.0)	1.1 (0.0)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.0)		
Canopy condition									
Dead tips (score: 0-3)	1.4 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.2 (0.1)	1.7 ^a (0.1)	1.1^{b} (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)		
Health Class (score: 0-3)	3.0 ^a (0.2)	3.8^b (0.2)	2.8 ^a (0.3)	3.2 (0.2)	3.3 (0.2)	3.5 (0.2)	3.1 (0.2)		
Dropped branches (score: 0-3)	1.6 ^a (0.1)	1.9^b (0.1)	0.6 ^c (0.2)	1.4 (0.1)	1.5 (0.1)	1.6 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)		
Evidence of interacting species									
Mistletoe (count)	0.4 (0.2)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.2 (0.1)	0.3 ^a (0.2)	0.0^{b} (0.0)		
Arboreal herbivory (score: 0-3)	0.6 ^a (0.1)	$0.5^{a}(0.1)$	1.0^b (0.1)	0.6 (0.1)	0.7 (0.1)	0.5 ^a (0.1)	0.8 ^b (0.1)		
Cockatoo damage (tip litter score: 0-3)	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	1.1 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)		

¹ Kruskal-Wallis (Mann-Whitney U); ² Mann-Whitney U

4.3.5 Patterns in interacting species

There was a significant difference in mistletoe frequency across land use treatments, with all infested trees occurring at grazed sites (Mann-Whitney U, $p \le 0.05$; Table 4.5). There were significantly higher levels of arboreal herbivory in trees at ungrazed sites than at grazed sites ($p \le 0.05$), and also in trees at Lower river section sites than those in either the Upper or Middle sections ($p \le 0.005$). No significant pattern in tip-pruning scores (as a measure of cockatoo/corella damage) occurred across any of the treatments (p > 0.05, Table 4.5).

4.3.6 Correlations between variables

There was a significant correlation between flower bud score and the proportion of new tip growth, and a significant negative correlation between the flower bud and dead tips scores (Spearman's, $p \le 0.05$; Table 4.6).

Significant association was found between measures of canopy stress and damage (scores for epicormic growth, foliage colour, and tip death) and measures of tree size (tree height, tree diameter; Table 4.6). Percent epicormic growth on primary branches and dead tips score were significantly correlated with tree height and diameter (D_{130} , $p \le 0.05$), while percent epicormic growth on the main tree stem was negatively correlated with tree height ($p \le 0.05$). Percent epicormic growth, both on primary branches and the main tree stem, was also significantly correlated with the score for dropped branches ($p \le 0.005$). Foliage colour score was not significantly correlated with any measured tree attribute (p > 0.05), but was significantly correlated with reduced Foliage Index and a higher Health Class index ($p \le 0.005$, Table 4.6).

Mistletoe abundance was significantly correlated with tree diameter ($p \le 0.05$), and cockatoo/corella damage (tip litter score) was significantly correlated with tree diameter and tree height ($p \le 0.05$, Table 4.6). Arboreal herbivory scores were not significantly associated with any of the tree dimension or canopy condition variables measured (p > 0.05; Table 4.6).

	Foliage Index (FI)	Percent tree remaining (PTR)	Tree diameter (D ₁₃₀)	Tree height	Flower buds	Seed capsules	New tip growth	Normal foliage growth	Epicormic growth - primary branches	Epicormic growth - stem	Foliage Colour	Tip death	Health Class	Dropped branches	Mistletoe	Arboreal herbivory
Percent tree remaining (PTR)	0.72**															
Tree diameter (D ₁₃₀)	-0.13	-0.16														
Tree height	0.04	0.17	0.68**													
Flower buds	0.03	-0.02	0.00	0.08												
Seed capsules	0.02	-0.10	-0.03	-0.01	0.09											
New tip growth	0.29**	0.29**	-0.13	-0.11	0.23*	0.11										
Normal foliage growth	0.65**	0.58**	-0.27*	-0.04	-0.01	0.01	0.23*									
Epicormic growth - primary branches	-0.29**	-0.18	0.46**	0.43**	-0.19	0.03	-0.31**	-0.60**								
Epicormic growth - stem	-0.56**	-0.60**	0.05	-0.23*	0.06	-0.02	-0.27*	-0.73**	0.11							
Foliage Colour	-0.41**	-0.06	-0.10	-0.00	-0.11	-0.01	-0.14	-0.05	0.00	0.05						
Tip death	-0.23*	-0.01	0.27*	0.28**	-0.27*	0.01	-0.03	-0.02	0.31**	-0.30**	0.15					
Health Class	-0.96**	-0.69**	0.19	0.04	-0.03	-0.06	-0.26*	-0.68**	0.33**	0.57**	0.35**	0.25*				
Dropped branches	-0.61**	-0.77**	0.28*	0.02	0.07	0.13	-0.27*	-0.56**	0.35**	0.49**	0.10	0.05	0.59**			
Mistletoe	0.07	-0.10	0.23*	0.20	0.05	0.06	-0.08	0.08	0.04	-0.05	-0.06	0.00	-0.01	0.14		
Arboreal herbivory	-0.01	0.14	-0.14	-0.02	0.18	-0.02	0.07	0.01	-0.19	0.09	0.02	-0.15	0.01	-0.17	-0.03	
Cockatoo damage	-0.01	-0.03	0.29*	0.23*	-0.06	0.12	-0.06	-0.06	0.13	0.08	-0.17	0.01	-0.03	0.08	-0.09	0.02

Table 4.6Spearman's correlations between measures of tree health, tree size, reproductive condition, canopy condition and evidence of speciesinteractions. Values are rho with significant correlation indicated in bold type; superscripts indicate $p \le 0.005$ (**) and $p \le 0.05$ (*).

4.4 Discussion

Significant variation in canopy tree condition was evident between longitudinal river section treatments in this study. Middle river section sites exhibited significantly poorer tree health than sites in the Lower river section, with Upper river section sites intermediate to the other river sections. These patterns correspond to some extent with differences in land and water use intensity patterns across the river sections identified in Chapter 2, which indicated that the Middle river section exhibited more extreme hydrological impacts (greater loss of streamflow during the prevailing drought at the time of sampling, as well as altered seasonality of flows) and a greater level of land use development than either the Upper or, to a lesser extent, the Lower river sections. Evidence of relatively better tree health, but a high density of dead trees, in the Lower river section indicates a more complex response pattern than was evident for floristic composition (Chapter 3), although in this study there was no evidence of significant interaction between treatments in any tree health measure.

No significant patterns in canopy tree condition were evident in relation to river bank treatments, despite major differences in floodplain and catchment width and in land use development on opposing sides of the river (Chapter 2). Higher mean eucalypt seedling densities were recorded on the Left than the Right bank, but low numbers and heterogeneous variance meant that the data for this measure could not to be statistically analysed). Similarly, presence or absence of livestock grazing at this scale did not significantly influence patterns in canopy tree condition, but there were significantly higher numbers of seedlings of *Acacia stenophylla* at ungrazed sites.

4.4.1 Tree condition and hydrological connectivity

Patterns in tree condition in riparian floodplain woodlands are frequently reported to be driven by hydrological parameters and by the dynamics of overbank flooding in particular (Bagstad *et al.* 2006, Wen *et al.* 2009). Evidence of poorest tree health, as indicated by measures of dieback severity (WWI) and structural integrity (PTR), along the more highly modified less dynamic Middle river section of the study area corresponds with this general finding. However, this may be more closely related to the availability of accessible water resources rather than the overall hydrological variability in the system. The combination of negligible in-stream flows in the period preceding sampling (Chapter 2) and longer-term declines in surface-groundwater exchange and groundwater levels (CSIRO 2008, Chapter 2) in this river section indicate reduced availability of moisture resources, especially during drought conditions. Shallow alluvial aquifers have been found to play a critical role in supporting phreatic vegetation and buffering riparian ecosystems through periods of low precipitation and soil moisture availability (Elmore *et al.* 2006a). Reduced buffering capacity in the Middle section, relative to the Upper river section where surface-groundwater exchange remains active (CSIRO 2008), may contribute to more extreme 'effective drought' conditions and increased dieback severity in this section of the study area.

Substantial groundwater level decline is reported in the study area, particularly in the river sections below Yarramalong Weir (the Middle and Lower sections of this study) (CSIRO 2008, Chapter 2). However, the Middle river section supports a greater intensity of water resource infrastructure (water storages, groundwater bores) and use (irrigated cropping) than either the Upper or Lower river sections (Chapter 2). While the rate and extent of groundwater decline are not explored in this chapter (but see Chapter 5), the greater density of groundwater bores in the Middle river section of this study is indicative of relatively higher pressure on available groundwater resources, which may contribute to the poorer tree condition also evident in this section. Groundwater decline is recognised as a driver of dieback and significant decline in phreatic tree species in many riparian ecosystems (Horton et al. 2001a, Schume et al. 2004, Stromberg et al. 2007b). However, its effect on condition and mortality in either E. camaldulensis or E. tereticornis has not been reported in the scientific literature. E. camaldulensis is a facultative phreatophyte, reliant on shallow groundwater when soil moisture reserves are deficient (Thorburn and Walker 1994). It also exhibits preferential use of groundwater over in-stream water sources when these are accessible (Thorburn et al. 1994). E. camaldulensis is deep-rooting, and (younger) trees are capable of rapid root extension in response to declining subsoil water levels (Calder et al. 1997). While a maximum rooting depth of E. camaldulensis is not reported, Mensforth et al. (1994) report lateral root extension of at least 15m for trees growing adjacent to streams, and Horner et al. (2009) report increased mortality in plantation E. camaldulensis where groundwater depths exceed 12 to 15 m.

However, significantly better tree health (lower levels of dieback severity and greater structural integrity) in canopy trees on the Lower river section is counter-intuitive; as in the Middle river section, this section of the river, extending to Cecil Plains Weir, is also significantly affected by groundwater decline (CSIRO 2008, DSEWPC 2009). However, despite classification of these as 'highly disconnected' from the alluvial aquifer/groundwater system (i.e. surface flows no longer contribute to alluvial groundwater recharge), they are also termed 'losing' reaches with significant volumes of surface flows 'lost' in transmission (CSIRO 2008). The apparent paradox in tree condition results may be explained by the location of study sites in the Lower portion of the study area, which were (unavoidably) positioned at either end of the river section (Figure 3.1, Chapter 3), hence non-randomly in terms of proximity to weirs. More variable discharge patterns recorded at Lemon Tree Weir over the ten years prior to sampling, while not representative of flow within the full reach due to the confounding influence of the Condamine North Branch project (Chapter 2), indicate a significant pool of water held behind this weir in most months of the year. Similarly, Cecil Plains Weir is a relatively large in-stream structure holding a permanent body of water to ensure supply to the township of Cecil Plains. These two weirs may act to supplement local groundwater levels in their immediate vicinity and for some distance downstream (e.g. Lane and Zinn 1980, Schade et al. 2005), and may significantly supplement shallow groundwater in these locations, contributing to the observed 'improvement' in tree health.

The potential influence of weirs on local groundwater levels indicates an unintended, but positive, outcome for the maintenance of tree health in highly modified dryland river systems, providing artificial refugia which enhance ecosystem stability under drought conditions (although further investigation is required to confirm this). This is in contrast to the effect of in-stream weirs and locks in permanently filled systems, such as the River Murray, which act to augment already shallow groundwater levels associated with altered catchment hydrology (Overton *et al.* 2006). Along the Murray River, rising groundwater levels and associated salinisation in surface soils, exacerbated by lack of flooding due to river regulation, result in poor condition and increased mortality in salt-stressed tree species (Slavich *et al.* 1999, Lamontagne *et al.* 2005c), including *E. largiflorens* and *E. camaldulensis*, both common species on the lower Murray floodplains (Lamontagne *et al.* 2005c). Poor tree health is also reported in *E. camaldulensis* flooded woodlands (e.g. the Barmah-Millewa wetlands)

on the Murray River) where the seasonality of flooding flows and duration of inundation is significantly altered (Bren 1992, Ladson and Chong 2005). By contrast, altered flooding patterns, rising groundwater levels and associated salinisation do not appear to be significant factors in the current study area; natural flows in the Upper Condamine are essentially ephemeral and, although regulated to some degree, supplemented flows mimic natural patterns with higher flows in summer months (Davies *et al.* 2008). In addition, while there has been a significant decline in the magnitude of smaller flood events with hydrological modification in the Condamine-Balonne system (Thoms 2003, Sheldon and Thoms 2006a,b), flooding associated with larger rainfall runoff events still periodically inundates significant areas of the floodplain, including the riparian woodlands associated with the main river channel (Chapter 2). Salinisation is also not a prominent feature on the Upper Condamine floodplain where shallow alluvial groundwater levels are in decline (Chapter 2).

Lack of response to river bank treatments in this study also potentially indicates the lesser importance of overbank flooding in maintaining tree condition in this landscape. A recent study along the Macquarie River (Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008) investigated the impact of floodplain earthworks associated with irrigation development, flood mitigation and erosion control on flood flow paths and river red gum (E. camaldulensis) mortality. That study found that river red gum mortality was significantly correlated with the density of earthworks, although this effect was variable across the study area ranging from highly positive to negative (i.e. mortality increased with density in one area, and decreased with increasing density in another), indicating potentially complex, location-specific hydrological patterns and ecological responses (Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008). A number of studies elsewhere have investigated the ecological impact of flood mitigation levees which limit the extent of overbank flooding across adjacent floodplains, and effectively act to alienate or disconnect floodplain ecosystems from overbank flood flows (Gergel et al. 2002a, Kang and Stanley 2005). Significant ecological impact has been reported in some disconnected floodplain ecosystems outside levees, including altered plant community structure and functional dynamics (Kang and Stanley 2005), but not others (e.g. Gergel et al. 2002a).

4.4.2 Tree condition and land use intensity

Reduced hydrological connectivity also coincides with evidence of higher levels of floodplain development at Middle river section sites. As reported in Chapter 2, this section has greater overall proportions of cropping (irrigated and dryland), water storages and groundwater bores and a lower proportion of native vegetation than either the Upper or Lower river sections. The poor condition of trees on rural lands in southern Queensland has been previously reported by Wylie et al. (1992). Based on the results of a regional landholder survey, the study reported dieback in 67 species, of which E. tereticornis was identified as one of four 'indicator' species for southern Queensland; dieback was reported on 62% of the 93 properties where this species occurred, and this species was reported as one of the first in many districts to exhibit dieback symptoms. Dieback in E. camaldulensis was reported on three of the five properties on which it was present. The study concluded that, while drivers of tree decline varied with locality, landscape modification and land use intensity were dominant factors associated with the incidence of dieback; the study also indicated that trees on floodplain properties exhibited more severe dieback (Wylie et al. 1992, Reid 1999). A subsequent study investigated E. tereticornis decline in riparian woodlands of the Mary River catchment, south-eastern Queensland, and also found more severe dieback in areas that were most extensively cleared or intensively managed (Wylie et al. 1993). In one of the few studies to investigate the impact of surrounding land use on tree condition, Banks (2006) investigated drivers of declining tree condition in dominant eucalypt species on the Liverpool Plains in northern NSW, a highly modified floodplain landscape very similar to that of the Upper Condamine in terms of topography, soil type and current land use (Banks 2006). The study indicated significant impact on the condition of Eucalyptus populnea associated with low concentrations of agricultural pesticides dispersed locally on prevailing winds; however, there was no similar response in E. camaldulensis (Banks 2006), indicating different levels of susceptibility. It was suggested that poor condition in E. camaldulensis was associated with senescence in larger trees, suggesting a natural process due to aging (Banks 2006); however, in the current study, tree condition and tree size measures were only weakly correlated, bringing into question the over-riding importance of age-related processes in this species.

Within-remnant grazing did not significantly impact tree condition in this study. Livestock grazing has been associated with poor tree health, including eventual mortality of mature trees in other studies (e.g. Davidson et al. 2007); however, this is frequently linked to grazing intensification and associated pasture improvement (sowing of introduced pasture species including nitrogen-fixing legumes) and soil fertilization (Landsberg and Wylie 1988, Reid 1999, Close and Davidson 2004), factors not directly examined in this study. The grassy understorey of riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain comprise predominantly native grass species, with only incidental evidence of introduced pasture grass species (Chapter 3). These areas are generally not fertilised, although elevated nutrients may occur within these remnants as a result of catchment run-off processes, as is frequently reported for riparian ecosystems (Allan et al. 1997); localised concentration of nutrients may also occur under shade trees (stock camps) in grazed remnants (Wilson et al. 2007, Chapter 6). Despite this, the findings in this study are in agreement with Fensham and Holman (1999) who also found no association between grazing and dieback in unimproved rangeland savanna landscapes in northern Queensland.

4.4.3 Pattern and process in recruitment and survival of canopy species

Eucalypt seedling numbers, where present, were low (0-4 per 1000 m² quadrat) across the study area, and tree recruitment patterns were not significantly related to river section treatments; however, there were more *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* seedlings recorded on the Left river bank where there was also greater incidence of previous flooding (evident in higher flood disturbance scores reported in Chapter 3). This is in agreement with studies in which flooding and sediment deposition are reported to be important factors in seedling recruitment for this species (e.g. Pettit and Froend 2001a,b, Di Stefano 2002), while low numbers of recruits may have been due to inhibition of seed production, poor dispersal, or limited seedling establishment and survival in the study area due to recent prolonged drought conditions (Jensen *et al.* 2007, 2008a).

Grazing is also often reported to have significant impacts on eucalypt seedling establishment and survival (e.g. Opperman and Merenlender 2000, Robertson and Rowling 2000, Fischer *et al.* 2009). Post-dispersal seed density in *E. camaldulensis* is significantly reduced by higher levels of seed predation by ants in riparian woodlands

grazed by cattle (Meeson *et al.* 2002). No evidence of grazing impacts on eucalypt seedling abundance was found at the scale of investigation conducted in this study; however, reduced cover of trees under 10 m high at grazed sites (Chapter 3) may reflect a history of reduced recruitment or seedling survival at these sites, expressed in current woodland structure but not apparent in more recent recruitment patterns due to extended drought and limited recruitment prior to sampling. Grazing within woodland remnants can have significant impacts on woodland structure, and is frequently associated with limited recruitment, lower survival of seedlings and skewed age (size) distributions in tree populations (e.g. Pettit 2002, Dorrough and Moxham 2005, Lunt *et al.* 2007a).

In contrast to E. camaldulensis, there was evidence of greater recruitment in the canopy subdominant species Acacia stenophylla, a small tree which is tolerant of salinity, drought, waterlogging and alkaline soils and widespread on inland river systems (Roberts and Marston 2000, CSIRO 2004). There was also evidence of a significant reduction in recruitment of A. stenophylla at grazed sites in this study, supporting a report that seedlings and saplings of this species are susceptible to grazing, particularly at higher grazing intensities (Pettit 2002). Unlike E. camaldulensis, however, A. stenophylla recruitment is reported to be inhibited, rather than facilitated, by flooding (Nicol et al. 2007). The relative success of A. stenophylla, despite the prevailing drought conditions in this study may be indicative of its potential as a replacement canopy species where there are minimal impacts from grazing livestock, and hydrological or other factors act to constrain the dominance of E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis in riparian communities. However, the study area is also at the limits of this species' distribution (CSIRO 2004) and the factors limiting the extent of this species on the Upper Condamine warrant further investigation.

4.4.4 Species interactions and dominant tree condition

Significant patterns in the abundance or intensity scores for species which have been observed, or are reported elsewhere, to adversely impact dominant tree condition (i.e. mistletoe, arboreal herbivores, but not Cacatuidae species) were found across river section and land use (grazed, ungrazed) treatments. Association between mistletoe occurrence and grazing has not been previously reported and may be an artifact of the

limited sampling, as the 12 individuals were recorded in only 3 trees, all of which were within grazed remnants. Norton et al. (1995) found the opposite response to grazing, with no mistletoe in remnants subject to grazing, indicating that this relationship requires further investigation in this landscape. However, there was no evidence of a significant correlation between mistletoe abundance and tree condition, in agreement with Ward (2005) who reported no association between mistletoe infestation and canopy dieback in pink gums Eucalyptus fasciculosa in the Mount Lofty Ranges, South Australia. Norton et al. (1995) indicated that water relations may be an important determinant of mistletoe abundance, with mistletoes sensitive to changes in the water status of host trees. Alternatively, the limited number of trees supporting mistletoe may be a function of low diversity or abundance of small frugivorous birds in these woodlands, important vectors for these hemiparasitic plant species (Norton et al. 1995). Open woodland structure is ideal habitat for noisy miners Manorina melanocephala (Clarke and Oldland 2007), an aggressive native bird species associated with limited diversity of other small woodland birds (Grey et al. 1997, Clarke and Oldland 2007), and a species frequently observed in the study area (pers.obs.). A combination of prolonged drought and limited dispersal may inhibit mistletoe abundance in these woodlands, which may further exacerbate decline in frugivorous vector species such as mistletoe birds Dicaeum hirundinaceum (Lavorel et al. 1999c, Watson 2002). Indications are that, while mistletoe species are a driver of decline in host tree species in some situations (Reid et al. 1994), they also play an important (keystone) role in supporting the diversity of invertebrates and nectarivores (birds, bats) in ecosystems (Watson 2002, Burns 2009). As such, their low frequency and abundance in this landscape is of concern.

Conversely, evidence of herbivory by mammalian or insect folivores in dominant canopy trees was significantly greater at ungrazed than at grazed sites, and also significantly greater in trees at Lower river section sites in this study, but was not significantly correlated with any of the tree dimension or canopy condition variables measured. These results are counter to reports of widespread and significant insect-related dieback in grazed pastures on the New England Tableland, northern NSW (Lowman *et al.* 1987), and also to evidence of greater herbivory in refoliating canopies (i.e. epicormic regrowth) in eucalypts elsewhere (Landsberg 1990b). These results may, however, reflect differences in the relative water status of trees in grazed and ungrazed remnants. Gordon *et al.* (1988) and Munks *et al.* (1996) both report that
tree selection in koalas *Phascolarctis cinereus* is significantly influenced by foliage water content, while Norton *et al.* (1995) report significant impacts on tree water status due to compaction of surface roots by grazing livestock, and a number of other studies report significant increases in soil bulk density (Bezkorowajny *et al.* 1993), degraded surface soil structure (Yates *et al.* 2000) and reduced soil water infiltration rates (Yates *et al.* 2000, Bramley *et al.* 2003) associated with trampling by cattle. Lack of significant association between herbivory levels and epicormic regrowth in this study may be associated with low tree water status and limited mobility and uptake of nutrients from surface soils (Sardans and J. Penuelas 2007) or constraints on insect or arboreal marsupial species population processes (Gordon *et al.* 1988, Kerle *et al.* 1992, Munks *et al.* 1996) as a result of drought.

Significant pressure from arboreal marsupial herbivores on riparian canopy species has been reported in the study landscape (Voller and Eddie 1995). Common brushtail possums Vulpecula trichosurus and koalas P. cinereus are present, in relatively high numbers, in these woodlands. A supplementary long-term (14 year) study, analysed as part of this research (results not reported), compared canopy condition in paired banded (arboreal marsupial folivores excluded) and unbanded E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis trees at four sites on the Upper Condamine floodplain. This trial found no significant difference in canopy condition between banded and unbanded trees, indicating that arboreal herbivory by possums or kolas is not a primary driver of tree decline in this landscape. However, within the control group of trees, there was evidence of unequal usage by these species, and high visitation rates were correlated with poor tree health, indicating that some trees were preferentially utilised. Foliage was analysed for moisture and N content, as well as the presence of a range of secondary phenolic compounds thought to constitute anti-herbivore defense in eucalypts (e.g. Scrivener et al. 2004, Moore and Foley 2005). Significant correlation was evident only between intensity of use by koalas or possums and available N, confirming the importance of a protein-rich diet for these species (Martin 1985); no significant association with foliage water content was found. Lack of evidence for the presence of clear chemical defenses in E. camaldulensis (also previously noted by Ian Wallis, pers.com.) may be a function of the range of stress gradients to which this species must respond (through selective allocation of limited carbon resources; e.g. Moore *et al.* 2004) in dryland river environments.

No significant patterns in canopy damage caused by sulphur-crested white cockatoo *Cacatua galerita*/little corella *C. sanguinea* were found in this study. Higher levels of use by these species were evident in larger (taller and larger diameter) trees, but were not significantly associated with dieback symptoms. However, significant damage (debarking of branches) was apparent in individual trees and dead trees adjacent to permanent water appeared to be favoured as roost trees, confirming the highly–localised usage patterns reported elsewhere (e.g. Bomford and Sinclair 2002).

4.4.5 Significance and limitations

This study confirms earlier reports on the condition of Upper Condamine floodplain riparian woodlands (e.g. Voller and Eddie 1995, McCosker 1996, Voller 1998) which identified poor condition, recruitment and survival of dominant canopy species, particularly *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*, and increases in the distribution and density of the midstorey species *Acacia stenophylla*. However, it also, importantly, quantifies canopy tree condition and begins to identify differences in dieback severity and canopy tree decline across this landscape.

Poorest tree condition, with most severe dieback and reduced structural integrity, in mature trees of the dominant canopy species *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* was associated with the Middle river section, the reach most significantly impacted by floodplain development and by changes in hydrological flows (Chapter 2). This finding conforms to patterns of significantly reduced floristic and functional diversity in this section reported in Chapter 3. Based on the same survey design, it also coincides with evidence of more highly impacted in-stream flow patterns, more intense water resource and land use, and greater levels of disruption to overland flow patterns in this river section, and was similarly subject to confounded spatial and temporal patterns.

In contrast to Chapter 3 however, tree condition was significantly better (i.e. dieback was moderate rather than severe) on the Lower river section. It is suggested that this finding was influenced by study site locations in this river section, which were biased in terms of relative proximity to weirs. Pooling of surface waters behind weirs may contribute to localised saturation of shallow alluvial sediments, extending downslope of weirs; this may be accessible to neighbouring trees, enabling them to maintain condition through drought. The significant difference in tree condition between the

Middle and Lower river sections is potentially indicative of the importance of accessible groundwater in these ecosystems, but is contrary to the finding in Chapter 3 in which there was no significant difference in floristic composition between the Middle and Lower river sections.

Lack of significant pattern in tree condition in response to differences in lateral connectivity between river bank treatments was unexpected, given greater evidence of flooding and a lower incidence of floodplain structures with potential to modify overland flow patterns on the left bank. While this may have been associated with the broad scale of this comparison (i.e. impact may be more apparent at the local-scale), lack of significant difference at this scale may indicate that surface flow dynamics are perhaps not so important to tree condition in this landscape as reported in other systems (e.g. Jolly et al. 1996, Cunningham et al. 2010). This is potentially indicative of significantly different processes in this landscape, where there is limited salinisation and a positive association between trees and groundwater, compared to riparian equivalents in the southern Murray-Darling Basin (e.g. Jolly et al. 1993). By contrast, overbank flooding remains an important driver of E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis population processes, particularly recruitment, as reported elsewhere (Pettit and Froend 2001a,b, Di Stefano 2002, Jensen et al. 2007, 2008b). No similar pattern was evident for recruitment in Acacia stenophylla, which is not flooddependent, and points to a significant differential between these two species, which may be relevant under a changing climate and /or changing levels of resource availability in this landscape.

While overbank flooding is a major component of hydrological connectivity, local overland runoff flows, especially the broad unconcentrated flows which occur across low-sloping floodplain areas with poorly defined runoff flowpaths, are also a potentially important component of landscape connectivity (Clement *et al.* 2003). While levees are not a feature of the Upper Condamine floodplain landscape, significant development of on-farm storages and associated earthworks (banks, ditches, irrigation channels) to control overland flow/rainfall runoff and water flow patterns have resulted in highly modified flood flow paths (Knowles-Jackson and McLatchey 2002). The increased density of floodplain storages in the Middle river section of the study area has potential consequences (e.g, reduced soil moisture, reduced infiltration, reduced seed dispersal) for downslope riparian vegetation and

riverine systems into which these flows previously drained. The impact of these on riparian ecosystem function requires further investigation.

Lack of significant pattern in relation to within-remnant land use (presence or absence of grazing) is also somewhat unexpected, as grazing has been an important factor in dieback studies elsewhere (e.g. Lowman and Heatwole 1992, Close and Davidson 2004). This is, in part, a function of the relatively 'natural' state of pastures in riparian woodlands in this landscapes (no 'improved 'pasture species, no fertiliser application), and conforms with the findings of Fensham (1998b) in grazed savanna woodlands in central Queensland. However, grazing on heavy clay soil types, such as the Vertisols of the Upper Condamine floodplain, is reported to cause significant compaction, damaging fine surface roots (Sharrow 2007) and altering soil moisture infiltration characteristics (Bramley et al. 2003), which is associated with tree decline elsewhere (Yates et al. 2000). This damage may be compounded with declining tree health, defoliation, and associated carbon deficit, which also reduce fine-root production (Friend et al. 1994). Reduction in the surface area of fine roots limits hydraulic function in trees and constrains processes such as hydraulic redistribution (Liang et al. 1999), further limiting surface soil moisture. Grazing is also reported to have significant impacts on canopy tree population recruitment processes, limiting establishment and survival of seedlings (Clarke 2002, Dorrough and Moxham 2005). The lack of interaction between treatments in this study, in contrast to evidence of this in Chapter 3, may be related to the extremely dry conditions at the time of sampling (Lunt et al. 2007b). The lack of significant pattern in E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis seedling density in response to grazing is likely also to be an artefact of poor recruitment associated with the extended period since the last significant flood in 1996. This was in contrast to the recruitment patterns in Acacia stenophylla, which had relatively high numbers of seedlings and high frequency of occurrence in nongrazed areas.

A critical factor confounding interpretation of eucalypt responses to altered disturbance and resource regimes is the often significant time-lag between cause and measurable effect in such long-lived adaptive species (Breda and Badeau 2008). Trees exhibit adaptive response to environmental stresses (Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002), and may go through periods of decline and recovery, which in eucalypts is facilitated by the ability to reshoot from lignotubers and epicormic buds in the bark.

While the probability of ecological impact from hydrological changes associated with water resources development is generally well-established in riparian woodland systems, very few studies have conducted investigations which reflect both the altered hydrological and agricultural context of riparian ecosystems (Turner *et al.* 2004). River section treatments in this study were designed to pick up gradients in broad hydrological patterns within the study area; however, spatial variation in a number of other land cover and land use elements at this scale confound interpretation based on hydrology alone. Tree condition in remnant woodland communities elsewhere in Australia exhibits a relatively complex response gradient to a range of environmental factors (Landsberg and Wiley 1988, Landsberg 1990a). This study was not designed to test causal relationships or temporal variability associated with resource dynamics (e.g. in response to flooding) or the influence of historical landscape legacies, some of which may be important to current tree condition and many of which may confound interpretation (Landsberg and Wiley 1988).

4.5 Conclusions

The overall conclusions from this study are that tree condition in this landscape conforms to broad-scale patterns in relation to hydrology and land use intensity, with poorer condition at sites along the Middle river section, which is most significantly impacted by floodplain development and associated changes in hydrology. As in Chapter 3, it is likely that response in mature canopy trees is linked to reduced buffering of drought conditions in this part of the landscape. Poor structural integrity and advanced dieback in these phreatic trees is potentially indicative of severe water stress resulting in branch sacrifice and depletion of functional canopy (e.g. Van der Willigan and Pammenter 1998, Rood *et al.* 2000, Rice *et al.* 2004). This stress is likely to be associated with a combination of drought and severe water deficit within the soil profile, in conjunction with declining access to shallow groundwater levels. While this research is essentially correlative and not designed to identify causal relationships, it indicates again the potential importance of groundwater in supporting system function and resilience under drought conditions.

This study also indicates the role of overbank flooding in terms of recruitment of the dominant eucalypt species *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* in this landscape, and potentially identifies a key differential between this species complex and the

subdominant canopy species *Acacia stenophylla*. By contrast it indicates that biotic agents, previously thought to be significant drivers of poor tree condition in this landscape, have only localised impact; however, this requires further investigation under non-drought conditions as the level of interaction observed in this study may alter with greater availability of resources. Similarly, the general lack of interaction between tree condition, recruitment and within-remnant land use may be an artifact of the dry conditions at the time of sampling, and requires further investigation.

As in Chapter 3, the relative importance of hydrological connectivity in supporting tree condition and population processes in dominant canopy eucalypts was unable to be identified due to confounding patterns in land use development intensity in this landscape. Important drivers influencing canopy health, and the role of mature eucalypts in these riparian woodlands, are further investigated in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5 Drivers of floristic composition, community structure and condition in riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Environmental drivers in riparian ecosystems

Hydrological gradients are significant predictors (drivers) of overall vegetation patterns in riparian ecosystems (Decocq 2002, Capon 2003, 2005, Leyer 2004, 2005). These gradients act in concert with a range of other variables, including small-scale changes in soil texture and nutrient levels (Beauchamp and Stromberg 2008), the presence of community-structuring species such as trees and functional weed species (e.g. Kercher and Zedler 2004, Stromberg et al. 2007a,b), and disturbances associated with grazing (Chaneton and Facelli 1991, Cornaglia et al. 2009) or fire (Busch and Smith 1993, Busch 1995, Pettit and Naiman 2007), to influence vegetation communities. Changes in hydrological flow regimes with surface flow modification (e.g. regulation or diversion of in-stream surface flows) are associated with reductions in high flows, as well as altered extent and magnitude of flooding and frequency and duration of low- and no-flow periods, and can have significant impacts on riparian ecosystem composition and function (Stromberg et al. 2007a). Altered hydrological gradients are also important determinants of condition in riparian tree species, with water stress a key factor in declining canopy health and tree mortality (O'Connor 2001, Cooper et al. 2003b, Horner et al. 2009). Reinstatement of historical in-stream flow and flood regimes is viewed as the predominant requirement for restoring ecosystem structure and function in riparian communities (e.g. Tiegs et al. 2005, Stromberg et al. 2007a,b).

By contrast, the impact on remnant floodplain and riparian ecosystems of changes in resource and disturbance gradients associated with adjacent land use development and intensification has been little studied (Northcott *et al.* 2007). In terrestrial environments, land use change has been associated with altered community assembly processes, through ecological filtering of functional traits, resulting in significant changes in species richness, functional diversity and system function (Mayfield *et al.* 2005). In a global meta-analysis, Laliberté *et al.* (2010) found reduced functional

redundancy and response diversity, indicating increasing vulnerability to future disturbances (Walker 1992, 1995), in native vegetation communities along land use intensification gradients. In an assessment restricted to studies from the Americas, Flynn *et al.* (2009) found limited response in plant species richness and functional diversity but significant reduction in the cover of large-statured plants with agricultural intensification. Limited studies of the impact of land use development in riparian systems indicate that land and water resource development may act independently and at times indirectly to significantly alter the structure (patch size) and function (dominant species recruitment) of riparian plant communities (Andersen *et al.* 2007, Northcott *et al.* 2007).

In addition to abiotic drivers, novel biotic components within ecosystems, such as alien plant species, are often reported as potential drivers (engineers) of ecosystem change (e.g. Callaway and Maron 2006, Minchinton *et al.* 2006, Richardson *et al.* 2007). For example, diffuse knapweed (*Centaurea diffusa*) significantly suppresses the growth of native species in invaded communities in western USA (Callaway and Aschehoug 2000, Vivanco *et al.* 2004), while significant species loss and structural shifts have been associated with high infestations of *Lantana camara* in tall open forest in southeastern Australia (Gooden *et al.* 2009a,b). Similarly, certain endemic species are identified as keystone elements which contribute disproportionately to the stability or resilience of an ecosystem; change in the abundance or function of such species may trigger significant change in ecosystem structure and dynamics (Mills *et al.* 1993, Fischer and Lindenmayer 2007, Manning and Lindenmayer 2009). However, while the potential for such change to have significant impact on vegetation community structure and function is recognised (Hooper *et al.* 2005, Manning *et al.* 2006, 2009), it has not been widely investigated or reported.

Fragmented riparian communities in highly modified agricultural landscapes are likely to be influenced by both altered hydrological and novel disturbance regimes associated with anthropogenic land use both within remnants (i.e. at highly localised within-patch scales) and in the surrounding landscape (i.e. at broader 'meta-patch' scales which incorporate the agricultural matrix *sensu* McIntyre and Hobbs 1999). This study assesses the relative importance of potential environmental drivers of ecosystem structure and condition in riparian woodland remnants embedded in a floodplain production landscape. It compares community responses to hydrological and land use variables, and

combinations of these at scales ranging from within-remnant to the broader agricultural landscape surrounding remnants. It also investigates the role of key functional vegetation species in influencing ecosystem pattern in the study systems.

5.1.2 Ecological response to environmental gradients

Environmental gradients and scale

Ecosystem composition, structure and function are, in effect, the outcome of multiple spatial and temporal environmental filters which result in the selection of individuals (thus species, functional groups, communities, ecosystems) with the ability to respond successfully to the various gradients (Lavorel and Garnier 2002). Plants respond individually to a range of inherently small-scale environmental gradients in abiotic (micro-climate, soil) and biotic (identity and abundance of interacting species) factors (Hook and Burke 2000, Reynolds *et al.* 2003). At the local patch scale, vegetation patterns are an amalgam of species responses to heterogeneous patterns in resource availability, current and past disturbances, and resultant community dynamics (Diaz *et al.* 1999). In floodplain communities, these factors are often determined by gradients in hydrology and connectivity (e.g. Leyer 2004), which, in highly modified landscapes, can be significantly influenced by changes in land cover and levels of resource use at larger scales (Andersen *et al.* 2007).

Interactions across scales are often cited as important drivers of regime shifts (e.g. Suding and Hobbs 2009) but are rarely investigated, with most vegetation community research conducted on relatively small (local, short time-frame) scales (Peterson *et al.* 1998, Carpenter 1999), and focused predominantly on within-ecosystem responses to specific disturbance or resource availability gradients (e.g. McIntyre 2001, 2008, Sutton and Morgan 2009). By comparison, habitat suitability modelling in faunal community studies often includes variables relating to the larger-scale landscape context of vegetation communities (habitat) (e.g. Cushman and McGarrigal 2002, Collard 2007, Kath *et al.* 2009).

Multivariate modelling offers an approach by which the composition of ecological communities may be modelled in relation to gradients in a range of environmental (habitat) variables seen *a priori* as potential drivers (predictors) of community responses (e.g. Knutson *et al.* 1999). Such modelling is essentially a correlative approach, rather than proof of cause and effect; however, the results of such studies

are frequently interpreted as strong inference of key drivers and possible mechanisms (e.g. Knutson *et al.* 1999, Kath *et al.* 2009). In addition, this exploratory approach can contribute to the generation of hypotheses which can be further investigated through experimentation (Knutson *et al.* 1999). Such studies can form an important part of the iterative process which enables greater understanding, especially of complex systems subject to anthropogenic change (e.g. Collard 2007, Kath *et al.* 2009).

Measuring and interpreting community response

A critical component of such studies is the choice of metrics relevant to the questions being asked. In plant community ecology, significant progress has been made in terms of developing methods which enable species to be grouped into functional response or effect groups, according to specific morphological and physiological traits (e.g. Volaire 2008, Mabry and Fraterrigo 2009) As examples, plants with high specific leaf area (i.e. leaf area per unit dry mass) are reported to be more successful under grazing disturbance (Golodets et al. 2009) or higher fertility conditions (Kuhner and Kleyer 2008), but more prone to moisture stress (Fonseca et al. 2000); plants with C4 metabolism are generally more successful (and abundant) in environments where temperatures are higher and/or there is limited moisture availability (Sage and McKown 2006); and many leguminous plants influence ecosystem processes by contributing to soil nitrogen levels (Fornara and Tilman 2008). The classification of vegetation species according to functional trait groups enables comparisons of ecological responses to specific drivers across bioregions, which contributes to the development of general hypotheses of ecological processes and responses (e.g. Loreau 2000, Diaz et al. 2007, Suding et al. 2008). Diversity within functional groups has also been interpreted as a useful metric for investigating emergent properties of ecosystems in response to ecosystem change with altered disturbance regimes. Redundancy is a key concept relating to functional diversity and system resilience; high levels of diversity within functional groups (i.e. redundancy) is interpreted as indicative of a high capacity for response and recovery, (i.e. resilience), while low functional diversity implies limited options and greater risk (Walker 1992, 1995, Laliberte et al. 2010).

Many studies report changes, along environmental gradients, in species composition between groups of species which are effectively reciprocal pairs within a functional trait space. For example, historical change along temperature and moisture

availability gradients has driven a transition between relevant functional correlates (e.g. C3 and C4 species) in subtropical bioregions (Huang et al. 2001, Nelson et al. 2004). On a smaller scale, grazing disturbance is reported to drive a shift from tallergrowing perennial grasses to low-growing annual herbs along a grazing intensity gradient (Lunt 1997, Lavorel et al. 1999a). While significant development of the functional group concept continues to occur in terms of identifying key traits associated with response to particular disturbances, metrics based on group identity are essentially static, measured in terms of increased or decreased absolute (Wohl et al. 2004, Flynn et al. 2009) or relative (McIntyre et al. 2005, Lavorel et al. 2008) redundancy. Change in the proportion of richness (relative redundancy) within a functional trait group, while valuable in interpreting the validity of the functional group approach to identifying meaningful trait sets, implies (but doesn't test) an inverse response in its inverse group (e.g. C3 vs C4). As such, such response metrics can be difficult to interpret in a dynamic sense as indicators of change, or resistance/resilience, in community function. The relative richness or abundance of functional correlates (i.e. ratio of richness or abundance of one functional correlate to another) potentially provides a dynamic metric by which community response to a relevant environmental gradient can be tested/measured. This novel metric is used, in this study, to test response in community structure (at the functional group level) to environmental change.

5.1.3 This study

The studies reported in Chapters 3 and 4 found that patterns in the floristic composition and condition of riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain conformed to some extent with broad hydrological and land use patterns at the scale of river sections. However, this effect was potentially confounded by issues of scale, and the inability to separate hydrological response from response to land use intensity. Interactions between within-remnant land use, river section and river bank treatments indicated the potential for relatively small scale cross-scale interactions between disturbance, resource availability and ecosystem processes. Significant levels of lippia infestation and dominant canopy species dieback were also evident, and may have significant impact on ecological function in these communities (MacDougall and Turkington 2005, Sardans and Penuelas 2007).

This study investigates the relative importance of hydrological and land use drivers as key determinants of community composition and condition in riparian remnants in this highly modified landscape. It asks how floristic and functional group composition and the condition of key dominant species in riparian woodlands respond to various combinations of potential environmental drivers associated with the hydrological and spatial context of woodland remnants at a range of local landscape scales; it also asks about the role of dominant species in these communities. It uses a multivariate modelling approach to test ecosystem responses, and identify key predictors of composition, condition and function variables. It also utilises a new dynamic functional group-based approach to investigate change in community composition in response to disturbance and gradients in levels of available resources.

Hypotheses addressed in this study are:

- that floristic and functional group composition and tree condition in riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain are best explained by a combination of hydrological and spatial environmental variables capturing land and water use at a range of local scales; and
- (ii) that dieback severity and lippia cover are important predictors of floristic composition in riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Data collection and treatment

Study area, study design and site selection

Study area, design, site locations and site selection details are as reported in Chapter 2. Three additional 'reference' sites were included in this study (total of 27 sites); these were external to the river sections defined in Chapters 3 and 4 (one site was located above Talgai Weir, two below Cecil Plains weir; Figure 5.1). These were identified as 'best-on-offer' sites where dominant threatening processes were minimised (Low Choy *et al.* 2005, Eyre *et al.* 2006). No sites that could be considered close to reference (pre-development) condition were available in the study area; reference sites outside the study area were not considered appropriate due to the potential for regional differences.



Figure 5.1 Upper Condamine floodplain study area, indicating survey site locations including additional reference 'best on offer' sites (R1-3).

Floristic data collection

Floristic composition was surveyed using a 1000 m^2 nested quadrat frequency sampling method (Le Brocque and Buckney 1997) as reported in Chapter 3. All species recorded were identified, and assigned to functional response groups on the basis of specific physiological, life-cycle, and growth form traits and habitat affinity (wetland, floodplain, terrestrial) (Chapter 3). Mean lippia cover (FPC%) was also recorded (1 m^2 quadrats) as described in Chapter 3. Species richness, abundance (frequency) and diversity measures were derived as reported in Chapter 3.

Functional trait group transitions

Ratios (richness, abundance) for pairs of contrasting variables within functional response groups (Chapter 3) were derived from the vegetation dataset in a novel approach to investigating floristic change. This approach applies the concept of redundancy or functional diversity (Walker 1992, 1995) as a measure of ecosystem resilience, where these 'functional group transition ratios' represent potential shifts in functional response capacity within communities. The approach is based on assumptions that (i) functional response group identity is associated with a predictable response to changes in a specific environmental gradient, as outlined in Chapter 3 (Table 3.4); and (ii) ratios between contrasting pairs of functional groups (e.g. C3 and C4 physiology) reflect relative trends in collective species population processes (cumulative abundance) which contribute to relative changes in functional diversity (richness) and provide a dynamic measure of community response.

These functional group richness and abundance transition ratios are used to investigate whether shifts in vegetation community composition are associated with and, by inference, driven by change in relevant environmental variables. If so, this approach may contribute to better understanding of the impact of environmental change within communities, and provide an indication of the key drivers underpinning ecosystem degradation, loss of resilience or potential for regime change. A similar concept is suggested by Cote and Darling (2010) who indicate that selective mortality with disturbance in coral reef communities results in loss of coral species with stress-sensitive life histories and increased dominance (in terms of absolute and relative abundance) of stress-tolerant species. Changes in relative abundance (biomass) of species sorted along trait-based continua have also been used as measures of community response to nutrient and disturbance gradients in grassland ecosystems (Craine *et al.* 2001, Stampfli and Zeiter 2004).

Key functional group transitions investigated in this study (5.1) represent potential compositional or functional shifts in response to resource availability or disturbance gradients associated with broader landscape patterns. For example, a relatively higher ratio of C4 to C3 species might represent a shift to more xeric conditions (Winslow *et al.* 2003, Yu *et al.* 2005).

Transition ratio	Environmental gradient	Reference
Alien:native	disturbance	Ordonez et al. 2010
Short-lived:perennial	disturbance	McIntyre et al. 1999b, Bagstad et al. 2005
Forb:tussock grass	moisture and/or grazing	Ash and McIvor 1998; Clarke and Davison 2004; McIvor <i>et al.</i> 2005
C4:C3	moisture and/or nutrients	Wand et al. 1999, Winslow et al. 2003, Yu et al. 2005
Floodplain:terrestrial	moisture and flooding disturbance	Deiller et al. 2001, Stromberg et al. 2007a
Wetland:terrestrial	moisture	Stromberg <i>et al.</i> 1997, 2007a, Thomas <i>et al.</i> 2010
Clonal:non-clonal	flooding disturbance	Lenssen <i>et al.</i> 2004a, Insausti and Grimoldi 2006
Clonal:tussock grass	grazing disturbance	Fahrig <i>et al.</i> 1994, Rosenthal and Lederbogen 2008

Table 5.1Functional group transitions tested in this study.

Tree attributes, condition and recruitment

Tree attributes (mature tree density, mature tree diameter), condition (dieback severity, average foliage index, structural integrity, density of dead trees) and recruitment (seedling density) data were recorded for the dominant canopy species complex *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* as described in Chapter 4; recruitment data were also recorded for the sub-dominant species *Acacia stenophylla*.

Generation of environmental variables

The landscape context of sites was quantified using spatially arrayed information on land use, land cover, drainage and infrastructure available through the Queensland Government Department of Environment and Resource Management and spatial analysis software (ArcGIS version 9.1, ESRI 2007). Spatial context parameters (e.g. proportions of different land uses, remnant vegetation extent) were measured within areas defined by 500 m, 2000 m and 5000 m buffers centred on each survey site (Figure 5.2) after Collard (2007); these were designed to characterise environmental factors at within-remnant (up to 500 m), adjacent to remnant (up to 2000 m) and local landscape or multi-patch (up to 5000 m) scales. Factors associated with overland flow

were captured within buffer segments (approximately quadrants) of the 500 m, 2000 m and 5000 m circular buffers indicated above, defined on one side by the main river channel and, on the other side, by the estimated limit, based on slope, of overland flow to the site (Figure 5.2); these were designed to capture the influence of overland flow. A similar buffer segmentation approach was used by Banks (2006) to investigate the influence of agricultural chemical spray-drift, based on prevailing wind direction, on floodplain tree health. Linear measures (riparian width, distance to river channel, distance to remnant edge, distance to nearest groundwater bore, distance to nearest ring tank) were also calculated for each site. Two response variables, tree health (WWI) and lippia abundance (lippia cover), were also included as explanatory environmental variables; this was to enable the influence of these species as ecosystem dominants to be assessed with respect to their potential roles as ecosystem engineers (Jones *et al.* 1994) or keystone species (Mills *et al.* 1993) in these woodlands.



Figure 5.2Example of buffers and associated quadrants drawn (ArcGIS version 9.1) at500 m, 2000 m and 5000 m distance from a survey site.

A total of 82 environmental measures was generated (Appendix D). Prior to analysis, measures were sorted into five groups; these were sets of (i) environmental variables capturing hydrological and spatial attributes at all scales ('Combination'); (ii) hydrological environmental variables ('Hydrology'); (iii) spatial environmental variables capturing land use (type and intensity) and land cover (native vegetation) ('Spatial'); (iv) environmental variables capturing hydrological and spatial attributes at the within-remnant scale ('Patch-scale'); and (v) environmental variables capturing hydrological and spatial attributes at the local-landscape scale ('Local-scale'). Model sets were reduced to minimum (parsimonious) test sets of potential environmental predictor variables (Table 5.2), using Pearson's correlation coefficient in SPSS version 18.0 (SPSS Inc. 2009) to identify colinearity within each data set. Where pairs of variables were highly correlated (Pearson's R \geq 0.5), only one variable was retained, while preserving as much environmental information as possible in the final test sets (Wintle *et al.* 2003, Kath *et al.* 2009).

Table 5.2Minimum sets of predictor variables used in Combination, Hydrology,Spatial, Patch-scale and Local-scale (local landscape-scale) models. Values (mean, SEand range) are given in Appendix D.

Variable*			Dataset		
	Combination	Hydrology	Spatial	Patch-scale	Local-scale
allcropppnUQ2000		Х			
bareground	Х			х	
cropnatratioUQ2000	Х				Х
cropnatratioUQ500	Х	Х			
distdownweir	Х	Х		Х	
distGWprodbore				Х	
distriv	Х			Х	
drainage500	Х	Х		Х	
elevation		Х			
grazppn500	Х		Х	Х	
grazppn5000			Х		
grazppnUQ500		Х			
GW500		Х		Х	
GW5000	Х				Х
GWdepth5000	Х	Х			Х
GWirrig5000					Х
GWtrend5000	Х	Х			Х
irrigcropppn2000			Х		
irrigcropppn500	Х		х	х	
irrigcropppn5000	х		Х		х
irrigcropppnUQ2000	Х				Х
irrigcropppnUQ500		х			
irrigcropppnUQ5000		х			
lippiacov	Х			х	
north	Х		х	х	
remvegppn2000			Х		
REremppn2000	Х		х		Х
REremppnUQ2000	х				х
REremppnUQ500		Х			
ringtankppnUQ500				х	
ringtankppnUQ2000	х				х
ripwidthcurrent				х	
treedens	Х			х	
WWI	Х			х	
Total count	20	12	8	14	10

* variable descriptions (sampling areas within buffers are indicated as 500, 2000 and 5000, and within quadrants as UQ500, UQ2000 and UQ5000): **allcropppn:** proportion of cropping land use (proportion of sampling area); **bareground:** mean percent cover of bare ground per site (1m x 1m quadrats); **cropnatratio:** dominant land use (ratio all cropping: 'natural' categories); **distdownweir:** distance from the nearest in-stream weir downstream of a site; **distGWprodbore:** distance from the nearest existing registered groundwater irrigation/production bore; **distriv:** distance to main river channel or mapped tributary; **drainage500:** length (km) of river channel/mapped drainage lines within sampling area; **elevation:** elevation (masl); **grazppn:** proportion of grazing land use within sampling area; **GW:** number of existing registered groundwater bores within sampling area; **GWtrend:** average trend (rate of decline in m per decade) in water level of groundwater monitoring bores within sampling area; **GWtrend:** average trend (rate of decline in m per decade) in water level of groundwater monitoring bores within sampling area; **irrigcroppn:** proportion of irrigated cropping land use within sampling area; **ilpiacov:** mean percent cover of lippia per site (1m x 1m quadrats); **north:** northin; remvegppn: proportion of mapped remnant vegetation within sampling area; **REppn:** proportion of mapped remnant vegetation within sampling area; **REppn:** proportion of mapped remnant vegetation within sampling area; **REppn:** proportion of riagt area; **ripwidthcurrent:** riparian width; **treedens:** surveyed tree density (#/ha); **WWI:** surveyed dieback severity index (Chapter 4).

These explanatory variables capture a range of disturbance, resource level, connectivity and dominant species gradients in this landscape. These include: flooding disturbance (e.g. bareground, ripwidthcurrent, distriv); within-patch grazing disturbance (e.g. bareground, grazppn500); land cover (e.g. ripwidthcurrent, remvegppn2000, REremppn2000); land use type (e.g. allcropppn, grazppn500); land use intensity (e.g. GW500/5000, irrigcroppn500/2000/5000); resource availability (e.g. elevation, GWdepth5000, GWtrend5000); remnant connectivity (e.g. REremppnUQ500/UQ2000); hydrological connectivity (e.g. distdownweir, drainage500, ringtankppnUQ500/UQ2000); and dominant species function (e.g. lippiacov, treedens, WWI).

5.2.2 Statistical analyses

Multivariate analyses

The PRIMER BIOENV procedure (Clarke and Warwick 2001) was used to identify patterns in environmental variables (Table 5.2) that best matched observed patterns in floristic composition. Each 'sites by variables' matrix was converted to a similarity matrix using Euclidean distance (data normalised and standardised) and compared to Bray-Curtis similarity matrices (species frequency data, standardised) for total floristic composition using the Spearman's rank correlation method (Clarke and Gorley 2001). Sets of independent variables, from individual variables to several (up to 6), from the model test sets (Combination, Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale, Local-scale; Table 5.2) were tested to identify the variable or set of variables which best 'explained' (i.e. matched) community patterns (Clarke and Ainsworth 1993).

Univariate analyses

Response variables for functional group species richness and abundance transitions (Table 5.1), and key species (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis*, *Acacia stenophylla* and *Phyla canescens*) parameters were modeled using General Linear Modelling (multiple linear regression) and Bayesian Model Averaging (BMA) procedures (R version 2.9.0: R Development Core Team, 2005 and the BMA package: Raftery *et al.* 2005) with uniform priors (Eicher *et al.* 2007).

Bounded (proportional, percentage) data were arcsine transformed, and all data were screened and transformed (either square-root or log_{10}), where required, to meet

assumptions of normality and homoscedascity (Quinn and Keogh 2002). Models were derived from the parsimonious sets of environmental predictor variables (Combination, Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale, Local-scale; Table 5.2). A minimum confidence set of models was identified using the Occam's Window approach (Hoeting *et al.* 1999), with models excluded where the maximum posterior model probability (see below) ratio exceeded 20 (Raftery *et al.* 1997, Kath *et al.* 2009).

Models within each confidence set were ranked on the basis of the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), which balances goodness-of-fit and model complexity (e.g. Jiao *et al.* 2008), with the minimum (most negative) BIC value signifying the 'quasi-true' or best predictive model (i.e. the most parsimonious model that is closest to the 'truth') as in Burnham and Anderson (2004). Minimum BIC values were compared across the five model sets for each response variable using an information-theoretic approach (Burnham and Anderson 2004, Hobbs and Hilborn 2006) to identify the model best supported by the data (i.e. the 'most informative' set of predictor variables; Table 5.3).

Table 5.3Grades of evidence used to interpret the strength of the BIC values, BICdifferences between models, and posterior effect probabilities for variable effect withinBayesian model averaging (BMA) models (after Raftery 1995)

Minimum BIC	BIC difference (diff)	Probability* (%)	Interpretation
< -10.0	> 10.0	>99	very strong
$-10.0 \le \text{BIC} < -6.0$	$6.0 < diff \le 10.0$	95 - 99	strong
$-6.0 \le BIC < -2.0$	$2.0 < diff \le 6.0$	75 - 95	moderate
\ge -2.0	≤ 2.0	50 - 75	weak

* posterior effect probability

Bayesian model averaging (BMA) was used to investigate the relative weight or importance of test variables within the larger Combination predictor set, identified as the most informative of the five test sets. Model averaging enables robust multimodel inference which accounts for the uncertainty in model selection which is inherent in conventional step-wise regression methods, particularly where a number of possible models perform to a similar level (Raftery 1995, Hoeting *et al.* 1999, Wintle *et al.* 2003). BMA aims instead to identify the best predictive inference from the data by considering all models within the defined confidence set (Raftery *et al.* 1997). Parameter mean and standard deviation, and the posterior effect probability (probability of association), are calculated for each variable across all models, with a probability of 1.00 indicating that a variable is present in 100% of models in the confidence set (interpreted as very strong evidence of effect in the model, Raftery 1995). The regression coefficient (r^2) and posterior model probability (PMP) are calculated for each model; the regression coefficient (r^2) equates to that in conventional step-wise regression methods, and the PMP indicates the percentage of total probability accounted for by an individual model (i.e. a higher PMP indicates a greater level of model certainty) (Hoeting *et al.* 1999).

5.3 Results

A total of 147 vascular plant species was recorded in this survey (Appendix C). Functional group transition ratios ranged from 0.32 - 0.94, a three-fold difference in the relative richness of C4:C3 species, to 0.04 - 1.24, a 31-fold difference in the abundance of wetland:terrestrial species (Table 5.4). There was also considerable variability in dominant species attributes (condition, size, density and cover; Table 5.5) and environmental variables (Appendix D) across the study area.

Table 5.4Functional group richness and abundance transition ratios for reciprocal pairsof functional groups (V_1 and V_2). Values are means, standard errors (in parentheses) andrange (minimum - maximum) of ratios (V_1 : V_2) and absolute values(minimum - maximum) for each variable (V_1 , V_2).

Variable (V1:V2)	Mean (SE)	Ratio	$(\mathbf{V}_1:\mathbf{V}_2)$	Range (min – max)		
	incuit (512)	Min	Max	\mathbf{V}_1	\mathbf{V}_2	
Richness						
alien:native	0.32 (0.03)	0.12	0.75	3 - 19	14 - 35	
Shortlived:perennial	0.32 (0.03)	0.13	0.73	4 - 16	13 - 38	
Forb:tussock grass	1.07 (0.08)	0.50	2.00	4 - 21	6 - 18	
C4:C3	0.61 (0.03)	0.32	0.94	5 - 17	6 - 34	
Floodplain:terrestrial	0.69 (0.05)	0.36	1.38	6 - 16	9 - 36	
Wetland:terrestrial	0.16 (0.02)	0.04	0.50	1 - 4	9 - 36	
Clonal:nonclonal	0.36 (0.02)	0.17	0.70	4 - 14	10 - 39	
Clonal:tussock grass	0.86 (0.04)	0.44	1.27	4 - 14	6 - 18	
Abundance						
alien:native	0.32 (0.04)	0.12	0.86	9 - 53	28 - 124	
Shortlived:perennial	0.25 (0.03)	0.07	0.80	6 - 48	40 - 130	
Forb:tussock grass	0.80 (0.05)	0.31	1.47	11 - 56	13 - 70	
C4:C3	0.74 (0.06)	0.31	1.49	13 - 59	21 - 97	
Floodplain:terrestrial	1.09 (0.11)	0.30	2.64	21 - 58	17 - 109	
Wetland:terrestrial	0.24 (0.05)	0.04	1.24	2 - 21	17 - 109	
Clonal:nonclonal	0.48 (0.05)	0.22	1.39	14 - 38	23 - 115	
Clonal:tussock grass	0.85 (0.06)	0.43	1.88	14 - 38	13 - 70	

Table 5.5Dominant species attributes (condition, size, density and cover). Values aremeans, standard errors (in parentheses) and range (minimum - maximum).

Dominant species attributes	units	Mean (SE)	Min	Max
AFI	%	46.7 (4.4)	17.5	86.3
WWI	-	327.8 (16.8)	175	475
meanPTR	%	73.3 (3.7)	30.0	98.8
treedens	per ha	43.3 (3.9)	12.8	99.5
mean D ₁₃₀	cm	69.2 (4.2)	40.6	129.1
deadens	per 1000m ²	1.6 (0.3)	0	4
eucregen	per 1000m ²	0.6 (0.2)	1	4
acregen	per 1000m ²	1.4 (0.6)	0	12
lippiacover	%	16.5 (3.0)	0.6	74.0

AFI: average foliage index; **WWI:** dieback severity; **meanPTR:** structural integrity; **treedens:** mature tree density; **meanD130:** mean mature tree diameter; **deadens:** dead tree density; **eucregen:** eucalypt seedling density; **acregen:** *Acacia stenophylla* seedling density; **lippiacover:** mean lippia FPC% (1 m² quadrats)

5.3.1 Best predictive model sets

Multivariate models for community composition

Floristic composition was best explained by a multivariate model based on the larger Combination test set (BIOENV, r = 0.45; Table 5.6). This model included a combination of five environmental variables, including mean groundwater depth in 2004–05, mean groundwater trend (m/decade) and the number of existing registered groundwater bores, all within a 5 km radius of survey sites (GWdepth5000, GWtrend5000 and GW5000, respectively), the proportion of the ecosystem type remaining with a 2 km radius of survey sites (REremppn2000), and within-site lippia cover (Table 5.6). The single 'best' variable in this test set was the depth of groundwater (GWdepth5000), which predicted 31% of the variation in community composition (Table 5.6).

Table 5.6BIOENV models (Combination, Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale) forfloristic composition based on species frequency data. Spearman correlation values (rho)indicate the strength of the best model using 6 or fewer explanatory variables; the single'best' variable for each model is also listed. Variable codes are explained in Table 5.2.

Model set	Spearman correlation (best single)	Explanatory variable (best single)	Spearman correlation (best set)	Explanatory variables (best set)
Combination	0.31	GWdepth5000	0.45	GWdepth5000, lippia cover, GWtrend5000, REremppn2000, GW5000
Hydrology	0.29	GWdepth5000	0.36	GWdepth5000, GWtrend5000
Spatial	0.35	Grazppn5000	0.40	Grazppn5000, REremppn2000
Patch-scale	0.17	Lippiacover	0.26	lippiacover, ripwidthcurrent, distGWprodbore, drainage500
Local-scale	0.19	REremppn2000	0.34	REremppn2000, GWdepth5000, irrigcroppnUQ2000, GWirrig5000, GWtrend5000

Models based on subsets of predictor variables (i.e. Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale, Local-scale) explained a smaller percentage of variation in floristic composition, although models based on the spatial and hydrology variable sets (Spearman's rho = 0.40 and 0.36, respectively; Table 5.6) were more informative that those based only on patch-scale variables (rho = 0.26). Key predictors in these sets were all either included in the best Combination model or highly correlated (Pearson's R > 0.50) with these variables. For example, Grazppn5000, a key predictor in the next best 'Spatial' model, was highly correlated with GWdepth5000 in the Combination set (Pearson's R = -0.88).

Models for functional group transition ratios and dominant species

There were very strong best Combination models for alien:native and shortlived:perennial functional group richness transition ratios (BIC < -10.0, Table 5.7); these were strongly superior to the alternative Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale and Local-scale models (BIC difference > 6.0). The Hydrology model for the floodplain:terrestrial richness transition ratio was very strong (BIC < -10.0) and moderately better than the next best Combination model (2.0 < BIC difference \leq 10.0). The Hydrology models for the wetland:terrestrial and clonal:tussock grass richness transition ratios, and Combination models for the C4:C3 and clonal:nonclonal richness transition ratios were moderately strong (-6.0 \leq BIC < -2.0), and weakly to moderately stronger than the next best models (2.0 < BIC difference \leq 10.0). All models for the forb:tussock grass richness transition ratio were null (BIC = 0.0, Table 5.7). **Table 5.7** Bayesian information criteria (BIC) values for the best predictor models within the Combination, Hydrology, Spatial and Patch-scale test variable sets for functional group richness and abundance transition ratios and dominant species attributes. Values are BIC. Very strong models (BIC < -10.0) are indicated in bold type; asterisks indicate the relative strength of the best model over the next best model for each response variable (*** very strong, ** strong, * moderate; as in Table 5.3)

Response variable	Combination	Hydrology	Spatial	Patch-scale	Local-scale
Functional group rich	ness transition rati	os			
alien:native	-18.2**	-4.3	0.0	-7.8	-10.8
shortlived:perennial	-29.6***	-10.6	-4.4	-9.0	-14.3
forb:tussock grass	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
C4:C3	-2.4	-2.0	0.0	-1.0	0.0
floodplain:terrestrial	-6.5	-10.3*	-4.1	-6.5	-5.6
wetland:terrestrial	-2.0	-5.9*	0.0	-1.5	-0.4
clonal:nonclonal	-4.2	-1.8	0.0	-4.2	0.0
clonal:tussock grass	-3.6	-5.5	0.0	0.0	-3.6
Functional group abu	ndance transition r	atios			
alien:native	-19.5*	-5.2	0.0	-10.7	-15.5
shortlived:perennial	-22.5***	-4.7	-4.2	-10.0	-4.5
forb:tussock grass	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-2.1
C4:C3	-12.7**	-6.4	0.0	-3.5	0.0
floodplain:terrestrial	-13.9*	-6.3	-6.7	-11.6	-6.2
wetland:terrestrial	-4.7	0.0	0.0	-4.7	0.0
clonal:nonclonal	-0.7	-0.7	0.0	-0.7	0.0
clonal:tussock grass	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Dominant species attr	ibutes				
AFI	-7.1	-5.7	-7.2	-3.5	-1.4
WWI	-8.2	-5.2	-8.0	-1.1	-0.7
meanPTR	-21.2**	-13.3	-9.6	-7.2	-2.0
treedens	-0.8	-1.6	0.0	-0.8	-5.1
meanD130	-18.3	-12.7	-11.1	-15.5	-17.4
deaddens	-24.7*	-16.4	-20.9	-12.5	-17.1
eucregen	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
acregen	-23.1**	-13.7	-1.7	-8.5	-3.4
lippiacover	-5.6	-11.0	-9.4	-4.5	-7.1

There were very strong best Combination models for alien:native, shortlived:perennial, C4:C3 and floodplain:terrestrial abundance transition ratios (BIC < - 10.0, Table 5.7). The short-lived:perennial abundance transition ratio Combination model was very strongly superior to the next best Patch-scale model (BIC difference > 10.0), and the Combination models for the alien:native, C4:C3 and floodplain:terrestrial abundance transition ratios were moderately to strongly better than the next best Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale or Local-scale models (2.0 < BIC difference \leq 10.0). The wetland:terrestrial Combination and Patch-scale models were both moderately strong (-6.0 < BIC \leq -2.0). The Local-scale model for the forb:tussock grass abundance ratio was at the low range of moderately strong (BIC = -2.1), and all models for clonal:nonclonal and clonal:tussock grass abundance transition ratios were either weak or null (BIC \geq -2.0, Table 5.7).

Best Combination models were very strong (BIC < -10.0) for mean PTR and acacia regeneration data sets, and were strongly superior to the alternative Hydrology, Spatial, Patch-scale and Local-scale models (6.0 < BIC difference ≤ 10.0 , Table 5.7). All models for meanD₁₃₀ and the density of dead trees (deadens) were very strong (BIC < -10.0), but the Combination models were weakly to moderately superior (0.0 < BIC difference ≤ 6.0). There were strong best models for AFI (Spatial) and WWI (Combination) but these were only weakly superior to other next best models (BIC difference ≤ 2.0). There was a very strong Hydrology model for lippia cover, but this was only weakly better than the next best Spatial model; the Combination model for lippia cover was only moderately strong ($-6.0 \leq BIC < -2.0$, Table 5.7). The best Local-scale model for tree density was moderately strong ($-6.0 \leq BIC < -2.0$), and moderately superior to the next best Hydrology model (2.0 < BIC difference ≤ 6.0). All models for eucalypt recruitment were null (BIC = 0.0, Table 5.7).

5.3.2 Response models for functional group transition ratios

Functional group richness transitions

The 'quasi-true' (Burnham and Anderson 2004) or best Combination models derived for alien:native and short-lived:perennial richness transition ratios explained a high proportion of variation in the dataset (BMA; $r^2 = 84\%$ and 91%, respectively). Models in the minimum confidence set for these response variables (45 and 68 models, respectively) were complex, with several predictor variables present in all models (Table 5.8). Key predictors common to both models were drainage500 (the length of river channel and mapped drainage lines within 500 m), grazppn500 (the proportion of grazing land use within 500 m), and GWtrend5000 (mean trend in groundwater levels within 5000 m), which were all negatively correlated with increased relative richness of alien and short-lived species and/or decreases in the relative richness of native and perennial species. Of the other key predictors in the alien:native richness transition ratio model, distdownweir, irrigcropppnUQ2000 and REremppn2000 were all positively correlated, and GWdepth5000 was negatively correlated, with the relative proportion of alien to native species (Table 5.8). Bareground (mean percent cover of bare ground) and irrigcroppn5000 (the proportion of irrigated cropping land use within 5000 m) were both positive predictors in over 95% of short-lived:perennial richness transition ratio models in the confidence set; lippiacover (the mean percent cover of lippia), north (the GPS northing reading, a surrogate for rainfall and elevation) and land cover within 2000 m upslope (cropnatratioUQ2000, ringtankareaUQ2000) were included in 84-95% of models in the confidence set, and all except ringtankareaUQ2000 were positively correlated with a higher relative proportion of short-lived species.

Models for C4:C3, clonal:non-clonal and clonal:tussock grass richness transition ratios explained up to 42%, 36% and 63%, respectively, of variation in the data (Table 5.8). Lippia cover was the dominant predictor (p = 0.84) of a higher relative proportion of C3 species, while REremppnUQ2000 and irrigcropppn5000 were only moderately strong terms in the C4:C3 richness transition model. The clonal:nonclonal richness transition ratio was best predicted by distance from the nearest downstream weir (p = 0.87) and tree density (p = 0.87), with a higher relative proportion of clonal species closer to the nearest downstream weir and where tree density was higher. Key predictors in the clonal:tussock grass richness transition ratio model were land cover within 2000 m upslope (cropnatratioUQ2000, ringtankareaUQ2000), while lippia cover and REremppnUQ2000 were terms in 69% and 57%, respectively, of models in the confidence set; the clonal:tussock grass richness transition ratio was positively associated with ringtankareaUQ2000 and lippiacover, and negatively correlated with cropnatratioUQ2000 and REremppnUQ2000. The forb:tussock grass richness transition was not predicted by the any of the model terms (Table 5.8).

Table 5.8Individual models for functional species richness transitions using Bayesian model averaging (BMA). The most consistent model terms (p > 50%) in the confidence sets for each response variable are indicated; numbers in parentheses are the probability of the term being included in a model in the
confidence set, and bold type indicates a negative coefficient in the quasi-best model. The number of models in the confidence set (nmodels), and maximum r^2
and posterior model probability (summed PMP) of the top 5 quasi-best models, are listed. Model terms are explained in Appendix D.

Response variable	p >95%	p >75%≤95%	p>50%≤75%	n _{models}	Max r ² (best 5)	$\sum PMP$ (best 5)
Combination models						
Alien:native	distdownweir (1.00), drainage500 (1.00) , grazppn500 (1.00) , GWdepth5000 (1.00) , GWtrend5000 (1.00) , irrigcroppnUQ2000 (1.00), REremppn2000 (1.00)	-	-	45	0.84	0.32
Shortlived:perennial	bareground (1.00), drainage500 (1.00), GWtrend5000 (1.00), irrigcropppn5000 (0.98)	cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.95), north (0.94), lippiacover (0.94), grazppn500 (0.93), ringtankareaUQ2000 (0.84)	-	68	0.91	0.26
Forb:tussock grass	-	-	-	33	-	0.37
C4:C3	-	lippiacover (0.84)	REremppnUQ2000 (0.62), irrigcropppn5000 (0.61)	65	0.42	0.24
Floodplain:terrestrial	-	WWI (0.85)	GWdepth5000 (0.65)	23	0.45	0.22
Wetland:terrestrial		distdownweir (0.63)	GWdepth5000 (0.58)	58	0.33	0.24
Clonal:non-clonal	-	distdownweir (0.87), treedens (0.87)	-	42	0.36	0.35
Clonal:tussock grass	cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.98), ringtankareaUQ2000 (0.93)	-	lippiacover (0.69), REremppnUQ2000 (0.57)	99	0.63	0.15
Hydrology models						
Floodplain:terrestrial	GWdepth5000 (1.00)	REremppnUQ500 (0.95), distdownweir (0.90)	-	28	0.56	0.46
Wetland:terrestrial	GWdepth5000 (0.99)	distdownweir (0.94), REremppnUQ500 (0.90)	-	28	0.47	0.46

Combination models for floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial richness transition ratios explained 45% and 33%, respectively, of variation in the dataset (Table 5.8). WWI (dieback severity) and GWdepth5000 were key (positive) predictors in 85% and 65%, respectively, of models within the confidence set for this response variable, while distdownweir (negative) and GWdepth5000 (positive) were key predictors in 63% and 58%, respectively, of wetland: terrestrial richness transition ratio models. The stronger Hydrology models for these response variables (BIC, Table 5.7) included GWdepth5000 in 100% and 99% of models within the respective confidence sets, and REremppnUQ500 and distdownweir in 90-95% of models. In these models, higher floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial richness transition ratios were both predicted by greater mean 2004-05 groundwater depths within 5000 m, greater distance for the nearest downstream weir and reduced upslope riparian woodland remnant extent within 500 m (Table 5.8).

Functional group abundance transitions

Combination models explained up to 87% of variation in alien:native, shortlived:perennial and C4:C3 species abundance transition ratios (BMA; $r^2 = 87\%$, 81% and 81%, respectively; Table 5.9). The alien:native species abundance transition ratio was most strongly predicted by a greater proportion of remnant vegetation within 2 km (REremppn2000, p = 0.96), the short-lived:perennial species abundance transition ratio was most strongly predicted by a greater percentage of bare ground and lower dieback severity (WWI); and the C4:C3 species abundance transition ratio was best predicted by lower cover of bare ground and lippia. Floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial abundance transition ratio models explained 61% and 41% of variation in the dataset. Dieback severity (WWI) was the most important predictor, present in 100% and 98%, respectively, of models for these response variables, while cropnatratioUQ500 (the ratio of all cropping:'natural' land use categories within 500 m upslope) was a strong predictor in 89% of floodplain:terrestrial abundance transition models. Increased floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial abundance ratios were associated with greater dieback severity, and floodplain:terrestrial abundance was positively correlated with an increased proportion of cropping upslope (Table 5.9). Models for forb:tussock grass, clonal:non-clonal and clonal:tussock grass abundance transition ratios were not well-predicted by the any of the model terms in the Combination model set (Table 5.9).

Table 5.9Individual models for functional species abundance transitions using Bayesian model averaging (BMA). The most consistent model terms (p> 50%) in the confidence sets for each response variable are indicated; numbers in parentheses are the probability of the term being included in a model in the
confidence set, and bold type indicates a negative coefficient in the quasi-best model. The number of models in the confidence set (nmodels), and maximum r^2
and posterior model probability (summed PMP) of the top 5 quasi-best models, are listed. Model terms are explained in Appendix D.

Response variable	p >95%	p >75%≤95%	p >50%≤75%	n _{models}	Max r ² (best 5)	$\sum PMP$ (best 5)
alien: native	REppn2000 (0.96)	bareground (0.90), GWdepth5000 (0.89), GWtrend5000 (0.85), irrigcroppnUQ2000 (0.82), drainage500 (0.80), distdownweir (0.75)	grazppn500 (0.71), cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.66), distriv (0.61), WWI (0.53)	72	0.87	0.23
Shortlived: perennial	bareground (1.00), WWI (0.97)	ringtankppnUQ2000 (0.81)	cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.73), irrigcropppn5000 (0.71), GWtrend5000 (0.51)	102	0.81	0.18
Forb: tussock grass	-	-	-	97	-	0.19
C4: C3	bareground (1.00), lippiacover (0.99)	GW5000 (0.95), irrigcropppnUQ2000 (0.93), grazppn500 (0.92), drainage500 (0.88)	north (0.60), irrigcropppn5000 (0.58), cropnatratioUQ500 (0.56)	77	0.81	0.19
Floodplain: terrestrial	WWI (1.00)	cropnatratioUQ500 (0.89)	-	42	0.61	0.37
Wetland: terrestrial	WWI (0.98)	-	-	54	0.41	0.28
Clonal: nonclonal	-	-	distdownweir (0.64)	32	0.18	0.38
Clonal: tussock grass	-	-	-	53	-	0.25

5.3.3 Response models for dominant species attributes

The best Combination models for the three tree condition response variables (AFI, WWI, meanPTR) accounted for varying proportions of variation in the dataset (BMA, $r^2 = 0.43$, 0.63 and 0.84, respectively; Table 5.10). Strong predictors for average foliage index (AFI) were GWdepth5000 (the mean groundwater depth in 2004-5 within 5000 m) and grazppn500 (the proportion of grazing land use within 500 m) (p > 0.75), both of which were negatively correlated with response in this variable in the BMA model. Dieback severity (WWI) was very strongly predicted by GWdepth5000 and grazppn500 (p = 1.00 and 0.99, respectively), and also strongly predicted by GW5000 (the number of groundwater bores within 5000 m). Strong predictors of the structural integrity of mature trees (meanPTR) included the mean cover of bare ground (bareground), mean 2004-05 groundwater depth within 5000 m (GWdepth5000), rainfall and elevation (north), distance from the nearest downstream weir (distdownstream), the proportion of irrigated cropping land use within 2000 m upslope (irrigcropppnUQ2000), the number of registered groundwater bores within 5000 m (GW5000) and mature tree density (treedens) (p > 0.75); structural integrity was positively correlated with north (a surrogate measure of declining average annual rainfall with distance downstream (Chapter 2) and inversely correlated with elevation, p = -.087, distance from the nearest downstream weir, the number of groundwater bores and mature tree density, and negatively correlated with increasing bare ground cover, groundwater depth and irrigated cropping upslope (Table 5.10).

Tree size (meanD₁₃₀) models accounted for 74% of variability in the dataset, and consistently included lippiacover (the mean percent cover of lippia) and cropnatratioUQ2000 (the relative proportion of cropping land use and native vegetation within 2000 m upslope) (p = 1.00 and 0.98, respectively), while treedens (the density of mature trees) and drainage500 (the length of river channel and mapped drainage lines within 500 m) were strong explanatory variables in 94% and 85% of models in the Combination confidence set for this response variable. There was a positive correlation between mean tree size (meanD₁₃₀) and both lippia cover and drainage500, and negative for mean tree size and cropnatratioUQ2000 and mature tree density. Models for the density of dead trees (deadens) explained 79% of

variation in the data, and were best predicted by increases in the proportion of grazing land use within 500 m (grazppn500) and the proportion of irrigated cropping with 5000 m (irrigcropppn5000), and decreased lippia cover. Mean groundwater trend (GWtrend5000) and mean 2004-05 groundwater depth (GWdepth5000) were predictor terms in 86% and 74% of models in the confidence set for this response. Mature tree density was not well-predicted by any of the model terms tested in the combination model set ($p \le 0.50$), but Local-scale models explained up to 60% of variation with 84% of models in the confidence set containing the predictor term GWdepth5000 and 75% containing ringtankareaUQ2000. Mature tree density in the BMA model was negatively associated with GWdepth5000 and positively associated with ringtankareaUQ2000 (Table 5.10).

Models for *Acacia stenophylla* seedling density (acregen) explained up to 91% of variation in the dataset, but were relatively complex with several model terms consistently present in models ($p \ge 0.98$). Very strong predictor terms with positive coefficients were the length of drainage500, north and WWI (dieback severity); very strong terms with negative coefficients included distriv (distance from the river), irrigcropppnUQ2000 (the proportion of irrigated cropping land use within 2000 m upslope) and REremppnUQ2000 (the proportion of mapped remnant woodland ecosystems within 2000 m upslope). *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* seedling density (eucregen) was not well-predicted by any of the model terms tested ($p \le 0.50$, Table 5.10).

Mean lippia cover (lippiacover) was very strongly predicted by north (p = 0.99) in Combination models and elevation (p = 1.00) in Hydrology models, which predicted up to 50% and 44% of variation in the dataset (Table 5.10). Spatial models for lippia cover explained 59% of variation in this response variable; the strongest predictor variables in this model set were irrigcropppn2000 (the proportion of irrigated cropping within 2000 m), north, and grazppn5000 (the proportion of grazing land use within 5000 m) (p = 0.94, 0.86 and 0.80, respectively). Lippia cover was positively correlated with irrigcropppn2000 and grazppn5000, and negatively correlated with north in these models.

Table 5.10Individual models for dominant species measures using Bayesian model averaging (BMA). Key model terms (p > 50%) in the confidence setsfor each response variable are presented; numbers in parentheses are the posterior effect probability within the confidence set, and bold type indicates anegative coefficient in the BMA model. The number of models in the confidence set (n_{models}), and maximum r^2 and posterior model probability (summed PMP)of the top 5 quasi-best models, are listed. Model terms are explained in Appendix D.

Response variable	p > 0.95	$p > 0.75 \le 0.95$	$p > 0.50 \le 0.75$	n _{models}	Max r ² (best 5)	$\sum PMP$ (best 5)
Combination models						
Average foliage index (AFI)*	GWdepth5000 (1.00)	grazppn500 (0.89)	GW5000 (0.53)	68	0.47	0.25
Dieback severity (WWI)*	GWdepth5000 (1.00), grazppn500 (0.99)	GW5000 (0.80)	cropnatratioUQ500 (0.53)	63	0.63	0.24
Structural integrity (meanPTR)*	bareground (1.00), GWdepth5000 (1.00), north (1.00), distdownweir (0.98)	irrigcropppnUQ2000 (0.89), GW5000 (0.88), treedens (0.83)	ringtankareaUQ2000 (0.53)	56	0.84	0.31
Mature tree density (treedens)**	-	-	-	46	0.20	0.31
Mean mature tree diameter (mean D_{130})	lippiacover (1.00), cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.98)	treedens (0.94), drainage500 (0.85)	-	58	0.74	0.27
Dead tree density (deadens)*	grazppn500 (1.00), lippiacover (0.99), irrigcropppn5000 (0.97)	GWtrend5000 (0.86)	GWdepth5000 (0.74)	35	0.79	0.36
Eucalypt seedling density (eucregen)	-	-	-	66	-	0.23
Acacia stenophylla seedling density (acregen)	distriv (1.00), drainage500 (1.00), irrgcropppnUQ2000 (1.00), north (1.00), REremppn2000 (1.00), WWI (0.98)	REremppnUQ2000 (0.92), irrigcropppn5000 (0.88), treedens (0.87)	grazppn500 (0.66), GWdepth5000 (0.59)	65	0.91	0.23
Mean lippia cover (lippiacover)***	north (0.99)	-	irrigcropppnUQ2000 (0.74), ringtankareaUQ2000 (0.53)	75	0.50	0.19
Alternative models						
treedens _{Loc}		GWdepth5000 (0.84), ringtankareaUQ2000 (0.75)	GWtrend5000 (0.65), cropnatratioUQ2000 (0.63), irrigcroppn5000 (0.55)	54	0.60	0.33
lippiacover _{Hyd}	elevation (1.00)	-	-	21	0.44	0.51
lippiacover _{Spat}	-	irrigcropppn2000 (0.94), north (0.86), grazppn5000 (0.80)	irrigcropppn5000 (0.57)	38	0.59	0.40

* Modelling conducted on the model set excluding WWI as response and predictor terms are not independent (Chapter 4); ** Modelling conducted on the model set excluding lippiacov as a predictor term.

5.4 Discussion

Multiple environmental drivers of change operate to influence floristic composition, tree condition, and abundance of dominant species in riparian woodland remnants on the highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain, reflecting the complexity of change that has occurred in conjunction with land and water resource development in this landscape. These drivers include both hydrological and spatial (land use and land cover) variables, operating across spatial scales, from a within-remnant patch scale to a meta-patch (multiple remnant, local landscape) scale. This study also indicates that, while hydrological drivers are important predictors of a number of community responses, they act in conjunction with a range of novel disturbances associated with land use type and intensity on Upper Condamine floodplain.

Few response variables in this study were best explained by models based only on hydrological variables; these were floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial richness transitions and lippia cover. Other responses were at least as well or better explained by models based on combinations of hydrological and land use/land cover (spatial) variables, and included environmental influences at a range of local landscape scales. A number of strong predictor variables in these response models integrated both hydrological connectivity and land use/land cover (e.g. land use proportions in the upslope quadrant). A small number of published studies suggest the likelihood that both hydrology and surrounding land use are likely to influence riparian woodland community composition and function (e.g. Gergel *et al.* 2002b, Andersen *et al.* 2007); however, few have specifically tested this (e.g. Aguiar and Ferreira 2005). These papers predict or report significant interaction between hydrology, land use and land cover, as generally indicated in this study.

This study also indicates the significant role played by species interactions, particularly those with dominant functional species. Lippia cover and canopy species tree health (i.e. dieback severity), while responsive to abiotic gradients, were also significant predictors in models for floristic composition and community structure in this study.

5.4.1 Floristic composition (frequency) and functional group transitions

A combination of hydrological and spatial environmental variables explained 45% of variation in overall floristic composition (frequency) in the survey dataset, with the most informative variable being groundwater depth (GWdepth5000). While essentially a hydrological variable and dependent on hydrological connectivity between in stream flow and the shallow alluvial aquifer, groundwater depth in this landscape is also, in many respects, a measure of land use intensity given the chronic groundwater decline experienced since the development of irrigated agriculture on the Upper Condamine floodplain (Chapter 2). This is also the case for the mean decadal groundwater trend (GWtrend5000) and the density of groundwater bores (GW5000) within 5000 m of survey sites, which were also important predictors of overall floristic composition; other key predictors were the non-hydrological variables, lippia cover (lippiacover) and the riparian woodland remnant proportion in and adjacent to surveyed remnants (REremppn2000). By comparison, the model based on hydrological variables only, explained considerably less (36%) of this variation. It is evident that a combination of key hydrological and spatial (land use/cover) variables, as well as the presence of a dominant invasive alien species, was strongly associated with observed floristic composition at the time of sampling in this landscape. The interpretation of multiple environmental drivers of community diversity in this landscape is further supported by significant changes along functional group species richness and abundance transition gradients in response to a number of abiotic and biotic environmental factors.

The transition models used in this study confirm, to some extent, previous findings that different functional response groups are associated with different environmental gradients. For example, alien:native and short-lived:perennial richness gradients were associated with general levels of disturbance, including grazing (McIntyre and Lavorel 2001) and associated degradation (Holm *et al.* 2003). However, most response gradients (i.e. transitions) in species richness and abundance in this study were associated with combinations of, rather than single, environmental variables, supporting the contention that there are complex interacting drivers of ecosystem condition in highly modified floodplain landscapes (Schroder 2006). The exceptions to this were changes in the relative richness of wetland and floodplain species groups compared to habitat-generalist (terrestrial) species groups, which, as in other studies

(e.g. Turner *et al.* 2004, Lite *et al.* 2005), were best explained by landscape hydrology; in this study, this included including groundwater depth, flow-related propagule dispersal (REremppnUQ500) and proximity to the nearest downstream weir. On the other hand, the abundance ratios for these functional transitions were more strongly associated with tree health (i.e. dieback severity), supporting a proposition that, while deep-rooted trees operate effectively as intermediaries between groundwater and shallow-rooted herbaceous vegetation (Ludwig *et al.* 2004a, Elmore *et al.* 2003, 2006a), this function may be compromised by declining groundwater depths (Elmore *et al.* 2003, 2006a) and reduced hydraulic function of trees.

5.4.2 Dominant species responses

Dominant tree condition responses

Measures of tree condition were all best explained by combinations of hydrological and spatial (land use, land cover) variables. Canopy health and dieback severity were both strongly predicted by factors associated with patch-scale land use (e.g. grazing within 500 m of sites) and land use intensity at the larger meta-patch scale (e.g. groundwater depth and the density of groundwater bores within 5000 m of sites); both were most strongly predicted by the mean 2004–05 groundwater depth, which ranged from 9.1 to 19.6 m across the 27 sites in this study. Poorer tree condition (i.e. lower AFI and higher WWI) was predicted by deeper groundwater levels and greater numbers of groundwater bores at the meta-patch scale.

Groundwater decline is a pervasive feature of the developed Upper Condamine floodplain, particularly in shallow alluvial aquifers associated with the main Condamine river channel and its tributaries (Chapter 2), and, as in other similar situations (e.g. Stromberg *et al.* 1996, Elmore *et al.* 2003), is potentially an important driver of ecosystem condition in these water-dependent woodlands. Previous studies indicate that there is likely to be an accessible groundwater depth threshold around 15 m for *Eucalyptus camaldulensis*, a facultative phreatophyte dependent on access to shallow groundwater during periods of surface soil moisture deficit (Mensforth *et al.* 1994, Thorburn and Walker 1994). Mensforth *et al.* (1994) report maximum root extension (though lateral) for *E. camaldulensis* of 15 m, and Horner *et al.* (2009) report increased mortality in a densely planted self-thinning *E. camaldulensis*
plantation with groundwater decline from 12 to 15 m during recent prolonged drought. The range of groundwater depths associated with survey sites in this study (9.1 to 19.6 m) straddles this potential threshold; groundwater decline which decouples tree roots from accessible moisture resources may contribute to significant decline in the health of trees, particularly during extended drought conditions when surface soil moisture levels are depleted, as indicated by increasing dieback severity with greater depth to groundwater in this study. The strong association between tree health and patch-scale grazing in this landscape, where there is limited pasture improvement or fertilization (as discussed in Chapter 4), is potentially associated with a detrimental impact of livestock on soil condition (degradation of surface soil structure, localised redistribution of soil nutrients) resulting in poor surface root function, reduced soil water infiltration rates and changes in microclimatic conditions at the soil surface, as reported in other studies (Yates *et al.* 2000, Bartley *et al.* 2006, Davidson *et al.* 2007). If the case, such impact would further contribute to effective drought conditions experienced by trees.

Changes in the structural integrity (woody architecture) of trees (meanPTR), while connected with a broader set of environmental variables, are also strongly associated with soil moisture and other accessible water resources. Tyree and Sperry (1988) interpret 'branch sacrifice' as a drought adaptation, hence loss of tree branches may in part be a natural occurrence in dominant riparian trees in semi-arid regions; however, loss of major branches is also indicative of significant physiological impact (embolism, xylem cavitation) in response to severe water deficit, and has been associated with declining groundwater levels in riparian woodlands of arid-zone river systems in North America (Tyree and Sperry 1988, Horton *et al.* 2001a,b, Rood *et al.* 2000).

The importance of groundwater depth to mature tree health has been reported in *Banksia/Eucalyptus* woodlands at Cooljarloo, south-western Western Australia, subject to seasonal drought in combination with mining resulting in periodic groundwater drawdown below rooting depth (Froend and Loomes 2007). Other studies have associated eucalypt dieback predominantly with increased land use intensity (e.g. Wylie *et al.* 1992), including pasture 'improvement' (introduced pasture species, high levels of artificial fertilisation; Davidson *et al.* 2007) and high levels of agricultural chemicals, particularly herbicides, in cropping areas (e.g. Banks

2006). Riparian eucalypts along the River Murray, including *E. camaldulensis*, exhibit significant dieback in response to rising groundwater levels and soil salinisation, which is exacerbated by lack of flooding due to river regulation (e.g. Wylie *et al.* 1993, Jolly *et al.* 1993, 1996, 2008, Overton *et al.* 2006). Recovery in tree condition has been observed with reduced salinity levels where environmental flows are managed to create overbank flooding and flush salts from surface soils (Holland *et al.* 2009, Overton *et al.* 2010). There has been no published research into altered tree condition in riparian eucalypts, including *E. camaldulensis*, in areas where groundwater levels have declined to the extent reported in this study. In contrast, dieback in phreatic riparian species (e.g. *Salix* and *Populus* spp.) in semi-arid and arid regions in North America is reported to be strongly linked to declining groundwater levels (e.g. Horton *et al.* 2001b, Naumberg *et al.* 2005). These species show evidence of hydraulic stress and dieback symptoms with a decline in groundwater to depths greater than 2.5 to 3 m during periods of critical soil water deficit (Horton *et al.* 2001b).

Froend and Loomes (2007) suggest that, in addition to groundwater depth, the magnitude and rate of water table decline are important factors impacting on the condition of phreatic vegetation. The rate of groundwater decline was not a major component of models for tree health in this study, with the exception of the density of dead trees, indicating that it may be important in some locations. There is an extended legacy of groundwater drawdown in this landscape and the magnitude of groundwater decline has continued to increase over the record period (Chapter 2). Maximum rates of groundwater decline associated with survey sites in this study were 1.8 m per decade (0.2 m.yr⁻¹), which is low compared with Froend and Loomes' (2007) prediction that rates exceeding 0.75 m.yr⁻¹ result in increased risk of impact on associated vegetation.

Recruitment responses of canopy species

Eucalypt recruitment (eucregen) was not associated with any of the environmental factors tested in this study. However, previous studies have indicated the influence of past land use, livestock grazing, distance to mature trees and cover of exotic annual vegetation for eucalypt regeneration in grassy woodland ecosystems (Dorrough and Moxham 2005). Regeneration in *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* is significantly associated

with flooding or rainfall events following canopy seed release, which peaks over summer in the southern Murray-Darling Basin (Jensen et al. 2008a). Seed release volumes are reported to be sensitive to tree condition, with water-stressed trees on the Chowilla floodplain, lower Murray River, releasing up to nine times less seed than healthy trees at the same location $(5-915 \text{ seeds m}^{-2} \text{ and } 605-52,685\text{m}^{-2}, \text{ respectively})$ during summer 2004-05. Limited seed release in drought periods or from trees in poor condition (Jensen et al. 2008a) may be exacerbated by interactions with grazing intensity which facilitate higher rates of seed predation by foraging ants in this species (Meeson et al. 2002), although Jensen et al. (2008a) suggests that seedling establishment is unlikely to be limited by seed availability or viability. Germination in E. camaldulensis requires water either from local rainfall or flooding, and, while seeds germinate readily along high-water strandlines, survival can be limited where soil moisture levels decline rapidly (Jensen et al. 2008a). Highly clumped seedling and sapling patterns on the Murray River floodplain at Banrock Station, South Australia, indicate episodic recruitment and opportunistic survival in this species in response to the high temporal and spatial variability of suitable conditions (George et al. 2005). These findings suggest that limited evidence of recruitment in the current study is likely to be predominantly related to the prolonged drought experienced in the years prior to sampling.

Conversely, recruitment of *Acacia stenophylla* (river cooba) is not apparently constrained to the same extent by lack of flooding or drought conditions. The greater incidence of *Acacia* seedlings (and also greater overall *A. stenophylla* frequency) close to the river channel and where there was a higher density of drainage channels emphasises this species' apparent reliance on riverine processes which, though not defined, has been reported previously (Kingsford 2000, Doody *et al.* 2009). Recruitment of *Acacia stenophylla* in this study was higher where dieback severity in eucalypt species was greatest and mature tree density was least, suggesting a possible response to competitive release (Mueller *et al.* 2005, Fensham and Fairfax 2003, 2007) in this sub-dominant species.

Dominant weed responses

Lippia abundance was not well-predicted, except by surrogate measures for long-term average precipitation (elevation, latitude), and a lesser association with grazing and irrigated cropping land uses at relatively broad-scales (within 5 km, and within 2 km, respectively); lippia's preference for more mesic sites is concordant with its occurrence on clay soils with high moisture-holding capacity in riparian or other locations such as roadside table drains with poor drainage (Earl 2003). While tree size was not included in this study as a predictor term in models, as a response variable it was well-predicted by lippia cover; the converse of this relationship is more probable (i.e. that tree size is a strong predictor of lippia cover). Lippia's relationship with trees in this landscape is investigated more thoroughly in Chapter 6.

5.4.3 Drivers of riparian woodland ecosystem condition

Disturbance

Disturbance gradients within remnants in this landscape are most likely to be associated with flooding, drought or grazing, as described in Chapter 2. There was limited support for flood disturbance as a major driver in this study, which was conducted eight years after the last major flood event and after a series of very dry years. This may not be the case under conditions of normal or above normal rainfall, when there would be a greater expectation of responses such as eucalypt recruitment and potentially higher richness and abundance of a range of drought-sensitive species which may persist in the germinable soil seedbank (Capon and Brock 2006, Capon 2007). Conversely, drought is a more difficult disturbance to define in terms of ecological response, with the possible exception of altered condition responses in long-lived species (e.g. Tyree and Sperry 1988, Horton et al. 2001a,b, Rood et al. 2000). Poor tree condition was apparent in this study, but showed significant variation across the study area, indicating that some parts of the landscape were better buffered against drought than others. The strong relationship between tree condition and groundwater depth indicates that accessible shallow groundwater is a critical resource for this phreatic species complex, particularly under drought conditions when there is a significant soil moisture deficit. In contrast, loss of species from the extant vegetation may not be indicative of reduced redundancy, except in species which do not form a persistent germinable soil seedbank (Holzel and Otte 2004, Capon 2007) or where the duration of drought exceeds historical norms, when less well adapted species may be selectively filtered from the system (Ooi et al. 2009).

Disturbance associated with patch-scale grazing was a strong driver of both tree condition and floristics (alien:native and shortlived:perennial richness transitions, and C4:C3 abundance transitions). Floristic response to grazing in these groups indicate interactions between selective grazing and drought impacts on population processes in short-lived ephemeral species, including alien species, and more mesic C3 species (McIntyre et al. 1999b, Fynn and O'Connor 2000). However, different responses in these measures may be evident with normal or above-normal soil moisture conditions, where other studies have reported increased diversity of alien, short-lived and C3 species with medium levels of grazing intensity (e.g. McIntyre et al. 2003, McIvor et al. 2005). In this study, poor tree condition was predicted by patch-scale grazing (as above) and a greater density of dead trees, confirming the link suggested by Wylie et al. (1992) and Davidson et al. (2007). However, this is counter to the finding of Fensham (1998b) who found no effect of grazing on the drought mortality of trees in savanna communities in Central Queensland, indicating that the link may be influenced by landscape or environmental context. Higher density of Acacia stenophylla seedlings is an unexpected result in grazed remnants, given the findings in Chapter 4, but may be a short-term effect of de-stocking of these remnants due to drought (pers.obs.). Lack of significant response in the forb:tussock grass and clonal:tussock grass functional richness and abundance transitions, previously reported to be sensitive to grazing disturbance (e.g. Ash and McIvor 1998; Clarke and Davison 2004; McIvor et al. 2005, Fahrig et al. 1994, Rosenthal and Lederbogen 2008), may also be indicative of drought impact.

Land use type and intensity

Surrounding land use/land cover type (e.g. proportion of irrigated cropping and the ratio of cropland to natural vegetation) were strong predictors of tree condition, lippia cover and individual floristic responses. Collard (2007) also reported significant influence on plant species richness and cover associated with agricultural land use pattern surrounding brigalow *Acacia harpophylla* remnants in southern Queensland. In the current study, strong responses to the level of irrigated cropping in the broader landscape were apparent (e.g. higher short-lived:perennial richness and abundance, higher density of *Acacia stenophylla* seedlings); however, both floristic composition and tree condition responded most strongly to the proportion of irrigated and total cropping within 2 km upslope of sites. Upslope land cover and land use may

influence the availability of plant propagules for dispersal by rainfall runoff (overland flow). There is likely to be greater richness of disturbance-adapted ephemeral species, as well as higher propagule pressure from these, associated with higher levels of cropping upslope (Cox and Allen 2008). In addition, the influx of materials which promote disturbance-adapted species, including sediments, nutrients and contaminants, is also likely from farming land (e.g. Jones et al. 2001). However, this potentially interacts with the presence of overland flow diversions, such as off-stream floodplain water storages and channels associated with irrigated cropping. These have significantly reduced contributions to in-stream flows on the Upper Condamine (Porter 2002), and are strong predictors of richness gradients in short-lived:perennial species and clonal:tussock grass species in this study (below).

Land use intensity in this landscape is largely reflected in high levels of groundwater usage for irrigation purposes, as described in Chapter 2. Numbers of registered groundwater bores within 5 km of sites (GW5000) ranged from 17 to 78, confirming significant pressure on groundwater resources in this landscape (CSIRO 2008). GW5000, as a surrogate for land use intensity, was a strong predictor of poorer tree health (lower average foliage index and higher levels of dieback severity) and of higher relative C4:C3 abundance. Indicators of groundwater demand driven by land use intensity (groundwater depth (GWdepth5000) and groundwater trend (GWtrend5000)), were strong predictors of lower density of mature trees and increased density of dead trees, as well as changes along functional richness and abundance gradients. All three (GW5000, GWtrend5000 and GWdepth5000) were key predictors of overall floristic composition, with mean groundwater depth in 2004-05 explaining 31% of variation in the floristic composition.

Variation in groundwater level is reported to be an important predictor of floristic composition in riparian ecosystems in riparian systems elsewhere. Groundwater levels adjacent to river channels are frequently shallower and more accessible to vegetation than at greater distances from rivers (Wassen *et al.* 2003, Jolly *et al.* 2008), and many riparian species are phreatophytes, either totally dependent or occasionally so on access to groundwater resources. Access to groundwater may be critical for the persistence of these species (Cooper *et al.* 2003b), particularly in seasonally or stochastically variable climates where soil moisture levels may be periodically limiting. Consequently, reduced groundwater access may have significant impacts on

community composition in such environments (e.g. Stromberg et al. 1996, Elmore et al. 2003, 2006a). For example, on the San Pedro River floodplain, an arid zone river in Arizona (USA), groundwater decline due to periodic drought and over-extraction (pumping) from the alluvial aquifer contributed to reduced richness, cover and diversity and altered composition of riparian vegetation (Lite et al. 2005, Stromberg et al. 1996, 2006). In these studies, the depth, magnitude and rate of groundwater decline are reported to be important parameters; however, in contrast to the current study where groundwater depths ranged from 9 to 19 m, groundwater levels in these studies were relatively shallow (<0.2 m to 7 m), with significant change in species diversity and cover abundance reported with groundwater decline to depths in excess of 0.2 m (Lite et al. 2005, Stromberg et al. 1996). Significant floristic response to groundwater depth below the average rooting depth of herbaceous groundcover species in riparian woodland remnants on the Upper Condamine, indicates an indirect response potentially mediated through hydraulic redistribution of deeper soil moisture by perennial woody species, as has been reported by Elmore et al. (2003, 2006a) and Ludwig et al. (2004b). It is suggested that a critical threshold in this system is likely to occur where groundwater depths exceed around 15 m, which previous studies (Mensforth et al. 1994, Horner et al. 2009) indicate may be the maximum effective rooting depth for *E. camaldulensis*.

Longitudinal and lateral hydrological connectivity

Greater remnant extent in areas upslope of sites was an important predictor of some functional group transitions (i.e. higher C4:C3 richness, but lower clonal:tussock grass, floodplain:terrestrial and wetland:terrestrial richness ratios), potentially indicating greater dispersal of C4, tussock grass, and generalist species from upstream remnants or limitations on the dispersal of C3, clonal, floodplain and wetland species from these remnants. The availability of species propagules upstream may play a critical role in determining the species recruitment patterns and floristic diversity in riparian communities (Xiong *et al.* 2003, Jansson *et al.* 2005, Vosse 2007). This may be especially the case for mesic C3, clonal, floodplain and wetland species which are all likely to be transported predominantly by floodwaters (e.g. Leyer 2006, Stromberg *et al.* 2008). Conversely, species which are not specifically adapted for flood dispersal (e.g. terrestrial species) are likely to be widely dispersed across the landscape by a range of vectors (Drezner *et al.* 2001), or to exhibit no directional

pattern where adapted for dispersal by animal vectors whose movements are restricted to riparian habitats (Leyer 2006).

Mesic C3, clonal, floodplain and wetland species are unlikely to have been welldispersed between riparian communities in the 8-9 years since the last flood event in this landscape in 1996, and functional transitions in these groups may be indicative of a broad shift in the functional diversity of extant vegetation in the absence of major flooding to restore longitudinal and lateral connectivity. However, significant association between the relative richness of these functional groups and the extent of remnant vegetation upslope is indicative of more localized response. Dispersal of species propagules between local plant communities in fragmented landscapes is identified as a critical factor underpinning the function of remnant patches as a metacommunity (Ozinga *et al.* 2004); hence, functional transitions to more generalist species where upslope remnant extent is limited may be indicative of metapopulation failure in more specialized species and ecosystem decline at a larger scale (Wimberly 2006).

An alternative explanation may lie in the greater level of flow diversion due to the presence of water storages, and associated levees and irrigation channels, in cropped areas in the study landscape. Previous studies have shown significant impact on floodplain tree mortality (eg Steinfeld and Kingsford 2008), soil microbial activity (Kang and Stanley 2005) and seedling number and species richness (Leyer 2006) with changes in the lateral extent of overbank flooding due to floodplain infrastructure such as levees, channels and dykes. While not specifically tested in this study, significant localized impacts on riparian community structure and function may also occur where upslope infrastructure impedes overland flood flows and propagule dispersal within the riparian corridor.

Dominant tree condition

Poor tree condition (i.e. dieback severity) was a key predictor of a number of community response variables, including higher relative floodplain:terrestrial richness and abundance, higher relative wetland:terrestrial abundance and lower relative short-lived:perennial abundance, and higher levels of *A. stenophylla* recruitment. The relationship between declining canopy tree condition and floristic composition, particularly the strongly linked transition to a greater abundance of short-lived species

relative to perennial species, suggests a similar situation to that reported by Elmore *et* al. (2003, 2006a). In that study, groundwater extraction and declining shallow groundwater levels were associated with decline in perennial herbaceous species, and an increase in short-lived ephemeral species which were significantly more responsive to rainfall (Elmore et al. 2003, 2006a); the rate at which this occurred was reduced where deeper-rooted woody vegetation played a facilitative role, accessing shallow groundwater resources and maintaining levels of soil moisture availability through the process of hydraulic lift, thereby buffering the community during drought. In this study, evidence of a similar response to loss of function in dominant deep-rooted woody species supports the role of Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis as mediators of soil moisture and floristic response to decline in groundwater at depths well below the average rooting depth of herbaceous groundcover species. The buffering role of these trees is further supported by the relative decline (selective filtering) of 'terrestrial' species which are less well adapted to the hydrological extremes of semi-arid floodplains than species which typically occur on floodplains ('floodplain' species, as defined in this study) or in floodplain wetlands ('wetland' species). These adapted species, which also occur in floodplain grassland and wetland communities independent of the presence of trees, are more likely to be tolerant/resistant to stochastic variations in water availability typical of this landscape. Groundwater decline and poor condition in dominant phreatic species may therefore represent a significant shift in the factors controlling floristic response in these communities, with reduced buffering in periods of drought, greater responsiveness to stochastic rainfall events, and increasing risk of significant change over time.

Lippia abundance

The alien species *P. canescens* (lippia) is a dominant component of floodplain ecosystems of the northern Murray-Darling Basin (Earl 2003, Chapter 2); however, its relationship with floristic composition in native ecosystems has not previously been investigated or reported. In this study, lippia abundance was a key predictor of patterns in overall species composition, explaining up to 17% of variation in the multivariate dataset. Lippia cover was also a strong predictor of functional group transitions, including C4:C3 richness and abundance, short-lived:perennial richness and clonal:tussock grass richness. Dominance by invasive alien species in native

vegetation communities is often associated with reduced species diversity (e.g. Clarke *et al.* 2005, Stinson *et al.* 2007, Gooden *et al.* 2009a,b, Hejda *et al.* 2009) driven by direct competition for resources (e.g. Clarke *et al.* 2005, Cordell and Sandquist 2008) or, less frequently, recruitment limitation mechanisms such as allelopathy (Callaway and Ridenour 2004). Hejda *et al.* (2009) assessed the impact of 13 invasive species in the Czech Republic, and found reduced species richness, diversity and evenness in almost all cases and, in some instances, by up to 90%. In Australia, research into vegetation community responses to invasive weed species have found significant changes in floristic composition, species richness and abundance in response to invasion by species such as *Cytisus scoparius* (Wearne and Morgan 2004) and *Lantana camara* (Gooden *et al.* 2009a,b).

In this study, lippia was also a key predictor of larger tree size (mean D_{130}) and reduced density of dead trees; however, these may represent correlations rather than direct cause and effect. Close association between tree size and lippia may be indicative of a facilitative effect on lippia cover by mature trees. Larger trees in this landscape may have greater access to soil moisture, groundwater and nutrients with roots occupying greater soil volumes and extending to greater depths (Meinzer *et al.* 1999). In addition, larger trees are likely to have larger canopies, and potentially act to ameliorate abiotic conditions (e.g. light, temperature, soil moisture, evaporation) beneath their canopies to a greater degree (e.g. Belsky *et al.* 1989, Belsky *et al.* 1993b). These localised effects may facilitate increased cover of lippia, a mesic C3 species (Xu and van Klinken 2008). This is supported by evidence of a negative relationship between lippia cover and dead tree density where these conditions would not be modified to the same extent. The relationship between trees and lippia cover is explored in more detail in Chapter 6.

Functional group transition ratios

Responses in functional group richness and abundance transition ratios were associated with gradients in key environmental disturbance variables, indicating the potential of this approach in facilitating investigations into the dynamics and emergent properties of ecosystems, including redundancy and, potentially, resilience. It enables a space for time approach (e.g. Stromberg *et al.* 1996) which may enable predictions of future ecosystem response to processes already in train, but associated

with long lag-times in long-lived dominant species such as canopy dominants, or response to future change associated with predicted shifts in critical climatic conditions. These measures are a novel approach to measuring ecosystem response, based on evidence in the scientific literature of general responses within functional trait groupings to environmental gradients (e.g. Diaz *et al.* 2004). They take contrasting pairs of functional response groups based on species origin (alien, native) and traits, such as life cycle, life form and habitat affinity, to derive ratios of either the richness or cumulative abundance of contrasting functional group pairs (i.e. functional transition ratios), potentially providing a dynamic measure of ecosystem change along (in response to) specific environmental gradients. This study provides evidence of strong association between environmental gradients and a range of functional transition ratios, indicating the potential of this approach to identify change in ecological function or response capacity.

Response to specific environmental gradients is inherent in the organisation of species into functional trait (response, effect) groups (e.g. Pettit et al. 1995, McIntyre et al. 2003, Rodriguez et al. 2003, Bagstad et al. 2005, del Pozo et al. 2006). Evidence of largely consistent (generalised) patterns in functional group responses to disturbance across a range of ecosystem types (e.g. Diaz et al. 2007, Garnier et al. 2007) provide a sound basis for further development of this approach. Trait group proportions (of total richness) have been used in similar studies (e.g. McIntyre et al. 1995, McIntyre and Lavorel 2001). However, this approach can result in some measures becoming effectively redundant with reciprocals exhibiting inverse environmental relationships, as was noted by McIntyre and Lavorel (2001). This study extends this concept to enable investigation of dynamic responses along functional group transition gradients (i.e. changes in the ratio of richness or total abundance of contrasting functional groups; e.g. C4:C3 species), where endpoints represent maximum (ratio approaches ∞) and minimum (ratio approaches 0) response diversity (effectively, relative redundancy) within a response set (and vice versa for its antithesis).

Ratios of contrasting groups, as adopted in this study, integrate dynamic responses in transition group variables (i.e. across a transition spectrum) and may better enable fine scale composition patterns and trends to be investigated in terms of relevant ecological processes. Functional group transition ratios incorporate a fundamental

concept of ecosystem resilience (i.e. redundancy) and enable exploration of dynamic functional responses to disturbance and resource availability gradients. Such investigation of community responses to a range of environmental states is effectively a space for time study (e.g. Stromberg *et al.* 1996) which allows predictive insight into the composition and function of current and potential community states in this landscape.

5.4.4 Significance and limitations

Vegetation community studies frequently explore the influence of within-remnant environmental gradients, such as nutrient levels (e.g. Thomson and Leishman 2005) and disturbances associated with fire and grazing (e.g. Wardell-Johnson et al. 2004), and have used various modelling approaches to identify key drivers of floristic composition (e.g. Le Brocque and Buckney 1995). However, few (if any) take a broad multivariate approach which incorporates both within-remnant and broader landscape environmental gradients to elucidate ecological change in ecosystems in response to landscape modification (although see Collard et al. 2011). This approach may be particularly suited to examining drivers of composition and function in small remnants within a highly contrasting matrix landscape. Riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain are highly fragmented, relictual ecosystem remnants (sensu McIntyre and Hobbs 1999), subject to significant within-remnant disturbance and surrounded by significant landscape change. The small relative size of these remnants in relation to the surrounding non-remnant agricultural matrix potentially sets them apart from the majority of native ecosystems studied in less highly modified landscapes, and makes consideration of surrounding landscape impacts essential.

The exploratory approach adopted in this study involved choices about which environmental variables were most appropriately included in the model test sets. Selection of potential test variables was based on *a priori* knowledge or established understanding; however, the need to reduce the number of variables to a parsimonious test set, eliminating all but one of any highly correlated variables meant that many variables were 'discarded'. Choice of variables to retain in test sets in this study was a subjective process, and resulted in large numbers of discarded variables from each of the initial model test sets. Hence, while the results presented are valid, they are not exclusive as additional important relationships may exist with highly correlated variables which were omitted from analysis (e.g. Kuhner and Kleyer 2008, Kath *et al.* 2009).

Groundwater depth appears to play a key role in driving/buffering community responses especially under drought conditions in these communities. In this study, it was the most important driver of overall floristic composition, played a key role in maintaining tree health, and was a key predictor of community structure influencing a range of functional group transitions. The close link between mean groundwater depth, which was in excess of 9 metres, and responses in herbaceous species is likely to be mediated by *E. camaldulensis*, a deep-rooted phreatic tree species capable of hydraulic redistribution (Burgess *et al.* 1998). Groundwater decline beyond the effective rooting-depth of trees may result in the disconnection of canopy trees from this critical water source, resulting not only in greater incidence of dieback (as above), but also secondary impacts on groundcover vegetation reliant on redistributed groundwater particularly during drought. However, additional research is required to identify tree water sources in the Upper Condamine floodplain landscape.

In Australia, altered groundwater levels have been previously reported to impact species richness and diversity only in situations of groundwater rise with associated mobilisation of subsoil salts (e.g. Lymbery et al. 2003). Concern regarding the adverse impacts of water resource development on ecosystem health has been associated with reduction in high and medium-level surface water (in-stream) flows, while groundwater research and management has focused on salinisation issues associated with rising water tables due to landscape-level hydrological change. Groundwater decline is generally viewed as a resource management issue impacting water-dependent production systems such as irrigated agriculture. However, detailed understanding of groundwater flows is limited; the links between declining groundwater levels and reduced low level in-stream flows and the associated limitation of surface-groundwater exchange have only recently been explicitly reviewed, and the role of groundwater in supporting water-dependent species and ecosystems appears to be even less well understood. In this study, 'GWdepth5000' was a relatively coarse measure (due to a limited number of monitoring bores in the study area) derived by averaging reported 2004-05 groundwater depths across all monitoring bores within 5000 m of survey sites; however, the strength of the relationship between groundwater depth and community response in this study was

apparent despite limitations imposed by the poor resolution of groundwater level data. Further research is required to establish depths and conditions under which trees cease to access groundwater and become reliant on surface and subsoil moisture, hence increasingly vulnerable to rainfall variability and physiological failure.

Dominant invasive weed species are often reported to exert significant and detrimental influence on ecosystem composition and function (e.g. Reinhart *et al.* 2006a, Callaway and Ridenour 2004). There has been substantial recent research into the autecology of lippia and its impact in floodplain livestock production systems; however, there has previously been no investigation of the species' impacts within invaded native ecosystems in Australia. This study found lippia cover to be a key driver of floristic composition, explaining up to 17% of variation in the multivariate dataset, and, in combination with other variables, a strong predictor of a number of functional group richness and abundance transitions (C4:C3, short-lived:perennial, clonal:tussock grass). Lippia was also found to have a significant relationship with mature canopy trees in these woodlands, although this was not able to be clearly interpreted in this study. This is explored in more detail in Chapter 6.

Important drivers (i.e. correlates) of ecological responses in tree condition, lippia cover and diversity within floristic functional groups in this study included groundwater depth (and to a lesser extent, the rate of groundwater decline), floodplain development intensity (e.g. the extent of irrigated cropping land uses or the number of registered groundwater bores surrounding survey sites), the proportion of land grazed and the area of mapped remnant vegetation surrounding survey sites. Key relationships identified in this study are summarised in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3 Conceptual flow diagram of key environmental factors associated with responses in ecosystem response variables (tree condition as indicated by site Weighted Wylie Index or WWI, lippia cover and floristic composition) in riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain. 'development intensity' encompasses GW5000 and irrigcroppn2000; 'native vegetation area' encompasses REremppn2000 and grazppn5000 (From Tables 5.6 and 5.10). Vegetation components are shown as shaded. Dotted lines indicate probable relationships not identified in this study; the relationship between lippia and trees is further explored in Chapter 6.

5.5 Conclusions

This study has identified significant association between ecosystem response (composition and condition) variables and a range of environmental variables in remnant floodplain riparian woodlands on the highly modified Upper Condamine Floodplain. Community composition, functional species group richness and abundance and dominant species attributes were generally best-explained by models based on combinations of hydrological and spatial (land use, land cover) variables

across a range of local landscape scales, rather than hydrological variables alone, although these were frequently strong predictors within these mixed models.

There was evidence of significant association between ecosystem response (composition and condition) and a number of key environmental variables in these riparian woodland remnants which reflect gradients in levels of resource availability and disturbance, and in the condition and abundance of functionally important dominant canopy (Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis) and weed species (Phyla canescens). In particular, the impact of groundwater depth and, to some extent, the rate of groundwater decline, was a key predictor in a large number of the ecosystem response models generated, including mature tree health in the dominant canopy species complex Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis. This study also identified a link between declining dominant tree condition, groundwater decline and changing patterns in functional diversity. Functional decline due to dieback processes in canopy trees may represent a critical change in these ecosystems with significant implications for the persistence of these dominant species on this section of the floodplain. However, indication that these also mediate response in other species suggests that dysfunction in these ecosystems may be cumulative and potentially self-reinforcing; this is explored further through state and transition modelling in Chapter 7.

This study also indicates the potential for a threshold response, in terms of function in *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*, to groundwater depth; other studies suggest that this might occur at around 12 - 15 m for *E. camaldulensis* (Mensforth *et al.* 1994, Horner *et al.* 2009). The significance of such a threshold, in terms of its impact on ecosystem resilience in these communities and the potential for accelerated (cascading) responses in other elements, raises deep concern about the future of these woodlands given the significant pressure on groundwater resources in this landscape (Chapter 2). Further research designed to identify the groundwater depth at which changes in tree condition occur in this landscape, and the environmental conditions under which these are likely to contribute to a threshold response in ecosystem function, is required.

Further complexity is indicated by strong association between *Phyla canescens* (lippia) cover and tree size, and a strong negative relationship between lippia cover and the density of dead trees. While this study was unable to identify strong

predictors for lippia cover, apart from surrogate measures which encompassed improved soil moisture conditions, lippia is evidently a strong driver of floristic composition and community structure in these woodlands. In addition, interactions between tree condition and lippia cover may contribute to accelerated change in this landscape; these are further explored in Chapter 6.

Chapter 6 Lippia-tree interactions in an Upper Condamine floodplain riparian woodland

6.1 Introduction

Invasive species represent a significant threat to native ecosystems, contributing to native species decline and altered community composition, structure and ecosystem function (Barney and Whitlow 2008, Whitcraft *et al.* 2008). There are also significant societal costs associated with the control and management of invasive species and their impacts (Pimental *et al.* 2000). However, the drivers of alien species' invasiveness and native ecosystem susceptibility to invasion are often poorly understood (Dietz and Edwards 2006, Strayer *et al.* 2006, Barney and Whitlow 2008). An important factor in invasion success may be interaction between novel species and the receiving environment (e.g. Cavieres *et al.* 2005, Baiser *et al.* 2008). Such interactions may enable invasive species to overcome establishment barriers, and to become naturalised and, in some cases, invasive (Richardson *et al.* 2000, Rudgers *et al.* 2004, 2005). They may also contribute to conditions within an environment which further facilitate the success of the invasive species (e.g. Reinhart *et al.* 2006a).

6.1.1 Species invasion in native ecosystems

The success of alien species in novel ecosystems is, in part, a function of the inherent characteristics (autecology) of the species (i.e. its capacity for invasiveness) (Barney and Whitlow 2008). Invasive plant species frequently exhibit a combination of traits which underpin their success as invaders. These include adaptations for efficient dispersal by wind, water or animal vectors, rapid establishment and growth to reproductive age, the ability to rapidly sequester under-utilised resources, and prolific reproduction (Stohlgren and Schnase 2006).

Time since introduction may also contribute to invader success (Barney and Whitlow 2008). Local increase and establishment of a persistent seedbank provides significant propagule pressure, a key factor in the spread of invasive species (Colautti *et al.* 2006). Some species also modify abiotic conditions in a way that enhances further invasion (MacDougall and Turkington 2005). Both mechanisms have been used to explain observed time lags between initial introduction and establishment in novel

environments, and subsequent rapid population growth in invasive species (Reinhart *et al.* 2006a,b, Wangen and Webster 2006).

A third key factor in the success of invasive species is the susceptibility to invasion of native plant communities (Barney and Whitlow 2008). Elton (1958) contended that, in theory, the success of new species would be limited in native environments with high species diversity and niche occupancy. This is evident in some cases (Funk et al. 2008) but, in others, invasion success is not significantly affected by species the richness or evenness (e.g. Mattingley et al. 2007), or functional diversity (e.g. Dukes 2001), of native environments. Invasion of native habitats is frequently associated with disturbance, which often results in increased availability of resources (Adair et al. 2008). Fluctuating levels of resources may be a critical factor influencing the susceptibility of native communities to invasion, particularly when increases coincide with the availability of invasive species propagules (Davis et al. 2000, Insauasti and Grimoldi 2006) and match the autecology of the invasive species (Price *et al.* 2010a). Invasive species which become dominant, and alter community structure, ecological processes or abiotic conditions, may contribute to altered resilience and increased risk of significant change in the dynamics and function of invaded ecosystems (Reinhart et al. 2006a, b, Rudgers and Orr 2009).

6.1.2 Interactions between native and invasive species

Facilitation is increasingly recognised as an important process which contributes to community diversity and structure, promotes species coexistence and drives community dynamics in native vegetation communities (Callaway 1995, Brooker *et al.* 2008). Such interactions may occur through amelioration of microclimatic conditions, reducing light intensity and evapotranspiration and enhancing the establishment and survival of juvenile plants (e.g. Nunez *et al.* 1999, Phillips and Barnes 2003, Armas and Pugnaire 2005). Alternatively, facilitation may be due to the concentration of resources such as soil nutrients or soil moisture under larger woody species (e.g. Facelli and Brock 2000, Facelli and Temby 2002, Ludwig *et al.* 2003). Vegetation community dynamics driven by the population dynamics of woody perennial species are an important source of spatial heterogeneity in resource limited environments (Facelli and Brock 2000) and may contribute significantly to species coexistence, hence greater diversity, in these systems (Facelli and Temby 2002). This

may be especially so in savanna landscapes where scattered trees contribute to significant levels of heterogeneity in terms of resources and micro-climatic conditions (e.g. Facelli and Brock 2000, Graham *et al.* 2004), and may play a major role in facilitating a range of other species (e.g. Ludwig *et al.* 2003, 2004a).

The role of native plant-mediated facilitation in promoting invasion by alien plant species is less well known (Reinhart *et al.* 2006b), but has been shown to be important in some instances. For example, short-lived nitrogen-fixing native bush lupine shrubs (*Lupinus arboreus*) in California coastal prairie communities create nutrient-rich microsites which are readily colonised by annual alien species at the expense of native species as shrubs senesce (Maron and Connors 1996). Invasion success of Scotch broom (*Cytisus scoparius*) in montane shrub communities in New Zealand is facilitated by the presence of native shrubs and tussock grasses (Bellingham and Coomes 2003). Invasion of two *Senecio* species is facilitated in both grassland and shrubland, but not forested, communities in northern Spain in the absence of disturbance (Cano *et al.* 2007).

Such interactions may be more widespread in more stressful environments (Callaway 1995, Scholes and Archer 1997), where native species ameliorate harsh environmental conditions and may contribute significantly to the persistence of invasive species which are not well adapted (e.g. Ludwig et al. 2004a, Callaway et al. 2003). For example, Badano et al. (2007) report facilitation of annual alien species by the cushion plant Azorella monantha at higher elevations, in the Andes mountains, Chile. Griffith and Loik (2008) report facilitation of the invasive annual grass Bromus tectorum by native shrubs Artemisia tridentata and Purshia tridentata in the Great Basin Desert, USA. However, these studies also indicate that the relative importance of facilitation (i.e. the balance between facilitation and competitive exclusion of the invasive species), and the strength and direction of native-alien species interactions, may vary with temporal conditions. Ludwig et al. (2004a) report a fine balance between competitive and facilitative interactions in savanna landscapes in East Africa, where competition for scarce water between neighbouring species was shown to overwhelm the facilitative effect of hydraulic lift. Griffith and Loik (2008) also found that both positive and negative interactions occurred, over a period of several years, between Bromus tectorum and native shrubs in the Great Basin Desert, USA.

6.1.3 Lippia on the Upper Condamine Floodplain

Many introduced (alien) plant species have been recorded in the Upper Condamine (Phillips and Moller 1995, Fensham 1998a). However, of particular concern in riparian areas of the floodplain is the dominant invasive species lippia (Phyla canescens (Kunth) Greene: Verbenaceae) (McCosker 1996), a low-growing perennial clonal herb, native to floodplain environments of South America (Macdonald 2008). First recorded at Tummaville (within the Upper river section of this study) in 1927 (Lucy et al. 1995, Earl 2003), lippia was increasingly viewed as a significant problem from the 1950s onward, infesting an estimated 40,000 ha in 1960 and 150,000 ha by the mid-1990s, at which time it was considered a serious and largely unmanageable risk to both pastoral enterprises and to riverine and riparian ecosystems on the Upper Condamine Floodplain (Lucy et al. 1995). In invaded floodplain communities (wetlands, grasslands, riparian woodlands) and landscapes of the Murray-Darling Basin, it significantly compromises remnant ecosystem condition, streambank stability and riverine water quality, pasture productivity and the profitability of grazing enterprises, as well as the integrity of floodplain infrastructure (roads, dams, levees) (Earl 2003).

Considerable research has been conducted into the autecology of lippia since the establishment, in 2002, of the National Lippia Working Group, a consortium of land managers and researchers. This has included investigations into the species' reproductive ecology (Macdonald 2008, Gross *et al.* 2010), responses to top-down (enemies) and bottom-up (nutrient availability) control (Clech-Goods 2010), population genetics (Fatemi *et al.* 2008) and adaptive capacity (Xu *et al.* 2010a) in the species' invaded range, and investigation of potential bio-control agents in the species' native range (Julien *et al.* 2004). Lippia's capacity to inhibit the germination of other species through the production of allelopathic chemicals has also been tested (Tan *et al.* 2007). Investigations into lippia's response to disturbance regimes (e.g. flooding and grazing) have been conducted under controlled experimental conditions (Taylor and Ganf 2005) and within working (floodplain grazing) production systems (Price *et al.* 2008, 2010a). These studies also investigated the relative success of lippia and other dominant species under different levels of disturbance (Taylor and Ganf 2005).

Lippia in Australia is a genetically diverse species (Fatemi et al. 2008) which is rapidly adapting to the variable climatic (and eco-hydrological) conditions across its invaded distribution (Xu et al. 2010a). It responds positively to disturbances such as flooding and grazing (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Barry et al. 2008, Macdonald 2008, Price et al. 2008, 2010a), but is sensitive to competition from other dominant species under certain conditions (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Price et al. 2010a). Modeling in relation to predicted climate change indicates that lippia poses an ongoing threat to native vegetation and production systems throughout the Murray-Darling Basin due to a persistent propagule bank and the species' capacity for population explosions following flood events of suitable duration and depth (Stokes et al. 2007, 2008, Barry et al. 2008, Macdonald 2008). Nutrient availability (specifically nitrogen) enhances lippia's success (Clech-Goods 2010), and clonal integration supports continued growth of ramets exposed to resource-poor (low light) conditions (Xu et al. 2010b). Lippia may alter soil attributes, such as soil moisture and carbon isotope signature, under field conditions (Xu and Van Klinken 2008). It also produces secondary compounds with allelopathic properties which affect the germination of some indicator species (e.g. leguminous species such as vetch and subterranean clover) but not others (e.g. grass species such as sorghum) under controlled experimental conditions (Daley et al. 2005, Tan et al. 2007), although it remains unclear from these trials to what extent these mechanisms contribute to the species' invasion success.

Most lippia research has been driven by the species' significant impact on the productivity of floodplain grazing production systems (Lucy *et al.* 1995, Earl 2003). Research has focused on interactions between flooding and grazing, which have been found to be major factors in the dispersal, establishment and local expansion of lippia (e.g. Macdonald 2008, Price *et al.* 2008, 2011). There has been limited research in native vegetation systems aimed at understanding what impact lippia has on the composition, structure and ecological function of invaded ecosystems. In addition, no research to date has sought to identify the role played by these ecosystems in facilitating the persistence of lippia, particularly in parts of the landscape which are not subject to regular grazing or flooding.

6.1.4 This research

Earlier chapters have shown lippia to be a dominant component of remnant riparian woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain, where it has a significant homogenizing effect on floristic diversity (Chapter 3) and is a key predictor and potential driver of change in floristic composition and structure (Chapter 5). Lippia cover was also found to be highly correlated with mature tree size (Chapter 5), highlighting a potential interaction between trees and lippia and calling into question the role of mature trees in facilitating lippia persistence and abundance in this landscape. This is supported by observations that lippia, a mesic C3 species (Earl 2003, Xu and van Klinken 2008), persists in riparian remnants of the Upper Condamine, often as a 'halo' (*sensu* Majer and Delabie 1999) of high lippia cover under the canopy of scattered trees in this landscape, despite grazing exclusion and extended drought (pers. obs.). The question arises, therefore, as to what role, if any, trees may play in the success of lippia in the climatically variable dryland riverine/riparian environments of the Upper Condamine, and potentially elsewhere in the northern Murray-Darling Basin.

Observations that lippia is often also more persistent in lower lying parts of the study area indicate that microtopographic variations in the land surface may also act as spatial and temporal refugia for lippia relative to areas higher in the landscape which experience more variable soil moisture conditions. Elsewhere, small-scale topographic heterogeneity buffers the impact of adverse conditions on vegetation and contributes to native species persistence in salinity-affected landscapes (Cramer *et al.* 2004), and enhances survival and growth of eucalypt seedlings in a microtopographically variable gilgaied floodplain landscape after flooding and fire (Fox *et al.* 2004).

This study asks if there is a positive interaction between dominant canopy eucalypts (*E. camaldulensis/tereticornis*), and the cover of lippia (*Phyla canescens*) in riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain, and, if so, does this influence change with topographic position in the landscape or the presence of non-lippia vegetation? It also asks which environmental variables influenced by the presence of trees and/or position on slope are associated with high lippia cover and reproduction, and whether this influence varies with tree size or condition.

The specific hypotheses addressed are:

- that lippia (abundance, reproduction, growth form and/or condition) and community (groundcover richness, abundance and diversity) response and environmental variables (soil attributes, nutrients, soil moisture, light) vary along a gradient of increasing distance from trees and/or with topographic position; and
- (ii) that there is a correlation between tree size and/or tree condition, environmental variables and biotic responses, including lippia abundance and reproduction.

Results are interpreted in relation to lippia's adaptive response to fluctuating climatic conditions and levels of disturbance, and the dynamics of lippia-invaded woodlands in this landscape. Potential risks to downstream environments, associated with persistent lippia populations in headwater catchments, are considered.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Study area

This study was conducted at St Ruth Reserve, a state-owned reserve (R81) adjacent to the Condamine River and approximately 10 km south of Dalby, southern Queensland (Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1Aerial photograph indicating the general location of transects) at St. RuthReserve.

St. Ruth Reserve comprises a 150 ha patch of remnant riparian and floodplain grassy woodland (predominantly RE 11.3.25; Sattler and Williams 1999), originally used for watering and resting traveling stock (Moran 1996) and, more recently, leased on a semi-permanent basis for livestock (cattle) grazing (Queensland Murray-Darling Committee (QMDC) 2005). Persistent over-stocking and over-grazing on the reserve resulted in significant change in groundcover composition and structure, from tall native perennial tussock grasses to a low-growing lippia-dominant 'carpet' (Moran

1996, QMDC 2005). Increasing concern about the proliferation of lippia, in combination with evidence of significant tree decline, led to revoking of the grazing lease and reclassification of the site as a state recreation reserve in 1999 (QMDC 2005). Woodland condition on the reserve has shown signs of recovery following grazing exclusion (QMDC 2005). There is evidence of recruitment of canopy eucalypt species, although recovery of mature *E. camaldulensis/tereticornis* trees is limited and, in many cases, dieback symptoms have continued to increase over the period of this research (2004–2007) (pers. obs.). There has also been a significant decline in lippia abundance post grazing exclusion (QMDC 2005) and a reciprocal increase in the relative abundance of other species, including native perennial grasses (pers. obs.). This has coincided with prolonged drought, which may have contributed to lippia decline. High lippia cover is only evident (persists) in lower lying areas or in association with trees (pers. obs.).

6.2.2 Lippia-tree relations

Study design

This study used a 2-factor design to test for significant patterns in vegetation composition, including lippia cover and condition, and abiotic conditions in relation to trees ('distance from tree' treatments) and relative elevation (topographic position treatments). Twelve transects, each extending from the base of a mature tree (E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis), were established within a homogeneous patch of open woodland; distance from tree treatment levels were defined as multiples of the canopy radius (r): 0r, 0.5r, 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r (Figure 6.2). Four transects were located in each of three relative topographic positions: Low, Mid (intermediate) and High (with a maximum topographic variation across these of less than 3 m). The length of each transect was determined by the canopy radius ('r' or the distance from tree base to canopy edge) along the transect line for that tree, and extended from the tree base into open grassland to a total distance of 3r (maximum r was 8 m and maximum transect length was 24 m). Transect direction was restricted to a south-westerly direction to reduce variation due to possible shading and slope. Tree selection was constrained by proximity of the transect to other trees; only transects which could be established at distances of greater than three times the canopy radius of adjacent trees were included in the study (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.2 Transect design indicating distance from tree treatments based on multiples of r, the canopy radius, and limits in terms of proximity to neighbouring trees.

There were no significant differences in tree height, tree diameter, canopy radius or canopy cover between topographic positions (ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.1).

Table 6.1Attributes of transect trees across topographic position treatments. Treatmentvalues are means and standard error (in parentheses). Significant difference is indicated inbold type (ANOVA; ** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

	I.m:ta	Т	opographic positi	Lovonola	Б	
	Units	low	mid	high	Levene s	r
Tree height	m	20.0 (1.8)	23.3 (2.3)	24.6 (3.6)	1.75 ^{ns}	0.78 ^{ns}
Tree diameter (D130)	m	0.70 (0.18)	0.95 (0.06)	0.83 (0.19)	0.95 ^{ns}	0.67 ^{ns}
Canopy radius	m	4.5 (0.3)	3.8 (0.6)	5.0 (1.1)	1.37 ^{ns}	0.72 ^{ns}
Canopy cover (FPC) ¹	%	33.0 (2.2)	14.5 (4.8)	23.0 (7.5)	2.21 ^{ns}	3.03 ^{ns}

¹ arcsin transformed

Data collection

Sampling was conducted in March 2006. Projected foliage cover (FPC%) of all nonwoody vascular plant species was recorded in 1 m² quadrats at the six 'distance from tree' treatments (0r, 0.5r, 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r) along each transect. Plant species were identified, and grouped according to origin (native, alien) and functional response traits (physiology, life-cycle, growth form) as reported in Chapter 3. Species richness, abundance (cover) and Shannon-Wiener diversity were calculated as reported in Chapter 3.

Lippia condition and reproductive effort were recorded in 0.25 m² quadrats centred within the 1 m² quadrats used above. Measures included the number of flower heads and seed heads (the total of which is referred to as 'reproductive effect'); evidence of herbivory, disease and discolouration (yellowing), scored on a 4-point scale (0: none, to 3: severe; after Batterham 2008); and dominant growth habit ('matting' or 'trailing'; equivalent to the 'phalanx' and 'guerrilla' growth forms of Chen *et al.* (2010), and the 'established' (rooted) and 'infiltrated' (supported above the soil by neighbouring vegetation) forms of Taylor and Ganf (2005)).

The circumference, height, canopy radius (along the transect line, to the nearest 0.5m) and canopy projected foliage cover (FPC%) of each transect tree was measured. Ambient light (measured beyond tree canopies and above the height of groundcover vegetation) and incident light at ground level were measured at two sampling points along each transect, nominally 0.5r (but measured in the centre of the canopy shade at the time of measurement) and 2r, using a line quantum sensor (Li-191, Li-Cor 2005). This equipment averages incident light over its 1 m length and is suited to measurement in dappled shade conditions as occur under relatively sparse canopies (LiCor 2005). The ratio of incident light at ground level to ambient light above the vegetation was used to account for temporal variation in light intensity.

Soil moisture was measured at three depths at each transect sampling point. Surface (0-6 cm depth) sample measurements were taken using a soil moisture impedance probe (Theta Probe; Delta-T Devices, Cambridge, UK). Deeper soil moisture measures were taken using electromagnetic induction (EMI) equipment (EM38; Geonics Ltd, Canada), which measures the apparent bulk electrical conductivity (ECa) of the soil profile, providing an integrated measure of soil salinity, clay content

and soil moisture through the soil profile (Ganjegunte and Braun 2010). As EMI is sensitive to variation in soil moisture, the technique has been used to investigate differences in soil moisture within a defined area (Reedy and Scanlon 2003, Huth and Poulton 2007); this is considered a valid technique for use under non-saline conditions where responses are independent of conductivity (McNeill 1980, Huth and Poulton 2007). The EM38 has a horizontal and a vertical dipole, measuring EC_a to depths of 75 cm and 150 cm, respectively (Reedy and Scanlon 2003, Ganjegunte and Braun 2010). No temperature corrections were made to readings (Reedy and Scanlon 2003, Huth and Poulton 2007) as this study was concerned only with relative rather than absolute inferred soil moisture.

Surface soil samples were collected for analysis of physical and chemical composition. Samples were collected within a 1 m^2 area at two 'distance from tree' sampling points (0.5r and 2r) per transect. Shallow samples (to 15cm) were collected using a foot corer, and deeper samples (at 30-70cm) were collected using a utemounted 37 mm diameter hydraulic soil corer. Deep soil samples were collected from four transects only (two from Low and two from High topographic positions) due to cost and equipment availability constraints. Individual samples were placed in labelled sealed plastic bags, and kept cool in an esky to minimise loss of moisture and nitrogen. Analysis of a range of chemical and physical properties (Table 6.2) was conducted by AgriTech, Toowoomba Qld.

Parameter	Units	Shallow samples	Deep samples
Texture	-	✓	✓
pH	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
Electrical Conductivity	dS/m	\checkmark	\checkmark
Magnesium	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Exchangeable Calcium	meq/100g	\checkmark	
Exchangeable Sodium	meq/100g	\checkmark	
Exchangeable Potassium	meq/100g	\checkmark	
Exchangeable Magnesium	meq/100g	\checkmark	
Sulphur	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Nitrate Nitrogen	mg/kg	\checkmark	\checkmark
Chloride	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Phosphorus	mg/kg	\checkmark	\checkmark
Calcium	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Sodium	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Potassium	mg/kg	\checkmark	
Cation Exchange	meq/100m	\checkmark	
Organic Carbon	%	\checkmark	✓

Table 6.2Soil attributes measured in shallow soil and subsoil samples collected from StRuth Reserve.

Data analysis

Patterns in floristic composition were investigated using multivariate analysis procedures in PRIMER, version 5 (Clarke and Warwick 2001). Ordination was conducted by non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (nMDS), with similarity matrices constructed (data standardised, no transformations) using the Bray-Curtis similarity measure. Floristic patterns associated with distance from tree and topographic position treatments were investigated using Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM and 2-way crossed ANOSIM). SIMPER was used to examine lippia's influence on species composition.

Differences in univariate measures of lippia cover, lippia reproductive effort, species richness, total cover, non-lippia cover and Shannon-Wiener diversity were compared across treatments using 2-way Analysis of Variance (2-way ANOVA) procedures in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009). Bounded (proportional) data were

arcsine transformed, and all data were screened and transformed (either square root or log₁₀), where required, to meet assumptions of normality and homoscedascity (Quinn and Keogh 2002). Where heteroscedastic variances were unable to be corrected for by transformation, no further analysis was undertaken (Quinn and Keogh 2002). Where variances were homogeneous (Levene's), 2-way ANOVA was conducted and Tukey's unplanned multiple comparison procedure (Day and Quinn 1989) was used to determine significant difference between treatment pairs within distance from tree and topographic position treatments.

The non-parametric Kruskall-Wallis procedure for *k*-independent samples was used to test for significant association between distance from tree or topographic position treatments and lippia condition scores (Quinn and Keogh 2002); the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U procedure was used to determine significant difference between treatment pairs where significant difference was evident (Day and Quinn 1989).

Differences in univariate abiotic (soil chemistry, moisture, light) attributes (transformed where necessary, as above) between sampling positions (0.5r, 2r) and topographic positions (low, mid, high) were investigated using 2-way ANOVA with Tukey's unplanned multiple comparison procedure where appropriate (as above).

Significant association between lippia cover, reproductive effort, tree size and condition and measured environmental (abiotic, biotic) variables was investigated using the non-parametric Spearman's rank correlation procedure in SPSS version 18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. 2009).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Floristic patterns

A total of 44 plant taxa, comprising 35 native and 10 alien species, was recorded in this study (Appendix E). The most frequent and abundant species/taxon recorded was lippia (*Phyla canescens*), with a total frequency of 96% (present in 69 of 72 quadrats) and an overall mean abundance of 27.9 \pm 3.4% (range: 0 – 97%). The next most common alien species was *Glandularia aristigera* (Mayne's pest; Verbenaceae) with a frequency of 31% and mean abundance of 2.2% \pm 0.8%. The most common native species were *Paspalidium distans* (frequency: 71%; mean abundance: 11.4 \pm 2.3%),

Einadia spp. (frequency: 68%; mean abundance: $8.2 \pm 1.7\%$), and *Cynodon dactylon* (frequency: 65%; mean abundance: $5.5 \pm 1.3\%$).

Floristic composition

There was no significant interaction effect between distance from tree and topographic position treatments on multivariate floristic composition (FPC) (2-way crossed ANOSIM; p > 0.05). There were significant differences in floristic composition between distance from tree treatments (ANOSIM; Global R = 0.194, p = 0.001); there were significant differences between 0r and 0.5r, 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r, and between 0.5r and 1.5r, 2r, and 3r, but no differences between 1r, 1.5r, 2r, and 3r distances (pairwise tests, $p \le 0.05$, Table 6.3). There were no differences between topographic position treatments (ANOSIM; p > 0.05).

Table 6.3Results of Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) pairwise comparisons on FPCdata for distance from tree treatments. Values are R statistics, with significance levelsindicated (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$, n.s. = p > 0.05).

Distance from tree	Or	0.5r	1r	1.5r	2r
0.5r	0.21**				
1r	0.44**	0.05 ^{ns}			
1.5r	0.58**	0.19**	-0.04 ^{ns}		
2r	0.54**	0.17*	-0.03 ^{ns}	-0.09 ^{ns}	
3r	0.60**	0.24**	0.05 ^{ns}	-0.01 ^{ns}	-0.07 ^{ns}

An nMDS ordination of floristic composition by distance from tree treatments indicates clustering of sites at distances of 0r and 0.5r, and greater spread in the 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r treatments (Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3 Two-dimensional ordination (nMDS) of floristic abundance (FPC) x distance from tree. Filled symbols are 'under canopy' distance from tree treatments: $0r (\triangle), 0.5r (\bigcirc), 1r (\bigcirc)$; open symbols are 'canopy gap' distance from tree treatments: $1.5r (\triangle), 2r (\bigcirc), 3r (\diamondsuit)$.

The average similarity of floristic composition was greatest (exceeding 50%) within the 0r and 0.5r distance from tree treatments, and least (< 40%) within the 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r treatments (SIMPER, Figure 6.4). Lippia cover contributed strongly to similarity (lippia contribution > 80%) within the 0r and 0.5r treatments, but least (lippia contribution < 50%) within the 1r, 1.5r, 2r and 3r treatments (Figure 6.4).



Figure 6.4 Average floristic similarity and lippia contributions to average similarity (SIMPER analysis in PRIMER) within distance from tree treatments.

Differences between distance from tree and topographic position treatments for lippia cover and total Shannon-Wiener diversity were not able to be statistically tested due to non-homogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$) which could not be corrected by data transformation (Table 6.4). Mean lippia cover was higher (21.8% to 72.3%) but more variable at distances closer to trees (standard error was between 6.6% and 7.9% for the distances 0r, 0.5r and 1r) than at distances 1.5r, 2r and 3r, where cover and standard error values were lower (8.3% to 15.8% and 2.3% to 4.8%, respectively) (Table 6.4).

There were no significant interactions between distance from tree treatments and topographic position for total cover, non-lippia cover, non-lippia species richness or non-lippia Shannon-Wiener diversity (2-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.4).

There was no significant difference between distance treatments for total cover (2way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.4). The cover of non-lippia vegetation was significantly lower beneath tree canopies (at 0r and 0.5r) and higher at the tree canopy edge and beyond (1r - 3r), although there was no significant differences between non-lippia cover at 0.5r and 2r (p > 0.05). There was no significant difference between topographic positions in the cover of non-lippia species (p > 0.05). There was no significant difference in non-lippia species richness or non-lippia Shannon-Wiener diversity between distance from tree or topographic position treatments (p > 0.05, Table 6.4).

Table 6.4Differences between distance from tree and topographic position treatments for lippia cover; total species richness, cover and
Shannon-Wiener diversity: and non-lippia species richness, cover and Shannon-Wiener diversity. Treatment values are means and standard error
(in parentheses); interaction values are F values. Significant difference is indicated in bold type (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

	Distance from tree (D)					Topographic position (T)			Interaction	
	0r	0.5r	1r	1.5r	2 r	3r	low	mid	high	D*T
Lippia cover ^{1,4}	72.3 (6.7)	38.8 (7.9)	21.8 (6.6)	15.8 (4.8)	10.8 (2.3)	8.3 (2.6)	24.5 (4.2)	29.1 (6.9)	30.2 (6.6)	
Species richness	6.4 (0.8)	7.9 (0.8)	8.7 (1.0)	9.8 (0.9)	9.2 (0.8)	9.1 (0.7)	9.0 (0.5)	8.8 (0.7)	7.7 (0.6)	0.09 ^{ns}
Total cover	86.8 (7.7)	63.1 (8.7)	74.3 (8.8)	76.7 (7.6)	56.9 (5.9)	63.0 (8.1)	66.4 (6.1)	75.1 (6.4)	68.9 (4.7)	0.43 ^{ns}
Shannon-Wiener diversity ⁴	0.6 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1.2 (0.1)	1.4 (0.1)	1.5 (0.1)	1.4 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	
Non-lippia richness	5.4 (0.8)	7.0 (0.8)	7.7 (1.0)	8.8 (0.9)	8.2 (0.8)	8.3 (0.6)	6.7 (06)	8.0 (0.5)	7.9 (0.7)	0.10 ^{ns}
Non-lippia cover	14.6 ^a (2.7)	24.3 ^{ab} (5.4)	52.5 ^c (9.5)	60.8 ^c (9.1)	46.2 ^{bc} (6.7)	54.8 ^c (8.4)	41.9 (6.3)	46.0 (6.7)	38.7 (5.4)	0.74 ^{ns}
Non-lippia diversity	1.0 (0.2)	1.3 (0.2)	1.1 (0.2)	1.3 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.3 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	1.2 (0.1)	1.4 (0.1)	0.30 ^{ns}

¹ arcsin transformed; ² square root transformed; ³ log10 transformed; ⁴ hereroscedastic variance (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$) not able to be corrected by transformation
Lippia reproduction and condition

Mean lippia reproductive effort was not able to be statistically tested due to nonhomogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$), which were unable to be corrected by data transformation. Reproductive effort was high but variable at the under-canopy (0r and 0.5r distance from tree) positions, and consistently low at distances beyond the tree canopy (1.5r, 2r and 3r) (Figure 6.5). There was also a highly variable topographic effect with 39.8 \pm 10.2 flower and seed heads at Low topographic positions, 46.8 \pm 12.2 at Mid positions, and 57.2 \pm 17.4 at High positions. No lippia seedlings were observed.



Figure 6.5 Lippia reproductive effort (number of flower and seed heads) with distance from tree treatments. Errors are standard error.

Lippia growth habit scores were significantly lower at distances closest to trees (0r, 0.5r), and higher at the canopy edge and beyond (1r to 3r) (Kruskal-Wallis; $p \le 0.005$, Table 6.5). No evidence of disease was observed, and there were no significant differences between distance from tree treatments for lippia herbivory or leaf colour scores (p > 0.05). There were no significant differences between topographic positions for any of these measures (p > 0.05, Table 6.5). Graphical exploration (Quinn and Keogh 2002) indicated no interaction between treatment factors.

Table 6.5Mean lippia condition response (scores: 0-4) to distance from tree and
topographic position treatments. Values are means with standard errors in parentheses;
values bearing the same superscript are not significantly different (Kruskal-Wallis, p > 0.05)

			Distance	Topographic position					
	0r	0.5r	1r	1.5r	2r	3r	low	mid	high
Herbivory	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.1 (0.1)	0.1 (0.1)	0.3 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.1)
Disease	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)
Foliage colour	0.3 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	0.8 (0.2)	0.8 (0.1)	0.9 (0.2)	0.8 (0.2)	0.9 (0.1)	0.8 (0.1)	0.6 (0.1)
Habit ¹	1.8 ^a (0.1)	2.3 ^b (0.1)	2.9 ° (0.1)	2.9° (0.1)	3.3 ° (0.1)	3.3° (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)	2.8 (0.2)

¹ Low habit score indicates predominantly matting growth form; high habit score indicates predominantly trailing exploratory growth form.

Correlation between floristic response variables

Lippia cover (FPC%) and lippia reproductive effort were significantly correlated (Spearman's; rho = 0.77, $p \le 0.005$). Lippia cover was significantly negatively correlated with non-lippia cover (total cumulative cover less lippia cover) and Shannon-Wiener diversity (rho = -0.62 and -0.44, respectively; $p \le 0.005$; Figure 6.6). There was no significant correlation between lippia cover and non-lippia species richness (rho = -0.19, p > 0.05).



Scatter plots showing linear correlation between lippia Phyla canescens Figure 6.6 cover (FPC%) and (a) cover of non-lippia species (FPC%) ($r^2 = 0.30$), and (b) Shannon-Wiener diversity ($r^2 = 0.39$).

Lippia cover (FPC%) was negatively correlated with the cumulative cover and species richness of the majority of functional and origin groups tested, including nonlippia alien species (Table 6.6). These correlations were strongly significant for richness of C4 species and cover of native species, perennials, C3 species, graminoids, and short-lived (annual, biannual) species (Spearman's, $p \le 0.005$), and moderately significant for richness of native and short-lived (annual, biannual) species and cover of clonal species ($p \le 0.05$). Significant correlations between non-lippia groups were all positive (Table 6.5).

Table 6.6Spearman's correlations between lippia cover and non-lippia functional andorigin species groups richness and cover (FPC%). Values are rho; significant correlations areindicated in bold type (** $p \le 0.005$; * $p \le 0.05$).

	Lippia	Alien	C3	C4	clonal	forb	gram.	legume	native
Richness									
Alien	-0.08								
C3	-0.17	0.70**							
C4	-0.38**	0.35**	0.16						
clonal	0.02	0.38**	0.52**	0.27*					
forb	0.00	0.72**	0.79**	0.19	0.59**				
graminoid	-0.14	0.41**	0.57**	0.32*	0.76**	0.42**			
legume	0.13	0.10	0.32*	-0.07	0.21	0.28*	0.17		
native	-0.25*	0.43**	0.77**	0.27*	0.73**	0.66**	0.82**	0.28*	
perennial	-0.14	0.53**	0.76**	0.38**	0.82**	0.67**	0.86**	0.20	0.92**
short-lived	-0.30*	0.47**	0.50**	0.05	0.07	0.48**	0.19	0.08	0.43**
Cover									
Alien	-0.15								
C3	-0.42**	0.38**							
C4	-0.08	0.36**	0.13						
clonal	-0.27*	0.45**	0.40**	0.53**					
forb	-0.05	0.74**	0.34**	0.46**	0.49**				
graminoid	-0.41**	0.23	0.20	0.39**	0.48**	0.08			
legume	0.13	0.07	0.02	0.16	-0.15	0.09	-0.08		
native	-0.57**	0.18	0.53**	0.17	0.31*	-0.02	0.74**	-0.04	
perennial	-0.54**	0.39**	0.60**	0.24*	0.48**	0.17	0.76**	-0.02	0.87**
short-lived	-0.36**	0.13	0.47**	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.05	-0.03	0.45**

6.3.2 Abiotic parameters

Soils in the study area were medium to heavy clay, with a relatively high pH (7.0–7.9), low electrical conductivity (EC, $0.08-0.27 \text{ dS.m}^{-1}$) and low chloride levels (49.2 \pm 3.4 mg.kg⁻¹) (Appendix F). Cation exchange levels were relatively high (34.6–71.1 meq.100g⁻¹), with exchangeable cations in the very high range for calcium and magnesium (31.2 \pm 1.3 and 17.2 \pm 0.6 meq.100g⁻¹, respectively) but moderate to low for potassium and sodium (2.5 \pm 0.1 and 0.3 \pm 0.1 meq.100g⁻¹, respectively). Mean organic carbon was 3.6 \pm 0.2%, and nitrogen (nitrate), phosphorus and sulphur levels averaged 9.5 \pm 1.2, 164.6 \pm 8.6, and 12.9 \pm 0.9 mg.kg⁻¹ (respectively). Soil pH increased with depth, but levels of other measured variables (EC, nitrate N, OC, phosphorus) decreased relative to surface soil levels (Appendix F).

Differences between distance from tree and topographic position treatments for the surface soil attributes, organic carbon, sulphur and exchangeable sodium were not able to be statistically tested due to non-homogeneous variances (Levene's, $p \le 0.05$), which could not be corrected by data transformation (Table 6.7). There was no significant interaction between distance from tree treatments and topographic position for other surface soil attributes (2-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.7).

Shallow soil chloride, cation exchange capacity (CEC), EC, exchangeable calcium and potassium, and phosphorus were significantly higher at 0.5r than at 2r (2-way ANOVA, $p \le 0.05$ (chloride) and $p \le 0.005$ (EC and exchangeable potassium); Table 6.7), but there were no significant differences between the 0.5r and 2r distance from tree treatments for pH, nitrate, moisture or exchangeable magnesium cations in shallow soils (p > 0.05).

There were no significant differences between topographic position treatments for shallow soil variables, with the exception of exchangeable magnesium cations (2-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.7), which were significantly higher at Low topographic positions than at High topographic positions (Tukey's, $p \le 0.05$).

Table 6.7Differences between distance from tree (0.5r, 2r) and topographic position(low, mid, high) treatments for soil parameters. Treatment values are means and standarderror (in parentheses); interaction values are F values. Significant difference is indicated inbold type (2-way ANOVA; ** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

Factor	Distance	from tree	To	Interactions		
Factor level	0.5r	2r	low	mid	high	D x T
Shallow soils						
Cation Exchnge (meq/100g)	55.0* (2.4)	47.4* (2.0)	53.4 (2.2)	51.1 (3.9)	49.2 (2.9)	0.24
Chloride (mg/kg)	57.6* (4.8)	40.8* (3.5)	50.3 (4.9)	56.6 (6.5)	40.6 (5.3)	0.53
EC (dS/m)	0.19** (0.01)	0.13** (0.01)	0.16 (0.02)	0.16 (0.02)	0.16 (0.02)	0.11
Ex. Calcium (meq/100g)	34.1* (2.0)	28.3* (1.3)	31.3 (1.5)	30.9 (2.7)	31.3 (2.6)	0.35
Ex. Magnesium (meq/100g)	17.8 (0.9)	16.6 (0.8)	19.0 ^a (0.9)	17.3 ^{ab} (1.1)	15.3 ^b (0.6)	0.09
Ex. Potassium (meq/100g)	2.71** (0.09)	2.20** (0.10)	2.53 (0.11)	2.50 (0.20)	2.35 (0.13)	0.11
Ex. Sodium (meq/100g) ⁴	0.40 (0.09)	0.27 (0.02)	0.46 (0.14)	0.29 (0.02)	0.25 (0.02)	
Nitrate Nitrogen (mg/kg) ²	8.5 (1.3)	10.4 (1.7)	7.1 (1.1)	11.1 (2.5)	10.1 (1.6)	1.56
Organic Carbon (%) ^{1,4}	4.07 (0.26)	3.08 (0.13)	3.41 (0.23)	3.56 (0.37)	3.75 (0.33)	
pH^1	7.34 (0.06)	7.30 (0.05)	7.26 (0.05)	7.29 (0.07)	7.40 (0.08)	1.50
Phosphorus (mg/kg) ⁴	183.9* (13.0)	145.3* (8.7)	164.3 (10.5)	175.0 (18.0)	154.5 (16.5)	0.18
Sulphur (mg/kg) ⁴	14.8 (1.1)	11.0 (1.2)	15.1 (1.7)	12.7 (1.7)	10.9 (0.9)	
Moisture (m ³ /m ³)	0.28 (0.02)	0.25 (0.02)	0.24 (0.03)	0.27 (0.03)	0.27 (0.02)	0.07
Deep soil samples						
EC $(dS/m)^5$	0.13 (0.02)	0.08 (0.01)	0.06 (0.01)	0.12 (0.02)	0.13 (0.01)	
Nitrate Nitrogen (mg/kg) ⁵	1.0 (0.0)	2.6 (1.5)	0.8 (0.3)	2.5 (1.5)	1.5 (0.5)	
Organic Carbon (%) ⁵	1.23 (0.14)	1.15 (0.16)	0.85 (0.05)	1.25 (0.12)	1.40 (0.10)	
pH^5	7.55 (0.14)	7.87 (0.22)	7.93 (0.04)	7.77 (0.23)	7.37 (0.08)	
Phosphorus (mg/kg) ⁵	93.8 (18.3)	79.0 (25.7)	35.5 (4.5)	90.3 (16.4)	129.5 (7.5)	
Moisture at 75 cm (dS/m) ²	0.30 (0.08)	0.27 (0.06)	0.27 (0.07)	0.37 (0.10)	0.23 (0.07)	0.03
Moisture at 150 cm $(dS/m)^2$	0.20 (0.02)	0.24 (0.05)	0.33 ^a (0.07)	0.17 ^b (0.02)	0.17 ^b (0.01)	0.55
Other						
Light (incident:ambient) ²	0.32** (0.03)	0.10** (0.01)	0.19 (0.03)	0.23 (0.06)	0.22 (0.05)	2.00

¹ arcsin transformed; ² square root transformed; ³ log₁₀ transformed; ⁴ heteroscedascity unable to be corrected by transformation; ⁵ insufficient sample size for analysis by 2-way ANOVA

Differences between distance from tree and topographic position treatments for the deep soil attributes, pH, EC, organic carbon, nitrate and phosphorus were not tested due to small sample size (Table 6.7). There was no significant interaction between distance from tree treatments and topographic position for soil moisture at 75 cm or at 150 cm depths, or for available light (2-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Table 6.7).

No significant differences occurred between the 0.5r and 2r distance from tree treatments for soil moisture at 75 cm and 150 cm (p > 0.05); however, there was a significant difference between topographic position treatments for soil moisture at 150 cm (p ≤ 0.05) with significantly higher levels in the Low treatment, but no significant difference between the Mid and High treatments. Available light at ground level was significantly higher in 0.5r than in 2r distance from tree treatments (p ≤ 0.005), but did not differ significantly between topographic position treatments (p ≥ 0.005).

Correlations with trees, lippia and floristics

There was a significant negative correlation between canopy cover and available light at ground level (Spearman's, $p \le 0.005$; Table 6.8). Lippia cover was highly significantly correlated with available light at ground level ($p \le 0.005$), and significantly correlated with EC, organic carbon, exchangeable potassium and deep soil moisture at 150 cm ($p \le 0.05$). Lippia reproductive effort was highly significantly correlated with light ($p \le 0.005$) and the same soil variables (exchangeable K, EC, OC) as lippia cover ($p \le 0.05$), with the exception of deep soil moisture at 150 cm (p > 0.05, Table 6.8).

Table 6.8Spearman's correlation results for abiotic parameters and (a) tree attributesat 0.5r; and (b) lippia cover (FPC%) and lippia reproductive effort. Values are rho; bold typeindicates significant correlation (** $p \le 0.005$, * $p \le 0.05$).

	(a) Tree attributes			(b) Lippia attributes			
	n	Tree height	Tree diameter	Canopy cover	n	Lippia cover	Lippia reproductive effort
Cation Exchange	12	-0.09	-0.22	0.46	24	0.21	0.29
Chloride	12	0.03	-0.11	0.16	24	0.27	0.4
Electrical conductivity	12	-0.13	0.22	0.53	24	0.46*	0.51*
Exchangeable Calcium	12	0.03	-0.2	0.41	24	0.23	0.31
Exchangeable Magnesium	12	-0.34	-0.26	0.2	24	-0.02	0.06
Exchangeable Potassium	12	-0.14	-0.08	0.54	24	0.46*	0.53*
Exchangeable Sodium	12	-0.52	-0.12	0.56	24	0.21	0.31
Nitrate Nitrogen	12	0.15	0.06	-0.2	24	-0.24	-0.33
Organic Carbon	12	0.16	0.2	0.32	24	0.41*	0.47*
pН	12	0.39	0.14	0.4	24	0.18	0.16
Phosphorus	12	-0.33	-0.29	0.42	24	0.22	0.23
Sulphur	12	-0.35	0.03	0.54	24	0.24	0.35
Surface soil moisture	12	0.53	-0.02	-0.53	72	-0.02	-0.18
Soil moisture at 75 cm	12	-0.56	-0.17	0.28	72	-0.07	0.07
Soil moisture at 150 cm	12	0.04	-0.09	0.51	72	0.29*	0.17
Light*	12	0.14	0.1	-0.60*	24	0.58**	0.57**

* proportion of incident:ambient light at ground level

6.4 Discussion

Few studies have investigated the role of facilitation by native species on the success of an invasive species, and the majority of these focus on the establishment phase of the invasion process, and effects on seedling survival (Dunne and Parker 1999, Brooker *et al.* 2008). One of the few studies to investigate facilitation of an invasive species at a range of life stages trialled potential mechanisms by which native chenopod shrubs (e.g. *Atriplex vesicaria*) support the invasive clonal succulent groundcover species *Orbea variegata* in arid-zone South Australia (Lenz and Facelli 2003). None appear to have examined the role of facilitation in the context of multiple species interactions.

This study confirms a close association between lippia abundance and mature *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* trees in a grassy riparian woodland at St Ruth Reserve, and suggests that trees facilitate the small-scale competitive advantage of lippia over other (non-lippia) groundcover species in this community. It also indicates that trees play a significant role in the persistence of lippia in the study area in the absence of regular disturbances, and potentially contribute to the ongoing invasion success of this species in both local and downstream environments over time.

6.4.1 Trees as facilitators

Many woody perennial plants exhibit 'nurse'-plant effects which moderate microclimatic conditions and facilitate recruitment of herbaceous species by improving their water status, nutrient content, carbon assimilation rates and growth (Belsky *et al.* 1989, Ludwig *et al.* 2004b, Armas and Pugnaire 2005). Scattered trees can also have significant localised effects on soil properties, creating heterogeneous patches of enhanced soil quality and resource availability (Belsky *et al.* 1993a, Facelli and Brock 2000, Wilson 2002), which may contribute to invasion success under certain conditions (Prober and Thiele 1995). However, Graham *et al.* (2004) report that this effect may be, to some extent, species- and location-specific.

This effect has not previously been reported for either *E. camaldulensis* or *E. tereticornis*, nor has it been tested in a riparian woodland system where nutrient dispersion and environmental heterogeneity are potentially strongly influenced by extrinsic factors such as flooding and catchment runoff processes (Naiman *et al.* 1998, 2005). While broader scale processes such as these can have an over-riding influence on patch-scale heterogeneity and floodplain vegetation community structure and composition (Capon 2005, Turner *et al.* 2004), this study suggests that local within-patch heterogeneity may also be significant in these environments. The greater abundance of lippia in association with trees suggests that such heterogeneity may be an important influence on ecological diversity and ecosystem function which may facilitate alien species persistence (Prober *et al.* 2002a, b) in these systems.

Trees and light

Belsky *et al.* (1989) report a 45–65% reduction in solar radiation, under tree canopies compared to open grassland in a semi-arid east African *Acacia* savanna ecosystem. Light availability under tree canopies in this study was similarly inversely related to canopy cover, with a 51–80% reduction in available photosynthetically active radiation (PAR). However, available light at groundlevel was significantly higher under tree canopies than in the open, canopy-gap areas, where PAR at groundlevel was reduced by 81–94%. This difference was associated with reduced cover of non-lippia species, which included taller-growing perennial grass species such as *Panicum queenslandicum* and *Dichanthium sericeum*, and greater cover of low-growing lippia under trees, lippia cover and the cover of non-lippia species.

Cole and Weltzin (2005) report that interactions between different canopy layers can significantly influence light availability and play an important role in determining the competitive relationship between invasive and native species. A closed cover of dominant tussock grass species can limit light availability at ground level and the establishment, survival and growth of lower-growing inter-tussock species (Morgan 1998a). However, shading of this groundcover layer in proximity to scattered trees may disadvantage the dominant C4 floodplain grassland species occurring in the open areas in this study (Sage and McKown 2006), providing opportunities for establishment of more phenotypically plastic C3 (Sage and McKown 2006), but low-growing (Morgan 1998a), species such as lippia.

Trees and shallow soil attributes

Many of the surface soil attributes measured in this study showed consistently high values close to trees, with significant pattern found in a number of these in relation to distance from tree treatments. Shallow soil electrical conductivity (EC) and exchangeable potassium cations showed particularly strong patterns in relation to the presence of trees, while there were also higher levels of chloride, phosphorus, cation exchange capacity (CEC) and exchangeable calcium cations in shallow soils beneath the canopies of mature eucalypts (*E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*) than in open areas (canopy gaps) beyond tree canopies. These results largely conform with the findings of other studies, across a range of ecological communities both in Australia

and elsewhere, which have variously reported elevated levels of total carbon, total nitrogen, available phosphorus, exchangeable cations, pH and electrical conductivity associated with scattered trees (e.g. Tongway and Ludwig 1990, Belsky *et al* 1993a, b, Hastwell 2001, Jackson and Ash 2001, Prober *et al*. 2002 a, b, Wilson 2002, Graham *et al*. 2004, Wilson *et al*. 2007).

Levels of nitrate N, sulphate S, pH, organic carbon (OC), cation exchange capacity (CEC) and exchangeable magnesium cations in this study were comparable to those previously reported for similar cracking clay soil types (uncropped, cropped) on the Darling Downs and more generally in the northern Murray-Darling Basin (e.g. Conteh *et al.* 1997). Phosphorus concentrations (104–258 mg.g⁻¹) were considerably higher than previously reported for the northern Murray-Darling Basin (5-78 mg.g⁻ ¹), including the Darling Downs (8–40 mg.g⁻¹) (Conteh *et al.* 1997). Maximum levels of exchangeable potassium and calcium cations were 2.0 and 1.5 times, respectively, the highest values previously reported for the Darling Downs by Conteh et al. (1997), while levels of exchangeable sodium were relatively low at only 40% of previously recorded levels for the region (Conteh et al. 1997). These values may in part be due to the stratified design in this study which entailed sampling closer to trees than would be the case in a random design. They may also be a function of the riparian location, which many studies have previously noted as areas of relatively high nutrient status due to catchment runoff processes (Griffiths et al. 1997, Tabacchi et al. 1998). High calcium and low sodium salt levels have been previously attributed to the calcic geological foundation of cropping soils in the Condamine catchment (Shaw et al. 1994).

Higher levels of chloride and electrical conductivity (hence salinity, as defined by Shaw 1999) closer to trees than in canopy gaps concur with patterns reported by Prober *et al.* (2002a,b), Munzbergova and Ward (2002), and Eldridge and Wong (2005). Trees have been noted for their influence on localised salt accumulation and distribution patterns resulting from shallow groundwater uptake and salt exclusion by tree roots at the capillary fringe (Nosetto *et al.* 2007). In the Negev Desert, this results in potential trade-offs for species growing in under-canopy environments, which need to balance the positive effects of higher nutrient levels against the negative impacts of higher soil salinity (Munzbergova and Ward 2002). However,

this is unlikely to be an issue for the majority of species in the study landscape where salinity ratings (Shaw 1999) were relatively low.

Higher levels of exchangeable cations in association with trees have also been reported previously. Gomez-Aparicio *et al.* (2005) report increased levels of potassium cations in soils beneath dominant tree species grown in experimental plots in Spain. Prober *et al.* (2002a) also found higher levels of available potassium beneath trees than in open areas in temperate grassy woodland communities in southeastern Australia.

While correlations between surface soil attributes and tree and canopy dimensions were not statistically significant in this study, possibly due to the limited sample size (hence low power of the analyses), higher correlations between some surface soil attributes (e.g. exchangeable sodium cations, soil moisture) and tree height or canopy cover suggest that the attributes of individual trees may be important in determining the level to which resources are accumulated and soil attributes are modified by scattered trees in woodland situations. Allometric relationships signify that larger trees are also likely to have larger root systems, capable of drawing resources from a greater volume of soil (Scholes and Archer 1997, Peichl and Arain 2007). Greater canopy cover is also likely to indicate a tree which is larger and healthier, more active in accessing resources and with more active process contributing to below-canopy litter accumulation (Scholes and Archer 1997, Prescott 2002). Higher nutrient levels under older trees have also been attributed to length of residency, but may not be apparent until trees reach a critical age or size (Scholes and Archer 1997).

Trees and soil moisture

Studies conducted under average rainfall conditions have shown a distinct depression in soil water content in the presence of trees (e.g. Belsky *et al.* 1989, Fensham and Fairfax 2007, Huth and Poulton 2007, Nosetto *et al.* 2007). Lack of significant patterning in soil moisture content in relation to the presence of trees in this study suggests that water availability in the study area was depleted at the time of sampling, presumably as a result of prolonged drought (e.g. Belsky *et al.* 1989). Patterns in soil moisture appear to have been more closely associated with the attributes of individual trees. Positive and negative correlations for canopy cover and tree height with shallow and subsoil moisture levels indicate potentially complex interactions between the hydraulic function of trees and competitive effects of neighbouring plants as was found by Ludwig *et al.* (2003, 2004a,b), rather than amelioration of under-canopy groundcover evapotranspiration as reported by Belsky *et al.* (1993a).

6.4.2 Lippia response to environmental conditions

Lippia and light

In the current study, lippia showed a strong association with the amount of available light at ground level. While it appears counter-intuitive, this was higher beneath the canopies of trees in this study (which had an average cover of 23.5%, providing only light dappled shade and high levels of sun-flecks; Sage and McKown 2006) than in canopy gaps, where cover of taller non-lippia herbaceous vegetation, dominated by perennial graminoids, reduced light availability at ground level by up to 94%. This is also supported by the observed change in lippia growth habit from a densely rooted matting form beneath trees to a loosely trailing exploratory form amongst other groundcover species. This exploratory type of growth is related to the density and height of neighbouring species (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Chen *et al.* 2010), and is a response to limited resource availability (Slade and Hutchings 1987, Chen *et al.* 2010b).

Lippia's requirement for a high light environment is supported by findings from a glasshouse trial investigating lippia response to full sun and reduced light (85% shade) conditions (Xu *et al.* 20010b). In that study, significant light-sensitive declines in leaf nitrogen (area-based), photosynthetic nitrogen use efficiency, chlorophyll to nitrogen ratio, and nitrogen stable-isotope signature occurred in lippia ramets (daughter plants) grown in reduced light conditions where these were isolated/separated from the genet or mother plant. This response was eliminated in shaded ramets which remained connected to the mother plant growing in full sun. This trial indicated not only the reduced performance of lippia under low light

conditions, but also the importance of clonal integration in maintaining access to essential resources (Xu *et al.* 20010b).

Lippia and shallow soil attributes

The current study indicates a significant relationship between lippia cover and reproduction and a range of surface soil attributes. Most significant of these was the concentration of exchangeable potassium cations, cation exchange capacity and organic carbon content. Cation availability and relative concentrations are recognised as important drivers of plant performance in agriculture (e.g. Oborn et al. 2005), but are rarely considered in native vegetation ecosystems although their potential role in the assembly of multi-species communities on low-fertility serpentine soils in the US has been suggested (Moore and Elmendorf 2011). Higher potassium levels have been found elsewhere to contribute to increased drought tolerance through increased plant water use efficiency (Egilla et al. 2001); for example, higher levels in soils under nurse shrubs in the Mediterranean were associated with improved seedling performance (Gomez-Aparicio et al. 2005). The strong association between lippia and available potassium cations in this study has not been reported previously. Xu and van Klinken (2008) report consistently higher calcium levels in lippia leaf tissue than in the pasture grass species tested, and interpret this as a potential herbivore defence in lippia, but potassium levels are not reported.

A strong association between lippia cover and organic carbon levels is apparent in this study, but has also not been reported elsewhere. Xu and van Klinken (2008) do not report organic carbon levels, but found altered soil carbon isotope ratios under lippia infestations. At the most heavily infested site, organic carbon 13C, typical of C4 grasslands (Boutton *et al.* 1999), was significantly depleted and up to 70% of the surface soil organic carbon pool had been substituted as a result of lippia invasion (Xu and van Klinken 2008). Altered carbon isotope ratios contribute to changes in soil microbial activity and communities (Ehrenfeld *et al.* 2001, Kramer and Gelixner 2006), and potentially facilitate the competitive success of invasive species, as has been reported for spotted knapweed *Centaurea maculosa* in native prairie ecosystems in north-western USA (Carey *et al.* 2004).

Limited patterning in nitrate levels in relation to trees in this study, as well as limited association between lippia and nitrate, appears to indicate that this component of

available nitrogen is either not limiting in this environment or that accumulated nitrate under trees is rapidly acquired by lippia (e.g. Clech-Goods 2010). In grassy eucalypt woodlands, Prober *et al.* (2002a) found no relationship between nitrate concentration and the presence of trees, although nitrate levels were relatively lower in that study (ranging from 0.1–1.8 mg.kg⁻¹ compared to a range of 2.0–24.0 mg.kg⁻¹ in the current study). Prober *et al.* (2002a) suggested that available nitrogen (nitrate, ammonium) patterns may be governed by the nitrogen uptake efficiency of the vegetation, including alien annuals which were found to be linked to rapid recycling of available nitrogen in that system. Xu and van Klinken (2008) found lower nitratebased nitrogen in soils under lippia infestations compared to non-lippia invaded pastures in eastern Australia, as well as low C:N ratio in lippia leaf material suggesting that lippia litter would be rapidly decomposed (Zhang *et al.* 2008).

Significant changes in soil nutrient attributes (nutrient dynamics, stable isotope signature) have been reported under lippia infestations in invaded pastures in eastern Australia (Xu and van Klinken 2008). In addition to lower nitrate nitrogen concentration, invaded soils had lower pH and higher EC than non-invaded soils under either native or improved pasture (Xu and van Klinken 2008). While there was no apparent patterning in pH levels in this study, higher EC under tree canopies at 0.5r, as well as significant correlation of lippia cover with EC, indicates that lippia could be an active contributor to this pattern.

Lippia and soil moisture

Lippia is renowned for its capacity to significantly reduce soil moisture content (Lucy *et al.* 1995). Significant changes in soil moisture under lippia infestations were confirmed by Xu and van Klinken (2008), who reported a 16–39% reduction in invaded soils compared with neighbouring uninvaded native grasslands and improved pastures in eastern Australia. In the current study, there was no significant association between shallow soil moisture content and lippia cover, and a relatively weak correlation between lippia cover and deeper soil moisture at 150 cm depth. This depth is below the reported maximum rooting depth (around 70 cm) of lippia (Taylor and Ganf 2005), although Ludwig *et al.* (2004b) report increased rooting depth in plants associated with trees where hydraulic lift occurs. This is interpreted as a response to increased competition between trees and neighbouring vegetation in

semi-arid regions (Ludwig *et al.* 2004a). Lippia's close association with deep-rooted trees capable of hydraulic redistribution in the study area suggests that this may be an important process which potentially contributes to the success of lippia in this landscape by facilitating the species' persistence through drought periods. However, this requires further investigation as neither groundwater depth nor tree condition were found to be strong predictors of lippia abundance on the Upper Condamine floodplain in the study reported in Chapter 5.

The significant association between lippia cover and organic carbon levels under tree canopies may contribute to better soil moisture relations, benefiting lippia under tree canopies during drought conditions (Belsky *et al.* 1989, 1993a), although this is not reflected in significant surface soil moisture differences in this study.

6.4.3 Vegetation responses to lippia

In the current study, gradients in floristic composition were strongly associated with lippia abundance (cover); however, these were also apparent in relation to distance from, or proximity to, trees. While correlations between trees and lippia cover represent a potentially confounding influence on floristic composition in these communities, response to the presence of trees was most apparent in terms of variation in the cumulative cover of non-lippia species and, to a lesser extent, community diversity, both of which increased significantly with distance from trees. In contrast, species richness was not significantly influenced by the presence of trees.

Lippia cover, independent of proximity to trees, was significantly negatively correlated with the abundance of co-occurring floristic species, including abundance within functional groups. This appeared to be particularly so where percentage cover of lippia was greater than 20%. Decline in species richness with increasing cover and dominance of lippia was also evident but more gradual. These findings are consistent with those reported from other research into the impact of invasive species on community composition. In a systematic review of studies which investigated the community level impacts of 13 invasive 'neophytes' (novel plant species) in the Czech Republic. Hejda *et al.* (2009) found that, for individual invasive species, impacts on species richness, community evenness and diversity were driven predominantly by the ability of that species to monopolise space, confirming the

suggestion by Gordon (1998) that highly invasive species which become dominant are most likely to have significant impact.

In the current study, lippia was significantly more dominant than any other species. Of the 44 species recorded, it was both the most frequently recorded (being present in 96% of the 72 sample quadrats) and, on average, the most abundant with a mean cover of 28%. The cover of lippia was, on average, 61% greater than the next most abundant species and most dominant native species in these communities, which was the native perennial grass *Paspalidium distans*, occurring in 76% of samples with a mean cover 11%. Hejda *et al.* (2009) found that impacts on community diversity were greatest where the cover of the invasive species was at least 47% higher than that of the next most dominant species. On this basis, the relative dominance of lippia in this study indicates its potential for significant impact on the floristic composition of the riparian woodland community at St Ruth Reserve.

Hejda et al. (2009) also suggest that invasive species are more likely to attain dominance, in terms of the cover and homogeneity of the stand, where the native community comprises many competitively weak native species. Weak competitive interactions are potentially the case in dryland floodplain communities where species are adapted to both drought and flooding disturbance, and in moderately grazed native pastures favouring high species diversity (Olff and Ritchie 1998). In theory, many of these should be species which are better adapted to coping with disturbance and related abiotic stresses, including ruderal species capable of rapid establishment, growth and reproduction following disturbance, than species which are adapted for competition (Grime 1977, 2007). Hejda et al. (2009) also suggest that changes in species composition following invasion usually result in an increase in resistant ruderal species. It is not feasible to test this hypothesis in the study landscape, where few, if any, pristine remnants exist and lippia has been present (and possibly prolific) for up to 80 years (i.e. it is a universally disturbed, lippia-invaded landscape). However, in this study, of the 33 species recorded across 26 (of 72) quadrats with lippia cover of 25% or more, 21 species were still present in the ten quadrats with lippia cover of 80% or more, indicating a relatively large pool of resistant species, including the native grasses, Paspalidium distans and Elymus multiflorus.

There appears to be a 2-phase relationship between lippia cover and the cumulative cover of non-lippia species, with a more variable response where lippia cover is less than 20% and greatly reduced variability in the cover of non-lippia species where lippia cover exceeded 20%, indicating a possible threshold above which lippia exerts a significant impact on floristic composition and community structure. Gooden *et al.* (2009b) found a similar 2-phase response to lantana (*Lantana camara*) cover, with a sudden decline in native species richness at 75% lantana cover. Taylor and Ganf (2005) report a stepped response in lippia cover (i.e. interpreted as an invasion threshold for lippia in relation to the presence of existing plants), under experimental conditions, where the stand density of the native grass species *Sporobolus mitchellii* was 25% and above; although, stand densities tested in this study were 0, 25, 50, 75 and 100% of 36 (4 x 4 cm) cells within planter boxes, and it is unclear how this relates to projected foliage cover under field conditions.

6.4.4 Lippia-tree interactions and ecosystem condition/function

Previous studies have found that lippia, a low-growing clonal species, is able to rapidly pre-empt space where taller growing native species cover is significantly reduced by grazing or flooding, but that repeated disturbance may be required for lippia to maintain this competitive advantage (Price *et al.* 2008, 2010a, 2011). While lippia abundance at the study site is a legacy of extensive infestation associated with the previous heavy grazing regime, localised high-abundance lippia 'populations' remain, despite limited disturbance and significant recovery of non-lippia groundcover over much of the area in recent years.

The results of this study, which indicate that lippia persists in the study area in the absence of ongoing disturbance, supports a new interpretation which incorporates the potentially dynamic relationship between tree canopy cover, lippia cover and the cover and diversity of non-lippia species in lippia-infested riparian woodlands. Key interactions suggested by this study are summarised in Figure 6.7. While mechanisms were not investigated, evidence of strong correlation with abiotic and community response variables is interpreted as significant influence within the context of this study. In summary, dappled light conditions under tree canopies drive a negative response in C4 perennial tussock grasses, the dominant 'non-lippia' herbaceous species, resulting in reduced cover of tall groundcover species and higher

relative light availability at groundlevel under tree canopies in this landscape. This confers a competitive advantage to lippia, a light-dependent C3 species which may also benefit from differential under-canopy soil attributes, including higher levels of certain soil nutrients and soil moisture (Xu and Van Klinken 2008, Xu *et al.* 2010b), under trees. Consolidated (abundant densely rooted) lippia growth in response to differential resource availability may act to further exclude non-lippia species at this spatial scale.



Figure 6.7 Conceptual diagram of interactions and potential feedbacks between canopy cover, and cover of lippia and non-lippia (predominantly C4) vegetation. Solid lines show the key relationships and directions of influence indicated by this study; dotted lines indicate relationships which are suggested but require further investigation.

Weaker associations and potential feedbacks which require further investigation are also indicated in Figure 6.7. Other studies report that established lippia populations can act as a base for rapid localised vegetative expansion of lippia under conditions of spatially and temporally variable resource availability (Price et al. 2011). Wellresourced patches of lippia also support ramet growth and infiltration into more hostile areas (Xu et al. 2010b) in response to changes in the cover and density of neighbouring non-lippia vegetation with disturbances such as grazing, drought or flooding (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Berney et al. 2010, Price et al. 2010a, 2011). While such expansion may be only temporarily successful, it may have a long-term impact on the diversity of native species which historically establish under suitable conditions in inter-tussock spaces in this environment (Table 6.6). This study suggests that changes in the diversity and structure of groundcover vegetation may further constrain the capacity of non-lippia vegetation to resist lippia infiltration. The outcome of competitive interactions may also vary temporally in response to changes in tree canopy cover or tree health, while seasonal changes in shade distribution around trees may also be important at this scale (e.g. Belsky et al. 1989). In addition, the capacity for high lippia levels to alter soil and moisture conditions (Xu and Van Klinken 2008) also indicates the potential for competition and feedback influences on tree health under conditions of resource scarcity. These are discussed in more detail below.

6.4.5 Significance and limitations

This study is the first to investigate the role of canopy trees in facilitating the abundance and persistence of the invasive alien groundcover species lippia *Phyla canescens* in remnant floodplain riparian woodlands in the absence of grazing or flooding disturbance. It suggests that trees may play a significant role in mediating small-scale interactions between lippia and non-lippia vegetation through their impact on local levels of resource availability. In this study, while lippia prevalence at the study site was a legacy of historical over-grazing, a key correlate of current lippia abundance, hence its ability to remain dominant over non-lippia vegetation, was the availability of light at ground level, which was higher under *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* canopies than in canopy gaps due to the impact of dappled shade on the cover of non-lippia species. Reduced cover of taller growing

non-lippia herbaceous vegetation (e.g. perennial tussock grasses) and increased light at ground level enable lippia to consolidate its growth and maintain a high level of abundance (up to 100% cover) in association with trees. This study also suggests that soil organic carbon and exchangeable cations may play an important role in lippia's success in this landscape.

Strong association with trees in this landscape also has implications for the future spread of lippia. The prevalence of strongly rooted highly integrated consolidated lippia growth under tree canopies in this study indicates potential for rapid local expansion of lippia from these refugia with a return to suitable conditions. Rapid extension and rooting of new ramets in bare soil, supported by clonal integration with established plants (Xu et al. 2010b), gives lippia a temporal advantage over species which rely solely on recruitment from the soil seedbank, and an increased probability of successful establishment (Price et al. 2011). Lippia infestations can expand locally by this mechanism, particularly where disturbance has resulted in low cover and density of non-lippia species (Price et al. 2010a, 2011). The ability to maintain healthy populations may also provide a significant advantage and future benefit to lippia's success, both locally and in the wider landscape. High lippia cover is correlated with high reproductive effort (flowering and seed production) in this study, indicating that trees may also facilitate ongoing contributions to the persistent soil seedbank in this environment, despite adverse climatic conditions. Propagule pressure is a primary driver of invasion success (Colautti et al. 2006), and a substantial soil seedbank in source populations represents a significant risk to downstream environments with subsequent dispersal in floodwaters (Stokes et al. 2007, 2008, Macdonald 2008). A high level of sexual reproduction in Australian lippia populations has also been linked to a capacity for rapid micro-evolution, increasing lippia's ability to succeed under highly variable climatic conditions (Xu et al. 2010a).

Heterogeneous cover of lippia in these woodlands, and indication of association with a small number of key resources, suggests the potential for strategic management of lippia through the manipulation of resource availability (e.g. light, levels of exchangeable cations such as potassium) on the relatively small tree-based scale. Manipulation of key resources has been used effectively in small-scale trials elsewhere (e.g. Prober *et al.* 2005). Xu *et al.* (2010b) have shown lippia's growth and productivity dependence on high light availability, and capacity to manipulate this. However, while this current study indicates association between some resources and lippia abundance and reproduction, these results are correlative only and not indicative of causality. Further research is required to determine the potential and cost-effectiveness of manipulating resource availability or specific soil attributes to control lippia.

Other studies have indicated that available soil moisture may also be important to lippia (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Price 2011), but this was not apparent in this study where limited variation in soil moisture levels in both surface and subsoils due to drought conditions may have masked the potential importance of water availability to lippia in this landscape. Hydraulic lift is undoubtedly an important process in the vegetation type, however broadscale changes occurring across the Upper Condamine floodplain indicate chronic groundwater decline in the general study area (Chapter 2). Data from monitoring bores within 5 km of the St Ruth reserve indicate that mean groundwater levels were at 18.4 m in 2004-05 and declining at an average rate of 1.8 m per decade (DNRMW 2008). As a result, it is likely that the roots of trees sampled in this study have limited connectivity with shallow groundwater resources and that hydraulic lift processes may not operate effectively. This implies increasing reliance on stochastic rainfall events (e.g. Elmore et al. 2003, 2006a) and increased potential for hydraulic failure under extended drought conditions (Tyree and Sperry 1988, McDowell et al. 2008). Lippia is reported to be capable of significantly depleting soil moisture (Lucy et al. 1995, Xu and Van Klinken 2008), and its close association with trees in this landscape indicates that intense competition for scare surface soil moisture may occur, exacerbating moisture stress and potentially contributing to reduced hydraulic function in 'host' trees.

In a study conducted by Ludwig *et al.* (2004a), increased competition between trees capable of hydraulic lift and neighbouring herbaceous vegetation for surface soil moisture resulted in no net benefit to trees. A similar effect between lippia and host *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* may represent additional pressure on tree health in this landscape, particularly under conditions of severe water deficit, compounding the impact of significant groundwater decline in the study landscape. However, further investigation is required to identify the water sources used by trees and lippia, and to determine whether, and under what conditions, the relationship

between these two species, in terms of water relations, is primarily facilitative or competitive.

Lack of significant patterning between topographic position treatments, of lippia cover and all environmental variables except subsoil moisture, indicates that microtopographic refugia, if important, may work independently of tree-based refugia in this landscape. This is reinforced by the limited interaction found in this study between distance from tree and topographic position. Alternatively, the range of positions chosen in this study may not have captured the location of active microtopographic refugia still operating under the dry climatic conditions at the time of sampling; the role of these in supporting localised high density lippia populations may require further investigation.

This study is also the first to investigate small-scale interactions between lippia and non-lippia species in invaded remnant native vegetation communities in Australia. Results indicated a potential threshold impact level of lippia infestation at around 20% cover, up to which non-lippia vegetation exhibited a variable response to lippia invasion and beyond which the cover of non-lippia species declined rapidly. While this response requires further investigation, it indicates a direct (possibly non-linear) impact on floristic composition and community structure, and the potential of this invasive species to alter the functional diversity and dynamics (including resilience) of invaded communities where lippia cover is not maintained below this level.

It is unclear whether the results of this study can be applied to other landscapes in which lippia is currently absent and in which grazing does not occur. Initial establishment of lippia in the study area was most probably associated with a combination of historical flooding and grazing disturbance regimes prevalent both within upstream riparian communities and locally within the St Ruth reserve. It is also possible that the previous history of the study area as a livestock camping and watering reserve, and more recently as a heavily stocked leased grazing area (Chapter 2), may have contributed to the observed patterning in some measured soil attributes (Marshall 1974, Taylor *et al.* 1985, Lunt 2005); for example, physical disturbance, compaction and resource accumulation in stock camps under trees may have contributed to the initial loss of native shade-tolerant C3 species (Allsopp *et al.* 2007) and lippia establishment and consolidation in these locations. While grazing

exclusion, in combination with extended drought, has resulted in a significant decline in lippia cover and a corresponding increase in the cover of native species at St Ruth Reserve (QMDC 2005), lippia continues to be a dominant component of the groundcover vegetation, indicating that the legacy of past disturbance persists in the study area. However, persistent high cover of lippia under tree canopies appears to be less related to ongoing disturbance, such as grazing and flooding, than to preemption and consolidation of occupied space under abiotic conditions which confer a competitive advantage to lippia over co-occurring native species.

6.5 Conclusion

This study investigated interactions between dominant canopy trees and lippia in remnant riparian E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis woodlands, as suggested in the analysis of environmental drivers of community pattern reported in Chapter 5. It found a positive association between mature canopy trees and lippia cover, reproductive condition and growth habit, and indicated that trees influence smallscale heterogeneity in floristic composition (community structure) and, in particular, the strength of interactions between lippia and non-lippia species. Scattered trees in this study appeared to confer a competitive advantage to lippia over neighbouring non-lippia groundcover species, mediating interactions between lippia and non-lippia species through their influence on resource availability and environmental conditions. Consolidated refugial populations, such as those persisting in a 'halo' around the base of mature trees, continue to flower and contribute seed to the soil seedbank during drought, representing a significant risk to downstream areas with low groundcover with subsequent flooding. These persistent refugial populations also represent secure sites from which lippia can rapidly expand locally through vegetative growth with the return of favourable conditions such as above-average rainfall and the reintroduction of grazing.

Environmental variables, influenced by the presence of trees and associated with high lippia cover and reproduction, included high levels of available light at ground level, and elevated levels of exchangeable cations, particularly potassium, and soil organic carbon which may contribute to higher drought tolerance in this mesic C3 species. It is suggested that further research is required to establish mechanisms and thresholds for lippia response to key abiotic gradients, as a foundation for strategic control in remnant ecosystems.

The absence of any significant local soil moisture gradient in relation to the presence of trees was unexpected, but potentially influenced by drought conditions at the time of sampling and reduced access to declining shallow groundwater resources in this highly modified landscape. However, there is potential for strong competitive interactions for scarce water resources between abundant densely rooted lippia populations and their host trees which may compound localised soil water deficits, reinforce tree dieback responses and exacerbate woodland decline where groundwater levels are no longer accessible to deep tree roots. This may be the case in sections of the Upper Condamine where groundwater extraction has contributed to widespread chronic groundwater decline, as outlined in Chapter 2.

The next chapter synthesises the results from this and previous chapters into a conceptual state and transition model of riparian woodland response on the highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain. Rather than a discrete ecological model, Chapter 7 also incorporates the socio-ecological context of these woodland ecosystems to develop a holistic model which explores the drivers/attributes operating in this complex highly modified production landscape.

Chapter 7 A conceptual state and transition model for Upper Condamine floodplain riparian woodlands

7.1 Introduction

A primary objective of sustainable management is to maintain the resilience of ecosystems and their ability to respond and adapt to future disturbances and change (UNEP 2009). This can only be realistically achieved on the basis of an understanding of the relationships between disturbance, ecosystem pattern and underlying ecological processes. The broader socio-ecological context of ecosystems in production landscapes, where sustainable land management encompasses biodiversity conservation and continued ecosystem service provision in systems subject to significant anthropogenic change, adds an additional level of complexity to this understanding (Walker *et al.* 2002). Native ecosystem remnants embedded in highly modified landscapes are subject to altered disturbance regimes and degradation pressures which potentially shape their composition, structure, ecological function and resilience to future disturbance (Walker *et al.* 2004). Walker *et al.* 2006).

Conceptual models are valuable tools which aid in the definition and exploration of important relationships between key components of complex systems (Gentile *et al.* 2001, Spooner and Allcock 2006). They provide an effective framework for summarising and communicating current knowledge based on empirical evidence and also a means of incorporating theoretical understanding of the function and behaviour of an ecosystem. They can effectively extend existing knowledge, which in many cases may be limited, and provide a framework within which critical gaps in knowledge and understanding of a system can be identified. In this way, they can contribute to the development of hypotheses regarding system responses to, and future outcomes of, environmental change including management actions (Yates and Hobbs 1997, Gentile *et al.* 2001, Spooner and Allcock 2006). They can also provide valuable links between both theoretical and empirical research (Herrick *et al.* 2006), and between research and ecosystem management (Spooner and Allcock 2006).

This chapter develops a conceptual ecosystem response model for riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain, based on evidence derived from this study and a review of the relevant literature. Research reported in this thesis indicates multiple drivers of composition, function and condition in remnant woodlands in this highly modified production landscape. The model proposed in this chapter incorporates those factors which drive critical transitions between alternative stable states in these woodlands.

7.1.1 Conceptual models and ecosystem dynamics

Native disturbance-driven ecosystems exhibit both equilibrium and non-equilibrium dynamics (Briske *et al.* 2003, Stringham *et al.* 2003). Continuous and reversible vegetation dynamics are evident within dynamic stable states controlled by a particular set of stabilising feedbacks (i.e. the governing stability regime) (Stringham *et al.* 2003, Briske *et al.* 2008). Disturbance within the historical range (i.e. the adaptive/evolutionary disturbance regime) essentially resets the position of a given vegetation patch along the successional trajectory, while spatial variability in the occurrence and intensity of disturbances contributes to beta diversity and a dynamic patch mosaic of ecosystem state phases, though not necessarily alternative stable states, within a landscape unit (Stringham *et al.* 2003, Briske *et al.* 2008). Transitions between state phases within a stability regime are linear and reversible (Fuhlendorf *et al.* 2001, Stringham *et al.* 2003). Such dynamics are captured in the traditional climax, equilibrium or 'range' model of community development (Briske *et al.* 2003).

Non-equilibrial system dynamics are conceptualised in 'state and transition' model frameworks (Westoby *et al.* 1989) which recognise the potential for alternative stable states and accommodate discontinuous (non-linear) and non-reversible vegetation change between these (i.e. polyclimax theory; Tansley 1935, Whittaker 1953). Alternative stable states operate under different stability regimes (i.e. sets of stabilising feedbacks), and transitions between these involve the crossing of critical biotic and/or abiotic thresholds (Stringham *et al.* 2003, Briske *et al.* 2003, 2008). Such critical transitions may be fast or slow, but transition back to a previous alternative state is improbable without active management and significant input (Friedel 1991, Prober *et al.* 2005, Stringham *et al.* 2003).

Early use of the state and transition framework was confounded by lack of recognition that both equilibrium and non-equilibrium dynamics may occur in ecosystems (Briske et al. 2003, 2005). In addition, disturbance history may significantly influence observed response dynamics. For example, reversible (linear) shifts in floristic composition are apparent in response to changes in grazing intensity in systems with a long evolutionary history of grazing and where resilience mechanisms to this type of disturbance have evolved; irreversible transitions and alternative stable states (i.e. non-equilibrial dynamics) are more likely in systems where grazing is a novel disturbance to which resilience mechanisms are not fully developed (Cingolani et al. 2005a). These issues have been resolved to some extent by clarification of terminology and better definition of model terms (Stringham et al. 2003), and by increasing empirical evidence and understanding of the behaviours of complex ecosystems (e.g. Cingolani et al. 2005a, Colloff and Baldwin 2010). Concurrent development of resilience theory has led to greater recognition of the value of the state and transition approach in effectively conceptualising elements of ecosystem resilience and change (Briske et al. 2006, 2008). At the same time, research into the role of plant functional traits in vegetation community dynamics provides an important mechanistic link between vegetation change and ecosystem function, which can also be represented within the state and transition framework (McIntyre and Lavorel 2007).

State and transition models

The state and transition modelling framework (Westoby *et al.* 1989) is based on the theoretical concept of non-equilibrial ecosystem dynamics and resilience. This theory effectively proposes that different successional trajectories are possible within a landscape unit, and that ecosystems can be expressed as a number of alternative stable (resilient or resistant) states separated by transitions from one stability regime to another in response to environmental change (Holling 1973, Walker *et al.* 1999, Gunderson 2000, Chapter 1). Resilience theory proposes that a stable state is maintained by negative (stabilising) feedbacks which reinforce the current state (Peterson *et al.* 1998, Briske *et al.* 2006, 2008), while change between states involves a 'switch' from these to positive feedbacks ('feedforwards') which initiate, and frequently accelerate, change (Suding *et al.* 2004, Hagerthy *et al.* 2008). Transition between states may involve specific thresholds in biotic and/or abiotic conditions, with shifts across these (and between states) driven by natural events (e.g. succession, disturbances) and/or human activities (e.g. land use change,

management) (e.g. Scheffer *et al.* 2001, Scheffer and Carpenter 2003, Suding and Hobbs 2009). Such 'critical' transitions may be triggered by climatic extremes (Parmesan *et al.* 2000, Scheffer *et al.* 2001, Walther *et al.* 2002) or large infrequent disturbances (Turner *et al.* 1998), acting independently or in combination (Briske *et al.* 2008, Raffa *et al.* 2008). Transitions are often non-linear, and potentially difficult to reverse, with unpredictable outcomes due to the complexity of factors involved (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003, Suding and Hobbs 2009).

Initially developed as an alternative to the range succession model, which assumed linear reversible change, in grazing rangeland management systems (Westoby *et al.* 1989), state and transition models (STMs) have gained wide acceptance as tools for representing non-linear ecosystem responses to change, particularly where this is management-induced (Stringham *et al.* 2003). STMs provide a framework for organizing current understanding of ecosystem dynamics; information about potential alternative states can be graphically arranged (as box and arrow diagrams, with boxes representing states and phases within states and arrows representing transitions) in order to clarify relationships between these. Originally based on states defined by dominant indicator pasture species (e.g. Stockwell *et al.* 1994, Phelps and Bosch 2002), STMs have since been developed to incorporate a comprehensive range of ecosystem components relating to ecosystem structure and ecological function (e.g. Stringham *et al.* 2003, Briske *et al.* 2008). STMs are now applied widely across a range of management contexts and ecosystem types subject to transition due to natural or anthropogenic disturbance, including:

- the management and restoration of endangered eucalypt woodlands (Yates and Hobbs 1997, Prober *et al.* 2002b, Spooner and Allcock 2006);
- threshold responses to secondary salinity in southern Australia (Cramer and Hobbs 2005);
- post-mining rehabilitation to a self-sustaining jarrah forest ecosystem in Western Australia (Grant 2006);
- impacts of grazing, fire and climate impacts on carbon dynamics in Australian savannas (Hill *et al.* 2005), and of natural disturbances and fire management in the upper Grande Ronde Sub-basin of northeast Oregon (Hemstrom *et al.* 2007);

• response in plant traits to changes in soil resource availability and disturbance regimes associated with changing grassland management in subalpine grasslands in the central French Alps (Quetier *et al.* 2007).

A set of concise definitions for state-and-transition model components was developed by Stringham *et al.* (2003). This has contributed to greater clarity in the development of STMs, which increasingly encompass factors which govern the resilience and resistance of an ecosystem's primary ecological processes, hence ecosystem stability. These include abiotic factors relating to landscape function (Tongway and Hindley 2004), such as hydrology and soil characteristics (depth, organic matter, structure and fertility) (Briske *et al.* 2006, Lopez *et al.* 2011), which underpin key species recruitment and community assembly processes (Prober *et al.* 2002b, Henkin *et al.* 2007, Lopez *et al.* 2011).

Alternative stable states in state-and-transition models (STMs) are defined by community composition, structure and ecological function, within an ecological system or landscape unit (Westoby et al. 1989, Stringham et al. 2003, Briske et al. 2008). A stable state can encompass a number of state phases between which the ecosystem may move in response to changes in the historical disturbance regime under which it has evolved and to which it is adapted (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003, Briske et al. 2008). This dynamism is inherent in healthy well-functioning ecosystems and falls within the stability regime of the ecosystem as long as rates of fundamental primary processes such as hydrology, energy capture, and nutrient cycling are not significantly altered (Stringham et al. 2003). For example, Colloff and Baldwin (2010) describe floodplain and wetland ecosystems in semi-arid environments such as occur in the Murray Darling Basin as a single state, despite significant transitions between wet and dry phases driven by episodic floods and droughts, as the species assemblages occurring in these systems are adapted to both drought and flooding. Alternatively, a similarly dynamic stable state, incorporating state phases within a stability domain, may develop in response to a new set of stabilising feedbacks under novel environmental conditions (Carpenter et al. 2001).

Transitions between state phases are, by definition, reversible, whereas transitions between alternative states are effectively irreversible without active management. Such 'critical' transitions involve thresholds, across which one or more primary ecological properties or processes change (Friedel 1991, Groffman *et al.* 2006). A

threshold may be defined by significant change in functions that determine and regulate the dynamics of an ecosystem, resulting in severely diminished resilience (Lopez *et al.* 2011) and a shift to alternative ecosystem states with different sets of stabilising feedbacks and different structural and functional characteristics (Bestelmeyer et al. 2009, Lopez *et al.* 2011).

Resilience-based STMs

Briske *et al.* (2008) have recently proposed modifications to the STM framework to incorporate factors relevant to current understandings of ecosystem resilience, such as feedbacks, community phases vulnerable to change, triggers and restoration pathways (listed and defined in Table 7.1) which better describe dynamics within, and changes between, states. This approach aims to provide a unified framework that links ecological theory and processes with management. The focus in such a model is to highlight understanding, and knowledge gaps in the understanding, of threshold mechanisms and potential trajectories in alternative post-threshold states, in recognition of the critical consequences for land management associated with ecosystem state changes on individual ecological sites. This provides the opportunity to identify at-risk community phases, potential environmental triggers and threshold progression and to increase insight into the feedback mechanisms that determine resilience in the preferred state and drive critical transitions across thresholds (Briske *et al.* 2006).

Table 7.1Resilience-based concepts recommended for incorporation in the state-and-
transition modelling framework (after Briske et al. 2008)

Concept	Definition	Reference
Alternative states	Temporally or spatially separated plant community states (incorporating phase-changes within states), with characteristic composition, structure and function associated with a regime of environmental variability (e.g. fertility, hydrology, management, disturbance), occurring on similar soils within a local area	Holling 1973, Walker <i>et al.</i> 1999, Gunderson 2000, Stringham <i>et al.</i> 2003
At-risk community phase	Plant community phase that is most vulnerable to exceeding the limits to resilience of the state, and most likely to undergo transition to an alternative state.	Folke <i>et al.</i> 2004, Walker <i>et al.</i> 2004
Ecological resilience	System capacity to maintain its fundamental structure and function through stabilising feedback mechansims when subject to disturbance or change.	Holling 1973, Walker <i>et al.</i> 1999, Gunderson 2000, Chatham <i>et al.</i> 2009
Feedback mechanisms	Ecological processes that enhance (i.e. stabilising negative feedbacks) or decrease (i.e. destabilising positive feedbacks) ecosystem resilience.	Peterson <i>et al.</i> 1998, Briske <i>et al.</i> 2006, 2008
Feedback switch	Point at which system feedbacks shift from being dominated by stabilising negative feedbacks, that enhance ecosystem resilience and maintain a state in a particular stability domain, to being dominated by positive feedbacks that decrease ecosystem resilience and increase the probability of state change.	Suding <i>et al.</i> 2004, Grigulis <i>et al.</i> 2005, Scheffer <i>et al.</i> 2005, Briske et al. 2006, Hagerthy <i>et al.</i> 2008
Restoration pathway	Re-establishment of a desirable pre-threshold state requiring active restoration of the stabilising (negative feedback) mechanisms required to maintain that state.	Suding et al. 2004, Young <i>et al.</i> 2005, Bestelmeyer 2006, Briske <i>et al.</i> 2006, 2008, King and Hobbs 2006
Thresholds	Levels of biotic (e.g. invasive species) and/or abiotic conditions which exceed the limits of ecological resilience and induce changes (often non-linear) in ecosystem structure and/or function, resulting in a shift to alternative states.	Friedel 1991, Scheffer <i>et al.</i> 2001, Scheffer and Carpenter 2003, Chapin <i>et al.</i> 2006b, Groffman <i>et al.</i> 2006, Suding and Hobbs 2009
Transitions	Transitions are vectors of change. They may be either reversible (occurring between phases within a state) or irreversible/ ^c critical ² (occurring between alternative states when a threshold has been breached).	Stringham <i>et al.</i> 2003, Briske <i>et al.</i> 2006
Triggers	Biotic or abiotic variables or events which act independently or in combination to initiate threshold-related processes (feedback switch, regime shift) by contributing to critical loss of ecosystem resilience in an ecosystem state.	Rietkerk and van de Koppel 1997, Scheffer <i>et al.</i> 2001, Mayer and Rietkerk 2004, Briske <i>et al.</i> 2006, 2008

7.1.2 Conceptual modelling of floodplain/riparian ecosystems

While there have been many STMs developed for rangeland situations to represent and predict ecosystem responses to grazing disturbance, this approach is rarely applied to riparian ecosystems (Stringham et al. 2001, Wondzell et al. 2006), despite widespread recognition that these systems are often significantly impacted by altered hydrological regimes and within-patch management regimes (Chapter 1). Baker and Walford (1995) tested the 'state and transition' concept in riparian vegetation on a river reach in southwestern Colorado. They describe a mosaic of patches of different ages since flooding, but found no consistent pattern of post-flood succession in trends in species richness, mean percent cover, and species composition, suggesting differing successional trajectories (to alternative stable states) in response to exceptional flooding events which significantly altered the physical environment. Colloff and Baldwin (2010) used an STM approach to conceptualise ecosystem resilience in the semi-arid floodplain and wetland ecosystems of the Murray-Darling Basin. The model for these systems is based on a single state with transitions between wet and dry phases driven by episodic floods and droughts. Colloff and Baldwin (2010) conclude that floodplains and wetlands in semi-arid environments are subject to strong, periodic abiotic disturbances and that ecosystem functions and biogeochemical processes in such systems are driven by spatio-temporal variability and assemblages of species adapted to both drought and flooding.

Colloff and Baldwin (2010) suggest that the primary mechanism through which resilience is lost, and the potential for a critical transition to an alternative state increased, in semi-arid floodplain and wetland ecosystems is extreme drying outside the range historically experienced in these systems (e.g. due to climatic change and/or over-allocation of water resources). This concurs with the findings of Stringham *et al.* (2001) who developed an STM for riparian ecosystems in a semi-arid floodplain production landscape, subject to groundwater extraction for pasture irrigation purposes, in eastern Oregon, USA. Four distinct plant community states were identified, with critical transitions driven by differences in soil moisture content or depth to groundwater during the growing season (Stringham *et al.* 2001). The authors conclude that models of vegetation dynamics based on concepts of non-equilibrium ecology are appropriate tools for conceptualising and predicting change

in the riparian ecosystems. They also suggest that vegetation change in response to soil water and groundwater gradients in these communities is likely to be step-wise, rather than linear, with community stability or resilience to change maintained up to a critical threshold, but sudden and potentially irreversible change once this threshold is crossed (Stringham *et al.* 2001).

7.1.3 This study

This research sought to identify key patterns and drivers of ecosystem condition and function in remnant floodplain riparian woodlands associated with agricultural production landscapes of the northern Murray-Darling Basin (MDB), eastern Australia, to better understand the role of altered disturbance in these systems. It investigated links between landscape pattern, hydrological flows, patch management, and the composition and condition of riparian woodlands in an intensively developed section of the Upper Condamine floodplain, southern Queensland.

Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain are significantly reduced in extent (Chapter 2), and, as confirmed in this study, generally in poor condition. This research indicates significant response in floristic composition, community structure and functional diversity, and potentially resilience (i.e. vulnerability) to future disturbance, to gradients in land use intensity, resource availability (including shallow groundwater) and the abundance of the dominant invasive species Phyla canescens (lippia) in these riparian woodland remnants. High levels of P. canescens are evident across all study sites (Chapter 3), associated with land use intensity (in this case, the proportion of irrigation cropping and grazing land uses; Chapter 5), and facilitated, under certain circumstances, by a close association with the presence of trees (Chapter 6). Moderate to severe dieback is prevalent in mature E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis trees (Chapter 4), indicating significant environmental stress within this landscape associated with land use intensity, chronic groundwater decline, and within-patch grazing (Chapter 5). This is accompanied by limited recruitment in this dominant canopy species complex, but increasing abundance of the subdominant canopy species Acacia stenophylla, particularly where eucalypt decline/dieback severity is greatest and tree density is lowest (Chapter 5). Significant changes in floristic composition and functional group

transition ratios were also apparent in response to gradients in groundwater decline, tree condition and lippia cover in this landscape (Chapter 5).

This chapter synthesises these findings into a conceptual resilience-based STM (Briske *et al.* 2008) or response model for riparian woodland communities on the Upper Condamine floodplain. The proposed model identifies key observed and potential ecological states and critical transitions between these, based on evidence of association derived from this study and from a review of the relevant literature.

7.2 Methods

Key findings from this research were organised into a state and transition model framework comprising key states and transitions between these in response to major changes apparent in the Upper Condamine floodplain landscape. Modifications to the base STM framework (comprising alternative states and transitions) which better describe dynamics within, and changes between, states in a resilience-based STM, proposed by Briske *et al.* (2008), were incorporated. This approach includes factors relevant to current understanding of ecosystem resilience (i.e. feedbacks, community phases vulnerable to change, triggers and restoration pathways etc., as defined in Table 7.1).

7.3 Results and discussion

7.3.1 A resilience-based STM for riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain

Components of a proposed state and transition model (STM) for riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain are outlined in Table 7.2. This table, based on the resilience-based STM components suggested by Briske *et al.* (2008), lists:

- (i) proposed indicators for each of the proposed ecosystem states (S1-S4);
- (ii) negative or stabilising feedbacks potentially operating to maintain each state;
- (iii) the at-risk community phase which is most likely to undergo transition to the alternative state (S_{x+1});

- (iv) possible trigger events or tipping points which result in the proposed feedback switch (negative to positive); and
- (v) subsequent critical transitions across thresholds (T1-T3) to alternative states.

Key states and critical transitions are presented graphically in Figure 7.1.
Table 7.2Components of a proposed resilience-based state and transition model(STM) for riparian woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain (after Briske et al. 2008).Descriptions of alternative states (S1-S4) include indicators of vegetation states and within-
state phases (including the at-risk community phase), feedbacks and triggers; proposed
transitions (T1-T3) describe possible thresholds.

	Factor	Description
S1	Indicators	Dominant canopy of <i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> , with some evidence of dieback in response to grazing and/or drought intensity (Davidson <i>et al.</i> 2007), pulse recruitment in response to flood events, and a range of size/age classes where grazing is limited (Dorrough and Moxham 2005, George <i>et al.</i> 2005); with or without an <i>Acacia</i> sp. sub-canopy; diverse perennial groundcover species composition (C3 and C4 habitat generalists and species adapted to grazing, drought and flooding) (Mcintyre <i>et al.</i> 1999b, Colloff and Baldwin 2010); inter-tussock patches small and disconnected and occupied periodically by short-lived native species (Stromberg <i>et al.</i> 2009)
	Stabilising feedbacks	Perennial groundcover minimises soil, nutrient and water movement from high intensity storms and flooding, and enhances infiltration (Yates <i>et al.</i> 2000); deeprooted canopy species with access to shallow groundwater maintain condition and facilitate persistence of groundcover species during drought periods (Elmore <i>et al.</i> 2003, 2006a); persistent propagule/seedbanks facilitate recovery with flooding and/or return to normal conditions (Capon 2007).
	At risk community phase	Native and perennial groundcover low and patchy, large interconnected patches of bare ground periodically occupied by short-lived and/or grazing-resistant species (Yates <i>et al.</i> 2000, McIvor <i>et al.</i> 2005, Truscott <i>et al.</i> 2008)
	Trigger	Land use practices, including grazing within remnants +/- cropping in the surrounding matrix, +/- drought reduce resilience and increase susceptibility to invasive species (Truscott <i>et al.</i> 2008, Price <i>et al.</i> 2011, Chapter 5)
T1	Threshold	Introduction and flood dispersal of lippia in the landscape (Stokes et al. 2007, 2008)
S2	Indicators	Dominant canopy of <i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> , with some evidence of dieback in response to grazing and/or drought intensity (Chapters 4 and 5), pulse recruitment, in response to flood events, and a range of size/age classes where grazing is limited (as above); with or without an <i>Acacia</i> sp. sub-canopy; diverse perennial groundcover species composition (habitat generalists and species adapted to grazing, drought and flooding) (Chapters 3 and 5). Bare patches occupied by lippia after flooding (MacDonald 2008, Price <i>et al.</i> 2011); lippia consolidation (phalanx growth habit) where groundcover is reduced due to grazing and/or flooding and soil moisture is retained (Price <i>et al.</i> 2008, 2011)
	Stabilising feedbacks	Healthy (functional) deep-rooted canopy species access and redistribute subsoil moisture and/or groundwater through well-functioning surface roots, maintaining tree health and facilitating persistence (limiting loss) of groundcover species, including lippia, during drought periods (Chapter 5)
	At risk community phase	Lippia dominant under tree canopies (Chapters 5 and 6) and potentially competitive with trees for scarce soil moisture resources during drought (e.g. Ludwig <i>et al.</i> 2004a); grazing livestock contribute to soil compaction, reduced moisture infiltration and constrain eucalypt surface root condition and function (Yates <i>et al.</i> 2000); reduced access to surface soil moisture contributes to drought stress responses in trees (tip death, cavitation, branch sacrifice, reduced productivity, increased susceptibility to infection etc (Alder <i>et al.</i> 1996, Rice <i>et al.</i> 2004)
	Trigger	Drought and associated soil moisture stress, exacerbated by present of grazing livestock and/or increased competition (especially from lippia) for limited soil moisture resources (Chapters 5 and 6)
T2	Threshold	Water management (altered hydrological regime, water diversion, extraction) which contributes to groundwater decline in shallow alluvial aquifers (CSIRO 2008, Chapter 2) below levels (e.g. 15 m) which support tree health (Chapter 5) and survival during periods of critical soil moisture deficit (Horner <i>et al.</i> 2009).
S 3	Indicators	Mature Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis sparsely distributed and in poor

	Factor	Description
		health (moderate-severe dieback), with significant numbers of stags and little successful recruitment (restricted age distribution) (Chapters 4 and 5); increasing levels of dieback in response to hydrological stress +/- grazing (Chapters 4 and 5). Increasing prevalence of <i>Acacia</i> spp. where grazing is excluded (Chapter 5). Groundcover floristics dominated by lippia (Chapter 3); non-lippia vegetation comprising resistant perennial groundcover species (species adapted to grazing, drought and/or flooding) (Mcintyre <i>et al.</i> 1999b, Colloff and Baldwin 2010, Chapter 6). Lippia persistent in drought refugia under trees (Chapter 6)
	Stabilising feedbacks	Some recovery of tree condition and groundcover composition with good rainfall and/or flooding which disperses propagules and replenishes surface and subsoil moisture reserves (Amlin and Rood 2003, Yurkonis and Meiners 2006)
	At risk community phase	Tree condition fails to respond to improved soil moisture conditions, evident as ongoing incremental loss/mortality of mature eucalypts and recruitment failure despite adequate rainfall and/or flooding (Cox <i>et al.</i> 2005, Croft <i>et al.</i> 2007, Jensen <i>et al.</i> 2007). Poor tree health and lippia infestation are also contributing factors in decisions to clear smaller unmapped remnants not covered by tree clearing legislation under the <i>Vegetation Management Act 1999</i> , contributing significantly to reduced extent and increasing fragmentation of this vegetation type (pers. obs.).
	Trigger	Biotic failure of canopy tree species (loss of root function, hydraulic failure, increased susceptibility to infection/infestation, reproductive failure) +/- exacerbated by drought (Croft <i>et al.</i> 2007)
T3	Threshold	Low patch-scale cover of riparian eucalypts, poor propagule dispersal and recruitment resulting in a demographic failure in the <i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> metapopulation (e.g. Aldrich and Hamrick 1998)
S4	Indicators	 S4a: dominant canopy of Acacia stenophylla where flooding occurs and/or soil conditions are suitable (CSIRO 2004, Doody et al. 2009) and grazing is restricted (Chapter 5); groundcover of flood- and drought-resistant species (Chapter 5) and/or nitrogen-dependent (nitrophilic) species (Prober et al. 2002b, 2005), including lippia (Clech-Goods 2010); and/or S4b: limited woody species canopy where soil or moisture constraints/grazing occur (potentially another threshold, T4) (Scholes and Archer 1997, Mills et al. 2006); diverse perennial graminoid groundcover species composition (habitat generalists and species adapted to drought and flooding) under sustainable grazing/where grazing is excluded (i.e. conversion to floodplain grassland); grazing-resistant grassland/herbfield where overgrazing occurs (McIvor et al. 2005), with lippia potentially dominant under adequate soil moisture conditions (Price et al. 2010a, Berney et al. 2010).
	Stabilising feedbacks	Perennial groundcover minimises soil, nutrient and water movement with high intensity rainfall and flooding, and enhances infiltration (Yates <i>et al.</i> 2000); persistent propagule-/seed-banks facilitate recovery with flooding and/or return to normal conditions (Capon 2007); limited availability and/or dispersal of <i>Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis</i> seed material within the landscape (Dorrough and Moxham 2005, George <i>et al.</i> 2005, Jensen <i>et al.</i> 2007, 2008a,b). Where <i>Acacia</i> species dominate, nitrification and nitrogen cycling maintain high levels of nitrophilic species (e.g. Prober <i>et al.</i> 2002b), potentially including lippia (Clech-Goods 2010).



Figure 7.1 A conceptual state and transition model for Upper Condamine floodplain riparian woodland. Only key phase changes within states are indicated. Transitions are indicated by solid arrows; restoration pathways are indicated by dashed arrows; and critical thresholds (biotic, management) are shown as broken lines. Detailed descriptions of states and feedbacks are provided in Table 7.2.

The proposed conceptual resilience-based state and transition model for riparian woodland ecosystems of the Upper Condamine floodplain (Table 7.2, Figure 7.1) comprises four key alternative ecological states (S1-S4) separated by three critical transitions and potential thresholds (T1-T3) between these. These include a pre-lippia landscape (S1), with riparian grassy eucalypt woodland composition exhibiting reversible transitions (not shown in Figure 7.1, but described in Table 7.2) between within-state phases in response to episodic flood and drought events (Colloff and Baldwin 2010). Livestock grazing, a novel disturbance in these ecosystems, is likely to have driven transitions to alternative states with significantly altered floristic composition and community structure, as has been found in other situations (e.g. Spooner and Allcock 2006, McIntyre and Lavorel 2007); however, this was not able to be tested in this study, which was conducted in a post-invasion lippia-dominated landscape (S2).

Transition to a lippia-invaded landscape

The critical transition (T1) between these two alternative states represents an irreversible change associated with the introduction and spread of lippia within the Upper Condamine floodplain landscape, creating a novel ecosystem type (*sensu* Hobbs *et al.* 2006, 2009) in which lippia plays a dominant ecological role, facilitated by flooding, grazing, the presence of scattered eucalypts and the intensification of land use (Chapters 5 and 6). Reversal of this transition is highly unlikely, given lippia's capacity to form a persistent soil seedbank (Macdonald 2008) and evidence of its potential for rapid micro-evolution and ongoing adaptation to future disturbances such as climate change (Xu *et al.* 2010a).

Within lippia-invaded floodplain riparian woodlands (S2), lippia is a dominant and functionally important species influencing the composition, structure and function of these woodlands (Chapter 5); however, it is also responsive to a range of disturbance regimes and to the condition (density, height) of non-lippia groundcover vegetation (Chapter 6). Close association between the presence of trees and lippia is evident, with greater lippia cover and reproductive effort in close proximity to trees. This 'halo effect' is in part linked to reduced cover of other (non-lippia) groundcover species close to trees and consequent higher light availability at ground level, but may also be influenced by the concentration of resources (soil nutrients, soil

moisture) and altered soil condition associated with the presence of trees in this landscape. Facilitation by trees may provide a critical refuge for this mesic C3 species, enhancing its persistence in this landscape, particularly during periods of severe drought (Chapter 6). Flooding, and a return to 'normal' rainfall conditions, in combination with grazing is likely to see lippia abundance increase across the landscape (Price et al. 2008, 2010a, Berney et al. 2010), with consequent shifts in the floristic composition and structure of these communities (Chapters 5 and 6). Thus phase changes and reversible transitions within S2 are likely to occur in response to climatic conditions (drought, rainfall, flooding), particularly where these occur in combination with levels of grazing which reduce the cover density and height of nonlippia vegetation (Taylor and Ganf 2005, Price et al. 2008, 2011, Chapter 6). Critical transitions to alternative states are possible in response to high levels of grazing in combination with suitable soil moisture conditions, but increasing lippia abundance under these conditions generally leads to destocking (Lucy et al. 1995) and subsequent native vegetation recovery over time (e.g. QMDC 2005) with ecosystem responses buffered by persistent soil seedbanks and flood dispersal of species propagules from upslope sources. Loss of persistent soil seedbanks due to reproductive failure or extreme drought or flooding, in combination with loss of upstream remnants or flood dispersal limitation due to floodplain flow diversion structures may limit recruitment in these communities (Chapter 5), but this requires further investigation.

Lippia may also exacerbate drought stress in riparian eucalypts, as suggested in Chapter 6. However, chronic decline (increasing dieback severity) in the dominant canopy species in these woodlands, *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*, appears to be driven by groundwater decline (Chapters 4 and 5). *E. camaldulensis* is a deep-rooted phreatic species (Thorburn *et al.* 1993, 1994, Mensforth *et al.* 1994) which is increasingly dependent on accessible groundwater resources during periods of surface soil moisture deficit (Thorburn *et al.* 1993, Doody *et al.* 2009). It is capable of accessing subsoil moisture and groundwater to depths of approximately 15 m (Mensforth *et al.* 1994, Horner *et al.* 2009), and passively redistributing this water from deep sinker roots to shallow surface roots and surface soils (Burgess *et al.* 1998). This process (hydraulic lift) has been shown elsewhere to contribute to the maintenance of the surface root systems of trees during periods of limited precipitation and low soil moisture (Burgess *et al.* 1998, Scholz *et al.* 2002), and to enhance the abundance and diversity of neighbouring groundcover (Ludwig *et al.* 2004b) and shrub (Zou *et al.* 2005) species. In this study, groundwater level is a strong predictor of groundcover composition; this is potentially mediated through the hydraulic function of mature eucalypts in the study landscape (Chapter 5), indicating that trees may well be critical (keystone) elements contributing to functional response and resilience in these communities.

Transition to groundwater-independent riparian woodlands

A second critical transition (T2), from a riparian landscape buffered by groundwater connectivity (S2) to one disconnected from groundwater (S3), is effectively a socioecological threshold (Anderies *et al.* 2006, Chapin *et al.* 2006b, Folke 2006) associated with the development of irrigated agriculture on the Upper Condamine floodplain and currently supported by high levels of water resource use in this region (Chapter 2). Chronic groundwater decline/falling groundwater levels are evident in bore hydrographs since the commencement of irrigated agriculture in the 1960s, and, despite significant flood events in that period, there is no evidence of recovery. This has resulted in groundwater depths which now, in parts of the riparian landscape, potentially exceed levels accessible to deep-rooted phreatic species such as *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*, potentially leaving these more susceptible to drought stress and contributing to dieback responses (Chapter 5) and increased mortality (Horner *et al.* 2009).

Increasing groundwater depth and poorer tree health in this study were associated with changes in groundcover composition and functional diversity under drought conditions at the time of sampling. In semi-arid ecosystems elsewhere, access to shallow groundwater provides a stabilising buffer to drought and is an important factor in the composition, structure, function and resilience of these ecosystems (e.g. Elmore *et al.* 2006a). Loss of deep-rooted woody vegetation due to groundwater decline may contribute not only to significant change in floristic composition in associated herbaceous vegetation, but also to increasing sensitivity and vulnerability to climatic events (e.g. Elmore *et al.* 2006a).

Transition to alternative riparian ecosystem types

Increased drought susceptibility and declining condition of mature riparian eucalypts under drought conditions, in combination with poor recruitment in these species (Chapter 5), may be indicative of eventual population failure (Rice et al. 2004, George et al. 2005, Jensen et al. 2008a). This represents a third critical transition (T3) from an ecosystem state where these canopy eucalypts, despite declining condition and function, still dominate (S3) and an alternative state (S4) in which they are effectively absent due to population failure in these ecosystems. Disconnection from groundwater in similarly adapted phreatic riparian tree species is reported to cause significant canopy dieback and physiological failure (embolism, cavitation), contributing to increased mortality within local populations (e.g. Cooper et al. 2003b, Froend and Drake 2006) and shifts in dominance within ecosystems (e.g. Shafroth et al. 2000, Stromberg et al. 2007b). Although not tested in this system, accessible groundwater is likely to be the critical factor delimiting the extent of floodplain woodlands and grasslands on the floodplain. Bren (1992) reports invasion of a floodplain grassland ecosystem by Eucalyptus camaldulensis in response to rising groundwater levels on the Moira grass Pseudoraphis spinescens-dominated War Plains in the southern Murray Darling Basin, indicating that the converse (i.e. decline in E. camaldulensis) may also be true where groundwater levels are falling. On the Upper Condamine floodplain, it is likely that the declining extent of E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis woodlands due to groundwater decline would result in replacement of current riparian woodland communities.

The alternative non-eucalypt riparian ecosystem state (S4) is likely to comprise community phases of low woodlands or shrublands dominated by *Acacia* species (e.g. *A. stenophylla*), floodplain grasslands (where lippia cover is low) or herblands dominated by lippia (Table 7.2, Figure 7.1). This alternative state may not be realised for considerable time after a threshold for eucalypt persistence has been passed in this landscape due to significant lags in responses, as well as the capacity for short-term adaptive recovery, in long-lived species such as *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*. However, chronic decline in this species complex is already apparent in this landscape in terms of the health of mature trees (Chapter 4). Coupled with poor recruitment and survival of recruits, it is likely that this decline will persist, and potentially increase, over time with declining tree health and increased frequency and

intensity of drought conditions associated with predicted climate change (Dorrough and Moxham 2005, George *et al.* 2005, Jensen *et al.* 2007, 2008a,b). A demographic study of canopy species in riparian woodlands of the Upper Condamine has not been conducted, but would provide valuable evidence of population trends.

7.3.2 Significance and limitations

The synthesis of results from this current research, in combination with evidence from previous studies in similar ecosystems elsewhere, into a resilience-based state and transition model provides insight into the potential for retention of riparian *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain, a highly modified production landscape. It also identifies critical gaps in our current knowledge and understanding of these systems, and provides direction for future research to fill these.

Briske et al. (2008) argue that the organisation of knowledge and understanding of an ecological system into a resilience-based STM is a means of focusing attention on management and policies which promote within-state resilience and reduce the potential for state transitions across critical thresholds (i.e. effectively, the limits of state resilience). However, this presumes an accurate knowledge of the mechanisms involved and the identification of valid indicators of change, as well as the capacity to influence the key drivers of change. On the Upper Condamine floodplain, it appears that thresholds have been crossed; however, critical transitions between alternative states may not yet be fully realised due to lag times in ecosystem response (Chapin et al. 1993, Scott et al. 1999). This is particularly the case with T2, the groundwater depth threshold in this model. Significant responses in long-lived adaptive species such as Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis may not be evident for some time after such a threshold is crossed, due to the species' capacity to access water from a variety of sources and adaptive responses such as canopy thinning to reduce evaporative demand (Chaves et al. 2003, Doody and Overton 2009) and epicormic regrowth following stress (Landsberg and Wylie 1983, 1988, Marsh and Adams 1995). It is likely that severe drought conditions contribute to a critical rate of change in trees already responding to chronic groundwater decline. Management intervention (if feasible) in these situations is likely to be inadequate in a system in which there is only limited capacity to redress the situation. For example, the volume of stored water in the Upper Condamine river system is relatively small and the provision of environmental flows is unlikely to contribute significantly to groundwater rise in a system in which surface and ground waters are effectively disconnected along much of this section of the river (CSIRO 2008).

Conversely, better definition of potential thresholds may contribute to the identification of sites at which groundwater is still within the accessible range, and may form the basis for strategic management of these sites and of groundwater levels in their vicinity. While new developments such as the emerging coal seam gas industry in southern Queensland are fraught with potential environmental problems (Moran and Vink 2010), the quantity of water likely to be extracted and available for re-use may represent an opportunity, where appropriate water quality can be assured, to supplement groundwater at high priority sites. Similarly, in-stream weirs appear to ameliorate the impacts of groundwater decline on tree condition in areas immediately downstream; in-stream barriers (weirs and large woody debris) which act to slow flow and retain water within the system may contribute to locally enhanced groundwater conditions to support better tree health (Chapter 4 and 5). Both options appear worthy of further investigation to ascertain their feasibility and potential contribution to improved groundwater connectivity.

This STM captures only the primary drivers of change in these woodlands. To accurately incorporate the range of disturbances which impact on riparian woodland systems in the Upper Condamine landscape (as indicated in Chapter 5) would lead to a potentially complex array of states, phases and transitions for which there is currently little empirical evidence. However, it does highlight critical transitions suggested by this research, and point to the value of the state and transition modelling framework as a tool for conceptualising ecosystem dynamics in such a highly disturbed system. It also highlights the need to better understand the mechanisms associated with vegetation change in this landscape, in particular the role of key dominant species in driving changes in floristic composition and community structure.

Further development of this model is also required in order to quantify the probability of change (Bellamy and Brown 1994, Briske *et al.* 2006, Rumpff *et al.* 2011), particularly where this is associated with delayed response. Such a quantitative predictive model would also incorporate probabilities associated with the

potential for reversal of critical transitions and restoration of preferred ecosystem states (Young *et al.* 2005, Briske *et al.* 2006), and would provide valuable support to sustainable resource management in this landscape.

While developed for riparian woodland ecosystems on the Upper Condamine floodplain, this STM may also be applicable in similar ephemeral river systems and multi-use landscapes in the northern Murray Darling Basin, particularly where there is evidence of groundwater decline. This might include other irrigated cropping regions, but could also potentially apply where the emerging coal seam gas industry is predicted to place significant pressure on groundwater systems (Moran and Vink 2010). Accurate monitoring of groundwater levels in shallow aquifers supporting water-dependent vegetation, and management to reduce the risk of groundwater decline below levels accessible to phreatic species, may be necessary to avoid risk associated with loss of resilience in these systems (Eamus *et al.* 2006) and transition to less-functional ecosystem states.

7.4 Conclusions

The resilience-based state and transition model developed in this chapter provides insight into the potential for retention of riparian Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis woodland ecosystems on the highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain. Significant transitions identified include the historical shift from a preinvasion lippia-free landscape to one in which lippia is a dominant component of native ecosystems on the floodplain, particularly in locations where flooding and grazing have occurred over time. A second critical transition, driven by chronic groundwater decline associated with the development of irrigated agriculture, is currently being realised in the decline of the dominant phreatic canopy species; this is likely to have been exacerbated by drought conditions, indicating a loss of resilience within these communities. The important functional role played by this species within these woodlands is indicative of a future critical transition from a savanna woodland landscape to one in which trees play a limited functional role. Likely outcomes of this transition are Acacia stenophylla-dominant shrubland and floodplain grassland or lippia-dominant herbland ecosystems; further research is required in order to determine the value of these systems in terms of ecosystem service provision.

The potential to redress chronic groundwater decline in this system is limited under current water resource allocation arrangements. However, there is an opportunity to identify parts of the landscape in which groundwater levels remain accessible to *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*. This study suggests that these sites should be prioritised in terms of management to maintain woodland function. While further research would be required to define strategies to achieve this, it is apparent that this should include management to stabilise, and possibly supplement, groundwater levels.

Chapter 8 General discussion and conclusions

8.1 Introduction and summary

Remnant ecosystems in agricultural landscapes are relatively poorly understood in terms of their diversity, function and dynamics (resilience) under altered disturbance regimes; yet these ecosystems can contribute significantly to our understanding of how ecological systems respond to change. Such knowledge is vital to our understanding of how major disturbances such as climate change may play out, and how management may most effectively respond to retain biodiversity (ecological diversity and function) and ecosystem services in these important landscapes.

This thesis has reported research results from studies investigating patterns in the composition, structure and condition of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* riparian woodlands on the highly modified Upper Condamine floodplain, southern Queensland. It has contributed new understanding of responses in riparian woodland ecosystems to natural and anthropogenic disturbance on the Upper Condamine floodplain, and also contributes to a more general understanding of the dynamics of ecosystem remnants in highly modified landscapes. While sampling at one point in time, in this case during significant drought, means that the full range of ecological response in these communities was not captured, this study provides an insight into the resilience and resistance to extreme drought of these riparian woodland communities; this may not have been possible if sampling had occurred under more benign conditions. The research was also essentially correlative and exploratory in nature, hence relationships between environmental and response variables cannot be interpreted as indicative of cause and effect without further investigation. In addition, the highly confounded nature of some drivers (Chapters 3, 4 and 5) means that the interpretations presented in this thesis are not exclusive of alternative explanation. However, despite these limitations, this study provides clear indication of significant change in these communities, which has been interpreted in the context of previous research findings and known ecological mechanisms.

Chapters 3 and 4 tested a number of potential ecological hypotheses which are supported in other riparian and riverine systems. These included that patterns in floristic composition, functional diversity and dominant canopy tree species condition are related to differences in in-stream flow or longitudinal connectivity, lateral connectivity across the floodplain (in terms of both overbank flooding and overland flow), and within-remnant land use (i.e. grazed or ungrazed). Key findings of these studies were that significantly lower floristic and functional diversity and poorer tree condition were potentially explained by reduced hydrological variability, concurring with studies elsewhere (e.g. Ward and Stanford 1995b, Stromberg *et al.* 2007a); however, this was confounded by evidence of greater land and water use intensity in these sections of this landscape. Significant interaction between longitudinal connectivity and land use, and, in some cases, lateral connectivity and land use, indicated that a complexity of drivers influence ecosystem patterns in this modified production landscape.

These studies also confirmed that floodplain riparian *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* woodlands on the Upper Condamine are in poor condition, exhibiting severe dieback and mortality in dominant canopy eucalypts, as well as significant levels of invasion by the alien clonal groundcover species *Phyla canescens* (lippia), as have been previously reported (Phillips and Moller 1995, McCosker 1996, Voller 1998).

Chapter 5 investigated woodland response to a range of hydrological, land use and land cover variables at a range of scales including within-remnant (patch-scale), periremnant (adjacent landscape scale) and multi-remnant (local landscape scales). The majority of response variables (including floristic composition, functional group richness and abundance transitions, and canopy tree attributes and condition) were best explained by a combination of hydrological and land use/land cover environmental variables operating at a range of spatial scales. Key predictors of riparian woodland response in this study were land and water use intensity, including grazing at the within-remnant patch scale (within 500 m), land use intensity and land cover type in the adjacent landscape upslope of sites (within 2000 m), and the density of groundwater bores and extent of irrigated cropping in the 'local' landscape (within 5 km) surrounding sites. However, the primary abiotic driver of ecosystem response identified in this study was groundwater decline, with lower diversity and more severe dieback associated with increasing depth to groundwater, suggesting an overarching reliance on shallow groundwater resources for maintenance of ecosystem resilience. This concurs with findings from similar semi-arid dryland river systems elsewhere, particularly during extended drought when access to groundwater provides a critical buffer to low soil moisture availability (e.g. Amlin and Rood 2003, Elmore *et al.* 2003, 2006); however, this has not previously been reported for systems in the Murray-Darling Basin (MDB) and is counter to current understanding of riparian ecosystem response to water resource development in this river system. In the southern MDB, riparian ecosystem decline is generally driven by rising groundwater levels and associated salinisation. However, interrogation of the records for groundwater monitoring bores in the Upper Condamine confirmed chronic groundwater decline in this landscape over the 50 years of irrigated cropping, with limited recovery in response to wetter periods or extensive flooding (Chapter 2); this is in direct contrast to the prevailing conditions along the River Murray (CSIRO 2008).

Lippia abundance and dieback severity were also found to be important biotic drivers of ecosystem condition in these communities, and key predictors of floristic composition and functional group richness and abundance transitions. Poor tree condition was interpreted as loss of function in terms of hydraulic redistribution of deep soil moisture which acts to supplement shallow soil moisture levels (Burgess et al. 1998, Burgess and Bleby 2006) and support species which are less well adapted to the range of climatic variability experienced in this landscape (Colloff and Baldwin 2010). This may result from declining function in eucalypts associated with poor surface root condition due to the impact of grazing livestock on soil structure (Northup et al. 2005), inability to repair damaged surface roots due to carbon depletion associated with drought and declining condition (Snyder and Williams 2007), disconnection between deep roots and declining groundwater levels (Williams et al. 2006), or a combination of these factors. Responses to lippia abundance were not readily interpreted in terms of possible mechanisms affecting tree decline from the study reported in Chapter 5. However, strong associations between lippia cover and the density and mortality of mature trees indicated that this relationship might be important in this landscape, and was investigated in Chapter 6.

The study reported in Chapter 6 indicates that scattered trees play a significant role in facilitating the abundance and persistence of lippia in this landscape, and that lippia cover above approximately 20% may have a significant impact on the abundance and diversity of non-lippia species in these grassy woodlands. Lippia growing under the

canopy of mature trees exhibited high levels of abundance (cover), a consolidated matting growth form and high reproductive levels compared to areas in canopy gaps. There was a strong association between lippia cover and the availability of light at ground level, related to reduced cover of taller-growing non-lippia species under the dappled shade of scattered eucalypts. Lippia growth beyond the canopy edge was predominantly a loosely trailing exploratory 'guerrilla' form, which other studies have shown is supported through clonal integration (Xu *et al.* 2010b) and provides lippia with a capacity for rapid expansion when soil moisture conditions improve (Price *et al.* 2011). Lippia cover was also significantly correlated with the higher levels of organic carbon, chloride and exchangeable cations apparent under tree canopies; however, the mechanism underpinning the apparent increased competitive advantage of lippia over non-lippia species once its cover reaches the potential threshold level of 20% requires further investigation, as does the potential impact of lippia on tree condition.

Key relationships apparent from these studies were summarised in a conceptual resilience-based state and transition 'riparian woodland response' model (Briske et al. 2008, Chapter 7), which identified three potential critical transitions for riparian ecosystem condition and function in this landscape. The first transition was lippia invasion of the Upper Condamine landscape, which effectively transformed the riparian woodland communities into novel ecosystems in which lippia was an increasingly dominant and functional component. The second transition was the development of an irrigated agricultural industry which has driven chronic groundwater decline to levels which are effectively beyond access by deep tree roots, contributing to greater vulnerability in these ecosystems to rainfall variability and soil moisture deficit. Increased dieback severity in trees no longer able to access shallow groundwater during drought periods, in combination with recruitment failure, suggest a reduced density of woodland trees in these ecosystems over time. These are likely to be replaced by the subdominant drought-hardy species Acacia stenophylla in parts of the landscape close to the river. In other areas, these woodland ecosysytems may be replaced by the alternative floodplain ecosystem on the soil type, Dichanthium sericeum grasslands, or lippia-dominant herblands where grazing and flooding disturbances prevail. This transition may occur slowly due to the adaptive capacity of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*; however, at some point it is likely that a threshold response may become apparent with population failure in *E. camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* due to increased mortality triggered by extended drought or recruitment failure due to lack of seed production and limited dispersal, germination and survival of seedlings with extended drought and/or reduced flooding. Such a transition may contribute to a decline in lippia populations in the region, given the apparent role of trees in the persistence of lippia in this landscape, particularly during adverse climatic conditions (Chapter 6). However, it is also probable that there would be significant changes in the level of ecosystem services (e.g. flood tolerance, streambank stability, aquatic ecosystem condition, koala habitat etc) delivered in such an altered landscape.

8.1.1 Importance of surface flow (longitudinal and lateral) connectivity

In contrast to many other studies (e.g. Lite et al. 2005, Renofalt et al. 2005a,b), differences in surface flow connectivity, while apparent, were not clearly identified as dominant drivers of ecosystem condition or heterogeneity in this study. This may have been, in part, a result of the prevailing drought conditions and the lack of any major rainfall or flood events in the years preceding sampling, and cannot be interpreted as indicative of low importance to these ecosystems. Evidence of low recruitment in riparian eucalypt species alone suggests that lack of periodic inundation by floodwaters is likely to have significant long-term impacts on the population dynamics of these important canopy species (George et al. 2005, Jensen et al. 2008a), and subsequent impacts on the long-term function and resilience of these communities (Chapter 7). However, this is also potentially linked to the strong influence of additional disturbances associated with land use intensity in this highly modified landscape. Evidence of reduced floristic and functional diversity and poorer tree condition in the Middle river section (Chapters 3 and 4) coincided with limited streamflow dynamics in the years preceding sampling; however, they were also associated with greater levels of land use change and higher land and water use intensity in this section of the study area (Chapter 2). Relatively better tree condition on the Lower river section suggests the potential for in-stream weirs to influence local shallow groundwater flows, as suggested by others studies (e.g. Lane and Zinn 1980); however, this requires further investigation.

This study does indicate that overland flows which connect riparian remnants with the broader upslope landscape are likely to be important factors influencing the richness and diversity of species in riparian remnants. Evidence of significant functional group response to land use type and intensity and the presence of off-stream water storage infrastructure in the adjacent area upslope of riparian woodlands indicates that diversion of overland flow might significantly influence the dynamics and resilience of these ecosystems remnants. This effect has not been empirically demonstrated, and requires further investigation to determine whether this response is due to constraints on the dispersal of species propagules (e.g. Malanson and Armstrong 1996, Van Dorp *et al.* 1997) or changes in sedimentation, water inflows and/or water infiltration rates (Porter 2002, Bramley *et al.* 2003, Beauchamp and Stromberg 2008).

8.1.2 Importance of vertical connectivity

Vertical connectivity between surface and groundwater systems is increasingly acknowledged as an important component of riverine systems in Australia, with baseflow from shallow alluvial aquifers providing a critical buffer to in-stream flows during low rainfall runoff periods (e.g. Boulton and Hancock 2006, Evans and Neal 2006). However, the importance of shallow groundwater systems to riparian vegetation condition has received little attention, despite evidence from other parts of the world that this can be a critical factor, particularly in riparian ecosystems associated with semi-arid dryland river systems (e.g. Stromberg et al. 1996, Brunke et al. 2003, Elmore et al. 2003, 2006a). In contrast, the focus in Australia has been on the degradation of riparian systems in response to rising groundwater and salinity levels in regions, such as the southern MDB, where widespread clearing of deeprooted vegetation across catchments has significantly altered landscape hydrology (e.g. Jolly et al. 1993, Slavich et al. 1999, Overton et al. 2006) and where water management regimes maintain high in-stream, and, by association, alluvial groundwater levels (Overton et al. 2006). Significant impact on riparian systems is reported where altered hydrological regimes contribute to prolonged periods of inundation or where shallow groundwaters carry high salt loads and contribute to raised soil salinity levels (Jolly et al. 1996). There are few cases in Australia where groundwater decline is considered detrimental to a native vegetation community.

These include the Gnangara Groundwater Mound in Western Australia, where phreatic *Banskia* species suffer significant impact from groundwater drawdown associated with mining activities in the local area, particularly through seasonal summer drought periods (Zencich *et al.* 2002, Froend and Drake 2006, Canham *et al.* 2009). Horner *et al.* (2009) also report increased mortality in a densely planted maturing *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* plantation where groundwater levels exceeded 12–15 m.

Chronic groundwater decline is apparent in the Condamine Alluvium, the shallow alluvial aquifer associated with the Upper Condamine River. This has likely been driven by high levels of groundwater extraction to support irrigated agriculture over a period of 50 years, resulting in recorded declines of up to 20 m in some monitoring bores (Chapter 2). In this study, groundwater depth was a key predictor of floristic composition, functional diversity and mature tree condition. Other studies have reported the critical importance of vertical connectivity between shallow groundwater resources and ecosystem condition, particularly during periods of soil water deficit (e.g. Amlin and Rood 2003, Elmore *et al.* 2003, 2006a), suggesting that accessible groundwater provides a critical buffer against drought impacts in semi-arid water-dependent riparian systems.

8.1.3 Importance of landscape legacy

Several studies have indicated the critical influence of past land use and disturbance on current composition, structure and function in ecosystems (Lunt and Spooner 2005, Cousins 2009), although this legacy is often not readily taken into account in studies of ecosystem response (Dale *et al.* 2000). Increasing use of geographic information systems to record and interrogate spatially linked datasets provide a rich opportunity for tracking change through time (Elmore *et al.* 2006b). This may be particularly valuable for interpreting change in long-lived adaptive species such as canopy eucalypts, which may exhibit significant time-lags in response to environmental change (Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002, Vesk *et al.* 2008), and would facilitate predictive modeling of future change in these ecosystems (Chapter 7). Such temporal connectivity was not specifically measured in this study, which was effectively a snapshot in time. Despite this, greater dieback severity in dominant canopy eucalypts in response to groundwater depth may be interpreted as indicative of future trends in the composition, function and resilience of these woodlands with continued groundwater extraction and climate change impacts on in-stream flows and groundwater recharge (Scott *et al.* 1999, Horton *et al.* 2001a, Chapter 5). Similarly, functional group transitions to higher relative richness and abundance of floodplain or wetland species, due to loss of generalist/terrestrial species with increasing groundwater depth and dieback severity, indicates reduced ecosystem diversity but potentially increased resistance to change (Colloff and Baldwin 2010, Chapter 5), at least in the short-term.

In addition, persistent soil seedbanks, and propagule dispersal from upstream remnants, are likely to play a critical role in buffering ecosystems against major shifts in species composition in landscapes which are increasingly subject to modification with the intensification of land use and altered frequency, intensity and duration of drought and flooding disturbance events associated with predicted climate change (Capon and Brock 2006, Capon 2007, Stromberg et al. 2008). Such persistence through time is also a critical component of the success of alien species, such as lippia *Phyla canescens*, within an invaded landscape. Interactions between the autecology of lippia and flooding and grazing disturbance regimes have promoted its spread and establishment within floodplain landscapes (Macdonald 2008, Macdonald et al. 2006, Price et al. 2008, 2011); however, persistence of this mesic species through periods of extended soil moisture deficit is perhaps critical to its success in this semi-arid landscape. Previous studies have indicated lippia's ability to form a persistent soil seedbank, with evidence of adaptation to defer germination until conditions are likely to ensure successful establishment (Macdonald 2008, Macdonald et al. 2006). This current study indicates that lippia persistence is also facilitated by large trees (and also potentially micro-topographic variations) which provide significant drought refugia for lippia in this landscape, enhancing its survival, abundance and reproductive success through periods of soil moisture deficit and also its potential to respond rapidly to improved soil moisture conditions with return to normal rainfall conditions and flooding (Chapter 6).

8.2 Management and policy implications

Biodiversity investment decisions need to balance the probability of success against perceived value in terms of biodiversity conservation and landscape health outcomes (e.g. protection of threatened species and ecosystems, maintenance of critical ecological processes/ecosystem services) (Chapin *et al.* 2000, Swift *et al.* 2004, Hobbs *et al.* 2006). This implies that we understand the critical drivers of change in modified ecosystems, and that we have the capacity to address these. Improved understanding of how individual systems respond to anthropogenic change is vital to ensure that investment and management are tailored to effectively address specific issues within local contexts, including critical thresholds which might constrain ecosystem recovery and restoration (Hobbs and Harris 2001, e.g. Prober *et al.* 2005).

Determining the relative importance of different environmental drivers of ecosystem condition is a critical challenge to biodiversity conservation in complex highly modified landscapes (Folke *et al.* 2004, Heller and Zavaleta 2009). This is especially the case in socio-ecological systems (Carpenter *et al.* 1999, Kinzig *et al.* 2006), such as multi-use production landscapes (e.g. Shelton *et al.* 2001). Such systems are poorly studied (Kinzig *et al.* 2006), and may be particularly complex and prone to delayed responses, unintended and unforeseen feedbacks, cross-scale interactions and non-linearities (Magnuszewski *et al.* 2005, Kinzig *et al.* 2006). This complexity makes it difficult to plan and implement policies and management strategies which successfully deliver sustainable resource use in such systems. As a result, the outcomes of traditional environmental management approaches (e.g. control of invasive weeds, revegetation, potentially even provision of environmental flows) applied to these systems are generally poor because they (inevitably) fail to adequately incorporate the elements of system structure that underlie this inherent complexity (Magnuszewski *et al.* 2005).

Decisions about the scale of intervention required to achieve acceptable levels of protection for biodiversity values in these landscapes are often guided by prevailing hypotheses regarding the role these factors play in influencing ecosystem processes and function. However, management approaches derived for systems in one area may not be equally effective in achieving predicted or desired outcomes in different ecological and environmental contexts (Jenkins *et al.* 2005). Increasingly, management must take an adaptive (or experimental) approach with effective monitoring at relevant scales and critical evaluation of approaches to ensure successful return on investment (Folke 2006, Doak *et al.* 2008, Auld and Keith 2009).

8.2.1 Management for ecosystem resilience on the Upper Condamine Floodplain

Native floodplain ecosystems in the Murray-Darling Basin are under stress, particularly those closely associated with the hydrology of the river system (Bramley et al. 2003, Overton et al. 2006, Doody et al. 2009). Research investigating ecosystem response in these systems has centred on the southern MDB along the highly regulated River Murray and its key tributaries. Evidence of declining riverine, wetland and riparian health along these perennially flowing river systems, which are fed by winter-dominant rainfall and snow-melt (Chong and Ladson 2003), is associated with regulation and altered seasonality of flows, raised water tables, increased salinisation and reduced overland flooding (Jolly et al. 1993, 1996, Bramley et al. 2003, Overton et al. 2006). Current management approaches are centred on the restoration of environmental flows designed to mimic historical flow regimes and create overbank flooding to replenish wetlands (Wilson et al. 2009) and to reinvigorate riparian and floodplain woodlands by flushing accumulated salts from the system (Doody et al. 2009, Overton and Doody 2010). Provision of environmental flows is facilitated through federal government purchase ('buy back') of irrigation entitlements, and managed through the release of water from large upstream storages and its distribution through a series of engineered locks and channels at various points within the system (Stewart and Harper 2002, Wen et al. 2009).

In many respects, the northern MDB is a different system (Thoms and Sheldon 2002), with natural hydrological regimes governed by a highly variable summerdominant rainfall pattern characterised by episodic droughts and wet periods (Chapter 2). This results in ephemeral streamflow patterns, with extended no-flow periods and irregular, but occasionally widespread, flooding. There has been limited understanding of key drivers of ecosystem change, and little empirical evidence on which to base environmental flow management decisions, in these highly variable systems (Colloff *et al.* 2010). Water resources in the Upper Condamine are also effectively over-allocated, resulting in an increasingly hydrologically fragmented system (CSIRO 2008). Existing legal entitlements to water in the Upper Condamine are a significant impediment to the provision of water for environmental purposes, and there is currently little scope to address declining floodplain and riparian woodland condition associated with altered hydrological regimes in the Upper Condamine. While water buy-back provides capacity to adjust the levels of water resource allocations and increase the level of environmental flows, the extent to which this will contribute to the protection of flow-dependent (and potentially groundwater-dependent) riverine and riparian environmental assets in a dryland system such as the Condamine-Balonne is unknown (Thoms and Sheldon 2002). Effective environmental flow regimes may be difficult to determine where there is a lack of detailed understanding of the water volumes and dynamics required to maintain ecological function, as is currently the case in the Upper Condamine. There is also limited ecological research from which to predict whether replacing water into riparian environments through environmental flow provisions can redress the already-entrenched, broader impacts of land use (including water use) change (as suggested by this study).

Conversely, the identification of sites at which groundwater is still within the accessible range may form the basis for strategic management of these sites and of groundwater levels in their vicinity. New developments such as the emerging coal seam gas industry in southern Queensland (Moran and Vink 2010) may present opportunities to supplement groundwater levels at high priority sites where appropriate water quality can be assured. In-stream barriers (weirs and large woody debris) which act to slow flows and retain water within the system may offer an opportunity for management to ameliorate the impacts of groundwater decline on tree condition in areas immediately downstream (Chapter 4 and 5).

Other management options to retain remnant riparian woodland condition on the Upper Condamine Floodplain are also not well-supported by current policy or legislative mechanisms. Legislation in Queensland (specifically the *Queensland Vegetation Management Act 1999*) limits (or at least regulates) the further clearing of mapped native ecosystem remnants; however, there is currently little effective control over the management of these, no guarantee regarding their ecological condition, and limited protection for smaller unmapped patches such as narrow riparian remnants. The *Queensland Water Act 2000*, to some extent, restricts the clearing of woody vegetation in watercourses.

There is also little certainty that biodiversity or fundamental ecological values can be retained in remnants embedded in landscapes such as the Upper Condamine floodplain which have already undergone major land use change. Biodiversity planning instruments such as the Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM) Biodiversity Assessment Mapping Methodology (BAMM) facilitate the prioritisation of remnant ecosystem protection across landscapes (usually on a bioregional basis; e.g. the Southern Brigalow Belt) and evaluation of development applications. However, they largely fail to address the issue of management under current land uses, or of cumulative off-site impacts of incremental development over time.

Future climate change also adds significant risk and uncertainty (Vervoort 2007), and will increase the complexity of resource management to support water-dependent ecosystems, agricultural production and rural communities in this region. Predictions are that the frequency and intensity of rainfall will change, with a high probability that patterns will become more variable (e.g. longer and more severe drought periods, more intense but less frequent rainfall events; Humphries and Baldwin 2003, Nicholls 2004, IPCC 2007). Catchment modelling indicates that rainfall runoff in the Condamine-Balonne is most likely (60% probability) to decrease by 7 to 20%, while groundwater recharge is predicted to decrease by 10% of recent (1922-1995) levels by 2030 (CSIRO 2008). Improved understanding of interactions and feedbacks in water-dependent ecosystems will enable better prediction of how these additional hydrological disturbances associated with climate change may play out across the Upper Condamine where these systems are close to tipping points, and will contribute to adaptive management approaches to address these new challenges.

8.3 Conclusions and future research directions

In conclusion, it is apparent from this research that riparian *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis* woodlands on the Upper Condamine floodplain are significantly altered in both extent and condition. They are now effectively highly fragmented novel ecosystems, subject to a range of natural and anthropogenic disturbances including infestation by lippia, a dominant functional alien species, and chronic groundwater decline. It is highly likely that change will continue to occur in this landscape, particularly in conjunction with increasing impacts of climate change. More frequent, intense and longer-duration droughts will have increasing impact as trees lose contact with groundwater which provides a critical buffer during periods of

soil moisture deficit. This is likely to result in increasing levels of dieback and mortality in phreatic species such as *Eucalyptus camaldulensis/E. tereticornis*. Associated changes in groundcover composition and functional diversity, and possible expansion of *Acacia stenophylla*, may result in communities which are then much more responsive/susceptible to stochastic climatic events, including episodic flooding, contributing to spiralling degradation. The identification and management of refugia in which there is a higher probability of retaining woodland condition should be investigated as a matter of urgency, while innovative solutions are required to address the fundamental issue of groundwater decline in this landscape.

Inevitably, this research has highlighted the need for further investigation to better understand the mechanisms of ecosystem response of remnant riparian woodlands in this highly modified environment, and a number of additional research questions have already been outlined in individual chapters in this thesis. However, key questions relating to these conclusions are:

- (i) How generalisable are these findings to other highly modified systems in the northern Murray Darling Basin and elsewhere?
- (ii) What are the potential impacts of climate change in ecosystems already subject to critical changes in disturbance regimes and resource availability due to land use change?
- (iii) How can ecological knowledge and understanding of ecosystem change be effectively and efficiently incorporated into adaptive management programs?

REFERENCES

ADAIR, E. C., BURKE, I. C. & LAUENROTH, W. K. (2008) Contrasting effects of resource availability and plant mortality on plant community invasion by *Bromus tectorum* L. *Plant and Soil*, 304, 103-115.

AGUIAR, F. C. & FERREIRA, M. T. (2005) Human-disturbed landscapes: effects on composition and integrity of riparian woody vegetation in the Tagus River basin, Portugal. *Environmental Conservation*, 32, 30-41.

AGUIAR, F. C., FERREIRA, M. T. & ALBUQUERQUE, A. (2006) Patterns of exotic and native plant species richness and cover along a semi-arid Iberian river and across its floodplain. *Plant Ecology*, 184, 189-202.

AKEROYD, M. D., TYERMAN, S. D., WALKER, G. R. & JOLLY, I. D. (1998) Impact of flooding on the water use of semi-arid riparian eucalypts. *Journal of Hydrology*, 206, 104-117.

ALDER, N. N., SPERRY, J. S. & POCKMAN, W. T. (1996) Root and stem xylem embolism, stomatal conductance, and leaf turgor in *Acer grandidentatum* populations along a soil moisture gradient. *Oecologia*, 105, 293-301.

ALDRICH, P. R. & HAMRICK, J. L. (1998) Reproductive dominance of pasture trees in a fragmented Tropical forest mosaic. *Science*, 281, 103-105.

ALLAN, J. D., BRENNER, A. J., ERAZO, J., FERNANDEZ, L., FLECKER, A. S., KARWAN, D. L., SEGNINI, S. & TAPHORN, D. C. (2002) Land use in watersheds of the Venezuelan Andes: a comparative analysis. *Conservation Biology*, 16, 527-538.

ALLAN, J. D., ERICKSON, D. L. & FAY, J. (1997) The influence of catchment land use on stream integrity across multiple spatial scales. *Freshwater Biology*, 37, 149-161.

ALLEN, C. D. (2007) Interactions across spatial scales among forest dieback, fire, and erosion in northern New Mexico landscapes. *Ecosystems*, 10, 797-808.

ALLEN-DIAZ, B. & JACKSON, R. D. (2000) Grazing effects on spring ecosystem vegetation of California's hardwood rangelands. *Journal of Range Management*, 53, 215-220.

ALLSOPP, N., GAIKA, L., KNIGHT, R., MONAKISI, C. & HOFFMAN, M. T. (2007) The impact of heavy grazing on an ephemeral river system in the Succulent Karoo, South Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 71, 82-96.

AMLIN, N. M. & ROOD, S. B. (2003) Drought stress and recovery of riparian cottonwoods due to water table alteration along Willow Creek, Alberta. *Trees - Structure and Function*, 17, 351-358.

AMOROS, C. & BORNETTE, G. (2002) Connectivity and biocomplexity in waterbodies of riverine floodplains. *Freshwater Biology*, 47, 761-776.

AMOROS, C., ROUX, A. L., REYGROBELLET, J. L., BRAVARD, J. P. & PAUTOU, G. (1987) A method for applied ecological studies of fluvial hydrosystems. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 1, 17-36.

ANBG (2009) Australian Plant Name Index – APNI. Australian National Botanic Gardens (ANBG), Australian National Herbarium, Canberra. Available online at: <u>http://www.cpbr.gov.au/apni/</u>[Accessed: 2 November 2011].

ANDERIES, J. M., RYAN, P. & WALKER, B. H. (2006) Loss of resilience, crisis, and institutional change: lessons from an intensive agricultural system in southeastern Australia. *Ecosystems*, 9, 865-878.

ANDERSEN, D. C., COOPER, D. J. & NORTHCOTT, K. (2007) Dams, floodplain land use, and riparian forest conservation in the semiarid Upper Colorado River Basin, USA. *Environmental Management*, 40, 453-475.

ANDERSSON, E., NILSSON, C. & JOHANSSON, M. E. (2000) Effects of river fragmentation on plant dispersal and riparian flora. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 16, 83-89.

ANDREW, M. H. (1988) Grazing impact in relation to livestock watering points. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 3, 336-339.

ARIAS, S. M., QUINTANA, R. D. & CAGNONI, M. (2005) Vizcacha's influence on vegetation and soil in a wetland of Argentina. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 58, 51-57.

ARMAS, C. & PUGNAIRE, F. I. (2005) Plant interactions govern population dynamics in a semi-arid plant community. *Journal of Ecology*, 93, 978-989.

ARTHINGTON, A. H. & PUSEY, B. J. (2003) Flow restoration and protection in Australian rivers. *River Research and Applications*, 19, 377-395.

ASH, A. J. & MCIVOR, J. G. (1998) How season of grazing and herbivore selectivity influence monsoon tall-grass communities of northern Australia. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 9, 123-132

AULD, T. D. & KEITH, D. A. (2009) Dealing with threats: integrating science and management. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 10, S79-S87.

BACON, P. E., STONE, C., BINNS, D. L., LESLIE, D. J. & EDWARDS, D. W. (1993) Relationships between water availability and *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* growth in a riparian forest. *Journal of Hydrology*, 150, 541-561.

BADANO, E. I., VILLARROEL, E., BUSTAMANTE, R. O., MARQUET, P. A. & CAVIERES, L. A. (2007) Ecosystem engineering facilitates invasions by exotic plants in high-Andean ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology*, 95, 682-688.

BAE (1976) Upper Condamine irrigation proposal. Leslie Dam - Stage II - Queensland. Bureau of Agricultural Economics, Canberra.

BAGSTAD, K. J., LITE, S. J. & STROMBERG, J. C. (2006) Vegetation, soils, and hydrogeomorphology of riparian patch types of a dryland river. *Western North American Naturalist*, 66, 23-44.

BAGSTAD, K. J., STROMBERG, J. C. & LITE, S. J. (2005) Response of herbaceous riparian plants to rain and flooding on the San Pedro River, Arizona, USA. *Wetlands*, 25, 210-223.

BAISER, B., LOCKWOOD, J., LA PUMA, D. & ARONSON, M. (2008) A perfect storm: two ecosystem engineers interact to degrade deciduous forests of New Jersey. *Biological Invasions*, 10, 785-795.

BAKER, W. L. & WALFORD, G. M. (1995) Multiple stable states and models of riparian vegetation succession on the Animas River, Colorado. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 85, 320-338.

BANKS, V. S. B. (2006) An investigation of eucalypt dieback on the Northern Liverpool Plains, Australia. PhD thesis, University of New England, Armidale.

BARNETT, B. G. & MULLER, J. (2008) Upper Condamine groundwater model calibration report. A report to the Australian Government from the CSIRO Murray-Darling Basin Sustainable Yields Project. CSIRO, Canberra.

BARNEY, J. N. & WHITLOW, T. H. (2008) A unifying framework for biological invasions: the state factor model. *Biological Invasions*, 10, 259-272.

BARTLEY, R., ROTH, C. H., LUDWIG, J., MCJANNET, D., LIEDLOFF, A., CORFIELD, J., HAWDON, A. & ABBOTT, B. (2006) Runoff and erosion from Australia's tropical semi-arid rangelands: influence of ground cover for differing space and time scales. *Hydrological Processes*, 20, 3317-3333.

BARON, J. S., POFF, N. L., ANGERMEIER, P. L., DAHM, C. N., GLEICK, P. H., HAIRSTON, N. G., JACKSON, R. B., JOHNSTON, C. A., RICHTER, B. D. & STEINMAN, A. D. (2002) Meeting ecological and societal needs for freshwater. *Ecological Applications*, 12, 1247-1260.

BARRY, S. I., HICKSON, R. & STOKES, K. (2008) Modelling lippia spread down flooding river systems. *ANZIAM Journal*, 49, C359-C375.

BATTERHAM, M. C. (2008) The resilience of Eucalyptus populnea woodlands in the production landscape of the Condamine catchment, southern Queensland. BSc Hons thesis, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba.

BEAUCHAMP, V. B. & STROMBERG, J. C. (2008) Changes to herbaceous plant communities on a regulated desert river. *River Research and Applications*, 24, 754-770.

BEERLING, D. J. & OSBORNE, C. P. (2006) The origin of the savanna biome. *Global Change Biology*, 12, 2023-2031.

BELL, D. T. (1999) Australian trees for the rehabilitation of waterlogged and salinity-damaged landscapes. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 47, 697-716.

BELLAMY, J. A. & BROWN, J. R. (1994). State and transition models for rangelands. 7. Building a state and transition model for management and research on rangelands. *Tropical Grasslands*, 28, 247-255.

BELLINGHAM, P. J. & COOMES, D. A. (2003) Grazing and community structure as determinants of invasion success by scotch broom in a New Zealand montane shrubland. *Diversity and Distributions*, 9, 19-28.

BELSKY, A. J., AMUNDSON, R. G., DUXBURY, J. M., RIRA, S. J., ALI, A. R. & MWONGA, S. M. (1989) The effects of trees on their physical, chemical, and biological environments in a semi-arid savanna in Kenya. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 26, 1005-1024.

BELSKY, A. J., MWONGA, S. M. & DUXBURY, J. M. (1993b) Effects of widely spaced trees and livestock grazing on understory environments in tropical savannas. *Agroforestry Systems*, 24, 1-20.

BELSKY, A. J., MWONGA, S. M., AMUNDSON, R. G., DUXBURY, J. M. & ALI, A. R. (1993a) Comparative effects of isolated trees on their undercover environments in high- and low-rainfall savannas. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 30, 143-155.

BENDIX, J. & HUPP, C. R. (2000) Hydrological and geomorphological impacts on riparian plant communities. *Hydrological Processes*, 14, 2977-2990.

BENOT, M.-L., MONY, C., MERLIN, A., MARION, B., BOUZILLE, J.-B. & BONIS, A. (2010) Clonal growth strategies along flooding and grazing gradients in Atlantic coastal meadows. *Folia Geobotanica*, 46, 219-235.

BENSON, E. J. & HARTNETT, D. C. (2006) The role of seed and vegetative reproduction in plant recruitment and demography in tallgrass prairie. *Plant Ecology*, 187, 163-177.

BENYON, R. G., MARCAR, N. E., CRAWFORD, D. F. & NICHOLSON, A. T. (1999) Growth and water use of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* and *E. occidentalis* on a saline discharge site near Wellington, NSW, Australia. *Agricultural Water Management*, 39, 229-244.

BERNEY, P. J., PRICE, J. N., RYDER, D. S., WHALLEY, R. D. B., WILSON, G. G. & GROSS, C. L. (2010) How flooding, competition and grazing influence *Phyla canescens* invasion into floodplain wetlands, Australia. *International Symposium on Wetlands in a Flood Pulsing Environment*: Maun, Botswana, 1-5 February 2010,

BESTELMEYER, B. T. (2006) Threshold concepts and their use in rangeland management and restoration: the good, the bad, and the insidious. *Restoration Ecology*, 14, 325-329.

BESTELMEYER, B. T., TUGEL, A. J., PEACOCK, G. L., ROBINETT, D. G., SHAVER, P. L., BROWN, J. R., HERRICK, J. E., SANCHEZ, H. & HAVSTAD, K. M. (2009) State-and-transition models for heterogeneous landscapes: a strategy for development and application. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 62, 1-15.

BEZEMER, T. M., LAWSON, C. S., HEDLUND, K., EDWARDS, A. R., BROOK, A. J., IGUAL, J. M., MORTIMER, S. R. & VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H. (2006) Plant species and functional group effects on abiotic and microbial soil properties and plant-soil feedback responses in two grasslands. *Journal of Ecology*, 94, 893-904.

BEZKOROWAJNYJ, P. G., GORDON, A. M. & MCBRIDE, R. A. (1993) The effect of cattle foot traffic on soil compaction in a silvo-pastoral system. *Agroforestry Systems*, 21, 1-10.

BIGGS, A. & CAREY, B. (2006) *The Condamine Catchment*. Queensland Department of Natural Resources and Water, Toowoomba.

BIGGS, A. J. W. & POWER, R. E. (2003) A review of salinity occurrences in the Queensland Murray-Darling Basin, 2002. Department of Natural Resources and Mines, Toowoomba.

BIGGS, A. J. W., SEARLE, R. D., WATLING, K. M., SECOMBE, K. E. & LARKIN, L. M. (2009) Implementation of an adaptive salinity risk framework in the Condamine catchment, Queensland Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 23, 441-456.

BILOTTA, G. S., BRAZIER, R. E., HAYGARTH, P. M. & DONALD, L. S. (2007) The impacts of grazing animals on the quality of soils, vegetation, and surface waters in intensively managed grasslands. *Advances in Agronomy*, 94, 237-280.

BOER, M. M. & PUIGDEFABREGAS, J. (2005) Assessment of dryland condition using spatial anomalies of vegetation index values. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 26, 4045-4065.

BOM (2010) Weather observations – Darling Downs and the Granite Belt. Australian Government Bureau of Meteorology (BOM), Melbourne.

BOMFORD, M. & SINCLAIR, R. (2002) Australian research on bird pests: impact, management and future directions. *Emu*, 102, 29-45.

BORNETTE, G. & AMOROS, C. (1996). Disturbance regimes and vegetation dynamics: role of floods in riverine wetlands. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 7, 615-622.

BOULTON, A. J. & HANCOCK, P. J. (2006) Rivers as groundwater-dependent ecosystems: a review of degrees of dependency, riverine processes and management implications. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 133-144.

BOULTON, A. J. (2007) Hyporheic rehabilitation in rivers: restoring vertical connectivity. *Freshwater Biology*, 52, 632-650.

BOUTTON, T. W., ARCHER, S. R. & MIDWOOD, A. J. (1999) Stable isotopes in ecosystem science: structure, function and dynamics of a subtropical savanna. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 13, 1263-1277.

BOWEN, Z. H., BOVEE, K. D. & WADDLE, T. J. (2003) Effects of flow regulation on shallowwater habitat dynamics and floodplain connectivity. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 132, 809-823.

BRAATEN, R. & GATES, G. (2003) Groundwater-surface water interaction in inland New South Wales: a scoping study. *Water Science Technology*, 48, 215-224.

BRADY, M. (2010) Landscape matrix development intensity and its impact on mammals. PhD thesis, School of Integrative Systems, University of Queensland, Brisbane.

BRAMLEY, H., HUTSON, J. & TYERMAN, S. D. (2003) Floodwater infiltration through root channels on a sodic clay floodplain and the influence on a local tree species *Eucalyptus largiflorens*. *Plant and Soil*, 253, 275-286.

BRÉDA, N. & BADEAU, V. (2008) Forest tree responses to extreme drought and some biotic events: towards a selection according to hazard tolerance? *Comptes Rendus Geosciences*, 340, 651-662.

BRÉDA, N., HUC, R., GRANIER, A. & DREYER, E. (2006) Temperate forest trees and stands under severe drought: a review of ecophysiological responses, adaptation processes and long-term consequences. *Annals of Forest Science.*, 63, 625-644.

BREN, L. J. (1987) The duration of inundation in a flooding river red gum forest. *Australian Forest Research*, 17, 191-202.

BREN, L. J. (1992) Tree invasion of an intermittent wetland in relation to changes in the flooding frequency of the River Murray, Australia. *Austral Ecology*, 17, 395-408.

BRISKE, D. D., BESTELMEYER, B. T., STRINGHAM, T. K. & SHAVER, P. L. (2008) Recommendations for development of resilience-based state-and-transition models. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 61, 359-367.

BRISKE, D. D., FUHLENDORF, S. D. & SMEINS, F. E. (2003) Vegetation dynamics on rangelands: a critique of the current paradigms. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 40, 601-614.

BRISKE, D. D., FUHLENDOR, S. D. & SMEINS, E. E. (2005) State-and-transition models, thresholds, and rangeland health: a synthesis of ecological concepts and perspectives. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 58, 1-10.

BRISKE, D. D., FUHLENDORF, S. D. & SMEINS, F. E. (2006) A unified framework for assessment and application of ecological thresholds. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 59, 225-236.

BROOKER, R. W., MAESTRE, F. T., CALLAWAY, R. M., LORTIE, C. L., CAVIERES, L. A., KUNSTLER, G., LIANCOURT, P., TIELBORGER, K., TRAVIS, J. M. J., ANTHELME, F., ARMAS, C., COLL, L., CORCKET, E., DELZON, S., FOREY, E., KIKVIDZE, Z., OLOFSSON, J., PUGNAIRE, F., QUIROZ, C. L., SACCONE, P., SCHIFFERS, K., SEIFAN, M., TOUZARD, B. & MICHALET, R. (2008) Facilitation in plant communities: the past, the present, and the future. *Journal of Ecology*, 96, 18-34.

BROOKS, M. L., D'ANTONIO, C. M., RICHARDSON, D. M., GRACE, J. B., KEELEY, J. E., DITOMASO, J. M., HOBBS, R. J., PELLANT, M. & PYKE, D. (2004) Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. *BioScience*, 54, 677-688.

BROWN, R. L. (2002) *Biodiversity and exotic species invasion in southern Appalachian riparian plant communities*. PhD thesis, University of Southern Carolina, Chapel Hill.

BRUHL, J. J. & WILSON, K. L. (2007) Towards a comprehensive survey of C3 and C4 photosynthetic pathways in Cyperaceae. *In:* COLUMBUS, J. T., FRIAR, E. A., HAMILTON, C. W., PORTER, J. M., PRINCE, L. M. & SIMPSON, M. G. (eds.) *Monocots: comparative biology and evolution.* Rancho Santa Ana Botanic Garden, Claremont.

BRUNKE, M. & GONSER, T. (1997) The ecological significance of exchange processes between rivers and groundwater. *Freshwater Biology*, 37, 1-33.

BRUNKE, M., HOEHN, E. & GONSER, T. (2003) Patchiness of river-groundwater interactions within two floodplain landscapes and diversity of aquatic invertebrate communities. *Ecosystems*, 6, 707-722.

BUNN, S. E. & ARTHINGTON, A. H. (2002) Basic principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. *Environmental Management*, 30, 492-507.

BURGESS, S. S. O. & BLEBY, T. M. (2006) Redistribution of soil water by lateral roots mediated by stem tissues. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57, 3283-3291.

BURGESS, S. S. O., ADAMS, M. A., TURNER, N. C. & ONG, C. K. (1998) The redistribution of soil water by tree root systems. *Oecologia*, 115, 306-311.

BURKE, I. C., LAUENROTH, W. K., VINTON, M. A., HOOK, P. B., KELLY, R. H., EPSTEIN, H. E., AGUIAR, M. R., ROBLES, M. D., AGUILERA, M. O., MURPHY, K. L. & GILL, R. A. (1998) Plant-soil interactions in temperate grasslands. *Biogeochemistry*, 42, 121-143.

BURNHAM, K. P. & ANDERSON, D. R. (2004) Multimodel inference: understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. *Sociological Methods Research*, 33, 261-304.

BURNS, A. E. (2009) *Diversity and dynamics of the arthropod assemblages inhabiting mistletoe in eucalypt woodlands.* PhD thesis, Charles Sturt University, Albury Wodonga.

BURTON, M. L., SAMUELSON, L. J. & MACKENZIE, M. D. (2009) Riparian woody plant traits across an urban-rural land use gradient and implications for watershed function with urbanization. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 90, 42-55.

BUSCH, D. E. & SMITH, S. D. (1993) Effects of fire on water and salinity relations of riparian woody taxa. *Oecologia*, 94, 186-194.

BUSCH, D. E. (1995) Effects of fire on southwestern riparian plant community structure. *The Southwestern Naturalist*, 40, 259-267.

BUSCH, D. E., INGRAHAM, N. L. & SMITH, S. D. (1992) Water-uptake in woody riparian phreatophytes of the south-western United States - a stable isotope study. *Ecological Applications*, 2, 450-459.

BUTCHER, P. A., MCDONALD, M. W. & BELL, J. C. (2009) Congruence between environmental parameters, morphology and genetic structure in Australia's most widely distributed eucalypt, *Eucalyptus camaldulensis. Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 5, 189-210.

BUTCHER, P. A., OTERO, A., MCDONALD, M. W. & MORAN, G. F. (2002) Nuclear RFLP variation in *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* Dehnh. from northern Australia. *Heredity*, 88, 402-412.

CALDER, I. R., ROSIER, P. T. W., PRASANNA, K. T. & PARAMESWARAPPA, S. (1997) Eucalyptus water use greater than rainfall input - possible explanation from southern India. *Hydrology*

and Earth System Sciences, 1, 249-256.

CALE, P. G. (2003) The influence of social behaviour, dispersal and landscape fragmentation on population structure in a sedentary bird. *Biological Conservation*, 109, 237-248.

CALLAWAY, R. M. (1995) Positive interactions among plants. Botanical Review, 61, 306-349.

CALLAWAY, R. M. & ASCHEHOUG, E. T. (2000) Invasive plants versus their new and old neighbors: a mechanism for exotic invasion. *Science*, 290, 521-523.

CALLAWAY, R. M. & MARON, J. L. (2006) What have exotic plant invasions taught us over the past 20 years? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21, 369-374.

CALLAWAY, R. M., PENNINGS, S. C. & RICHARDS, C. L. (2003) Phenotypic plasticity and interactions among plants. *Ecology*, 84, 1115-1128.

CALLAWAY, R. M. & RIDENOUR, W. M. (2004) Novel weapons: invasive success and the evolution of increased competitive ability. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 2, 436-443.

CANADELL, J., JACKSON, R. B., EHLERINGER, J. R., MOONEY, H. A., SALA, O. E. & SCHULZE, E. D. (1996) Maximum rooting depth of vegetation types at the global scale. *Oecologia*, 108, 583-595.

CANHAM, C. A., FROEND, R. H. & STOCK, W. D. (2009) Water stress vulnerability of four *Banksia* species in contrasting ecohydrological habitats on the Gnangara Mound, Western Australia. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 32, 64-72.

CANO, L., ESCARRE, J. & SANS, F. X. (2007) Factors affecting the invasion success of *Senecio inaequidens* and *S. pterophorus* in Mediterranean plant communities. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 18, 281-288.

CAPON, S. J. & BROCK, M. A. (2006) Flooding, soil seed bank dynamics and vegetation resilience of a hydrologically variable desert floodplain. *Freshwater Biology*, 51, 206-223.

CAPON, S. J. (2005) Flood variability and spatial variation in plant community composition and structure on a large arid floodplain. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 60, 283-302.

CAPON, S. J. (2007) Effects of flooding on seedling emergence from the soil seed bank of a large desert floodplain. *Wetlands*, 27, 904-914.

CAPON, S., J. (2003) Plant community responses to wetting and drying in a large arid floodplain. *River Research and Applications*, 19, 509-520.

CAREY, E. V., MARLER, M. J. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2004) Mycorrhizae transfer carbon from a native grass to an invasive weed: evidence from stable isotopes and physiology. *Plant Ecology*, 172, 133-141.

CARPENTER, S. R. (1999) Microcosm experiments have limited relevance for community and ecosystem ecology: a reply. *Ecology*, 80, 1085-1088.

CARPENTER, S. R., BENNETT, E. M. & PETERSON, G. D. (2006) Scenarios for ecosystem services: an overview. *Ecology and Society*, 11.

CARPENTER, S., BROCK, W. & HANSON, P. (1999) Ecological and social dynamics in simple models of ecosystem management. *Conservation Ecology*, 3(2), 4.

CARPENTER, S. R. & SCHEFFER, M. (2009) Critical transitions and regime shifts in ecosystems: consolidating recent advances. *In:* HOBBS, R. J. & SUDING, K. N. (eds.) *New models of ecosystems dynamics and restoration*. Island Press, Washington DC.

CARPENTER, S., WALKER, B., ANDERIES, J. M. & ABEL, N. (2001) From metaphor to measurement: resilience of what to what? *Ecosystems*, 4, 765-781.

CAVIERES, L. A., QUIROZ, C. L., MOLINA-MONTENEGRO, M. A., MUNOZ, A. A. & PAUCHARD, A. (2005) Nurse effect of the native cushion plant *Azorella monantha* on the invasive non-native *Taraxacum officinale* in the high-Andes of central Chile. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 7, 217-226.

CHANETON, E. J. & FACELLI, J. M. (1991) Disturbance effects on plant community diversity: spatial scales and dominance hierarchies. *Plant Ecology*, 93, 143-155.

CHAPIN, F. S. (1980) The mineral nutrition of wild plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 11, 233-260.

CHAPIN, F. S., AUTUMN, K. & PUGNAIRE, F. (1993) Evolution of suites of traits in response to environmental stress. *The American Naturalist*, 142, S78-S92.

CHAPIN, F. S., HOEL, M., CARPENTER, S. R., LUBCHENCO, J., WALKER, B., CALLAGHAN, T. V., FOLKE, C., LEVIN, S. A., MALER, K. G., NILSSON, C., BARRETT, S., BERKES, F., CREPIN, A. S., DANELL, K., ROSSWALL, T., STARRETT, D., XEPAPADEAS, A. & ZIMOV, S. A. (2006a) Building resilience and adaptation to manage Arctic change. *Ambio*, 35, 198-202.

CHAPIN, F. S., ROBARDS, M. D., HUNTINGTON, H. P., JOHNSTONE, J. E., TRAINOR, S. E., KOFINAS, G. P., RUESS, R. W., FRESCO, N., NATCHER, D. C. & NAYLOR, R. L. (2006b) Directional changes in ecological communities and social-ecological systems: a framework for prediction based on Alaskan examples. *American Naturalist*, 168, S36-S49.

CHAPIN, F. S., ZAVALETA, E. S., EVINER, V. T., NAYLOR, R. L., VITOUSEK, P. M., REYNOLDS, H. L., HOOPER, D. U., LAVOREL, S., SALA, O. E., HOBBIE, S. E., MACK, M. C. & DIAZ, S. (2000) Consequences of changing biodiversity. *Nature*, 405, 234-242.

CHARTIER, M. P. & ROSTAGNO, C. M. (2006) Soil erosion thresholds and alternative states in northeastern Patagonian rangelands. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 59, 616-624.

CHATHAM, F. S., KOFINAS, G. P. & FOLKE, C. (eds.) (2009) *Principles of ecosystem stewardship. Resilience-based natural resource management in a changing world*, Springer Science+Business Media, New York.

CHAVES, M. M., MAROCO, J. P. & PEREIRA, J. S. (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought - from genes to the whole plant. *Functional Plant Biology*, 30, 239-264.

CHEN, H. J., QUALLS, R. G. & MILLER, G. C. (2002) Adaptive responses of *Lepidium latifolium* to soil flooding: biomass allocation, adventitious rooting, aerenchyma formation and ethylene production. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 48, 119-128.

CHEN, X.-S., XIE, Y.-H., DENG, Z.-M., LI, F. & HOU, Z.-Y. (2010) A change from phalanx to guerrilla growth form is an effective strategy to acclimate to sedimentation in a wetland sedge species *Carex brevicuspis* (Cyperaceae). *Flora - Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants*, 206, 347-350.

CHONG, J. & LADSON, A. R. (2003) Analysis and management of unseasonal flooding in the Barmah-Millewa Forest, Australia. *River Research and Applications*, 19, 161-180.

CINGOLANI, A. M., NOY-MEIR, I. & DIAZ, S. (2005a) Grazing effects on rangeland diversity: a synthesis of contemporary models. *Ecological Applications*, 15, 757-773.

CLARKE, K. R. & AINSWORTH, M. (1993) A method of linking multivariate community structure to environmental variables. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 92, 205-219.

CLARKE, K. R. & GORLEY, R. N. (2001) Primer v5: use manual/tutorial, Primer-E Ltd., Plymouth.

CLARKE, K. R. & GREEN, R. H. (1988) Statistical design and analysis for a 'biological effects' study. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 46, 213-226.

CLARKE, K. R. & WARWICK, R. M. (2001) Changes in marine communities: an approach to statistical analysis and interpretation. Primer-E Ltd., Plymouth.

CLARKE, M. F. & OLDLAND, J. M. (2007) Penetration of remnant edges by noisy miners (*Manorina melanocephala*) and implications for habitat restoration. *Wildlife Research*, 34, 253-261.

CLARKE, M. F. & SCHEDVIN, N. (1999) Removal of bell miners *Manorina melanophrys* from *Eucalyptus radiata* forest and its effect on avian diversity, psyllids and tree health. *Biological Conservation*, 88, 111-120.

CLARKE, P. J. (2002) Experiments on tree and shrub establishment in temperate grassy woodlands: seedling survival. *Austral Ecology*, 27, 606-615.

CLARKE, P. J. (2003) Composition of grazed and cleared temperate grassy woodlands in eastern Australia: patterns in space and inferences in time. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 5-14.

CLARKE, P. J. & DAVISON, E. A. (2004) Emergence and survival of herbaceous seedlings in

temperate grassy woodlands: recruitment limitations and regeneration niche. Austral Ecology, 29, 320-331.

CLARKE, P. J., LATZ, P. K. & ALBRECHT, D. E. (2005) Long-term changes in semi-arid vegetation: invasion of an exotic perennial grass has larger effects than rainfall variability. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 16, 237-248.

CLECH-GOODS, C. (2010). Relating resource availability and herbivore escape opportunity to plant community invasibility: creating integrated strategies to manage *Alternanthera philoxeroides* and *Phyla canescens*. PhD thesis, University of Queensland, Brisbane.

CLEMENT, J. C., AQUILINA, L., BOUR, O., PLAINE, K., BURT, T. P. & PINAY, G. (2003) Hydrological flowpaths and nitrate removal rates within a riparian floodplain along a fourth-order stream in Brittany (France). *Hydrological Processes*, 17, 1177-1195.

CLEVERLY, J. R., SMITH, S. D., SALA, A. & DEVITT, D. A. (1997) Invasive capacity of *Tamarix* ramosissima in a Mojave Desert floodplain: the role of drought. *Oecologia*, 111, 12-18.

CLEWETT, J. F., CLARKSON, N. N., GEORGE, D. A., OOI, S. H., OWENS, D. T., PARTRIDGE, I. J., & SIMPSON, G. B. (2003) *Rainman StreamFlow Version* 4.3+. Queensland Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation, Brisbane. Updated online at: http://www.dpi.qld.gov.au/26_15734.htm. [Accessed: 2 November 2011].

CLOSE, D. C. & DAVIDSON, N. J. (2004) Review of rural tree decline in a changing Australian climate. *Tasforests*, 15, 1-18.

COLAUTTI, R. I., GRIGOROVICH, I. A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2006) Propagule pressure: a null model for biological invasions. *Biological Invasions*, 8, 1023-1037.

COLE, P. G. & WELTZIN, J. F. (2005) Light limitation creates patchy distribution of an invasive grass in eastern deciduous forests. *Biological Invasions*, 7, 477-488.

COLLARD, S. J. (2007) Agricultural intensification and ecosystem function in a brigalow (Acacia harpophylla) landscape: implications for ecosystem services. PhD thesis, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba.

COLLARD, S. J., LE BROCQUE, A. F. & ZAMMIT, C. (2011) Effects of local-scale management on herbaceous plant communities in Brigalow (*Acacia harpophylla*) agroecosystems of southern Queensland, Australia. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 142, 176-183.

COLLOFF, M. J. & BALDWIN, D. S. (2010) Resilience of floodplain ecosystems in a semi-arid environment. *The Rangeland Journal*, 32, 305-314.

COLLOFF, M. J., OVERTON, I. C., CUDDY, S. M., DOODY, T. M., HENDERSON, B. & CAPON, S. J. (2010) *Improving environmental water planning and policy outcomes: ecological responses to flow regimes in the Murray–Darling Basin*, Waterlines report, National Water Commission, Canberra.

COMEST (2005) *The precautionary principle.* World Commission on the Ethics of Scientific Knowledge and Technology (COMEST), United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organsiation (UNESCO), Paris.

CONNELL, J. H. (1978) Diversity in tropical rainforests and coral reefs. Science, 199, 1302-1310.

CONTEH, A., BLAIR, G. J., LEFROY, R. D. B. & MACLEOD, D. A. (1997) Soil organic carbon changes in cracking clay soils under cotton production as studied by carbon fractionation. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 48, 1049-1058.

COOPER, D. J., ANDERSEN, D. C. & CHIMNER, R. A. (2003a) Multiple pathways for woody plant establishment on floodplains at local to regional scales. *Journal of Ecology*, 91, 182-196.

COOPER, D. J., D'AMICO, D. R. & SCOTT, M. L. (2003b) Physiological and morphological response patterns of *Populus deltoides* to alluvial groundwater pumping. *Environmental Management*, 31, 215-226.

CORDELL, S. & SANDQUIST, D. R. (2008) The impact of an invasive African bunchgrass (*Pennisetum setaceum*) on water availability and productivity of canopy trees within a tropical dry forest in Hawaii. *Functional Ecology*, 22, 1008-1017.

CORENBLIT, D., TABACCHI, E., STEIGER, J. & GURNELL, A. M. (2007) Reciprocal interactions

and adjustments between fluvial landforms and vegetation dynamics in river corridors: a review of complementary approaches. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 84, 56-86.

CORNAGLIA, P. S., SCHRAUF, G. E. & DEREGIBUS, V. A. (2009) Flooding and grazing promote germination and seedling establishment in the perennial grass *Paspalum dilatatum*. *Austral Ecology*, 34, 343-350.

COSTELLOE, J. F., GRAYSON, R. B. & MCMAHON, T. A. (2005) Modelling stream flow for use in ecological studies in a large, arid zone river, central Australia. *Hydrological Processes*, 19, 1165-1183.

COSTELLOE, J. F., PAYNE, E., WOODROW, I. E., IRVINE, E. C., WESTERN, A. W. & LEANEY, F. W. (2008) Water sources accessed by arid zone riparian trees in highly saline environments, Australia. *Oecologia*, 156, 43-52.

COTE, I. M. & DARLING, E. S. (2010) Rethinking ecosystem resilience in the face of climate change. *Plos Biology*, 8, e1000438.

COTTAM, G. & CURTIS, J. T. (1956) The use of distance measures in phytosociological sampling. *Ecology*, 37, 451-460.

COUGHENOUR, M. B. & ELLIS, J. E. (1993) Landscape and climatic control of woody vegetation in a dry tropical ecosystem - Turkana District, Kenya. *Journal of Biogeography*, 20, 383-398.

COUSINS, S. A. O. (2009) Landscape history and soil properties affect grassland decline and plant species richness in rural landscapes. *Biological Conservation*, 142, 2752-2758.

COWELL, C. M. & DYER, J. M. (2002) Vegetation development in a modified riparian environment: human imprints on an Allegheny River wilderness. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 92, 189-202.

COX, G., FISCHER, D., HART, S. C. & WHITHAM, T. G. (2005) Nonresponse of native cottonwood trees to water additions during summer drought. *Western North American Naturalist*, 65, 175-185.

COX, R. D. & ALLEN, E. B. (2008) Composition of soil seed banks in southern California coastal sage scrub and adjacent exotic grassland. *Plant Ecology*, 198, 37-46.

COX, S. J., SIVERTSEN, D. P. & BEDWARD, M. (2001) Clearing of native woody vegetation in the New South Wales northern wheatbelt: extent, rate of loss and implications for biodiversity conservation. *Cunninghamia*, 7, 101-155.

CRAINE, J. M., FROEHLE, J., TILMAN, D. G., WEDIN, D. A. & CHAPIN, F. S. (2001) The relationship among root and leaf traits of 76 grassland species and relative abundance along fertility and disturbance gradients. *Oikos*, 93, 274-285.

CRAMER, V. A. & HOBBS, R. J. (2005) Assessing the ecological risk from secondary salinity: a framework addressing questions of scale and threshold responses. *Austral Ecology*, 30, 537-545.

CRAMER, V. A., HOBBS, R. J., ATKINS, L. & HODGSON, G. (2004) The influence of local elevation on soil properties and tree health in remnant eucalypt woodlands affected by secondary salinity. *Plant and Soil*, 265, 175-188.

CROFT, P., HUNTER, J. T. & REID, N. (2007). Depletion of regenerative bud resources during cyclic drought: what are the implications for fire management? *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 8, 187-192.

CSIRO (2004) Acacia stenophylla A.Cunn. ex Benth. [Online]. Commonwealth Scientific Investigation and Research Organisation (CSIRO), Canberra. Available online at: http://www.anbg.gov.au/cpbr/WfHC/Acacia-stenophylla/index.html [Accessed: 9 August 2010].

CSIRO (2008) Water availability in the Murray-Darling Basin. A report to the Australian Government from the CSIRO Murray-Darling Basin Sustainable Yields Project. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), Canberra.

CUMMING, G. S. & COLLIER, J. (2005) Change and identity in complex systems. *Ecology and Society*, 10, -.

CUNNINGHAM, S. C., THOMSON, J. R., READ, J., BAKER, P. J. & MACNALLY, R. (2010)

Does stand structure influence susceptibility of eucalypt floodplain forests to dieback? *Austral Ecology*, 35, 348-356.

CUSHMAN, S. A. & MCGARIGAL, K. (2002) Hierarchical, multi-scale decomposition of speciesenvironment relationships. *Landscape Ecology*, 17, 637-646.

D'ANTONIO, C. M. & VITOUSEK, P. M. (1992) Biological invasions by exotic grasses, the grass/fire cycle, and global change. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 23, 63-87.

DAHM, C. N., BAKER, M. A., MOORE, D. I. & THIBAULT, J. R. (2003) Coupled biogeochemical and hydrological responses of streams and rivers to drought. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1219-1231.

DALE, V. H., BROWN, S., HAEUBER, R. A., HOBBS, N. T., HUNTLY, N., NAIMAN, R. J., RIEBSAME, W. E., TURNER, M. G. & VALONE, T. J. (2000) Ecological principles and guidelines for managing the use of land. *Ecological Applications*, 10, 639-670.

DALE, V., ARCHER, S., CHANG, M. & OJIMA, D. (2005) Ecological impacts and mitigation strategies for rural land management. *Ecological Applications*, 15, 1879-1892.

DALEY, A. T., TAN, D. K. Y. & WU, H. (2005) Phytotoxic effects of lippia (*Phyla canescens*) on germinating seeds. *In:* HARPER, J., AN, M., WU, H. & KENT, J. (Eds.) "*Establishing the Scientific Base*": *Proceedings of the Fourth World Congress on Allelopathy*. Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia, 21 – 26 August 2005. The Regional Institute Limited, Gosford NSW.

DALGLEISH, N. (1998) Soil characterisation data. *In:* DALGLEISH, N. & FOALE, M. (Eds.) *Soil matters - monitoring soil water and nutrients in dryland farming.* Agricultural Production Systems Research Unit (APSRU), Toowoomba.

DAVIDSON, N. J., CLOSE, D. C., BATTAGLIA, M., CHURCHILL, K., OTTENSCHLAEGER, M., WATSON, T. & BRUCE, J. (2007) Eucalypt health and agricultural land management within bushland remnants in the Midlands of Tasmania, Australia. *Biological Conservation*, 139, 439-446.

DAVIES, K. F., CHESSON, P., HARRISON, S., INOUYE, B. D., MELBOURNE, B. A. & RICE, K. J. (2005) Spatial heterogeneity explains the scale dependence of the native-exotic diversity relationship. *Ecology*, 86, 1602-1610.

DAVIES, P., HARRIS, J., HILLMAN, T. & WALKER, K. (2008) SRA Report 1: A report on the ecological health of rivers in the Murray-Darling Basin, 2004–2007. Prepared by the Independent Sustainable Rivers Audit Group for the Murray–Darling Basin Ministerial Council. Murray-Darling Basin Commission, Canberra.

DAVIS, M. A. & PELSOR, M. (2001) Experimental support for a resource-based mechanistic model of invasibility. *Ecology Letters*, 4, 421-428.

DAVIS, M. A., GRIME, J. P. & THOMPSON, K. (2000) Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. *Journal of Ecology*, 88, 528-534.

DAWSON, T. (1993a) Hydraulic lift and water transport to, through and from roots. *Plant Physiology*, 102, 29-29.

DAWSON, T. E. (1993b) Hydraulic lift and water-use by plants - implications for water-balance, performance and plant-plant interactions. *Oecologia*, 95, 565-574.

DAWSON, T. E. (1993c) Woodland water-balance. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 8, 120-121.

DAY, R. W. & QUINN, G. P. (1989) Comparisons of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. *Ecological Monographs*, 59, 433-463.

DE KROON, H. & HUTCHINGS, M. J. (1995) Morphological plasticity in clonal plants: the foraging concept reconsidered. *Journal of Ecology*, 83, 143-152.

DEBSKI, I., BURSLEM, D. F. R. P. & LAMB, D. (2000) Ecological processes maintaining differential tree species distributions in an Australian subtropical rain forest: implications for models of species coexistence. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 16, 387-415.

DÉCAMPS, H. (1993) River margins and environmental change. Ecological Applications, 3, 441-445.

DÉCAMPS, H., FORTUNÉ, M., GAZELLE, F. & PAUTOU, G. (1988) Historical influence of man on the riparian dynamics of a fluvial landscape. *Landscape Ecology*, 1, 163-173.

DECOCQ, G. (2002) Patterns of plant species and community diversity at different organization levels in a forested riparian landscape. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 13, 91-106.

DEIL, U. (2005) A review on habitats, plant traits and vegetation of ephemeral wetlands - a global perspective. *Phytocoenologia*, 35, 533-705.

DEILLER, A. F., WALTER, J. M. N. & TREMOLIERES, M. (2001) Effects of flood interruption on species richness, diversity and floristic composition of woody regeneration in the upper Rhine alluvial hardwood forest. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 17, 393-405.

DEL POZO, A., OVALLE, C., CASADO, M. A., ACOSTA, B. & DE MIGUEL, J. M. (2006) Effects of grazing intensity in grasslands of the Espinal of central Chile. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 17, 791-798.

DERM (2009) *Regional ecosystems*. State of Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM), Brisbane. Available online at: <u>http://www.derm.qld.gov.au/wildlife-ecosystems/biodiversity/regional_ecosystems/</u> [Accessed: 2 November 2011].

DERM (2010a) Condamine and Balonne Resource Operations Plan. Revision 2. State of Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM), Brisbane.

DERM (2010b) *Streanflow data – Balonne-Condamine Basin*. State of Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM), Brisbane. Available online at: <u>http://watermonitoring.derm.qld.gov.au/host.htm</u> [Accessed: 2 November 2011].

DERM and BRS (1999). *Queensland Land Use Mapping Project*. State of Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management (DERM), Brisbane, and Commonwealth of Australia Bureau of Rural Sciences (BRS), Canberra.

DEUTSCHEWITZ, K., LAUSCH, A., KUHN, I. & KLOTZ, S. (2003) Native and alien plant species richness in relation to spatial heterogeneity on a regional scale in Germany. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 12, 299-311.

DI STEFANO, J. (2002) River red gum (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis*): a review of ecosystem processes, seedling regeneration and silvicultural practice. *Australian Forestry*, 65, 14-22.

DIAMOND, J. M. (1983) Laboratory, field and natural experiments. Nature, 304, 586-587.

DIAZ, S., CABIDO, M., ZAK, M., CARRETERO, E. M. & ARANIBAR, J. (1999) Plant functional traits, ecosystem structure and land-use history along a climatic gradient in central-western Argentina. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 10, 651-660.

DIAZ, S., HODGSON, J. G., THOMPSON, K., CABIDO, M., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., JALILI, A., MONTSERRAT-MARTÍ, G., GRIME, J. P., ZARRINKAMAR, F., ASRI, Y., BAND, S. R., BASCONCELO, S., CASTRO-DÍEZ, P., FUNES, G., HAMZEHEE, B., KHOSHNEVI, M., PÉREZ-HARGUINDEGUY, N., PÉREZ-RONTOMÉ, M. C., SHIRVANY, F. A., VENDRAMINI, F., YAZDANI, S., ABBAS-AZIMI, R., BOGAARD, A., BOUSTANI, S., CHARLES, M., DEHGHAN, M., TORRES-ESPUNY, L., FALCZUK, V., GUERRERO-CAMPO, J., HYND, A., JONES, G., KOWSARY, E., KAZEMI-SAEED, F., MAESTRO-MARTÍNEZ, M., ROMO-DÍEZ, A., SHAW, S., SIAVASH, B., VILLAR-SALVADOR, P. & ZAK, M. R. (2004) The plant traits that drive ecosystems: evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15, 295-304.

DIAZ, S., LAVOREL, S., MCINTYRE, S., FALCZUK, V., CASANOVES, F., MILCHUNAS, D. G., SKARPE, C., RUSCH, G., STERNBERG, M., NOY-MEIR, I., LANDSBERG, J., ZHANG, W., CLARK, H. & CAMPBELL, B. D. (2007) Plant trait responses to grazing - a global synthesis. *Global Change Biology*, 13, 313-341.

DIETZ, H. & EDWARDS, P. J. (2006) Recognition that causal processes change during plant invasion helps explain conflicts in evidence. *Ecology*, 87, 1359-1367.

DNRMW (2008) *Water Entitlements Register Database*. State of Queensland Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Water (DNRMW), Brisbane.

DOAK, D. F., ESTES, J. A., HALPERN, B. S., JACOB, U., LINDBERG, D. R., LOVVORN, J., MONSON, D. H., TINKER, M. T., WILLIAMS, T. M., WOOTTON, J. T., CARROLL, I., EMMERSON, M., MICHELI, F. & NOVAK, M. (2008) Understanding and predicting ecological dynamics: are major surprises inevitable? *Ecology*, 89, 952-961.

DOODY, T. & OVERTON, I. (2009) Environmental management of riparian tree health in the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. *In*: BREBBIA, C. A. (ed.) *River Basin Management V*. Wessex Institute of Technology, Southampton.

DOODY, T. M., HOLLAND, K. L., BENYON, R. G. & JOLLY, I. D. (2009) Effect of groundwater freshening on riparian vegetation water balance. *Hydrological Processes*, 23, 3485-3499.

DORAN, J. C. & BURGESS, I. P. (1993) Variation in floral bud morphology in the intergrading zones of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* and *E. tereticornis* in northern Queensland. *Commonwealth Forestry Review (United Kingdom)*, 72, 198-202.

DORROUGH, J. & MOXHAM, C. (2005) Eucalypt establishment in agricultural landscapes and implications for landscape-scale restoration. *Biological Conservation*, 123, 55-66.

DORROUGH, J., ASH, J. & MCINTYRE, S. (2004a) Plant responses to livestock grazing frequency in an Australian temperate grassland. *Ecography*, 27, 798-810.

DORROUGH, J., YEN, A., TURNER, V., CLARK, S. G., CROSTHWAITE, J. & HIRTH, J. R. (2004b) Livestock grazing management and biodiversity conservation in Australian temperate grassy landscapes. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 55, 279-295.

DOUGLAS, N. J., BIGGS, A. J. W., HARRIS, P. S. & STONE, R. (1999) Climate and its influence on agriculture. *In:* HARRIS, P. S., BIGGS, A. J. W., STONE, B. J., CRANE, L. N. & DOUGLAS, N. J. (Eds.) *Central Darling Downs land management manual: resource information book.* State of Queensland Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Toowoomba.

DREZNER, T. D., FALL, P. L. & STROMBERG, J. C. (2001) Plant distribution and dispersal mechanisms at the Hassayampa River Preserve, Arizona, USA. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 10, 205-217.

DSEWPC (2009) Australian natural resources atlas. Australian Government Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities (DSEWPC), Canberra.

DUFOUR, S., BARSOUM, N., MULLER, E. & PIEGAY, H. (2007) Effects of channel confinement on pioneer woody vegetation structure, composition and diversity along the River Drome (SE France). *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 32, 1244-1256.

DUKES, J. S. (2001) Biodiversity and invasibility in grassland microcosms. Oecologia, 126, 563-568.

DUNNE, J. A. & PARKER, V. T. (1999) Species-mediated soil moisture availability and patchy establishment of *Pseudotsuga menziesii* in chaparral. *Oecologia*, 119, 36-45.

EAMUS, D., FROEND, R., LOOMES, R., HOSE, G. & MURRAY, B. (2006) A functional methodology for determining the groundwater regime needed to maintain the health of groundwater-dependent vegetation. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 97-114.

EARL, J. (2003) The distribution and impacts of Lippia (Phyla canescens) in the Murray Darling System. Final report to the Lippia Working Group, October 2003. Agricultural Information & Monitoring Services, Guyra.

EBENMAN, B. & JONSSON, T. (2005) Using community viability analysis to identify fragile systems and keystone species. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 20, 568-575.

EGILLA, J. N., DAVIES, F. T. & DREW, M. C. (2001) Effect of potassium on drought resistance of *Hibiscus rosa-sinensis* cv. Leprechaun: plant growth, leaf macro- and micronutrient content and root longevity. *Plant and Soil*, 229, 213-224.

EHRENFELD, J. G., KOURTEV, P. & HUANG, W. Z. (2001) Changes in soil functions following invasions of exotic understory plants in deciduous forests. *Ecological Applications*, 11, 1287-1300.

EICHER, T. S., PAPAGEORGIOU, C. & RAFTERY, A. E. (2007) *Determining growth determinants: default priors and predictive performance in Bayesian Model Averaging.* Centre for Statistics and the Social Sciences. University of Washington, Washington.

ELDRIDGE, D. J. & WONG, V. N. L. (2005) Clumped and isolated trees influence soil nutrient levels in an Australian temperate box woodland. *Plant and Soil*, 270, 331-342.

ELGER, A., BORNETTE, G., BARRAT-SEGRETAIN, M. H. & AMOROS, C. (2004) Disturbances as a structuring factor of plant palatability in aquatic communities. *Ecology*, 85, 304-311.
ELLISON, A. M., BANK, M. S., CLINTON, B. D., COLBURN, E. A., ELLIOTT, K., FORD, C. R., FOSTER, D. R., KLOEPPEL, B. D., KNOEPP, J. D., LOVETT, G. M., MOHAN, J., ORWIG, D. A., RODENHOUSE, N. L., SOBCZAK, W. V., STINSON, K. A., STONE, J. K., SWAN, C. M., THOMPSON, J., VON HOLLE, B. & WEBSTER, J. R. (2005) Loss of foundation species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 3, 479-486.

ELMORE, A. J., MANNING, S. J., MUSTARD, J. F. & CRAINE, J. M. (2006a) Decline in alkali meadow vegetation cover in California: the effects of groundwater extraction and drought. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43, 770-779.

ELMORE, A. J., MUSTARD, J. F. & MANNING, S. J. (2003) Regional patterns of plant community response to changes in water: Owens Valley, California. *Ecological Applications*, 13, 443-460.

ELMORE, A. J., MUSTARD, J. F., HAMBURG, S. P. & MANNING, S. J. (2006b) Agricultural legacies in the great basin alter vegetation cover, composition, and response to precipitation. *Ecosystems*, 9, 1231-1241.

ELMQVIST, T., FOLKE, C., NYSTROM, M., PETERSON, G., BENGTSSON, J., WALKER, B. & NORBERG, J. (2003) Response diversity, ecosystem change, and resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 1, 488-494.

ELTON, C. S. (1958) The ecology of invasions by animals and plants. Methuen, London.

ENGERMAN, R. M., SUGIHARA, R. T., PANK, L. F. & DUSENBERRY, W. E. (1994) A comparison of plotless density estimators using monte carlo simulation. *Ecology*, 75, 1769-1779.

EPA (2003 & 2005) *Regional ecosystems mapping*. State of Queensland Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Brisbane.

EPSTEIN, H. E., LAUENROTH, W. K., BURKE, I. C. & COFFIN, D. P. (1997) Productivity patterns of C3 and C4 functional types in the US Great Plains. *Ecology*, 78, 722-731.

ESRI (2007) ArcGIS Version 9.1. Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI), Redlands.

EVANS, R. & NEAL, B. (2006) *Baseflow analysis as a tool for groundwater*. Sinclair Knight Merz, Australia.

EVANS, R. (2007) The impacts of "far away" groundwater pumping on stream flow in Australia. Sinclair Knight Merz, Australia.

EYRE, T. J., KELLY, A. L. & NELDNER, V. J. (2006) *BioCondition: a terrestrial vegetation condition assessment tool for biodiversity in Queensland. Field assessment manual. Version 1.5.* State of Queensland Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Brisbane.

FACELLI, J. & PICKETT, S. (1991) Plant litter: its dynamics and effects on plant community structure. *The Botanical Review*, 57, 1-32.

FACELLI, J. M. & BROCK, D. J. (2000) Patch dynamics in arid lands: localized effects of *Acacia* papyrocarpa on soils and vegetation of open woodlands of south Australia. *Ecography*, 23, 479-491.

FACELLI, J. M. & TEMBY, A. M. (2002) Multiple effects of shrubs on annual plant communities in arid lands of South Australia. *Austral Ecology*, 27, 422-432.

FAHRIG, L. (2003) Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 34, 487-515.

FAHRIG, L., COFFIN, D. P., LAUENROTH, W. K. & SHUGART, H. H. (1994) The advantage of long-distance clonal spreading in highly disturbed habitats. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 8, 172-187.

FATEMI, M., GROSS, C., JULIEN, M. & DUGGIN, J. A. (2008) *Phyla canescens*: multiple introductions into Australia as revealed by ISSR markers and nuclear ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacers (ITS). *In:* VAN KLINKEN, R.D., OSTEN, V.A., PANETTA, F.D. & SCANLAN, J.C. (eds.) *16th Australian Weeds Conference proceedings: weed management 2008 hot topics in the tropics.* Queensland Weeds Society, Brisbane.

FAY, P. A., CARLISLE, J. D., KNAPP, A. K., BLAIR, J. M. & COLLINS, S. L. (2003) Productivity response to altered rainfall patterns in a C4-dominated grassland. *Oecologia (Berlin)*, 137, 245-251.

FAY, P. A., KAUFMAN, D. M., NIPPERT, J. B., CARLISLE, J. D. & HARPER, C. W. (2008)

Changes in grassland ecosystem function due to extreme rainfall events: implications for responses to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 14, 1600-1608.

FENSHAM, R. J. & FAIRFAX, R. J. (1997) The use of the land survey record to reconstruct pre-European vegetation patterns in the Darling Downs, Queensland, Australia. *Journal of Biogeography*, 24, 827-836.

FENSHAM, R. J. & FAIRFAX, R. J. (2003) Assessing woody vegetation cover change in north-west Australian savanna using aerial photography. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 12, 359-367.

FENSHAM, R. J. & FAIRFAX, R. J. (2007) Drought-related tree death of savanna eucalypts: species susceptibility, soil conditions and root architecture. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 18, 71-80.

FENSHAM, R. J. & HOLMAN, J. E. (1999) Temporal and spatial patterns in drought-related tree dieback in Australian savanna. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 36, 1035-1050.

FENSHAM, R. J. (1998a) The grassy vegetation of the Darling Downs, south-eastern Queensland, Australia. Floristics and grazing effects. *Biological Conservation*, 84, 301-310.

FENSHAM, R. J. (1998b) The influence of cattle grazing on tree mortality after drought in savanna woodland in north Queensland. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 23, 405-407.

FISCHER, J. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2007) Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16, 265-280.

FISCHER, J., PETERSON, G. D., GARDNER, T. A., GORDON, L. J., FAZEY, I., ELMQVIST, T., FELTON, A., FOLKE, C. & DOVERS, S. (2009) Integrating resilience thinking and optimisation for conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24, 549-554.

FITTER, A. H. & PEAT, H. J. (1994) The ecological flora database, *Journal of Ecology*, 82, 415-425. Available online at: <u>http://www.ecoflora.co.uk</u> [Accessed 2 November 2011].

FLYNN, D. F. B., GOGOL-PROKURAT, M., NOGEIRE, T., MOLINARI, N., RICHERS, B. T., LIN, B. B., SIMPSON, N., MAYFIELD, M. M. & DECLERCK, F. (2009) Loss of functional diversity under land use intensification across multiple taxa. *Ecology Letters*, 12, 22-33.

FOLKE, C. (2006) Resilience: the emergence of a perspective for social-ecological systems analyses. *Global Environmental Change-Human and Policy Dimensions*, 16, 253-267.

FOLKE, C., CARPENTER, S., WALKER, B., SCHEFFER, M., ELMQVIST, T., GUNDERSON, L. & HOLLING, C. S. (2004) Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 35, 557-581.

FOLKE, C., HOLLING, C. S. & PERRINGS, C. (1996) Biological diversity, ecosystems, and the human scale. *Ecological Applications*, 6, 1018-1024.

FONSECA, C. R., OVERTON, J. M., COLLINS, B. & WESTOBY, M. (2000) Shifts in traitcombinations along rainfall and phosphorus gradients. *Journal of Ecology*, 88, 964-977.

FORMAN, R. T. T. (1995) Land mosaics: the ecology of landscapes and regions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

FORNARA, D. A. & TILMAN, D. (2008) Plant functional composition influences rates of soil carbon and nitrogen accumulation. *Journal of Ecology*, 96, 314-322.

FOSTER, D. R., KNIGHT, D. H. & FRANKLIN, J. F. (1998) Landscape patterns and legacies resulting from large, infrequent forest disturbances. *Ecosystems*, 1, 497-510.

FOX, J. E. D., FLORENTINE, S. K., WESTBROOKE, M. E. & HURST, C. (2004) Observations on survival and early growth of natural regeneration in floodplain coolibah *Eucalyptus victrix* (Myrtaceae) in the Pilbara, Western Australia. *Rangeland Journal*, 26, 150-160.

FOXCROFT, L. C., ROUGET, M. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2007) Risk assessment of riparian plant invasions into protected areas. *Conservation Biology*, 21, 412-421.

FREEMAN, M. C., PRINGLE, C. M. & JACKSON, C. R. (2007) Hydrologic connectivity and the contribution of stream headwaters to ecological integrity at regional scales. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 43, 5-14.

FRENCH, M. (1994) Travellers in a landscape: visitors' impressions of the Darling Downs 1827-

1954. University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba.

FRIEDEL, M. H. (1991) Range condition assessment and the concept of thresholds: a viewpoint. *Journal of Range Management*, 44, 422-426.

FRIEND, A. L., COLEMAN, M. D. & ISEBRANDS, J. G. (1994) Carbon allocation to root and shoot stems of woody plants. *In:* DAVIS, T. D. & HAISSIG, B. E. (Eds.) *Biology of adventitious root formation*. Plenum Press, New York.

FRISSELL, C. A., LISS, W. J., WARREN, C. E. & HURLEY, M. D. (1986) A hierarchical framework for stream habitat classification: viewing streams in a watershed context. *Environmental Management*, 10, 199-214.

FROEND, R. & LOOMES, R. (2007) Cooljarloo Mine Falcon Extension: vegetation mortality risk assessment. Froend, Bowen and Associates, Perth.

FROEND, R. H. & DRAKE, P. L. (2006) Defining phreatophyte response to reduced water availability: preliminary investigations on the use of xylem cavitation vulnerability in Banksia woodland species. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 173-179.

FUHLENDORF, S. D., BRISKE, D. D. & SMEINS, F. E. (2001) Herbaceous vegetation change in variable rangeland environments: the relative contribution of grazing and climatic variability. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 4, 177-188.

FUNK, J. L., CLELAND, E. E., SUDING, K. N. & ZAVALETA, E. S. (2008) Restoration through reassembly: plant traits and invasion resistance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23, 695-703.

FYNN, R. W. S. & O'CONNOR, T. G. (2000) Effect of stocking rate and rainfall on rangeland dynamics and cattle performance in a semi-arid savanna, South Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 37, 491-507.

GAEUMAN, D., SCHMIDT, J. C. & WILCOCK, P. R. (2005) Complex channel responses to changes in stream flow and sediment supply on the lower Duchesne River, Utah. *Geomorphology*, 64, 185-206.

GALAT, D. L., FREDRICKSON, L. H., HUMBURG, D. D., BATAILLE, K. J., BODIE, J. R., DOHRENWEND, J., GELWICKS, G. T., HAVEL, J. E., HELMERS, D. L., HOOKER, J. B., JONES, J. R., KNOWLTON, M. F., KUBISIAK, J., MAZOUREK, J., MCCOLPIN, A. C., RENKEN, R. B. & SEMLITSCH, R. D. (1998) Flooding to restore connectivity of regulated, large-river wetlands. *Bioscience*, 48, 721-733.

GALLAGHER, R. & APPENZELLER, T. (1999) Beyond reductionism. Science, 284, 79.

GALLARDO, A. (2003) Spatial variability of soil properties in a floodplain forest in northwest Spain. *Ecosystems*, 6, 564-576.

GANJEGUNTE, G. & BRAUN, R. (2010) Application of electromagnetic induction technique for soil salinity and sodicity appraisal. 2010 International Conference on Environmental Engineering and Applications (ICEEA 2010), Singapore, 10-12 September 2010

GANN, T. G. T., CHILDERS, D. L. & RONDEAU, D. N. (2005) Ecosystem structure, nutrient dynamics, and hydrologic relationships in tree islands of the southern Everglades, Florida, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 214, 11-27.

GARNIER, E., LAVOREL, S., ANSQUER, P., CASTRO, H., CRUZ, P., DOLEZAL, J., ERIKSSON, O., FORTUNEL, C., FREITAS, H., GOLODETS, C., GRIGULIS, K., JOUANY, C., KAZAKOU, E., KIGEL, J., KLEYER, M., LEHSTEN, V., LEPS, J., MEIER, T., PAKEMAN, R., PAPADIMITRIOU, M., PAPANASTASIS, V. P., QUESTED, H., QUETIER, F., ROBSON, M., ROUMET, C., RUSCH, G., SKARPE, C., STERNBERG, M., THEAU, J. P., THEBAULT, A., VILE, D. & ZAROVALI, M. P. (2007) Assessing the effects of land-use change on plant traits, communities and ecosystem functioning in grasslands: A standardized methodology and lessons from an application to 11 European sites. *Annals of Botany*, 99, 967-985.

GENTILE, J. H., HARWELL, M. A., CROPPER, W., HARWELL, C. C., DEANGELIS, D., DAVIS, S., OGDEN, J. C. & LIRMAN, D. (2001) Ecological conceptual models: a framework and case study on ecosystem management for South Florida sustainability. *Science of the Total Environment*, 274, 231-253.

GEORGE, A. K., WALKER, K. F. & LEWIS, M. M. (2005) Population status of eucalypt trees on the River Murray floodplain, South Australia. *River Research and Applications*, 21, 271-282.

GERGEL, S. E., CARPENTER, S. R. & STANLEY, E. H. (2005) Do dams and levees impact nitrogen cycling? Simulating the effects of flood alterations on floodplain denitrification. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 1352-1367.

GERGEL, S. E., DIXON, M. D. & TURNER, M. G. (2002a) Consequences of human-altered floods: levees, floods, and floodplain forests along the Wisconsin River. *Ecological Applications*, 12, 1755-1770.

GERGEL, S. E., TURNER, M. G., MILLER, J. R., MELACK, J. M. & STANLEY, E. H. (2002b) Landscape indicators of human impacts to riverine systems. *Aquatic Sciences - Research Across Boundaries*, 64, 118-128.

GIBBENS, R. P. & LENZ, J. M. (2001) Root systems of some Chihuahuan Desert plants. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 49, 221-263.

GILBERT, B. & LECHOWICZ, M. J. (2005) Invasibility and abiotic gradients: the positive correlation between native and exotic plant diversity. *Ecology*, 86, 1848-1855.

GILLSON, L. (2004) Evidence of hierarchical patch dynamics in an east African savanna? *Landscape Ecology*, 19, 883-894.

GITLIN, A. R., STHULTZ, C. M., BOWKER, M. A., STUMPF, S., PAXTON, K. L., KENNEDY, K., MUNOZ, A., BAILEY, J. K. & WHITHAM, T. G. (2006) Mortality gradients within and among dominant plant populations as barometers of ecosystem change during extreme drought. *Conservation Biology*, 20, 1477-1486.

GOLODETS, C., STERNBERG, M. & KIGEL, J. (2009) A community-level test of the leaf-heightseed ecology strategy scheme in relation to grazing conditions. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 20, 392-402.

GOMEZ-APARICIO, L., GOMEZ, J. M., ZAMORA, R. & BOETTINGER, J. L. (2005). Canopy vs. soil effects of shrubs facilitating tree seedlings in Mediterranean montane ecosystems. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 16, 191-198.

GOODEN, B., FRENCH, K. & TURNER, P. J. (2009a) Invasion and management of a woody plant, *Lantana camara* L., alters vegetation diversity within wet sclerophyll forest in southeastern Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257, 960-967.

GOODEN, B., FRENCH, K., TURNER, P. J. & DOWNEY, P. O. (2009b) Impact threshold for an alien plant invader, *Lantana camara* L., on native plant communities. *Biological Conservation*, 142, 2631-2641.

GOODLAND, A. (2000) Grassy ecosystem significant sites of the Darling Downs, Queensland. World Wildlife Fund for Nature Australia, Spring Hill.

GORDON, D. R. (1998) Effects of invasive, non-indigenous plant species on ecosystem processes: lessons from Florida. *Ecological Applications*, 8, 975-989.

GORDON, G., BROWN, A. S. & PULSFORD, T. (1988) A koala (*Phascolarctos cinereus* Goldfuss) population crash during drought and heatwave conditions in south-western Queensland. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 13, 451-461.

GRAHAM, S., WILSON, B. R., REID, N. & JONES, H. (2004) Scattered paddock trees, litter chemistry, and surface soil properties in pastures of the New England Tablelands, New South Wales. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 42, 905-912.

GRANT, C. D. (2006) State-and-transition successional model for bauxite mining rehabilitation in the Jarrah Forest of Western Australia. *Restoration Ecology*, 14, 28-37.

GRANT, E. H. C., LOWE, W. H. & FAGAN, W. F. (2007) Living in the branches: population dynamics and ecological processes in dendritic networks. *Ecology Letters*, 10, 165-175.

GREEN, D. G. & SADEDIN, S. (2005) Interactions matter - complexity in landscapes and ecosystems. *Ecological Complexity*, 2, 117-130.

GREEN, D. G. (1993) Emergent behaviours in biological systems. In: GREEN, D. G. &

BOSSAMAIER, T. (Eds.) Complex systems: from biology to computation. IOS Press, Amsterdam.

GREENING AUSTRALIA (2003) Native vegetation management. A needs analysis of regional service delivery in Queensland - Murray Darling Basin including Condamine Alliance. Greening Australia, Canberra.

GREY, M. J., CLARKE, M. F. & LOYN, R. H. (1997) Initial changes in the avian communities of remnant eucalypt woodlands following a reduction in the abundance of noisy miners, *Manorina melanocephala*. *Wildlife Research*, 24, 631-648.

GRIFFITH, A. B. & LOIK, M. E. (2008) Facilitation of an invasive plant by native shrubs. 93rd ESA Annual Meeting, Milwaukee, 3-8 August 2008. Ecological Society of America, Washington DC.

GRIFFITHS, R. P., ENTRY, J. A., INGHAM, E. R. & EMMINGHAM, W. H. (1997) Chemistry and microbial activity of forest and pasture riparian-zone soils along three Pacific northwest streams. *Plant and Soil*, 190, 169-178.

GRIGULIS, K., LAVOREL, S., DAVIES, I. D., DOSSANTOS, A., LLORET, F. & VILA, M. (2005) Landscape-scale positive feedbacks between fire and expansion of the large tussock grass, *Ampelodesmos mauritanica* in Catalan shrublands. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 1042-1053.

GRIME, J. P. (1977) Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. *The American Naturalist*, 111, 1169-1194.

GRIME, J.P. (1979) Plant Strategies and Vegetation Processes. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.

GRIME, J. P. (2007) Plant strategy theories: a comment on Craine (2005). *Journal of Ecology*, 95, 227-230.

GROFFMAN, P., BARON, J., BLETT, T., GOLD, A., GOODMAN, I., GUNDERSON, L., LEVINSON, B., PALMER, M., PAERL, H., PETERSON, G., POFF, N., REJESKI, D., REYNOLDS, J., TURNER, M., WEATHERS, K. & WIENS, J. (2006) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental management or an important concept with no practical application? *Ecosystems*, 9, 1-13.

GROSS, C. L., GORRELL, L., MACDONALD, M. J. & FATEMI, M. (2010) Honeybees facilitate the invasion of *Phyla canescens* (Verbenaceae) in Australia – no bees, no seed! *Weed Research*, 50, 364-372.

GUNDERSON, L. H. (2000) Ecological resilience - in theory and application. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 31, 425-439.

GURNELL, A., THOMPSON, K., GOODSON, J. & MOGGRIDGE, H. (2008) Propagule deposition along river margins: linking hydrology and ecology. *Journal of Ecology*, 96, 553-565.

HAGERTHEY, S. E., NEWMAN, S., RUTCHEY, K., SMITH, E. P. & GODIN, J. (2008) Multiple regime shifts in a subtropical peatland: community-specific thresholds to eutrophication. *Ecological Monographs*, 78, 547-565.

HANKS, L. M., PAINE, T. D., MILLAR, J. G., CAMPBELL, C. D. & SCHUCH, U. K. (1999) Water relations of host trees and resistance to the phloem-boring beetle *Phoracantha semipunctata* F. (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). *Oecologia*, 119, 400-407.

HARDEN, G. W. (Ed.) (1990-1993) Flora of New South Wales, Vols. 1-4. University Press, Sydney.

HARNER, M. J. & STANFORD, J. A. (2003) Differences in cottonwood growth between a losing and a gaining reach of an alluvial floodplain. *Ecology*, 84, 1453-1458.

HARTVIGSEN, G., KINZIG, A. & PETERSON, G. (1998) Use and analysis of complex adaptive systems in ecosystem science: overview of special section. *Ecosystems*, 1, 427-430.

HASTWELL, G. T. (2001) Facilitation and fertile islands: linking canopy effects with plant interactions. PhD thesis, University of Adelaide, Adelaide.

HATTON, T. & EVANS, R. (1998) *Dependence of ecosystems on groundwater and its significance to Australia.* LWRRDC Occasional paper, Land and Water Resources Research and Development Corporation (LWRRDC), Canberra.

HAWKINS, H., HETTASCH, H., WEST, A. G. & CRAMER, M. D. (2009) Hydraulic redistribution by *Protea* 'Sylvia' (Proteaceae) facilitates soil water replenishment and water acquisition by an

understorey grass and shrub. Functional Plant Biology, 36, 752-760.

HEJDA, M., PYŠEK, P. & JAROŠÍK, V. (2009) Impact of invasive plants on the species richness, diversity and composition of invaded communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 97, 393-403.

HELLER, N. E. & ZAVALETA, E. S. (2009) Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. *Biological Conservation*, 142, 14-32.

HEMSTROM, M. A., MERZENICH, J., REGER, A. & WALES, B. (2007) Integrated analysis of landscape management scenarios using state and transition models in the upper Grande Ronde River Subbasin, Oregon, USA. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 80, 198-211.

HENKIN, Z., SELIGMAN, N. G. & NOY-MEIR, I. (2007) Successional transitions and management of a phosphorus-limited shrubland ecosystem. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*, 60, 453-463.

HERRICK, J. E., BESTELMEYER, B. T., ARCHER, S., TUGEL, A. J. & BROWN, J. R. (2006) An integrated framework for science-based arid land management. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 65, 319-335.

HILL, M. J., ROXBURGH, S. H., CARTER, J. O. & MCKEON, G. M. (2005) Vegetation state change and consequent carbon dynamics in savanna woodlands of Australia in response to grazing, drought and fire: a scenario approach using 113 years of synthetic annual fire and grassland growth. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 53, 715-739.

HOBBS, N. T. & HILBORN, R. (2006) Alternatives to statistical hypothesis testing in ecology: a guide to self teaching. *Ecological Applications*, 16, 5-19.

HOBBS, R. J. & HUENNEKE, L. F. (1992) Disturbance, diversity, and invasion: implications for conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 6, 324-337.

HOBBS, R. J. & NORTON, D. A. (2004) Ecological filters, thresholds and gradients in resistance to ecosystem reassembly. *In:* TEMPERTON, V. M., HOBBS, R. J., NUTTLE, T. & HALLE, S. (eds.) *Assembly rules and restoration ecology: bridging the gap between theory and practice.* Society for Ecological Restoration International and Island Press, Washington DC.

HOBBS, R. J. & SUDING, K. N. (eds.) (2009) *New models for ecosystem dynamics and restoration*. Island Press, Washington DC.

HOBBS, R. J. (2007) Setting effective and realistic restoration goals: key directions for research. *Restoration Ecology*, 15, 354-357.

HOBBS, R. J., ARICO, S., ARONSON, J., BARON, J. S., BRIDGEWATER, P., CRAMER, V. A., EPSTEIN, P. R., EWEL, J. J., KLINK, C. A., LUGO, A. E., NORTON, D., OJIMA, D., RICHARDSON, D. M., SANDERSON, E. W., VALLADARES, F., VILA, M., ZAMORA, R. & ZOBEL, M. (2006) Novel ecosystems: theoretical and management aspects of the new ecological world order. *Global Ecology & Biogeography*, 15, 1-7.

HOBBS, R. J. & HARRIS, J. A. (2001) Restoration ecology: repairing the earth's ecosystems in the new millenium. *Restoration Ecology*, 9, 239-246.

HOBBS, R. J., HIGGS, E. & HARRIS, J. A. (2009) Novel ecosystems: implications for conservation and restoration. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24, 599-605.

HOETING, J. A., MADIGAN, D., RAFTERY, A. E. & VOLINSKY, C. T. (1999) Bayesian model averaging: a tutorial. *Statistical Science*, 14, 382-401.

HOLL, K. D. & CRONE, E. E. (2004) Applicability of landscape and island biogeography theory to restoration of riparian understorey plants. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 41, 922-933.

HOLLAND, K. L., CHARLES, A. H., JOLLY, I. D., OVERTON, I. C., GEHRIG, S. & SIMMONS, C. T. (2009) Effectiveness of artificial watering of a semi-arid saline wetland for managing riparian vegetation health. *Hydrological Processes*, 23, 3474–3484.

HOLLAND, K. L., TYERMAN, S. D., MENSFORTH, L. J. & WALKER, G. R. (2006) Tree water sources over shallow, saline groundwater in the lower River Murray, south-eastern Australia: implications for groundwater recharge mechanisms. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 193-205.

HOLLING, C. S. (1973) Resilience and stability of ecological systems. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 4, 1-23.

HOLLING, C. S. (1992) Cross-scale morphology, geometry, and dynamics of ecosystems. *Ecological Monographs*, 62, 447-502.

HOLLING, C. S. (2001) Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological, and social systems. *Ecosystems*, 4, 390-405.

HOLM, A. M., WATSON, I. W., LONERAGAN, W. A. & ADAMS, M. A. (2003) Loss of patchscale heterogeneity on primary productivity and rainfall-use efficiency in Western Australia. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 4, 569-578.

HOLZEL, N. & OTTE, A. (2004) Inter-annual variation in the soil seed bank of flood-meadows over two years with different flooding patterns. *Plant Ecology*, 174, 279-291.

HOOK, P. B. & BURKE, I. C. (2000) Biogeochemistry in a shortgrass landscape: control by topography, soil texture, and microclimate. *Ecology*, 81, 2686-2703.

HOOPER, D. U., CHAPIN, F. S., EWEL, J. J., HECTOR, A., INCHAUSTI, P., LAVOREL, S., LAWTON, J. H., LODGE, D. M., LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., SCHMID, B., SETALA, H., SYMSTAD, A. J., VANDERMEER, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs*, 75, 3-35.

HOPFENSPERGER, K. N., WU, J. Q. & GILL, R. A. (2006) Plant composition and erosion potential of a grazed wetland in the Salmon River Subbasin, Idaho. *Western North American Naturalist*, 66, 354-364.

HORNER, G. J., BAKER, P. J., MACNALLY, R., CUNNINGHAM, S. C., THOMSON, J. R. & HAMILTON, F. (2009) Mortality of developing floodplain forests subjected to a drying climate and water extraction. *Global Change Biology*, 15, 2176-2186.

HORTON, J. L. & CLARK, J. L. (2001) Water table decline alters growth and survival of *Salix* gooddingii and *Tamarix chinensis* seedlings. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 140, 239-247.

HORTON, J. L., KOLB, T. E. & HART, S. C. (2001a) Physiological response to groundwater depth varies among species and with river flow regulation. *Ecological Applications*, 11, 1046-1059.

HORTON, J. L., KOLB, T. E. & HART, S. C. (2001b) Responses of riparian trees to interannual variation in ground water depth in a semi-arid river basin. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 24, 293-304.

HOUSE, J. I., ARCHER, S., BRESHEARS, D. D. & SCHOLES, R. J. (2003) Conundrums in mixed woody-herbaceous plant systems. *Journal of Biogeography*, 30, 1763-1777.

HUANG, B. R. & FU, J. M. (2000) Photosynthesis, respiration, and carbon allocation of two coolseason perennial grasses in response to surface soil drying. *Plant and Soil*, 227, 17-26.

HUANG, Y., STREET-PERROTT, F. A., METCALFE, S. E., BRENNER, M., MORELAND, M. & FREEMAN, K. H. (2001) Climate change as the dominant control on glacial-interglacial variations in C3 and C4 plant abundance. *Science*, 293, 1647-1651.

HUGGENBERGER, P., HOEHN, E., BESCHTA, R. & WOESSNER, W. (1998) Abiotic aspects of channels and floodplains in riparian ecology. *Freshwater Biology*, 40, 407-425.

HUGHES, F. M. R. (1997) Floodplain biogeomorphology. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 21, 501-529.

HUGHES, F. M. R., ADAMS, W. M., MULLER, E., NILSSON, C., RICHARDS, K. S., BARSOUM, N., DECAMPS, H., FOUSSADIER, R., GIREL, J., GUILLOY, H., HAYES, A., JOHANSSON, M., LAMBS, L., PAUTOU, G., PEIRY, J. L., PERROW, M., VAUTIER, F. & WINFIELD, M. (2001) The importance of different scale processes for the restoration of floodplain woodlands. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 17, 325-345.

HUGHES, L. 2003. Climate change and Australia: trends, projections and impacts. *Austral Ecology*, 28, 423-443.

HUMPHRIES, P. & BALDWIN, D. S. (2003) Drought and aquatic ecosystems: an introduction. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1141-1146.

HUSTON, M. (1979) A general hypothesis of species diversity. *The American Naturalist*, 113, 81-101.

HUSTON, M. A. (1994) Biological diversity: the coexistence of species on changing landscapes.

Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

HUTCHINSON, M. F., MCINTYRE, S., HOBBS, R. J., STEIN, J. L., GARNETT, S. & KINLOCH, J. (2005) Integrating a global agro-climatic classification with bioregional boundaries in Australia. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 14, 197-212.

HUTCHINSON, M. F., NIX, H. A. & MCMAHON, J. P. (1992) Climate constraints on cropping systems. *Field Crop Systems*, 18, 37–58.

HUTH, N. I. & POULTON, P. L. (2007) An electromagnetic induction method for monitoring variation in soil moisture in agroforestry systems. *Soil Research*, 45, 63-72.

HUXLEY, W. (1982) Condamine River valley groundwater investigation. The hydrogeology, hydrology & hydrochemistry of the Condamine River valley alluvium. Volume 1. Queensland Water Resources Commission - Groundwater Branch, Brisbane.

INSAUSTI, P. & GRIMOLDI, A. A. (2006) Gap disturbance triggers the recolonization of the clonal plant Ambrosia tenuifolia in a flooding grassland of Argentina. *Austral Ecology*, 31, 828-836.

IPCC (2007) Summary for Policymakers. In: SOLOMON, S., QIN, D., MANNING, M., CHEN, Z., MARQUIS, M., AVERYT, K. B., TIGNOR, M. & MILLER, H.L. (eds.) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

ISBELL, R. F. (1996) The Australian soil classification. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

JACKSON, J. & ASH, A. J. (2001) The role of trees in enhancing soil nutrient availability for native perennial grasses in open eucalypt woodlands of north-east Queensland. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 52, 377-386.

JACOBSEN, N. H. G. & KLEYNHANS, C. J. (1993) The importance of weirs as refugia for hippopotami and crocodiles in the Limpopo River, South Africa. *Water SA*, 19, 301-306.

JAMES, C. D., LANDSBERG, J. & MORTON, S. R. (1999) Provision of watering points in the Australian arid zone: a review of effects on biota. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 41, 87-121.

JANSEN, A. & ROBERTSON, A. I. (2001) Relationships between livestock management and the ecological condition of riparian habitats along an Australian floodplain river. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, 63-75.

JANSSON, R., LAUDON, H., JOHANSSON, E. & AUGSPURGER, C. (2007) The importance of groundwater discharge for plant species number in riparian zones. *Ecology*, 88, 131-139.

JANSSON, R., NILSSON, C. & RENOFALT, B. (2000b) Fragmentation of riparian floras in rivers with multiple dams. *Ecology*, 81, 899-903.

JANSSON, R., NILSSON, C., DYNESIUS, M. & ANDERSSON, E. (2000a) Effects of river regulation on river-margin vegetation: a comparison of eight boreal rivers. *Ecological Applications*, 10, 203-224.

JANSSON, R., ZINKO, U., MERRITT, D. M. & NILSSON, C. (2005) Hydrochory increases riparian plant species richness: a comparison between a free-flowing and a regulated river. *Journal of Ecology*, 93, 1094-1103.

JENKINS, K. M., BOULTON, A. J. & RYDER, D. S. (2005) A common parched future? Research and management of Australian arid-zone floodplain wetlands. *Hydrobiologia*, 552, 57-73.

JENSEN, A. E., WALKER, K. F. & PATON, D. C. (2008a) The role of seedbanks in restoration of floodplain woodlands. *River Research and Applications*, 24, 632-649.

JENSEN, A. E., WALKER, K. F. & PATON, D. C. (2008b) Smart environmental watering: getting most benefit from scant flows for floodplain trees (River Murray, South Australia). *In:* DANIELL, T., LAMBERT, M. & LEONARD, M. (eds.) *Water Down Under Conference 2008.* Engineers Australia, Adelaide.

JENSEN, A., WALKER, K. F. & PATON, D. C. (2007) Using phenology of eucalypts to determine environmental watering regimes for the River Murray floodplain South Australia. *In:* WILSON, A. L., DENHAM, R. L., WATTS, R. J., PAGE, K. J., BOWMER, K. H. & CURTIS, A. (eds.) 5th Australian Stream Management Conference, Albury NSW, May 2007. Charles Sturt University, Albury.

JIAO, Y., NEVES, R. & JONES, J. (2008) Models and model selection uncertainty in estimating growth rates of endangered freshwater mussel populations. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 65, 2389-2398.

JOLLY, I. D., MCEWAN, K. L. & HOLLAND, K. L. (2008) A review of groundwater-surface water interactions in arid/semi-arid wetlands and the consequences of salinity for wetland ecology. *Ecohydrology*, 1, 43-58.

JOLLY, I. D., WALKER, G. R. & THORBURN, P. J. (1993) Salt accumulation in semiarid floodplain soils with implications for forest health. *Journal of Hydrology*, 150, 589-614.

JOLLY, I. D., WALKER, G. R., HOLLINGSWORTH, I. D., ELDRIDGE, S. R., THORBURN, P. J., MCEWAN, K. L. & HATTON, T. J. (1996) The causes of decline in eucalypt communities and possible ameliorative approaches. *In:* WALKER, G. R., JOLLY, I. D. & JARWAL, S. D. (eds.) *Salt and Water Movement in the Chowilla Floodplain*. CSIRO Division of Water Resources, Canberra.

JOLLY, I. D., WILLIAMSON, D. R., GILFEDDER, M., WALKER, G. R., MORTON, R., ROBINSON, G., JONES, H., ZHANG, L., DOWLING, T. I., DYCE, P., NATHAN, R. J., NANDAKUMAR, N., CLARKE, R. & MCNEILL, V. (2001) Historical stream salinity trends and catchment salt balances in the Murray Darling Basin, Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 52, 53-63.

JONES, A., DAVIES, H. & SINDEN, J. (1990) Relationships between eucalypt dieback, land, and land use in southern New England, New South Wales. *Australian Forestry*, 53, 13-23.

JONES, C. G., LAWTON, J. H. & SHACHAK, M. (1994) Organisms as ecosystem engineers. *Oikos*, 69, 373-386.

JONES, K. B., NEALE, A. C., NASH, M. S., VAN REMORTEL, R. D., WICKHAM, J. D., RIITTERS, K. H. & O'NEILL, R. V. (2001) Predicting nutrient and sediment loadings to streams from landscape metrics: a multiple watershed study from the United States Mid-Atlantic Region. *Landscape Ecology*, 16, 301-312.

JULIEN, M., STORRIE, A. & MCCOSKER, R. (2004) Lippia, *Phyla canescens*, an increasing threat to agriculture and the environment. *In:* SINDEL, B.M. and JOHNSON, S.B. (eds.) *14th Australian Weeds Conference proceedings: weed management - balancing people, planet, profit.* Weed Society of NSW, Wahroonga.

JUNK, W. J., BAYLEY, P. B. & SPARKS, R. E. (1989) The flood pulse concept in river-floodplain systems. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 106, 110-127.

JURSKIS, V. (2005a) Decline of eucalypt forests as a consequence of unnatural fire regimes. *Australian Forestry*, 68, 257-262.

KALAPOS, T., VANDENBOOGAARD, R. & LAMBERS, H. (1996) Effect of soil drying on growth, biomass allocation and leaf gas exchange of two annual grass species. *Plant and Soil*, 185, 137-149.

KANG, H. & STANLEY, E. H. (2005) Effects of levees on soil microbial activity in a large river floodplain. *River Research and Applications*, 21, 19-25.

KATH, J., MARON, M. & DUNN, P. K. (2009) Interspecific competition and small bird diversity in an urbanizing landscape. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 92, 72-79.

KELLY, B. & MERRICK, N. (2007) Groundwater knowledge and gaps in the Condamine Alliance area. National Centre for Groundwater Management (NCGM), University of Technology, Sydney.

KELLY, B., MERRICK, N. & SILBURN, M. (2006) *Groundwater knowledge and gaps in the Condamine Alliance area.* NCGM Report 2006/9b, National Centre for Groundwater Management (NCGM), Sydney.

KEMMERER, E. P., SHIELDS, J. M. & TIDEMANN, C. R. (2008) High densities of bell miners *Manorina melanophrys* associated with reduced diversity of other birds in wet eucalypt forest: Potential for adaptive management. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 255, 2094-2102.

KERCHER, S. M. & ZEDLER, J. B. (2004) Flood tolerance in wetland angiosperms: a comparison of invasive and noninvasive species. *Aquatic Botany*, 80, 89-102.

KERLE, J., FOULKES, J., KIMBER, R. & PAPENFUS, D. (1992) The decline of the brushtail possum, *Trichosurus vulpecula* (Kerr 1798), in arid Australia. *The Rangeland Journal*, 14, 107-127.

KING, E. G. & HOBBS, R. J. (2006) Identifying linkages among conceptual models of ecosystem degradation and restoration: towards an integrative framework. *Restoration Ecology*, 14, 369-378.

KING, S. A. & BUCKNEY, R. T. (2002) Invasion of exotic plants in nutrient-enriched urban bushland. *Austral Ecology*, 27, 573-583.

KING, S. L., SHARITZ, R. R., GRONINGER, J. W. & BATTAGLIA, L. L. (2009) The ecology, restoration, and management of southeastern floodplain ecosystems: a synthesis. *Wetlands*, 29, 624-634.

KINGSFORD, R. T. & ROFF, A. (2008) A case study: floodplain development on the Paroo River, the last free flowing river in the Murray-Darling Basin. Wetlands and Rivers Research Group, School of Biological, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of NSW, Sydney.

KINGSFORD, R. T. & THOMAS, R. F. (2002) Use of satellite image analysis to track wetland loss on the Murrumbidgee River floodplain in arid Australia, 1975-1998. *Water Science and Technology*, 45, 45-53.

KINGSFORD, R. T. (2000) Ecological impacts of dams, water diversions and river management on floodplain wetlands in Australia. *Austral Ecology*, 25, 109-127.

KINZIG, A. P., RYAN, P., ETIENNE, M., ALLISON, H., ELMQVIST, T. & WALKER, B. H. (2006) Resilience and regime shifts: assessing cascading effects. *Ecology and Society*, 11(1), 20.

KINZLI, K.-D. & MYRICK, C. A. (2009) Bendway weirs: could they create habitat for the endangered Rio Grande silvery minnow. *River Research and Applications*, 26, 806-822.

KLEIJN, D. & STEINGER, T. (2002) Contrasting effects of grazing and hay cutting on the spatial and genetic population structure of *Veratrum album*, an unpalatable, long-lived, clonal plant species. *Journal of Ecology*, 90, 360-370.

KLEYER, M., BIEDERMANN, R., HENLE, K., OBERMAIER, E., POETHKE, H. J., POSCHLOD, P., SCHRODER, B., SETTELE, J. & VETTERLEIN, D. (2007) Mosaic cycles in agricultural landscapes of Northwest Europe. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 8, 295-309.

KNOWLES-JACKSON, C. & MCLATCHEY, J. (2002) Floodplain management as part of the Upper Condamine catchment: proposed plan, strategy and investment program. A report of the Upper Condamine Floodplain Management Project (Natural Heritage Trust Project - 972976). Queensland Government Department of Natural Resources and Mines (DNRM), Toowoomba.

KNUTSON, M. G., SAUER, J. R., OLSEN, D. A., MOSSMAN, M. J., HEMESATH, L. M. & LANNOO, M. J. (1999) Effects of landscape composition and wetland fragmentation on frog and toad abundance and species richness in Iowa and Wisconsin, U.S.A. *Conservation Biology*, 13, 1437-1446.

KOZLOWSKI, T. T. & PALLARDY, S. G. (2002) Acclimation and adaptive responses of woody plants to environmental stresses. *Botanical Review*, 68, 270-334.

KOZLOWSKI, T. T. (1997) Responses of woody plants to flooding and salinity. *Tree Physiology Monographs*, 1, 1-29.

KRAMER, C. & GLEIXNER, G. (2006) Variable use of plant- and soil-derived carbon by microorganisms in agricultural soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38, 3267-3278.

KREYLING, J., BEIERKUHNLEIN, C., ELLIS, L. & JENTSCH, A. (2008) Invasibility of grassland and heath communities exposed to extreme weather events - additive effects of diversity resistance and fluctuating physical environment. *Oikos*, 117, 1542-1554.

KUHNER, A. & KLEYER, M. (2008) A parsimonious combination of functional traits predicting plant response to disturbance and soil fertility. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 19, 681-692.

LADSON, A. R. & CHONG, J. (2005) Unseasonal flooding of the Barmah-Millewa Forest. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria*, 117, 127-137.

LADSON, A. & FINLAYSON, B. (2002) Rhetoric and reality in the allocation of water to the environment: a case study of the Goulburn River, Victoria, Australia. *River Research and Applications*, 18, 555-568.

LAKE, P. S. (2000) Disturbance, patchiness, and diversity in streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 19, 573-592.

LAKE, P. S. (2003) Ecological effects of perturbation by drought in flowing waters. *Freshwater Biology*, 48, 1161-1172.

LALIBERTÉ, E., WELLS, J. A., DECLERCK, F., METCALFE, D. J., CATTERALL, C. P., QUEIROZ, C., AUBIN, I., BONSER, S. P., DING, Y., FRATERRIGO, J. M., MCNAMARA, S., MORGAN, J. W., MERLOS, D. S., VESK, P. A. & MAYFIELD, M. M. (2010) Land-use intensification reduces functional redundancy and response diversity in plant communities. *Ecology Letters*, 13, 76-86.

LAMBDON, P. W., LLORET, F. & HULME, P. E. (2008a) Do alien plants on Mediterranean islands tend to invade different niches from native species? *Biological Invasions*, 10, 703-716.

LAMBDON, P. W., LLORET, F. & HULME, P. E. (2008b) Do non-native species invasions lead to biotic homogenization at small scales? The similarity and functional diversity of habitats compared for alien and native components of Mediterranean floras. *Diversity and Distributions*, 14, 774-785.

LAMBS, L., LOUBIAT, M., GIREL, J., TISSIER, J., PELTIER, J. P. & MARIGO, G. (2006) Survival and acclimation of *Populus nigra* to drier conditions after damming of an alpine river, southeast France. *Annals of Forest Science*, 63, 377-385.

LAMONTAGNE, S., COOK, P. G., O'GRADY, A. & EAMUS, D. (2005a) Groundwater use by vegetation in a tropical savanna riparian zone (Daly River, Australia). *Journal of Hydrology*, 310, 280-293.

LAMONTAGNE, S., LEANEY, F. W. & HERCZEG, A. L. (2005c) Groundwater-surface water interactions in a large semi-arid floodplain: implications for salinity management. *Hydrological Processes*, 19, 3063-3080.

LANDSBERG, J. & WYLIE, F. R. (1983) Water stress, leaf nutrients and defoliation: a model of dieback of rural eucalypts. *Austral Ecology*, 8, 27-41.

LANDSBERG, J. & WYLIE, F. R. (1988) Dieback of rural trees in Australia. *GeoJournal*, 17, 231-237.

LANDSBERG, J. (1990a) Dieback of rural eucalypts: does insect herbivory relate to dietary quality of tree foliage? *Austral Ecology*, 15, 73-87.

LANDSBERG, J. (1990b) Dieback of rural eucalypts: response of foliar dietary quality and herbivory to defoliation. *Austral Ecology*, 15, 89-96.

LANE, W. B. & ZINN, P. (1980) Recharge from weir storages. *Groundwater Recharge Conference, Townsville, 14-18 July 1980*. Australian Water Resources Council (AWRC), Canberra.

LANGHANS, S. D., TIEGS, S. D., UEHLINGER, U. & TOCKNER, K. (2006) Environmental heterogeneity controls organic-matter dynamics in river-floodplain ecosystems. *Polish Journal of Ecology*, 54, 675-680.

LASKA, G. (2001) The disturbance and vegetation dynamics: a review and an alternative framework. *Plant Ecology*, 157, 77-99.

LAVOREL, S. & GARNIER, E. (2002) Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16, 545-556.

LAVOREL, S., GRIGULIS, K., MCINTYRE, S., WILLIAMS, N. S. G., GARDEN, D., DORROUGH, J., BERMAN, S., QUETIER, F., THEBAULT, A. & BONIS, A. (2008) Assessing functional diversity in the field - methodology matters! *Functional Ecology*, 22, 134-147.

LAVOREL, S., MCINTYRE, S. & GRIGULIS, K. (1999a) Plant response to disturbance in a Mediterranean grassland: how many functional groups? *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 10, 661-672.

LAVOREL, S., MCINTYRE, S., LANDSBERG, J. & FORBES, T. D. A. (1997) Plant functional classifications: from general groups to specific groups based on response to disturbance. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 12, 474-478.

LAVOREL, S., ROCHETTE, C. & LEBRETON, J. D. (1999b) Functional groups for response to disturbance in Mediterranean old fields. *Oikos*, 84, 480-498.

LAVOREL, S., STAFFORD SMITH, M. & REID, N. (1999c) Spread of mistletoes (*Amyema preissii*) in fragmented Australian woodlands: a simulation study. *Landscape Ecology*, 14, 147-160.

LAWRENCE LODGE, R. H. E., ANDERSON, B. J., DE GROOT, A., BILL, A., MCQUEEN, A. A. M., STEEL, J. B., MISTRAL, M., MASON, N. W. H. & BASTOW WILSON, J. (2007) Spatial autocorrelation in plant communities: vegetation texture versus species composition. *Ecography*, 30, 801-811.

LAYCOCK, W. A. (1991) Stable states and thresholds of range condition on North American rangelands - a viewpoint. *Journal of Range Management*, 44, 427-433.

LE BROCQUE, A. F. & BUCKNEY, R. T. (1995) Vegetation and environmental patterns on soils derived from Hawkesbury Sandstone and Narrabeen substrata in Ku-ring-gai Chase National Park, New South Wales. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 20, 229-238.

LE BROCQUE, A. F. & BUCKNEY, R. T. (1997) Multivariate relationships between floristic composition and stand structure in vegetation of Ku-ring-gai Chase National Park, New South Wales. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 45, 1033-1044.

LE BROCQUE, A. F., GOODHEW, K. A. & ZAMMIT, C. A. (2009) Overstorey tree density and understorey regrowth effects on plant composition, stand structure and floristic richness in grazed temperate woodlands in eastern Australia. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 129, 17-27.

LECHMERE-OERTEL, R. G., COWLING, R. M. & KERLEY, G. I. H. (2005) Landscape dysfunction and reduced spatial heterogeneity in soil resources and fertility in semi-arid succulent thicket, South Africa. *Austral Ecology*, 30, 615-624.

LEE, T. D. & BAZZAZ, F. A. (1986) Maternal regulation of fecundity: non-random ovule abortion in *Cassia fasciculata* Michx. *Oecologia*, 68, 459-465.

LEGENDRE, P., BORCARD, D. & PERES-NETO, P. R. (2005) Analyzing beta diversity: partitioning the spatial variation of community composition data. *Ecological Monographs*, 75, 435-450.

LENSSEN, J. P. M., VAN DE STEEG, H. M. & DE KROON, H. (2004a) Does disturbance favour weak competitors? Mechanisms of changing plant abundance after flooding. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15, 305-314.

LENZ, T. I. & FACELLI, J. M. (2003) Shade facilitates an invasive stem succulent in a chenopod shrubland in South Australia. *Austral Ecology*, 28, 480-490.

LEONARD, S. W. J. & KIRKPATRICK, J. B. (2004) Effects of grazing management and environmental factors on native grassland and grassy woodland, Northern Midlands, Tasmania. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 52, 529-542.

LEONARDOS, E. D. & GRODZINSKI, B. (2000) Photosynthesis, immediate export and carbon partitioning in source leaves of C3, C3-C4 intermediate, and C4 *Panicum* and *Flaveria* species at ambient and elevated CO₂ levels. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* 23, 839-851.

LEVIN, S. A. (1998) Ecosystems and the biosphere as complex adaptive systems. *Ecosystems*, 1, 431-436.

LEVIN, S. A. (1999) Towards a science of ecological management. Conservation Ecology, 3, 6.

LEYER, I. (2004) Effects of dykes on plant species composition in a large lowland river floodplain. *River Research and Applications*, 20, 813-827.

LEYER, I. (2005) Predicting plant species' responses to river regulation: the role of water level fluctuations. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42, 239-250.

LEYER, I. (2006) Dispersal, diversity and distribution patterns in pioneer vegetation: the role of river-floodplain connectivity. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 17, 407-416.

LIANG, J., ZHANG, J., CHAN, G. Y. S. & WONG, M. H. (1999) Can differences in root responses to soil drying and compaction explain differences in performance of trees growing on landfill sites? *Tree Physiology*, 19, 619-624.

LI-COR INC (2005) LI-COR terrestrial radiation sensors: Instruction manual. LI-COR Inc., Lincoln.

LINDENMAYER, D. B. & FISCHER, J. (2007) Tackling the habitat fragmentation panchreston.

Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 22, 127-132.

LINDENMAYER, D., HOBBS, R. J., MONTAGUE-DRAKE, R., ALEXANDRA, J., BENNETT, A., BURGMAN, M., CALE, P., CALHOUN, A., CRAMER, V., CULLEN, P., DRISCOLL, D., FAHRIG, L., FISCHER, J., FRANKLIN, J., HAILA, Y., HUNTER, M., GIBBONS, P., LAKE, S., LUCK, G., MACGREGOR, C., MCINTYRE, S., NALLY, R. M., MANNING, A., MILLER, J., MOONEY, H., NOSS, R., POSSINGHAM, H., SAUNDERS, D., SCHMIEGELOW, F., SCOTT, M., SIMBERLOFF, D., SISK, T., TABOR, G., WALKER, B., WIENS, J., WOINARSKI, J. & ZAVALETA, E. (2008) A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. *Ecology Letters*, 11, 78-91.

LITE, S. J. & STROMBERG, J. C. (2005) Surface water and ground-water thresholds for maintaining *Populus-Salix* forests, San Pedro River, Arizona. *Biological Conservation*, 125, 153-167.

LITE, S. J., BAGSTAD, K. J. & STROMBERG, J. C. (2005) Riparian plant species richness along lateral and longitudinal gradients of water stress and flood disturbance, San Pedro River, Arizona, USA. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 63, 785-813.

LIU, H.-D., YU, F.-H., HE, W.-M., CHU, Y. & DONG, M. (2007) Are clonal plants more tolerant to grazing than co-occurring non-clonal plants in inland dunes? *Ecological Research*, 22, 502-506.

LIU, X. & WANG, R. (2006) Photosynthetic pathway and morphological functional types in the vegetation from North-Beijing agro-pastoral ecotone, China. *Photosynthetica*, 44, 365-386.

LODGE, D. M. (1993) Biological invasions - lessons for ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 8, 133-137.

LÓPEZ, D. R., CAVALLERO, L., BRIZUELA, M. A. & AGUIAR, M. R. (2011) Ecosystemic structural-functional approach of the state and transition model. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 14, 6-16.

LOREAU, M. & BEHERA, N. (1999) Phenotypic diversity and stability of ecosystem processes. *Theoretical Population Biology*, 56, 29-47.

LOREAU, M. (2000) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: recent theoretical advances. *Oikos*, 91, 3-17.

LORENZ, C. M., VAN DIJK, G. M., VAN HATTUM, A. G. M. & COFINO, W. P. (1997) Concepts in river ecology: Implications for indicator development. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 13, 501-516.

LOW CHOY, S. J., STEWART-KOSTER, B., KELLY, A., EYRE, T. & MENGERSEN, K. M. (2005) Identifying good condition in native vegetation: a Bayesian regression and decision theoretic approach. In: ZERGER, A. & ARGENT, R. M. (eds.) MODSIM 2005 International Congress on Modelling and Simulation. Modelling and Simulation Society of Australia and New Zealand, Canberra.

LOWMAN, M. D., BURGESS, A. D. & HIGGINS, W. D. (1987) The biomass of New England peppermint (*Eucalyptus nova-anglica*) in relation to insect damage associated with rural dieback. *Austral Ecology*, 12, 361-371.

LOWMAN, M. D. & HEATWOLE, H. (1992) Spatial and temporal variability in defoliation of Australian eucalypts. *Ecology*, 73, 129-142.

LUCY, M., POWELL, E., MCCOSKER, R., INGLIS, G. & RICHARDSON, R. (1995) *Lippia (Phyla canescens): a review of its economic and environmental impact on floodplain ecosystems in the Murray-Darling Basin.* State of Queensland Department of Primary Industries (DPI), Pittsworth.

LUDWIG, F., DAWSON, T. E., KROON, H., BERENDSE, F. & PRINS, H. H. T. (2003) Hydraulic lift in *Acacia tortilis* trees on an East African savanna. *Oecologia*, 134, 293-300.

LUDWIG, F., DAWSON, T. E., PRINS, H. H. T., BERENDSE, F. & DE KROON, H. (2004a) Below-ground competition between trees and grasses may overwhelm the facilitative effects of hydraulic lift. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 623-631.

LUDWIG, F., DE KROON, H., BERENDSE, F. & PRINS, H. H. T. (2004b) The influence of savanna trees on nutrient, water and light availability and the understorey vegetation. *Plant Ecology*, 170, 93-105.

LUDWIG, J. A. & TONGWAY, D. (1995) Spatial organisation of landscapes and its function in semi-

arid woodlands, Australia. Landscape Ecology, 10, 55-63.

LUNT, I. D. & SPOONER, P. G. (2005) Using historical ecology to understand patterns of biodiversity in fragmented agricultural landscapes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 32, 1859-1873.

LUNT, I. D. (1997) A multivariate growth-form analysis of grassland and forest forbs in south-eastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 45, 691-705.

LUNT, I. D. (2005) *Effects of stock grazing on biodiversity values in temperate native grasslands and grassy woodlands in SE Australia: a literature review.* Environment ACT, Canberra.

LUNT, I. D., ELDRIDGE, D. J., MORGAN, J. W. & WITT, C. B. (2007a) Turner review No. 13. A framework to predict the effects of livestock grazing and grazing exclusion on conservation values in natural ecosystems in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 55, 401-415.

LUNT, I. D., JANSEN, A., BINNS, D. L. & KENNY, S. A. (2007b) Long-term effects of exclusion of grazing stock on degraded herbaceous plant communities in a riparian *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* forest in south-eastern Australia. *Austral Ecology*, 32, 937-949.

LYMBERY, A. J., DOUPE, R. G. & PETTIT, N. E. (2003) Effects of salinisation on riparian plant communities in experimental catchments on the Collie River, Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 51, 667-672.

LYTLE, D. A. & MERRITT, D. M. (2004) Hydrologic regimes and riparian forests: a structured population model for cottonwood. *Ecology*, 85, 2493-2503.

MABRY, C. M. & FRATERRIGO, J. M. (2009) Species traits as generalized predictors of forest community response to human disturbance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257, 723-730.

MACDONALD, M. 2008. The ecology of Lippia (Phyla canescens). PhD thesis, University of New England, Armidale.

MACDONALD, M. J., WHALLEY, R. D. B., SINDEL, B., JULIEN, M. & DUGGIN, J. (2006) Germination response to temperature of *Phyla canescens* (lippia). *In:* PRESTON, C. WATTS, J.H. & CROSSMAN, N.D. (eds.) *Proceedings of the 15th Australian Weeds Conference proceedings: managing weeds in a changing climate, Adelaide, 24-28 September 2006.* Weed Management Society of South Australia, Adelaide.

MACDOUGALL, A. S. & TURKINGTON, R. (2005) Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? *Ecology*, 86, 42-55.

MACK, M. C. & D'ANTONIO, C. M. (1998) Impacts of biological invasions on disturbance regimes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 13, 195-198.

MACKAY, H. (2006) Protection and management of groundwater-dependent ecosystems: emerging challenges and potential approaches for policy and management. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 231-237.

MAESTRE, F. T. & CORTINA, J. (2004) Insights into ecosystem composition and function in a sequence of degraded semiarid steppes. *Restoration Ecology*, 12, 494-502.

MAGNUSZEWSKI, P., SENDZIMIR, J. & KRONENBERG, J. (2005) Conceptual modeling for adaptive environmental assessment and management in the Barycz Valley, Lower Silesia, Poland. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 2, 194-203.

MAHONEY, J. M. & ROOD, S. B. (1998) Streamflow requirements for cottonwood seedling recruitment - an integrative model. *Wetlands*, 18, 634-645.

MAJER, J. D. & DELABIE, J. H. C. (1999) Impact of tree isolation on arboreal and ground ant communities in cleared pasture in the Atlantic rain forest region of Bahia, Brazil. *Insectes Sociaux*, 46, 281-290.

MALANSON, G. P. & ARMSTRONG, M. P. (1996) Dispersal probability and forest diversity in a fragmented landscape. *Ecological Modelling*, 87, 91-102.

MANNING, A. D., FISCHER, J. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2006) Scattered trees are keystone structures - implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation*, 132, 311-321.

MANNING, A. D., GIBBONS, P. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2009) Scattered trees: a complementary strategy for facilitating adaptive responses to climate change in modified landscapes?

Journal of Applied Ecology, 46, 915-919.

MANNING, A. D. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2009) Paddock trees, parrots and agricultural production: an urgent need for large-scale, long-term restoration in south-eastern Australia. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 10, 126-135.

MARON, J. L. & CONNORS, P. G. (1996) A native nitrogen-fixing shrub facilitates weed invasion. *Oecologia*, 105, 302-312.

MARON, J. L. & MARLER, M. (2008). Field-based competitive impacts between invaders and natives at varying resource supply. *Journal of Ecology*, 96, 1187-1197.

MARSH, N. R. & ADAMS, M. A. (1995) Decline of *Eucalyptus tereticornis* near Bairnsdale, Victoria: insect herbivory and nitrogen fractions in sap and foliage. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 43, 39-49.

MARSHALL, J. K. (1974) Effects of stock on microenvironments in Australian rangelands. Paper 16. *Plant morphogenesis as the basis for scientific management of range resources*. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Berkeley.

MARSTON, R. A., GIREL, J., PAUTOU, G., PIEGAY, H., BRAVARD, J.-P. & ARNESON, C. (1995) Channel metamorphosis, floodplain disturbance, and vegetation development: Ain River, France. *Geomorphology*, 13, 121-131.

MARTIN, R. W. (1985) Overbrowsing, and decline of a population of the koala, *Phascolarctos cinereus*, in Victoria. I. Food preference and food tree defoliation. *Wildlife Research*, 12, 355-365.

MARTIN, T. G., MCINTYRE, S., CATTERALL, C. P. & POSSINGHAM, H. P. (2006) Is landscape context important for riparian conservation? Birds in grassy woodland. *Biological Conservation*, 127, 201-214.

MATTINGLY, W. B., HEWLATE, R. & REYNOLDS, H. L. (2007) Species evenness and invasion resistance of experimental grassland communities. *Oikos*, 116, 1164-1170.

MAYER, A. L. & RIETKERK, M. (2004) The dynamic regime concept for ecosystem management and restoration. *BioScience*, 54, 1013-1020.

MAYFIELD, M. M., BONI, M. E., DAILY, G. C. & ACKERLY, D. (2005) Species and functional diversity of native and human-dominated plant communities. *Ecology*, 86, 2365-2372.

MCALPINE, C. A., FENSHAM, R. J. & TEMPLE-SMITH, D. E. (2002) Biodiversity conservation and vegetation clearing in Queensland: principles and thresholds. *The Rangeland Journal*, 24, 36-55.

MCCANN, K. S. (2000) The diversity-stability debate. Nature, 405, 228-233.

MCCOSKER, R. O. (1996) An environmental scan of the Condamine – Balonne River system and associated floodplain. LANDMAX Natural Resource Management Services, Armidale.

MCDONALD, M. W., BROOKER, M. I. H. & BUTCHER, P. A. (2009) A taxonomic revision of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* (Myrtaceae). *Australian Systematic Botany*, 22, 257-285.

MCDOWELL, N., POCKMAN, W. T., ALLEN, C. D., BRESHEARS, D. D., COBB, N., KOLB, T., PLAUT, J., SPERRY, J., WEST, A., WILLIAMS, D. G. & YEPEZ, E. A. (2008) Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? *New Phytologist*, 178, 719-739.

MCINTYRE, S. & HOBBS, R. (1999) A framework for conceptualizing human effects on landscapes and its relevance to management and research models. *Conservation Biology*, 13, 1282-1292.

MCINTYRE, S. & LAVOREL, S. (2001) Livestock grazing in subtropical pastures: steps in the analysis of attribute response and plant functional types. *Journal of Ecology*, 89, 209-226.

MCINTYRE, S. & LAVOREL, S. (2007) A conceptual model of land use effects on the structure and function of herbaceous vegetation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 119, 11-21.

MCINTYRE, S. (2001) Biophysical and human influences on plant species richness in grasslands: comparing variegated landscapes in subtropical and temperate regions. *Austral Ecology*, 26, 233-245.

MCINTYRE, S. (2008) The role of plant leaf attributes in linking land use to ecosystem function in temperate grassy vegetation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* 128, 251-258.

MCINTYRE, S., DIAZ, S., LAVOREL, S. & CRAMER, W. (1999a) Plant functional types and disturbance dynamics - introduction. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 10, 604-608.

MCINTYRE, S., HEARD, K. M. & MARTIN, T. G. (2003) The relative importance of cattle grazing in subtropical grasslands: does it reduce or enhance plant biodiversity? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 40, 445-457.

MCINTYRE, S., LAVOREL, S. & TREMONT, R. M. (1995) Plant life-history attributes - their relationship to disturbance responses in herbaceous vegetation. *Journal of Ecology*, 83, 31-44.

MCINTYRE, S., LAVOREL, S., LANDSBERG, J. & FORBES, T. D. A. (1999b) Disturbance response in vegetation towards a global perspective on functional traits. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 10, 621-630.

MCINTYRE, S., MARTIN, T. G., HEARD, K. M. & KINLOCH, J. (2005) Plant traits predict impact of invading species: an analysis of herbaceous vegetation in the subtropics. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 53, 757-770.

MCIVOR, J. G., MCINTYRE, S., SAELI, I. & HODGKINSON, J. J. (2005) Patch dynamics in grazed subtropical native pastures in south-east Queensland. *Austral Ecology*, 30, 445-464.

MCKAY, A., GOUDIE, S. & LEE, L. (1999) Water resources. *In:* HARRIS, P., BIGGS, A., STONE, B., CRANE, L. & DOUGLAS, N. (eds.) *Central Downs land management manual: resource information book.* State of Queensland Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Toowoomba.

MCKINNEY, M. L. & LA SORTE, F. A. (2007) Invasiveness and homogenization: synergism of wide dispersal and high local abundance. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16, 394-400.

MCNEIL, J. D. (1980) *Electromagnetic terrain conductivity measurement at low induction numbers*. Technical Note TN-6, Geonics Ltd., Mississauga.

MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (2005) *Ecosystems and human well-being: synthesis.* Island Press, Washington DC.

MEESON, N., ROBERTSON, A. I. & JANSEN, A. (2002) The effects of flooding and livestock on post-dispersal seed predation in river red gum habitats. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 39, 247-258.

MEINZER, F. C., ANDRADE, J. L., GOLDSTEIN, G., HOLBROOK, N. M., CAVELIER, J. & WRIGHT, S. J. (1999) Partitioning of soil water among canopy trees in a seasonally dry tropical forest. *Oecologia*, 121, 293-301.

MELBOURNE, B. A., CORNELL, H. V., DAVIES, K. F., DUGAW, C. J., ELMENDORF, S., FREESTONE, A. L., HALL, R. J., HARRISON, S., HASTINGS, A., HOLLAND, M., HOLYOAK, M., LAMBRINOS, J., MOORE, K. & YOKOMIZO, H. (2007) Invasion in a heterogeneous world: resistance, coexistence or hostile takeover? *Ecology Letters*, 10, 77-94.

MENSFORTH, L. J., THORBURN, P. J., TYERMAN, S. D. & WALKER, G. R. (1994) Sources of water used by riparian *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* overlying highly saline groundwater. *Oecologia*, 100, 21-28.

MERRITT, D. M. & COOPER, D. J. (2000) Riparian vegetation and channel change in response to river regulation: A comparative study of regulated and unregulated streams in the Green River Basin, USA. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 16, 543-564.

MIDDLETON, B. & WU, X. B. (2008) Landscape pattern of seed banks and anthropogenic impacts in forested wetlands of the northern Mississippi River Alluvial Valley. *Ecoscience*, 15, 231-240.

MILLS, A. J., ROGERS, K. H., STALMANS, M. & WITKOWSKI, E. T. F. (2006) A framework for exploring the determinants of savanna and grassland distribution. *Bioscience*, 56, 579-589.

MILLS, L. S., SOULE, M. E. & DOAK, D. F. (1993) The keystone-species concept in ecology and conservation. *Bioscience*, 43, 219-224.

MILTON, S. J. (2003) 'Emerging ecosystems' – a washing-stone for ecologists, economists and sociologists? *South African Journal of Science*, 99, 404-406.

MINCHINTON, T. E., SIMPSON, J. C. & BERTNESS, M. D. (2006) Mechanisms of exclusion of native coastal marsh plants by an invasive grass. *Journal of Ecology*, 94, 342-354.

MOFFATT, S. F. & MCLACHLAN, S. M. (2004) Understorey indicators of disturbance for riparian

forests along an urban-rural gradient in Manitoba. Ecological Indicators, 4, 1-16.

MOORE, B. D. & FOLEY, W. J. (2005) Tree use by koalas in a chemically complex landscape. *Nature*, 435, 488-490.

MOORE, B. D., WALLIS, I. R., PALA-PAUL, J., BROPHY, J. J., WILLIS, R. H. & FOLEY, W. J. (2004) Antiherbivore chemistry of *Eucalyptus* - cues and deterrents for marsupial folivores. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 30, 1743-1769.

MOORE, J. L., MOUQUET, N., LAWTON, J. H. & LOREAU, M. (2001) Coexistence, saturation and invasion resistance in simulated plant assemblages. *Oikos*, 94, 303-314.

MOORE, K. A. & ELMENDORF, S. C. (2011) Plant competition and facilitation in systems with strong environmental gradients. *In:* HARRISON, S. & RAJAKARUNA, N. (eds.) *Serpentine: the evolution and ecology of a model system.* University of California Press, Berkeley.

MORAN, C. (1996) Relationship between cattle, weeds and eucalypt regeneration: implications in the context of rural tree decline. Honours thesis, Griffith University, Brisbane.

MORAN, C. & VINK, S. (2010) Assessment of impacts of the proposed coal seam gas operations on surface and groundwater systems in the Murray-Darling Basin. Centre for Water in the Minerals Industry, Sustainable Minerals Institute, The University of Queensland, Brisbane.

MORENO, M., GULIAS, J., LAZARIDOU, M., MEDRANO, H. & CIFRE, J. (2008) Ecophysiological strategies to overcome water deficit in herbaceous species under Mediterranean conditions. *Options Mediterraneennes, Series A*, 79, 247-257.

MORGAN, J. W. (1998a) Importance of canopy gaps for recruitment of some forbs in *Themeda* triandra-dominated grasslands in south-eastern Australia. Australian Journal of Botany, 46, 609-627.

MORGAN, J. W. (1998b) Patterns of invasion of an urban remnant of a species-rich grassland in southeastern Australia by non-native plant species. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 9, 181-190.

MORO, M. J., PUGNAIRE, F. I., HAASE, P. & PUIGDEFABREGAS, J. (1997a) Effect of the canopy of *Retama sphaerocarpa* on its understorey in a semiarid environment. *Functional Ecology*, 11, 425-431.

MORO, M. J., PUGNAIRE, F. I., HAASE, P. & PUIGDEFABREGAS, J. (1997b) Mechanisms of interaction between a leguminous shrub and its understorey in a semi-arid environment. *Ecography*, 20, 175-184.

MORRISON, D. A., LE BROCQUE, A. F. & CLARKE, P. J. (1995) An assessment of some improved techniques for estimating the abundance (frequency) of sedentary organisms. *Vegetatio*, 120, 131-145.

MUELLER, R. C., SCUDDER, C. M., PORTER, M. E., TALBOT TROTTER, R., GEHRING, C. A. & WHITHAM, T. G. (2005) Differential tree mortality in response to severe drought: evidence for long-term vegetation shifts. *Journal of Ecology*, 93, 1085-1093.

MUNKS, S. A., CORKREY, R. & FOLEY, W. J. (1996) Characteristics of arboreal marsupial habitat in the semi-arid woodlands of northern Queensland. *Wildlife Research*, 23, 185-195.

MUNZBERGOVA, Z. & WARD, D. (2002) Acacia trees as keystone species in Negev desert ecosystems. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 13, 227-236.

MURRAY, B. R., ZEPPEL, M. J. B., HOSE, G. C. & EAMUS, D. (2003) Groundwater-dependent ecosystems in Australia: it's more than just water for rivers. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 4, 110-113.

MYSTER, R. (2001) Mechanisms of plant response to gradients and after disturbances. *The Botanical Review*, 67, 441-452.

NAGLER, P., JETTON, A., FLEMING, J., DIDAN, K., GLENN, E., ERKER, J., MORINO, K., MILLIKEN, J. & GLOSS, S. (2007) Evapotranspiration in a cottonwood (*Populus fremontii*) restoration plantation estimated by sap flow and remote sensing methods. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 144, 95-110.

NAIMAN, R. J., BECHTOLD, J. S., DRAKE, D. C., LATTERELL, J. J., O'KEEFE, T. C. & BALIAN, E. V. (2005) Origins, patterns, and importance of heterogeneity in riparian systems. *In:*

LOVETT, G. M., TURNER, M. G., JONES, C. G. & WEATHERS, K. C. (eds.) *Ecosystem function in heterogeneous landscapes*. Springer-Verlag, New York.

NAIMAN, R. J., FETHERSTEN, K. L., MCKAY, S. J. & CHEN, J. (1998) Riparian forests. In: NAIMAN, R. J. & BILBY, R. E. (eds.) River ecology and management: lessons from the Pacific coastal ecoregion. Springer-Verlag, New York.

NAUMBURG, E., MATA-GONZALEZ, R., HUNTER, R. G., MCLENDON, T. & MARTIN, D. W. (2005) Phreatophytic vegetation and groundwater fluctuations: a review of current research and application of ecosystem response modeling with an emphasis on Great Basin vegetation. *Environmental Management*, 35, 726-740.

NAVARRO, T., ALADOS, C. L. & CABEZUDO, B. (2006) Changes in plant functional types in response to goat and sheep grazing in two semi-arid shrublands of SE Spain. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 64, 298-322.

NELSON, D. M., HU, F. S., TIAN, J., STEFANOVA, I. & BROWN, T. A. (2004) Response of C3 and C4 plants to middle-Holocene climatic variation near the prairie-forest ecotone of Minnesota. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 562-567.

NICHOLLS, N. (2004) The changing nature of Australian droughts. Climatic Change, 63, 323-336.

NICOL, J., WEEDON, J. & MARSLAND, K. (2007) Understorey vegetation monitoring of the Chowilla river red gum watering sites. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic Sciences), Adelaide.

NILSSON, C. & JANSSON, R. (1995) Floristic differences between riparian corridors of regulated and free-flowing boreal rivers. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 11, 55-66.

NILSSON, C., EKBLAD, A., GARDFJELL, M. & CARLBERG, B. (1991) Long-term effects of river regulation on river margin vegetation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 28, 963-987.

NILSSON, C., REIDY, C. A., DYNESIUS, M. & REVENGA, C. (2005) Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. *Science*, 308, 405-408.

NORBERG, J. (2004) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: a complex adaptive systems approach. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 49, 1269-1277.

NORTHCOTT, K., ANDERSEN, D. C. & COOPER, D. J. (2007) The influence of river regulation and land use on floodplain forest regeneration in the semi-arid upper Colorado River Basin, USA. *River Research and Applications*, 23, 565-577.

NORTHUP, B. K., BROWN, J. R. & ASH, A. J. (2005) Grazing impacts on spatial distribution of soil and herbaceous characteristics in an Australian tropical woodland. *Agroforestry Systems*, 65, 137-150.

NORTON, D. A., HOBBS, R. J. & ATKINS, L. (1995) Fragmentation, disturbance, and plant distribution: mistletoes in woodland remnants in the Western Australian wheatbelt. *Conservation Biology*, 9, 426-438.

NOSETTO, M., JOBBÁGY, E., TÓTH, T. & DI BELLA, C. (2007) The effects of tree establishment on water and salt dynamics in naturally salt-affected grasslands. *Oecologia*, 152, 695-705.

NOSS, R. F. (1990) Indicators for monitoring biodiversity: a hierarchical approach. *Conservation Biology*, 4, 355-364.

NUNEZ, C. I., AIZEN, M. A. & EZCURRA, C. (1999) Species associations and nurse plant effects in patches of high-Andean vegetation. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 10, 357-364.

ÖBORN, I., ANDRIST-RANGEL, Y., ASKEKAARD, M., GRANT, C. A., WATSON, C. A. & EDWARDS, A. C. (2005) Critical aspects of potassium management in agricultural systems. *Soil Use and Management*, 21, 102-112.

OBORNY, B. T. (1994) Spacer length in clonal plants and the efficiency of resource capture in heterogeneous environments: A Monte Carlo simulation. *Folia Geobotanica*, 29, 139-158.

O'CONNOR, T. G. (2001) Effect of small catchment dams on downstream vegetation of a seasonal river in semi-arid African savanna. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, 1314-1325.

OLFF, H. & RITCHIE, M. E. (1998) Effects of herbivores on grassland plant diversity. Trends in

Ecology & Evolution, 13, 261-265.

OOI, M. K. J., AULD, T. D. & DENHAM, A. J. (2009) Climate change and bet-hedging: interactions between increased soil temperatures and seed bank persistence. *Global Change Biology*, 15, 2375-2386.

OPPERMAN, J. J. & MERENLENDER, A. M. (2000) Deer herbivory as an ecological constraint to restoration of degraded riparian corridors. *Restoration Ecology*, 8, 41-47.

ORDONEZ, A., WRIGHT, I. J. & OLFF, H. (2010) Functional differences between native and alien species: a global-scale comparison. *Functional Ecology*.

ORWIN, K. H. & WARDLE, D. A. (2004) New indices for quantifying the resistance and resilience of soil biota to exogenous disturbances. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 36, 1907-1912.

ORWIN, K. H., WARDLE, D. A. & GREENFIELD, L. G. (2006) Context-dependent changes in the resistance and resilience of soil microbes to an experimental disturbance for three primary plant chronosequences. *Oikos*, 112, 196-208.

OVERTON, I., PENTON, D. & DOODY, T. (2010) Ecosystem response modeling in the River Murray. In: SAINTILAN, N. & OVERTON, I. (eds.) *Ecosystem response modelling in the Murray-Darling Basin.* CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

OVERTON, I. C., JOLLY, I. D., SLAVICH, P. G., LEWIS, M. M. & WALKER, G. R. (2006) Modelling vegetation health from the interaction of saline groundwater and flooding on the Chowilla floodplain, South Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 54, 207-220.

OWENSBY, C. E., HAM, J. M., KNAPP, A. K. & AUEN, L. M. (1999) Biomass production and species composition change in a tallgrass prairie ecosystem after long-term exposure to elevated atmospheric CO₂. *Global Change Biology*, 5, 497-506.

OZINGA, W. A., BEKKER, R. M., SCHAMINEE, J. H. J. & VAN GROENENDAEL, J. M. (2004) Dispersal potential in plant communities depends on environmental conditions. *Journal of Ecology*, 92, 767-777.

PARMESAN, C., ROOT, T. L. & WILLIG, M. R. (2000) Impacts of extreme weather and climate on terrestrial biota. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 81, 443-450.

PARSONS, M., MCLOUGHLIN, C. A., ROUNTREE, M. W. & ROGERS, K. H. (2006) The biotic and abiotic legacy of a large infrequent flood disturbance in the Sabie River, South Africa. *River Research and Applications*, 22, 187-201.

PEICHL, M. & ARAIN, M. A. (2007) Allometry and partitioning of above- and below-ground tree biomass in an age-sequence of white pine forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 253, 68-80.

PETERKEN, G. F. & HUGHES, F. M. R. (1995) Restoration of floodplain forests in Britain. *Forestry*, 68, 187-202.

PETERS, D. P. C., BESTELMEYER, B. T. & TURNER, M. G. (2007) Cross-scale interactions and changing pattern-process relationships: consequences for system dynamics. *Ecosystems*, 10, 790-796.

PETERSON, G., ALLEN, C. R. & HOLLING, C. S. (1998) Ecological resilience, biodiversity, and scale. *Ecosystems*, 1, 6-18.

PETRAITIS, P. S., LATHAM, R. E. & NIESENBAUM, R. A. (1989) The maintenance of species diversity by disturbance. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 64, 393-418.

PETRONE, R. M., DEVITO, K. J., KAUFMAN, S., MACRAE, M. L. & WADDINGTON, J. M. (2005) Potential carbon losses from boreal pond and riparian areas: influence of temperature and drought. *Dynamics and Biogeochemistry of River Corridors and Wetlands*, 294, 10-18.

PETTIT, N. E. & FROEND, R. H. (2001a) Availability of seed for recruitment of riparian vegetation: a comparison of a tropical and a temperate river ecosystem in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 49, 515-528.

PETTIT, N. E. & FROEND, R. H. (2001b) Variability in flood disturbance and the impact on riparian tree recruitment in two contrasting river systems. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 9, 13-25.

PETTIT, N. E. & NAIMAN, R. J. (2007) Postfire response of flood-regenerating riparian vegetation

in a semi-arid landscape. Ecology, 88, 2094-2104.

PETTIT, N. E. (2002) Riparian vegetation of a permanent waterhole on Cooper Creek, southwest Queensland. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Queensland*, 110, 15-25.

PETTIT, N. E., FROEND, R. H. & LADD, P. G. (1995) Grazing in remnant woodland vegetation - changes in species composition and life form groups. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 6, 121-130.

PHELPS, D. G. & BOSCH, O. J. H. (2002) A quantitative state and transition model for the Mitchell grasslands of central western Queensland. *Rangeland Journal*, 24, 242-267.

PHILLIPS, N. & MOLLER, G. (1995) State of the rivers. Upper Condamine and major tributaries. An ecological and physical assessment of the condition of streams in the Upper Condamine River Catchment. State of Queensland Department of Primary Industries (DPI), Brisbane.

PHILLIPS, P. L. & BARNES, P. W. (2003) Spatial asymmetry in tree-shrub clusters in a subtropical savanna. *American Midland Naturalist*, 149, 59-70.

PICKETT, S. T. A., KOLASA, J., ARMESTO, J. J. & COLLINS, S. L. (1989) The ecological concept of disturbance and its expression at various hierarchical levels. *Oikos*, 54, 129-136.

PICKETT, S., COLLINS, S. & ARMESTO, J. (1987) Models, mechanisms and pathways of succession. *The Botanical Review*, 53, 335-371.

PIMENTEL, D., LACH, L., ZUNIGA, R. & MORRISON, D. (2000) Environmental and economic costs of non-indigenous species in the United States. *BioScience*, 50, 53-65.

POCKMAN, W. T. & SPERRY, J. S. (2000) Vulnerability to xylem cavitation and the distribution of Sonoran desert vegetation. *American Journal of Botany*, 87, 1287-1299.

POFF, N. L. (1997) Landscape filters and species traits: towards mechanistic understanding and prediction in stream ecology. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 16, 391-409.

POFF, N. L., ALLAN, J. D., BAIN, M. B., KARR, J. R., PRESTEGAARD, K. L., RICHTER, B. D., SPARKS, R. E. & STROMBERG, J. C. (1997) The natural flow regime. *Bioscience*, 47, 769-784.

POLLOCK, M. M., NAIMAN, R. J. & HANLEY, T. A. (1998) Plant species richness in riparian wetlands - a test of biodiversity theory. *Ecology*, 79, 94-105.

POOLE, G. C. (2002) Fluvial landscape ecology: addressing uniqueness within the river discontinuum. *Freshwater Biology*, 47, 641-660.

PORTER, J. L., KINGSFORD, R. T. & BROCK, M. A. (2007) Seed banks in arid wetlands with contrasting flooding, salinity and turbidity regimes. *Plant Ecology*, 188, 215-234.

PORTER, J. W. (2002) Impacts of water management options on flows in the Condamine River in southern Queensland. *Water Science and Technology*, 45, 233-240.

PRESCOTT, C. E. (2002) The influence of the forest canopy on nutrient cycling. *Tree Physiology*, 22, 1193-1200.

PRICE, J. N., GROSS, C. L., WHALLEY, W. R. D. B. & DUGGIN, J. (2008) Strategic grazing for the control of the invasive wetland weed lippia (*Phyla canescens*). 93rd ESA Annual Meeting. Milwaukee, 3-8 August 2008.

PRICE, J., GROSS, C. L. & WHALLEY, W. (2010a) Prolonged summer flooding switched dominance from the invasive weed Lippia (*Phyla canescens*) to native species in one small, ephemeral wetland. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 11, 61-63.

PRICE, J., MACDONALD, M., GROSS, C., WHALLEY, R. & SIMPSON, I. (2011) Vegetative reproduction facilitates early expansion of *Phyla canescens* in a semi-arid floodplain. *Biological Invasions*, 13, 285-289.

PRINGLE, C. M. (2000) Threats to US public lands from cumulative hydrologic alterations outside of their boundaries. *Ecological Applications*, 10, 971-989.

PROBER, S. M. & SMITH, F. P. (2009) Enhancing biodiversity persistence in intensively used agricultural landscapes: a synthesis of 30 years of research in the Western Australian wheatbelt. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 132, 173-191.

PROBER, S. M. & THIELE, K. R. 1995. Conservation of the grassy white box woodlands - relative

contributions of size and disturbance to floristic composition and diversity of remnants. Australian Journal of Botany, 43, 349-366.

PROBER, S. M., LUNT, I. D. & THIELE, K. R. (2002a) Determining reference conditions for management and restoration of temperate grassy woodlands: relationships among trees, topsoils and understorey flora in little-grazed remnants. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 50, 687-697.

PROBER, S. M., THIELE, K. R. & LUNT, I. D. (2002b) Identifying ecological barriers to restoration in temperate grassy woodlands: soil changes associated with different degradation states. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 50, 699-712.

PROBER, S. M., THIELE, K. R., LUNT, I. D. & KOEN, T. B. (2005) Restoring ecological function in temperate grassy woodlands: manipulating soil nutrients, exotic annuals and native perennial grasses through carbon supplements and spring burns. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42, 1073-1085.

PUGNAIRE, F. I., HAASE, P. & PUIGDEFABREGAS, J. (1996) Facilitation between higher plant species in a semiarid environment. *Ecology*, 77, 1420-1426.

QMDC (2005) Case study: lippia. Queensland Murray Darling Committee (QMDC), Toowoomba.

QUETIER, F., LAVOREL, S., THUILLER, W. & DAVIES, I. (2007) Plant-trait-based modeling assessment of ecosystem-service sensitivity to land-use change. *Ecological Applications*, 17, 2377-2386.

QUINN, G. P. & KEOUGH, M. J. (2002) *Experimental design and data analysis for biologists*. Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.

R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM (2008) *R: a language and environment for statistical computing.* R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. URL: <u>http://www.R-project.org.</u>

RAFFA, K. F., AUKEMA, B. H., BENTZ, B. J., CARROLL, A. L., HICKE, J. A., TURNER, M. G. & ROMME, W. H. (2008) Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: the dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. *BioScience*, 58, 501-517.

RAFTERY, A. E. (1995) Bayesian model selection in social research. *Sociological Modelling*, 25, 111-163.

RAFTERY, A. E., MADIGAN, D. & HOETING, J. A. (1997). Bayesian model averaging for linear regression models. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 92, 179-191.

RAFTERY, A. E., GNEITING, T., BALABDAOUI, F. & POLAKOWSKI, M. (2005) Using Bayesian model averaging to calibrate forecast ensembles. *Monthly Weather Review*, 133, 1155-1174.

REEDY, R. C. & SCANLON, B. R. (2003) Soil water content monitoring using electromagnetic induction. *Journal Of Geotechnical And Geoenvironmental Engineering* Nov2003, 1028-1039.

REID, M. A. & BROOKS, J. J. (2000) Detecting effects of environmental water allocations in wetlands of the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 16, 479-496.

REID, M., CHENG, X., BANKS, E., JANKOWSKI, J., JOLLY, I., KUMAR, P., LOVELL, D., MITCHELL, M., MUDD, G., RICHARDSON, S., SILBURN, M. & WERNER, A. (2009) *Catalogue of conceptual models for groundwater–stream interaction in eastern Australia.* eWater Cooperative Research Centre, Canberra.

REID, N. 1999. Maintaining tree cover health in temperate pastoral landscapes. *In:* BARLOW, T. & THORBURN, R. (eds.) *Balancing Conservation and Production in Grassy Landscapes. Proceedings of the Bushcare Grassy Landscapes Conference, Clare, 19-21 August 1999*. Environment Australia, Canberra.

REID, N., YAN, Z. & FITTLER, J. 1994. Impact of mistletoes (*Amyema miquelii*) on host (*Eucalyptus blakelyi* and *Eucalyptus melliodora*) survival and growth in temperate Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 70, 55-65.

REINHART, K. O., GREENE, E. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2005) Effects of *Acer platanoides* invasion on understory plant communities and tree regeneration in the northern Rocky Mountains. *Ecography*, 28, 573-582.

REINHART, K. O., GURNEE, J., TIRADO, R. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2006a) Invasion through

quantitative effects: intense shade drives native decline and invasive success. *Ecological Applications*, 16, 1821-1831.

REINHART, K. O., MAESTRE, F. T. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2006b) Facilitation and inhibition of seedlings of an invasive tree (*Acer platanoides*) by different tree species in a mountain ecosystem. *Biological Invasions*, 8, 231-240.

RENGASAMY, P. & OLSSON, K. (1993) Irrigation and sodicity. Soil Research, 31, 821-837.

RENOFALT, B. M., JANSSON, R. & NILSSON, C. (2005a) Spatial patterns of plant invasiveness in a riparian corridor. *Landscape Ecology*, V20, 165-176.

RENÖFÄLT, B. M., NILSSON, C. & JANSSON, R. (2005b) Spatial and temporal patterns of species richness in a riparian landscape. *Journal of Biogeography*, 32, 2025-2037.

REYNOLDS, H. L., PACKER, A., BEVER, J. D. & CLAY, K. (2003) Grassroots ecology: plantmicrobe-soil interactions as drivers of plant community structure and dynamics. *Ecology*, 84, 2281-2291.

RICE, K. J., MATZNER, S. L., BYER, W. & BROWN, J. R. (2004) Patterns of tree dieback in Queensland, Australia: the importance of drought stress and the role of resistance to cavitation. *Oecologia*, 139, 190-198.

RICHARDSON, D. M., ALLSOPP, N., D'ANTONIO, C. M., MILTON, S. J. & REJMANEK, M. (2000) Plant invasions - the role of mutualisms. *Biological Reviews*, 75, 65-93.

RICHARDSON, D. M., HOLMES, P. M., ESLER, K. J., GALATOWITSCH, S. M., STROMBERG, J. C., KIRKMAN, S. P., PYSEK, P. & HOBBS, R. J. (2007) Riparian vegetation: degradation, alien plant invasions, and restoration prospects. *Diversity and Distributions*, 13, 126-139.

RIETKERK, M. & VAN DE KOPPEL, J. (1997) Alternate stable states and threshold effects in semiarid grazing systems. *Oikos*, 79, 69-76.

RIPLEY, B. S., GILBERT, M. E., IBRAHIM, D. G. & OSBORNE, C. P. (2007) Drought constraints on C4 photosynthesis: stomatal and metabolic limitations in C3 and C4 subspecies of *Alloteropsis semialata*. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58, 1351-1363.

ROBERTS, J. & MARSTON, F. (2000) Water regime of wetland and floodplain plants in the Murray-Darling Basin. A source book of ecological knowledge. CSIRO Land and Water, Canberra.

ROBERTSON, A. I. & ROWLING, R. W. (2000) Effects of livestock on riparian zone vegetation in an Australian dryland river. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 16, 527-541.

ROBERTSON, A. I., BACON, P. & HEAGNEY, G. (2001) The responses of floodplain primary production to flood frequency and timing. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, 126-136.

RODRIGUEZ, C., LEONI, E., LEZAMA, F. & ALTESOR, A. (2003) Temporal trends in species composition and plant traits in natural grasslands of Uruguay. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 433-440.

ROOD, S. B. & MAHONEY, J. M. (1990) Collapse of riparian poplar forests downstream from dams in western prairies: probable causes and prospects for mitigation. *Environmental Management*, 14, 451-464.

ROOD, S. B., PATINO, S., COOMBS, K. & TYREE, M. T. (2000) Branch sacrifice: cavitationassociated drought adaptation of riparian cottonwoods. *Trees-Structure and Function*, 14, 248-257.

ROSENTHAL, G. & LEDERBOGEN, D. (2008) Response of the clonal plant *Apium repens* (Jacq.) Lag. to extensive grazing. *Flora - Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants*, 203, 141-151.

RUDGERS, J. A., KOSLOW, J. M. & CLAY, K. (2004) Endophytic fungi alter relationships between diversity and ecosystem properties. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 42-51.

RUDGERS, J. A., MATTINGLY, W. B. & KOSLOW, J. M. (2005) Mutualistic fungus promotes plant invasion into diverse communities. *Oecologia*, 144, 463-471.

RUDGERS, J. A. & ORR, S. (2009) Non-native grass alters growth of native tree species via leaf and soil microbes. *Journal of Ecology*, 97, 247-255.

SABATER, F., BUTTURINI, A., MARTI, E., MUNOZ, I., ROMANI, A., WRAY, J. & SABATER, S. (2000) Effects of riparian vegetation removal on nutrient retention in a Mediterranean stream. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 19, 609-620.

SAFRIEL, U. N. (2009) Status of desertification in the Mediterranean region. *Water Scarcity, Land Degradation and Desertification in the Mediterranean Region*, 156, 33-73.

SAGE, R. F. & MCKOWN, A. D. (2006) Is C4 photosynthesis less phenotypically plastic than C3 photosynthesis? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57, 303-317.

SARDANS, J. & PENUELAS, J. (2007) Drought changes phosphorus and potassium accumulation patterns in an evergreen Mediterranean forest. *Functional Ecology*, 21, 191-201.

SATTLER, P. & WILLIAMS, R. (1999) *The conservation status of Queensland's bioregional ecosystems.* State of Queensland Environment Protection Agency (EPA), Brisbane.

SAUNDERS, D. A., HOBBS, R. J. & MARGULES, C. R. (1991) Biological consequences of ecosystem fragmentation: a review. *Conservation Biology*, **5**, 18-32.

SAX, D. F. & BROWN, J. H. (2000) The paradox of invasion. *Global Ecology & Biogeography*, 9, 363-371.

SCHACHT, W. H. & REECE, P. E. (2008) Impact of livestock grazing on extensively managed grazing lands. *In:* MCDOWELL, R. W. (ed.) *Environmental impacts of pasture-based farming.* CAB International, Wallingford.

SCHADE, J. D., WELTER, J. R., MARTI, E. & GRIMM, N. B. (2005) Hydrologic exchange and N uptake by riparian vegetation in an arid-land stream. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24, 19-28.

SCHEFFER, M. & CARPENTER, S. R. (2003) Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 18, 648-656.

SCHEFFER, M., CARPENTER, S., FOLEY, J. A., FOLKE, C. & WALKER, B. (2001) Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature*, 413, 591-596.

SCHEFFER, M., HOLMGREN, M., BROVKIN, V. & CLAUSSEN, M. (2005) Synergy between small- and large-scale feedbacks of vegetation on the water cycle. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 1003-1012.

SCHENK, H. J. & JACKSON, R. B. (2002a) The global biogeography of roots. *Ecological Monographs*, 72, 311-328.

SCHENK, H. J. & JACKSON, R. B. (2002b) Rooting depths, lateral root spreads and belowground/above-ground allometries of plants in water-limited ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology*, 90, 480-494.

SCHMIDT, C. D., HICKMAN, K. R., CHANNELL, R., HARMONEY, K. & STARK, W. (2008) Competitive abilities of native grasses and non-native (*Bothriochloa* spp.) grasses. *Plant Ecology*, 197, 69-80.

SCHOLES, R. J. & ARCHER, S. R. (1997) Tree-grass interactions in savannas. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 28, 517-544.

SCHOLZ, F. G., BUCCI, S. J., GOLDSTEIN, G., MEINZER, F. C. & FRANCO, A. C. (2002) Hydraulic redistribution of soil water by neotropical savanna trees. *Tree Physiology*, 22, 603-612.

SCHRODER, B. (2006) Pattern, process, and function in landscape ecology and catchment hydrology – how can quantitative landscape ecology support predictions in ungauged basins? *Hydrological and Earth System Science* 10, 967–979.

SCHUME, H., GRABNER, M. & ECKMULLNER, O. (2004) The influence of an altered groundwater regime on vessel properties of hybrid poplar. *Trees - Structure and Function*, 18, 184-194.

SCOTT, A. (2005) Historical evidence of native fish in the Murray-Darling Basin at the time of European settlement — from the diaries of the first explorers. CRC for Freshwater Ecology, Canberra.

SCOTT, M. L., SHAFROTH, P. B. & AUBLE, G. T. (1999) Responses of riparian cottonwoods to

alluvial water table declines. Environmental Management, 23, 347-358.

SCOTT, R. L., CABLE, W. L. & HULTINE, K. R. (2008) The ecohydrologic significance of hydraulic redistribution in a semi-arid savanna. *Water Resource Research*, 44,2.

SCRIVENER, N., JOHNSON, C. N., WALLIS, I. R., TAKASAKI, M., FOLEY, W. J. & KROCKENBERGER, A. K. (2004) Which trees do wild common brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*) prefer? Problems and solutions in scaling laboratory findings to diet selection in the field. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 6, 77-87.

SEASTEDT, T. R. & KNAPP, A. K. (1993) Consequences of nonequilibrium resource availability across multiple time scales: the transient maxima hypothesis. *The American Naturalist*, 141, 621-633.

SEDELL, J., REEVES, G., HAUER, F., STANFORD, J. & HAWKINS, C. (1990) Role of refugia in recovery from disturbances: modern fragmented and disconnected river systems. *Environmental Management*, 14, 711-724.

SHAFROTH, P. B., FRIEDMAN, J. M., AUBLE, G. T., SCOTT, M. L. & BRAATNE, J. H. (2002a) Potential responses of riparian vegetation to dam removal. *Bioscience*, 52, 703-712.

SHAFROTH, P. B., STROMBERG, J. C. & PATTEN, D. T. (2002b) Riparian vegetation response to altered disturbance and stress regimes. *Ecological Applications*, 12, 107-123.

SHAFROTH, P. B., STROMBERG, J. C. & PATTEN, D. T. (2000) Woody riparian vegetation response to different alluvial water table regimes. *Western North American Naturalist*, 60, 66-76.

SHARP, D. & SIMON, B. K. (2002) AusGrass: grasses of Australia. Australian Biological Resources Study & CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

SHARP, B. R. & WHITTAKER, R. J. (2003) The irreversible cattle-driven transformation of a seasonally flooded Australian savanna. *Journal of Biogeography*, 30, 783-802.

SHARROW, S. (2007) Soil compaction by grazing livestock in silvopastures as evidenced by changes in soil physical properties. *Agroforestry Systems*, 71, 215-223.

SHAW, R. J. (1999) Soil salinity - electrical conductivity and chloride. *In:* PEVERILL, K. I., SPARROW, L. A. & REUTER, D. J. (eds.) *Soil analysis: an interpretation manual.* CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

SHAW, R., BREBBER, L., AHERN, C. & WEINAND, M. (1994) A review of sodicity and sodic soil behavior in Queensland. *Soil Research*, 32, 143-172.

SHEA, K. & CHESSON, P. (2002) Community ecology theory as a framework for biological invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 17, 170-176.

SHEA, K., ROXBURGH, S. H. & RAUSCHERT, E. S. J. (2004) Moving from pattern to process: coexistence mechanisms under intermediate disturbance regimes. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 491-508.

SHELDON, F. & THOMS, M. C. (2006a) In-channel geomorphic complexity: the key to the dynamics of organic matter in large dryland rivers? *Geomorphology*, 77, 270-285.

SHELDON, F. & THOMS, M. C. (2006b) Relationships between flow variability and macroinvertebrate assemblage composition: data from four Australian dryland rivers. *River Research and Applications*, 22, 219-238.

SHELDON, F. (2005) Incorporating natural variability into the assessment of ecological health in Australian dryland rivers. *Hydrobiologia*, 552, 45-56.

SHELDON, F., BOULTON, A. J. & PUCKRIDGE, J. T. (2002) Conservation value of variable connectivity: aquatic invertebrate assemblages of channel and floodplain habitats of a central Australian arid-zone river, Cooper Creek. *Biological Conservation*, 103, 13-31.

SHELDON, F., THOMS, M. C., BERRY, O. & PUCKRIDGE, J. (2000) Using disaster to prevent catastrophe: referencing the impacts of flow changes in large dryland rivers. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 16, 403-420.

SHELTON, D., CORK, S., BINNING, C., PARRY, R., HAIRSINE, P., VERTESSY, R. & STAUFFACHER, M. (2001) Application of an ecosystem services inventory aproach to the Goulburn Broken Catchment. *In:* RUTHERFORD, I., SHELDON, F., BRIERLEY, G. & KENYON, C. (eds.) *Third Australian Stream Management Conference.* Cooperative Research Centre for Catchment

Hydrology, Brisbane.

SHIELDS, F. D., SIMON, A. & STEFFEN, L. J. (2000) Reservoir effects on downstream river channel migration. *Environmental Conservation*, 27, 54-66.

SILBURN, D. M., VERVOORT, R. W. & SCHICK, N. (2004) Deep drainage - so what? Part A. Report on the 2nd Northern Murray-Darling Water Balance Workshop, 19-20 November 2003, Narrabri. Cotton Research and Development Corporation, Narrabri.

SILBURN, M. & MONTGOMERY, J. (2008) Deep drainage under irrigated cotton in Australia: a review. *In:* SMITH, P. & MADDEN, E. (eds.) *WATERpak: A Guide for Irrigation Management in Cotton*. Cotton Research and Development Corporation, Narrabri.

SINDEN, J. A. & GRIFFITH, G. (2007) Combining economic and ecological arguments to value the environmental gains from control of 35 weeds in Australia. *Ecological Economics*, 61, 396-408.

SLADE, A. J. & HUTCHINGS, M. J. (1987) The effects of light intensity on foraging in the clonal herb *Glechoma hederacea*. Journal of Ecology, 75, 639-650.

SLAVICH, P. G., WALKER, G. R. & JOLLY, I. D. (1996) Vegetation growth response to modified flooding regimes and groundwater depth on a saline floodplain. 23rd Hydrology and Water Resources Symposium: Water and the Environment, Hobart, 1996. Institution of Engineers Australia, Barton.

SLAVICH, P. G., WALKER, G. R., JOLLY, I. D., HATTON, T. J. & DAWES, W. R. (1999) Dynamics of *Eucalyptus largiflorens* growth and water use in response to modified watertable and flooding regimes on a saline floodplain. *Agricultural Water Management*, 39, 245-264.

SLUIS, W. & TANDARICH, J. (2004) Siltation and hydrologic regime determine species composition in herbaceous floodplain communities. *Plant Ecology*, 173, 115-124.

SMITH, S. D., DEVITT, D. A., SALA, A., CLEVERLY, J. R. & BUSCH, D. E. (1998) Water relations of riparian plants from warm desert regions. *Wetlands*, 18, 687-696.

SNYDER, K. A. & WILLIAMS, D. G. (2007) Root allocation and water uptake patterns in riparian tree saplings: responses to irrigation and defoliation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 246, 222-231.

SOUCHERE, V., KING, D., DAROUSSIN, J., PAPY, F. & CAPILLON, A. (1998) Effects of tillage on runoff directions: consequences on runoff contributing area within agricultural catchments. *Journal of Hydrology*, 206, 256-267.

SPOONER, P. G. & ALLCOCK, K. G. (2006) Using a state-and-transition approach to manage endangered *Eucalyptus albens* (White Box) woodlands. *Environmental Management*, 38, 771-783.

SPSS INC. (2009) SPSS for Windows Version 18.0. SPSS Inc., Chicago.

STAMPFLI, A. & ZEITER, M. (2004) Plant regeneration directs changes in grassland composition after extreme drought: a 13-year study in southern Switzerland. *Journal of Ecology*, 92, 568-576.

STANFORD, J. A. & WARD, J. V. (1993) An ecosystem perspective of alluvial rivers: connectivity and the hyporheic corridor. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 12, 48-60.

STANFORD, J. A. & WARD, J. V. (2001) Revisiting the serial discontinuity concept. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 17, 303-310.

STANLEY, T. D. & ROSS, E. M. (1983, 1986, 1989) *Flora of south-eastern Queensland (Vols. 1-3)*. Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane.

STEIGER, J. & GURNELL, A. M. (2003) Spatial hydrogeomorphological influences on sediment and nutrient deposition in riparian zones: observations from the Garonne River, France. *Geomorphology*, 49, 1-23.

STEINFELD, C. M. M. & KINGSFORD, R. T. (2008) Floodplain development & vegetation health on the Macquarie River floodplain of the Murray-Darling Basin. School of Biological, Earth & Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney.

STEWART, G. & HARPER, B. (2002) Barmah-Millewa forest environmental water allocation. *Water Science and Technology*, 45, 217-223.

STINSON, K., KAUFMAN, S., DURBIN, L. & LOWENSTEIN, F. (2007) Impacts of garlic mustard invasion on a forest understory community. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 14, 73-88.

STOCKWELL, T. G. H., ANDISON, R. T., ASH, A. J., BELLAMY, J. A. & DYER, R. M. (1994) State and transition models for rangelands. 9. Development of state and transition models for pastoral management of the golden beard grass and limestone grass pasture lands of NW Australia. *Tropical Grasslands*, 28, 260-265.

STOHLGREN, T. J., BARNETT, D. T., JARNEVICH, C. S., FLATHER, C. & KARTESZ, J. (2008) The myth of plant species saturation. *Ecology Letters*, 11, 313-322.

STOHLGREN, T. J., BULL, K. A., OTSUKI, Y., VILLA, C. A. & LEE, M. (1998) Riparian zones as havens for exotic plant species in the central grasslands. *Plant Ecology*, 138, 113-125.

STOHLGREN, T. J. & SCHNASE, J. L. (2006) Risk analysis for biological hazards: what we need to know about invasive species. *Risk Analysis*, 26, 163-173.

STOKES, K. E., BARRY, S. I., HICKSON, R. & CUNNINGHAM, S. A. (2008) Future spread of lippia in the Murray-Darling Basin under climate change. *In:* VAN KLINKEN, R.D., OSTEN, V.A., PANETTA, F.D. & SCANLAN, J.C. (eds.) *16th Australian Weeds Conference proceedings: weed management 2008 hot topics in the tropics.* Queensland Weeds Society, Brisbane.

STOKES, K., BARRY, S., HICKSON, R. & CUNNINGHAM, S. (2007) Evaluating potential responses and management of lippia in the MDB under climate change and developing generic methodologies for assessing climate change effects on riparian weeds. Final report to the Australian Greenhouse Office. CSIRO Entomology, Canberra.

STRAYER, D. L., EVINER, V. T., JESCHKE, J. M. & PACE, M. L. (2006) Understanding the long-term effects of species invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21, 645-651.

STRINGHAM, T. K., KRUEGER, W. C. & SHAVER, P. L. (2003) State and transition modeling: an ecological process approach. *Journal of Range Management*, 56, 106-113.

STRINGHAM, T. K., KRUEGER, W. C. & THOMAS, D. R. (2001) Application of non-equilibrium ecology to rangeland riparian zones. *Journal of Range Management*, 54, 210-217.

STROMBERG, J. (1998a) Dynamics of Fremont cottonwood (*Populus fremontii*) and saltcedar (*Tamarix chinensis*) populations along the San Pedro River, Arizona. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 40, 133-155.

STROMBERG, J. C. & PATTEN, D. T. (1996) In-stream flow and cottonwood growth in the eastern Sierra Nevada of California, USA. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 12, 1-12.

STROMBERG, J. C. (1998b) Functional equivalency of saltcedar (*Tamarix chinensis*) and Fremont cottonwood (*Populus fremontii*) along a free-flowing river. *Wetlands*, 18, 675-686.

STROMBERG, J. C., BAGSTAD, K. J., LEENHOUTS, J. M., LITE, S. J. & MAKINGS, E. (2005a) Effects of stream flow intermittency on riparian vegetation of a semiarid region river (San Pedro River, Arizona). *River Research and Applications*, 21, 925-938.

STROMBERG, J. C., BEAUCHAMP, V. B., DIXON, M. D., LITE, S. J. & PARADZICK, C. (2007a) Importance of low-flow and high-flow characteristics to restoration of riparian vegetation along rivers in and south-western United States. *Freshwater Biology*, 52, 651-679.

STROMBERG, J. C., BOUDELL, J. A. & HAZELTON, A. F. (2008) Differences in seed mass between hydric and xeric plants influence seed bank dynamics in a dryland riparian ecosystem. *Functional Ecology*, 22, 205-212.

STROMBERG, J. C., FRY, J. & PATTEN, D. T. (1997) Marsh development after large floods in an alluvial, arid-land river. *Wetlands*, 17, 292-300.

STROMBERG, J. C., HAZELTON, A. F., WHIRE, M. S., WHITE, J. M. & FISCHER, R. A. (2009) Ephemeral wetlands along a spatially intermittent river: temporal patterns of vegetation development. *Wetlands*, 29, 330-342.

STROMBERG, J. C., LITE, S. J., MARLER, R., PARADZICK, C., SHAFROTH, P. B., SHORROCK, D., WHITE, J. M. & WHITE, M. S. (2007b) Altered stream-flow regimes and invasive plant species: the *Tamarix* case. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16, 381-393.

STROMBERG, J. C., RICHTER, B. D., PATTEN, D. T. & WOLDEN, L. G. (1993) Response of a Sonoran riparian forest to a 10-year return flood. *Great Basin Naturalist*, 53, 118-130.

STROMBERG, J. C., TILLER, R. & RICHTER, B. (1996) Effects of groundwater decline on riparian vegetation of semiarid regions: the San Pedro, Arizona. *Ecological Applications*, 6, 113-131.

STROMBERG, J., LITE, S., RYCHENER, T., LEVICK, L., DIXON, M. & WATTS, J. (2006) Status of the riparian ecosystem in the Upper San Pedro River, Arizona: application of an assessment model. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 115, 145-173.

STUEFER, J. F. & HUBER, H. (1999) The role of stolon internodes for ramet survival after clone fragmentation in *Potentilla anserina*. *Ecology Letters*, 2, 135-139.

SUDING, K. N. & HOBBS, R. J. (2009) Threshold models in restoration and conservation: a developing framework. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24, 271-279.

SUDING, K. N., GROSS, K. L. & HOUSEMAN, G. R. (2004) Alternative states and positive feedbacks in restoration ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19, 46-53.

SUDING, K. N., LAVOREL, S., CHAPIN III, F. S., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., DIAZ, S., GARNIER, E., GOLDBERG, D., HOOPER, D. U., JACKSON, S. T. & NAVAS, M.-L. (2008) Scaling environmental change through the community-level: a trait-based response-and-effect framework for plants. *Global Change Biology*, 14, 1125-1140.

SUNWATER (2009) Annual Report 2008-2009. SunWater, Brisbane.

SUTTON, F. M. & MORGAN, J. W. (2009) Functional traits and prior abundance explain native plant extirpation in a fragmented woodland landscape. *Journal of Ecology*, 97, 718-727.

SWEENEY, B. W., BOTT, T. L., JACKSON, J. K., KAPLAN, L. A., NEWBOLD, J. D., STANDLEY, L. J., HESSION, W. C. & HORWITZ, R. J. (2004) Riparian deforestation, stream narrowing, and loss of stream ecosystem services. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 14132-14137.

SWIFT, B. L. (1984) Status of riparian ecosystems in the United States. *American Water Resources Association*, 20, 223-228.

SWIFT, M. J., IZAC, A. M. N. & VAN NOORDWIJK, M. (2004) Biodiversity and ecosystem services in agricultural landscapes - are we asking the right questions? *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, 104, 113-134.

SEC (2010) Rural water pricing business and scheme overview. Report to the Queensland Competition Authority. Synergies Economic Consulting (SEC), Brisbane.

SZABO, P. & MESZENA, G. (2007) Multi-scale regulated plant community dynamics: mechanisms and implications. *Oikos*, 116, 233-240.

TABACCHI, E., CORRELL, D. L., HAUER, R., PINAY, G., PLANTY-TABACCHI, A.-M. & WISSMAR, R. C. (1998) Development, maintenance and role of riparian vegetation in the river landscape. *Freshwater Biology*, 40, 497-516.

TABACCHI, E., PLANTY-TABACCHI, A.-M., SALINAS, M. J. & DÉCAMPS, H. (1996) Landscape structure and diversity in riparian plant communities: a longitudinal comparative study. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 12, 367-390.

TAKEDA, T., UENO, O., SAMEJIMA, M. & OHTANI, T. (1985) An investigation for the occurrence of C4 photosynthesis in the Cyperaceae from Australia. *Journal of Plant Research*, 98, 393-411.

TAN, D. K. Y., DALEY, A. T. & WU, H. (2007) Allelopathic potential of lippia (*Phyla canescens*) on germinating seeds. *Allelopathy Journal*, 19, 257-266.

TANSLEY, A. G. (1935) The use and abuse of vegetational concepts and terms. *Ecology*, 16, 284-307.

TAYLOR, B. & GANF, G. G. (2005) Comparative ecology of two co-occurring floodplain plants: the native *Sporobolus mitchellii* and the exotic *Phyla canescens*. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 56, 431-440.

TAYLOR, J., HEDGES, D. & WHALLEY, R. (1985) Effects of fertilizer and grazing sheep on pasture heterogeneity in a small-scale grazing experiment. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 36, 315-325.

TAYLOR, B. & MEECHAM, J. (2003) *Runoff and Flow Coordination Framework for the Condamine Floodplains*. State of Queensland Department of Local Government and Planning, Brisbane.

THOMAS, R., BOWEN, S., SIMPSON, S., COX, S., SIMS, N., HUNTER, S. & LU, Y. (2010) Inundation response of vegetation communities of the Macquarie Marshes in semi-arid Australia. *In:* SAINTILAN, N. & OVERTON, I. (eds.) *Ecosystem response modelling in the Murray-Darling Basin.* CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.

THOMS, M. C. (2006) Variability in riverine ecosystems. *River Research and Applications*, 22, 115-121.

THOMS, M. & PARSONS, M. (2002) Eco-geomorphology: an interdisciplinary approach to river science. *In:* DYER, F. J., THOMS, M. C. & OLLEY, J. M. (eds.) *Selected Papers for the International Symposium on the Structure, Function and Management Implications of Fluvial Sedimentary System. Alice Springs, 2 to 6 September, 2002.* International Association of Hydrological Sciences (IAHS), Wallingford.

THOMS, M. C. & PARSONS, M. (2003) Identifying spatial and temporal patterns in the hydrological character of the Condamine-Balonne River, Australia, using multivariate statistics. *River Research and Applications*, 19, 443-457.

THOMS, M. C. & SHELDON, F. (2000a) Lowland rivers: an Australian introduction. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 16, 375-383.

THOMS, M. C. & SHELDON, F. (2000b) Water resource development and hydrological change in a large dryland river: the Barwon-Darling River, Australia. *Journal of Hydrology*, 228, 10-21.

THOMS, M. C. & SHELDON, F. (2002) An ecosystem approach for determining environmental water allocations in Australian dryland river systems: the role of geomorphology. *Geomorphology*, 47, 153-168.

THOMS, M. C. (2003) Floodplain-river ecosystems: lateral connections and the implications of human interference. *Geomorphology*, 56, 335-349.

THOMS, M. C., OGDEN, R. W. & REID, M. A. (1999) Establishing the condition of lowland floodplain rivers: a palaeo-ecological approach. *Freshwater Biology*, 41, 407-423.

THOMS, M. C., PARSONS, M. E. & FOSTER, J. M. (2007) The use of multivariate statistics to elucidate patterns of floodplain sedimentation at different spatial scales. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 32, 672-686.

THOMS, M. C., SOUTHWELL, M. & MCGINNESS, H. M. (2005) Floodplain-river ecosystems: fragmentation and water resources development. *Geomorphology*, 71, 126-138.

THOMSON, V. P. & LEISHMAN, M. R. (2005) Post-fire vegetation dynamics in nutrient-enriched and non-enriched sclerophyll woodland. *Austral Ecology*, 30, 250-260.

THORBURN, P. J. & WALKER, G. R. (1994) Variations in stream water uptake by *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* with differing access to stream water. *Oecologia*, 100, 293-301.

THORBURN, P. J., HATTON, T. J. & WALKER, G. R. (1993) Combining measurements of transpiration and stable isotopes of water to determine groundwater discharge from forests. *Journal of Hydrology*, 150, 563-587.

THORBURN, P. J., MENSFORTH, L. J. & WALKER, G. R. (1994) Reliance of creek-side river red gums on creek water. *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, 45, 1439-1443.

THORP, J. H., THOMS, M. C. & DELONG, M. D. (2006) The riverine ecosystem synthesis: biocomplexity in river networks across space and time. *River Research and Applications*, 22, 123-147.

TIEGS, S. D., O'LEARY, J. F., POHL, M. M. & MUNILL, C. L. (2005) Flood disturbance and riparian species diversity on the Colorado River delta. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 14, 1175-1194.

TILAHUN, K. (2006) Analysis of rainfall climate and evapo-transpiration in arid and semi-arid regions of Ethiopia using data over the last half a century. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 64, 474-487.

TOCKNER, K. & STANFORD, J. A. (2002) Riverine floodplains: present state and future trends. *Environmental Conservation*, 29, 308-330.

TOCKNER, K. (2007) River restoration: linking science with application. *Ecology and Civil Engineering*, 10, 15-25.

TOCKNER, K., MALARD, F. & WARD, J. V. (2000) An extension of the flood pulse concept. *Hydrological Processes*, 14, 2861-2883.

TOCKNER, K., SCHIEMER, F. & WARD, J. V. (1998) Conservation by restoration: the management concept for a river-floodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. *Aquatic Conservation-Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 8, 71-86.

TONGWAY, D. & HINDLEY, N. (2004) Landscape function analysis: a system for monitoring rangeland function. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*, 21, 109 - 113.

TONGWAY, D. J. & LUDWIG, J. A. (1990) Vegetation and soil patterning in semi-arid mulga lands of Eastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 15, 23-34.

TOOGOOD, S., JOYCE, C. & WAITE, S. (2008) Response of floodplain grassland plant communities to altered water regimes. *Plant Ecology*, 197, 285-298.

TREMONT, R. M. & MCINTYRE, S. (1994) Natural grassy vegetation and native forbs in temperate Australia - structure, dynamics and life-histories. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 42, 641-658.

TRUSCOTT, A. M., PALMER, S. C. F., SOULSBY, C. & HULME, P. E. (2008) Assessing the vulnerability of riparian vegetation to invasion by *Mimulus guttatus*: relative importance of biotic and abiotic variables in determining species occurrence and abundance. *Diversity and Distributions*, 14, 412-421.

TSIALTAS, J. T., HANDLEY, L. L., KASSIOUMI, M. T., VERESOGLOU, D. S. & GAGIANAS, A. A. (2001) Interspecific variation in potential water-use efficiency and its relation to plant species abundance in a water-limited grassland. *Functional Ecology*, 15, 605-614.

TURNER, M. G. (1987) Spatial simulation of landscape changes in Georgia: a comparison of 3 transitions. *Landscape Ecology*, 1, 29-36.

TURNER, M. G., BAKER, W. L., PETERSON, C. J. & PEET, R. K. (1998) Factors influencing succession: lessons from large, infrequent natural disturbances. *Ecosystems*, 1, 511-523.

TURNER, M. G., GERGEL, S. E., DIXON, M. D. & MILLER, J. R. (2004) Distribution and abundance of trees in floodplain forests of the Wisconsin River: environmental influences at different scales. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15, 729-738.

TURNER, M. G., ROMME, W. H., GARDNER, R. H., O'NEILL, R. V. & KRATZ, T. K. (1993) A revised concept of landscape equilibrium: disturbance and stability on scaled landscapes. *Landscape Ecology*, 8, 213-227.

TYREE, M. T. & EWERS, F. W. (1991) The hydraulic architecture of trees and other woody plants. *New Phytologist*, 119, 345-360.

TYREE, M. T. & SPERRY, J. S. (1988) Do woody plants operate near the point of catastrophic xylem dysfunction caused by dynamic water stress? Answers from a model. *Plant Physiology*, 88, 574-580.

TYREE, M. T., KOLB, K. J., ROOD, S. B. & PATINO, S. (1994) Vulnerability to drought-induced cavitation of riparian cottonwoods in Alberta - a possible factor in the decline of the ecosystem. *Tree Physiology*, 14, 455-466.

UOWOLO, A. L., BINKLEY, D. & ADAIR, E. C. (2005) Plant diversity in riparian forests in northwest Colorado: effects of time and river regulation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 218, 107-114.

UNEP (2009) Decisions adopted by the conference of the parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its ninth meeting, Bonn, 19-30 May 2008 United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), Geneva.

VAN DER MOEZEL, P. G., WATSON, L. E. & BELL, D. T. (1989) Gas exchange responses of two *Eucalyptus* species to salinity and waterlogging. *Tree Physiology*, 5, 251-257.

VAN DER WILLIGEN, C. & PAMMENTER, N. W. (1998) Relationship between growth and xylem hydraulic characteristics of clones of *Eucalyptus* spp. at contrasting sites. *Tree Physiology*, 18, 595-600.

VAN DORP, D., SCHIPPERS, P. & VAN GROENENDAEL, J. M. (1997) Migration rates of grassland plants along corridors in fragmented landscapes assessed with a cellular automation model. *Landscape Ecology*, 12, 39-50.

VAN NES, E. H. & SCHEFFER, M. (2007) Slow recovery from perturbations as a generic indicator of a nearby catastrophic shift. *The American Naturalist*, 169, 738-747.

VANNOTE, R. L., MINSHALL, G. W., CUMMINS, K. W., SEDELL, J. R. & CUSHING, C. E. (1980) The river continuum concept. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 37, 130-137.

VENEKLAAS, E. J. & POOT, P. (2003) Seasonal patterns in water use and leaf turnover of different plant functional types in a species-rich woodland, south-western Australia. *Plant and Soil*, 257, 295-304.

VERVOORT, W. R. (2009) Management of water resources under uncertainty: what does the future hold? *In:* BIRCH, G. (ed.) *Water wind art and debate. how environmental concerns impact on disciplinary research.* The University of Sydney Press, Sydney.

VESK, P. A. & WESTOBY, M. (2001) Predicting plant species' responses to grazing. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, 897-909.

VESK, P. A., NOLAN, R., THOMSON, J. R., DORROUGH, J. W. & NALLY, R. M. (2008) Time lags in provision of habitat resources through revegetation. *Biological Conservation*, 141, 174-186.

VITOUSEK, P. M., D'ANTONIO, C. M., LOOPE, L. L., REJMANEK, M. & WESTBROOKS, R. (1997) Introduced species: a significant component of human-caused global change. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, 21, 1-16.

VIVANCO, J. M., BAIS, H. P., STERMITZ, F. R., THELEN, G. C. & CALLAWAY, R. M. (2004) Biogeographical variation in community response to root allelochemistry: novel weapons and exotic invasion. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 285-292.

VOLAIRE, F. (2008) Plant traits and functional types to characterise drought survival of pluri-specific perennial herbaceous swards in Mediterranean areas. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 29, 116-124.

VOLLER, P. & EDDIE, C. (1995) The influence of possum and cockatoo damage on tree decline in drought affected riparian forests of the Upper Condamine River, South Queensland. *In:* Department of Primary Industry and Fisheries, *Proceedings, Tenth Australian Vertebrate Pest Control Conference, Hobart 29 May-2 June 1995.* Tasmanian Department of Primary Industry and Fisheries, Hobart.

VOLLER, P. (1998) Tree decline: issues emerging in riparian forests of the upper Condamine. *Proceedings of the Managing and Growing Trees Conference, Kooralbyn, 1998.* State of Queensland Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Brisbane.

VOSSE, S. (2007) *The restoration potential of fynbos riparian seed banks following alien clearing.* MSc thesis, University of Stellenbosch.

VOSSE, S., ESLER, K. J., RICHARDSON, D. M. & HOLMES, P. M. (2008) Can riparian seed banks initiate restoration after alien plant invasion? Evidence from the Western Cape, South Africa. *South African Journal of Botany*, 74, 432-444.

WALKER, B. & MEYERS, J. A. (2004) Thresholds in ecological and social-ecological systems: a developing database. *Ecology and Society*, 9, 3.

WALKER, B. & SALT, D. (2006) *Resilience thinking: sustaining ecosystems and people in a changing world*. Island Press, Washington D.C.

WALKER, B. (1995) Conserving biological diversity through ecosystem resilience. *Conservation Biology*, 9, 747-752.

WALKER, B. H. (1992) Biodiversity and ecological redundancy. Conservation Biology, 6, 18-23.

WALKER, B. H., ABEL, N., ANDERIES, J. M. & RYAN, P. (2009) Resilience, adaptability, and transformability in the Goulburn-Broken catchment, Australia *Ecology and Society*, 14, 12.

WALKER, B., CARPENTER, S., ANDERIES, J., ABEL, N., CUMMING, G., JANSSEN, M., LEBEL, L., NORBERG, J., PETERSON, G. D. & PRITCHARD, R. (2002) Resilience management in social-ecological systems: a working hypothesis for a participatory approach. *Conservation*

Ecology, 6, 14.

WALKER, B., GUNDERSON, L., KINZIG, A., FOLKE, C., CARPENTER, S. & SCHULTZ, L. (2006) A handful of heuristics and some propositions for understanding resilience in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, 11, 13.

WALKER, B., HOLLING, C. S., CARPENTER, S. R. & KINZIG, A. (2004) Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, 9, 5.

WALKER, B., KINZIG, A. & LANGRIDGE, J. (1999) Plant attribute diversity, resilience, and ecosystem function: the nature and significance of dominant and minor species. *Ecosystems*, 2, 95-113.

WALKER, K. F. & THOMS, M. C. (1993) Environmental-effects of flow regulation on the lower River Murray, Australia. *Regulated Rivers-Research & Management*, 8, 103-119.

WALTHER, G.-R., POST, E., CONVEY, P., MENZEL, A., PARMESAN, C., BEEBEE, T. J. C., FROMENTIN, J.-M., HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. & BAIRLEIN, F. (2002) Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416, 389-395.

WAND, S. J. E., MIDGLEY, G. Y. F., JONES, M. H. & CURTIS, P. S. (1999) Responses of wild C4 and C3 grass (Poaceae) species to elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration: a meta-analytic test of current theories and perceptions. *Global Change Biology*, 5, 723-741.

WANGEN, S. R. & WEBSTER, C. R. (2006) Potential for multiple lag phases during biotic invasions: reconstructing an invasion of the exotic tree *Acer platanoides*. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43, 258-268.

WARD & TOCKNER (2001) Biodiversity: towards a unifying theme for river ecology. *Freshwater Biology*, 46, 807-819.

WARD, J. V. & STANFORD, J. A. (1993) Research needs in regulated river ecology. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 8, 205-209.

WARD, J. V. & STANFORD, J. A. (1995a) The serial discontinuity concept: extending the model to floodplain rivers. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 10, 159-168.

WARD, J. V. & STANFORD, J. A. (1995b) Ecological connectivity in alluvial river ecosystems and its disruption by flow regulation. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 11, 105-119.

WARD, J. V. (1998) Riverine landscapes: biodiversity patterns, disturbance regimes, and aquatic conservation. *Biological Conservation*, 83, 269-278.

WARD, J. V., MALARD, F. & TOCKNER, K. (2002) Landscape ecology: a framework for integrating pattern and process in river corridors. *Landscape Ecology*, 17, 35-45.

WARD, J. V., TOCKNER, K. & SCHIEMER, F. (1999) Biodiversity of floodplain river ecosystems: ecotones and connectivity. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 15, 125-139.

WARD, J. V., TOCKNER, K., UEHLINGER, U. & MALARD, F. (2001) Understanding natural patterns and processes in river corridors as the basis for effective river restoration. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management*, 17, 311-323.

WARD, M. J. (2005) Patterns of box mistletoe *Amyema miquelii* infection and pink gum *Eucalyptus fasciculosa* condition in the Mount Lofty Ranges, South Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 213, 1-14.

WARDELL-JOHNSON, G. W., WILLIAMS, M. R., MELLICAN, A. E. & ANNELLS, A. (2004) Floristic patterns and disturbance history in karri forest, south-western Australia. 1. Environment and species richness. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 199, 449-460.

WASSEN, M. J., PEETERS, W. H. M. & VENTERINK, H. O. (2003) Patterns in vegetation, hydrology, and nutrient availability in an undisturbed river floodplain in Poland. *Plant Ecology*, 165, 27-43.

WATSON, D. M. (2002) Effects of mistletoe on diversity: a case-study from southern New South Wales. *Emu*, 102, 275-281.

WATSON, L. & DALLWITZ, M. J. (1980) Australian grass genera: anatomy, morphology and keys,

Research School of Biological Sciences, The Australian National University, Canberra.

WATSON, L., & DALLWITZ, M. J. (1992 onwards). The families of flowering plants: descriptions, illustrations, identification, and information retrieval. Online version available at: <u>http://delta-intkey.com/angio/www/boragina.htm</u> [Accessed: 4th March 2011].

WEARNE, L. J. & MORGAN, J. W. (2004) Community-level changes in Australian subalpine vegetation following invasion by the non-native shrub *Cytisus scoparius*. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15, 595-604.

WEBER, K. & STEWART, M. (2004) A critical analysis of the cumulative rainfall departure concept. *Ground Water*, 42, 935-938.

WEN, L., LING, J., SAINTILAN, N. & ROGERS, K. (2009) An investigation of the hydrological requirements of river red gum (*Eucalyptus camaldulensis*) forest, using Classification and Regression Tree modelling. *Ecohydrology*, 2, 143-155.

WESTBROOKE, M. E., FLORENTINE, S. K. & MILBERG, P. (2005) Arid land vegetation dynamics after a rare flooding event: influence of fire and grazing. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 61, 249-260.

WESTE, G. & MARKS, G. C. (1987) The biology of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in Australasian forests. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 25, 207-229.

WESTOBY, M., WALKER, B. H. & NOY-MEIR, I. (1989) Opportunistic management for rangelands not at equilibrium. *Journal of Range Management*, 42, 266-274.

WHITCRAFT, C. R., LEVIN, L. A., TALLEY, D. & CROOKS, J. A. (2008) Utilization of invasive tamarisk by salt marsh consumers. *Oecologia*, 158, 259-272.

WHITE, P. S. & PICKETT, S. T. A. (1985) Natural disturbance and patch dynamics: an introduction. *In:* PICKETT, S. T. A. & WHITE, P. S. (eds.) *The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics.* Academic Press, New York.

WHITE, I., BURRY, K., BALDWIN, C., TAN, P-L., GEORGE, D. & MACKENZIE, J. (2010) *Condamine groundwater: from overallocation to sustainable extraction.* Waterlines report, National Water Commission, Canberra.

WHITED, D. C., LORANG, M. S., HARNER, M. J., HAUER, F. R., KIMBALL, J. S. & STANFORD, J. A. (2007) Climate, hydrological disturbance, and succession: drivers of floodplain pattern. *Ecology*, 88, 940-953.

WHITTAKER, R. H. (1953) A consideration of climax theory: the climax as a population and pattern. *Ecological Monographs*, 23, 41-78.

WIENS, J. A. (2002) Riverine landscapes: taking landscape ecology into the water. *Freshwater Biology*, 47, 501-515.

WILLIAMS, D. G., SCOTT, R. L., HUXMAN, T. E., GOODRICH, D. C. & LIN, G. (2006) Sensitivity of riparian ecosystems in and semiarid environments to moisture pulses. *Hydrological Processes*, 20, 3191-3205.

WILSON, B. (2002) Influence of scattered paddock trees on surface soil properties: a study of the Northern Tablelands of NSW. *Ecological Management and Restoration*, 3, 211-219.

WILSON, B. R., GROWNS, I. & LEMON, J. (2007) Scattered native trees and soil patterns in grazing land on the Northern Tablelands of New South Wales, Australia. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 45, 199-205.

WILSON, G. G., BICKEL, T. O., BERNEY, P. J. & SISSON, J. L. (2009) Managing environmental flows in an agricultural landscape: the Lower Gwydir floodplain. Final report to the Australian Government Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts. University of New England and Cotton Catchment Communities Cooperative Research Centre, Armidale.

WIMBERLY, M. C. (2006) Species dynamics in disturbed landscapes: when does a shifting habitat mosaic enhance connectivity? *Landscape Ecology*, 21(1), 35-46.

WINSLOW, J. C., HUNT, E. R. & PIPER, S. C. (2003) The influence of seasonal water availability on global C3 versus C4 grassland biomass and its implications for climate change research.

Ecological Modelling, 163, 153-173.

WINTLE, B. A. & BARDOS, D. C. (2006) Modeling species-habitat relationships with spatially autocorrelated observation data. *Ecological Applications*, 16, 1945-1958.

WINTLE, B. A., MCCARTHY, M. A., VOLINSKY, C. T. & KAVANAGH, R. P. (2003) The use of Bayesian model averaging to better represent uncertainty in ecological models. *Conservation Biology*, 17, 1579-1590.

WOHL, D. L., ARORA, S. & GLADSTONE, J. R. (2004) Functional redundancy supports biodiversity and ecosystem function in a closed and constant environment. *Ecology*, 85, 1534-1540.

WONDZELL, S. M., HEMSTROM, M. A. & BISSON, P. A. (2006) Simulating riparian vegetation and aquatic habitat dynamics in response to natural and anthropogenic disturbance regimes in the Upper Grande Ronde River, Oregon, USA. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 80, 193-197.

WRIGHT, J. M. & CHAMBERS, J. (2002) Restoring riparian meadows currently dominated by *Artemisa* using alternative state concepts – above-ground vegetation response. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 5, 237–246.

WU, J. & LOUCKS, O. L. (1995) From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 70, 439-466.

WU, J. & MARCEAU, D. (2002) Modeling complex ecological systems: an introduction. *Ecological Modelling*, 153, 1-6.

WU, J. G. & DAVID, J. L. (2002) A spatially explicit hierarchical approach to modeling complex ecological systems: theory and applications. *Ecological Modelling*, 153, 7-26.

WU, J. G. (1995) From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, 70, 439-466.

WYLIE, F. R., JOHNSTON, P. J. M. & EISEMANN, R. L. (1992) A survey of native tree dieback in *Queensland*. Research Paper No. 16, Forest Research Institute, State of Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane.

WYLIE, F. R., JOHNSTON, P. J. M. & FORSTER, B. A. (1993) *Decline of Casuarina and Eucalyptus in the Mary River catchment*. State of Queensland Department of Primary Industries Forest Service, Brisbane.

XIONG, S., JOHANSSON, M. E., HUGHES, F. M. R., HAYES, A., RICHARDS, K. S. & NILSSON, C. (2003) Interactive effects of soil moisture, vegetation canopy, plant litter and seed addition on plant diversity in a wetland community. *Journal of Ecology*, 91, 976-986.

XU, C. & VAN KLINKEN, R. D. V. (2008) Do tissue chemical components and the effect of vegetation on soil properties contribute to the invasiveness of lippia (*Phyla canescens*)? Indications from soil moisture and plant calcium concentration. *In:* VAN KLINKEN, R.D., OSTEN, V.A., PANETTA, F.D. & SCANLAN, J.C. (eds.) *16th Australian Weeds Conference proceedings: weed management 2008 hot topics in the tropics.* Queensland Weeds Society, Brisbane.

XU, C. Y., JULIEN, M. H., FATEMI, M., GIROD, C., VAN KLINKEN, R. D., L., G. C. & NOVAK, S. J. (2010a) Phenotypic divergence during the invasion of *Phyla canescens* in Australia and France: evidence for selection-driven evolution. *Ecology Letters*, 13, 32-44.

XU, C. Y., SCHOOLER, S. S. & VAN KLINKEN, R. D. (2010b) Effects of clonal integration and light availability on the growth and physiology of two invasive herbs. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 833-844.

XU, Y. & VAN TONDER, G. J. (2001) Estimation of recharge using a revised CRD method. *Water SA*, 27, 341-343.

YATES, C. J. & HOBBS, R. J. (1997) Woodland restoration in the Western Australian wheatbelt: a conceptual framework using a state and transition model. *Restoration Ecology*, 5, 28-35.

YATES, C. J., NORTON, D. A. & HOBBS, R. J. (2000) Grazing effects on plant cover, soil and microclimate in fragmented woodlands in south-western Australia: implications for restoration. *Austral Ecology*, 25, 36-47.

YEAKLEY, J. A., COLEMAN, D. C., HAINES, B. L., KLOEPPEL, B. D., MEYER, J. L., SWANK,

W. T., ARGO, B. W., DEAL, J. M. & TAYLOR, S. F. (2003) Hillslope nutrient dynamics following upland riparian vegetation disturbance. *Ecosystems*, 6, 154-167.

YOUNG, T. P., PETERSEN, D. A. & CLARY, J. J. (2005) The ecology of restoration: historical links, emerging issues and unexplored realms. *Ecology Letters*, 8, 662-673.

YU, M., XIE, Y. & ZHANG, X. (2005) Quantification of intrinsic water use efficiency along a moisture gradient in northeastern China. *Journal of Environmental Quality*,, 34, 1311-1318.

YURKONIS, K. A. & MEINERS, S. J. (2006) Drought impacts and recovery are driven by local variation in species turnover. *Plant Ecology*, 184, 325-336.

ZAR, J. H. (1999) Biostatistical analysis. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.

ZEKTSER, S., LOÁICIGA, H. A. & WOLF, J. T. (2005) Environmental impacts of groundwater overdraft: selected case studies in the south-western United States. *Environmental Geology*, 47, 396-404.

ZENCICH, S. J., FROEND, R. H., TURNER, J. V. & GAILITIS, V. (2002) Influence of groundwater depth on the seasonal sources of water accessed by *Banksia* tree species on a shallow, sandy coastal aquifer. *Oecologia*, 131, 8-19.

ZOU, C. B., BARNES, P. W., ARCHER, S. & MCMURTRY, C. R. (2005) Soil moisture redistribution as a mechanism of facilitation in savanna tree-shrub clusters. *Oecologia*, 145, 32-40.

Sites	Site code	Northing	Easting	Riversection	Riverbank ¹	Landuse ²
1	TY1	6916714	364376	Upper	R	G
2	TY2	6915422	364354	Upper	L	G
3	TY4	6913161	367678	Upper	R	G
4	TY5	6912960	367513	Upper	R	G
5	TY6	6910137	370979	Upper	R	G
6	TY7	6918018	360501	Upper	R	U
7	TY8	6914561	362364	Upper	L	U
8	TY9	6916180	354168	Upper	L	G
9	YL1	6926808	336447	Middle	R	U
10	YL2	6928226	334443	Middle	R	U
11	YL3	6923042	338454	Middle	L	U
12	YL4	6925730	336847	Middle	R	G
13	YL5	6925130	337517	Middle	R	G
14	YL6	6924934	337264	Middle	L	G
15	YL8	6922154	339436	Middle	L	U
16	YL9	6920424	341771	Middle	L	U
17	YL10	6920925	341039	Middle	R	U
18	LC1	6929625	332214	Lower	R	U
19	LC3	6931932	329910	Lower	L	U
20	LC4	6932937	328811	Lower	L	U
21	LC5	6930635	331179	Lower	R	U
22	LC6	6952213	322236	Lower	L	G
23	LC7	6949730	321029	Lower	R	U
24	LC8	6932132	330179	Lower	R	U
REF1	OT1	6899162	379985	-	L	U
REF2	TL1	6975430	325667	-	R	U
REF3	TL2	6975310	326271	-	R	U

Appendix A Survey site details

¹ Riverbanks (L: left, R: right); ² Landuse (G: grazed, U: ungrazed)

Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Acacia stenophylla	Fabaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	wetland & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Alternanthera denticulata	Amaranthaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/amaranth.htm
Alternanthera nodiflora	Amaranthaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/amaranth.htm
Ammi majus	Apiaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/umbellif.htm
Angophora floribunda	Myrtaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/myrtacea.htm
Aristida leptopoda	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Aristida ramosa	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Asparagus virgatus	Asparagaceae	C3	perennial	vine	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/asparaga.htm
Asperula conferta	Rubiaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/rubiacea.htm
Austrostipa scabra	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Austrostipa setacea	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Austrostipa verticillata	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Avena barbata	Poaceae	C3	annual	grass	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Bidens pilosa.	Asteraceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Boerhavia dominii	Nyctaginaceae	C4	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/nyctagin.htm
Bothriochloa biloba	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Sharp & Simon 2001
Bothriochloa decipiens	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Bothriochloa ewartiana.	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Sharp & Simon 2002
Brassicaceae spp.	Brassicaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/crucifer.htm
Bromus catharticus	Poaceae	C3	short-lived	tussock grass	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Bromus inermis	Poaceae	C3	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Brunoniella australis.	Acanthaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/acanthac.htm
Bulbine bulbosa	Asphodelaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/asphodel.htm
Calotis cuneata var. cuneata	Asteraceae	-	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Carex inversa	Cyperaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Liu & Wang 2006; Bruhl & Wilson 2007
Chamaesyce drummondii	Euphorbiaceae	C4	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/euphorbi.htm

Appendix B Functional group classifications for species recorded on the Upper Condamine floodplain (27 sites)
Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Chenopodium auricomiforme	Chenopodiaceae	C3	short-lived	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Chenopodium auricomum	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	wetland & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Chloris divaricata	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	clonal	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Chloris gayana	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Chloris truncata	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Chloris ventricosa	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Cichorium intybus	Asteraceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	Fitter & Peat 1994
Cirsium vulgare	Asteraceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Commelina cyanea	Commelinaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/commelin.htm
Conyza bonariensis	Asteraceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.rcia.puc.cl/English/pdf/34-1/SFeldman1.pdf
Corymbia tessellaris	Myrtaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/myrtacea.htm
Cyclospermum leptophyllum	Apiaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	riparian & floodplain	McIntyre et al. 2005
Cymbopogon refractus	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Cynodon dactylon	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980
Cynoglossum suaveolens	Boraginaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1992
Cyperus gracilis.	Cyperaceae	C3	perennial	sedge	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Bruhl & Wilson (in press)
Cyperus gunnii	Cyperaceae	C4	perennial	sedge	Monocot	clonal	native	wetland & floodplain	Bruhl & Wilson (in press)
Cyperus vaginatus	Cyperaceae	C3	perennial	sedge	Monocot	clonal	native	riparian	Bruhl & Wilson (in press)
Dianella sp.	Phormiaceae	-	perennial	forb	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/phormiac.htm
Dichanthium sericeum	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Sharp & Simon 2002
Digitaria brownii	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Digitaria divaricatissima	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Einadia hastata	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Einadia nutans	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Einadia polygonoides	Chenopodiaceae	C3	short-lived	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Einadia trigonos	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Eleocharis acuta	Cyperaceae	C3	perennial	sedge	Monocot	clonal	native	wetland & floodplain	Takeda et al. 1985
Elymus multiflorus	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002

Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Elymus scaber	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Enneapogon nigricans	Poaceae	C4	short-lived	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Eragrostis leptostachya	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Eriochloa procera	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Sharp & Simon 2001
Eriochloa pseudoacrotricha	Poaceae	C4	short-lived	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Eucalyptus camaldulensis	Myrtaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	riparian & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/myrtacea.htm
Eucalyptus populnea	Myrtaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/myrtacea.htm
Eucalyptus tereticornis	Myrtaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/myrtacea.htm
Eulalia aurea	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Eustrephus latifolius.	Philesiaceae	-	perennial	vine	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/luzuriag.htm
Glandularia aristigera.	Verbenaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/verbenac.htm
Gleditsia triacanthos	Caesalpiniaceae	C3	perennial	tree	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Glycine latifolia	Fabaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Glycine tabacina	Fabaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Glycine tomentella	Fabaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Gnaphalium sphaericum	Asteraceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	Liu & Wang 2006
Gomphocarpus physocarpus	Asclepiadaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	McIntyre et al. 2005
Haloragis stricta	Haloragidaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	wetland & floodplain	http://delta-intkey.com/angio/www/haloragi.htm
Hibiscus trionum	Malvaceae	C3	short-lived	shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Jasminum simplicifolium	Oleaceae	C3	perennial	vine	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/juncacea.htm
Juncus sp.	Juncaceae	C3	perennial	rush	Monocot	clonal	native	-	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/juncacea.htm
Lactuca serriola	Asteraceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Lepidium africanum	Brassicaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/crucifer.htm
Lepidium bonariense	Brassicaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/crucifer.htm
Lepidium pseudohyssopifolium	Brassicaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/crucifer.htm
Leptochloa divaricatissima	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Leptochloa fusca	Poaceae	C4	short-lived	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Sharp & Simon 2002
Lomandra longifolia	Lomandraceae	-	perennial	rush	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	-

Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Lomandra multiflora	Lomandraceae	-	perennial	rush	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	-
Maireana microphylla	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Malvastrum americanum	Malvaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Malvastrum coromandelianum	Malvaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Marsilea sp.	Marsileaceae	-	perennial	fern	Fern Ally	clonal	native	wetland & floodplain	-
Megathyrsus maximus	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	McIntyre et al. 2005
Mentha satureioides	Lamiaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	Liu & Wang 2006
Modiola caroliniana	Malvaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Neptunia gracilis	Mimosaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Notodanthonia longifolia	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Opuntia aurantiaca	Cactaceae	CAM	perennial	cactus	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/cactacea.htm
Opuntia stricta	Cactaceae	CAM	perennial	cactus	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/cactacea.htm
Opuntia tomentosa	Cactaceae	CAM	perennial	cactus	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/cactacea.htm
Oxalis perennans	Oxalidaceae	C3 or CAM	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/oxalidac.htm
Panicum antidotale	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Panicum buncei	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Panicum decompositum	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Panicum effusum	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Panicum larcomianum	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Panicum queenslandicum	Poaceae	C3/C4 (variable)	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Paspalidium aversum	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Paspalidium globoideum	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Paspalum dilatatum	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Pavonia hastata	Malvaceae	C3	perennial	shrub	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Pennisetum clandestinum	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Phalaris minor	Poaceae	C3	annual	tussock grass	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	Sharp & Simon 2002
Phyla canescens	Verbenaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	clonal	alien	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/verbenac.htm
Phyllanthus virgatus	Euphorbiaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	riparian & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/euphorbi.htm

Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Pimelea neo-anglica	Thymelaceae	C3	perennial	shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://delta-intkey.com/angio/www/thymelae.htm
Plantago debilis	Plantaginaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	riparian & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/plantagi.htm
Portulaca oleracea	Portulacaceae	C4 or CAM	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/portulac.htm
Rhynchosia minima	Fabaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Rostellularia adscendens	Acanthaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/acanthac.htm
Rumex brownii	Polygonaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/polygona.htm
Rumex crispus	Polygonaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/polygona.htm
Salsola tragus	Chenopodiaceae	C3 or C4	short-lived	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Salvia reflexa	Lamiaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	floodplain	Leonardos & Grodzinski 2000
Salvia verbenaca	Lamiaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	Leonardos & Grodzinski 2000
Scleria sp.	Cyperaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Monocot	clonal	-	wetland & floodplain	http://www.springerlink.com/content/d863771751168284/fulltext.pdf
Sclerolaena birchii	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Sclerolaena muricata var. muricata	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Sclerolaena muricata var. semiglabra	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Sclerolaena muricata var. villosa	Chenopodiaceae	C3	perennial	chenopod shrub	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/chenopod.htm
Senecio quadridentatus	Asteraceae	CAM or C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Senna barclayana	Caesalpiniaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Setaria distans	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Sharp & Simon 2002
Setaria jubiflora	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	riparian & floodplain	Sharp & Simon 2002
Setaria pumila	Poaceae	C4	annual	tussock grass	Monocot	no	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Sida filiformis	Malvaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Sida rhombifolia	Malvaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Sida subspicata	Malvaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/malvacea.htm
Solanum americanum	Solanaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/solanace.htm
Sonchus oleraceus	Asteraceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Sorghum halepense	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Sporobolus creber	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Sporobolus elongatus	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002

Species	Family	Metabolism	Lifecycle	Life-form	di/monocot	clonal	native	Habitat	Reference
Swainsona sp.	Fabaceae	C3	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	riparian & floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Tagetes minuta	Asteraceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Taraxacum officinale	Asteraceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Themeda avenacea	Poaceae	C4	perennial	grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Themeda triandra	Poaceae	C4	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Tribulus terrestris	Zygophyllaceae	C4	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/zygophyl.htm
Urochloa panicoides	Poaceae	C4	annual	grass	Monocot	clonal	alien	terrestrial	Watson & Dallwitz 1980; Sharp & Simon 2002
Vachellia farnesiana	Mimosaceae	C3	perennial	shrub	Dicot	no	native	floodplain	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Verbena officinalis	Verbenaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/verbenac.htm
Vicia sp.	Fabaceae	C3	annual	forb	Dicot	no	alien	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/legumino.htm
Vittadinia cuneata var. hirsuta	Asteraceae	-	short-lived	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Vittadinia pterochaeta	Asteraceae	-	annual	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/composit.htm
Wahlenbergia communis	Campanulaceae	C3	perennial	forb	Dicot	no	native	terrestrial	http://www.anbg.gov.au/angio/campanul.htm
Walwhalleya subxerophila	Poaceae	C3	perennial	tussock grass	Monocot	no	native	floodplain	Sharp & Simon 2002

River Section					Up	oper								Midd	le							Lowe	r				
Sites	R1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	R2	R3
Species																											
Acacia stenophylla	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3	1	2	2	1	0	2	1	1
Alternanthera denticulata	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Alternanthera nodiflora	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0
Ammi majus	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Angophora floribunda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aristida leptopoda	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aristida ramosa	5	0	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	7	3	0	1	6
Asparagus virgatus	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Asperula conferta	2	2	5	1	2	0	2	7	0	0	7	0	4	1	2	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Austrostipa scabra	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Austrostipa setacea	7	2	0	1	2	7	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	5	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0
Austrostipa verticillata	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Avena barbata	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bidens pilosa	5	0	0	2	1	0	2	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	1	0
Boerhavia dominii	0	0	0	0	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
Bothriochloa biloba	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bothriochloa decipiens	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	0	2	0	0	0	0
Bothriochloa ewartiana	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Brassica sp.	0	4	0	0	0	3	1	0	4	2	2	1	2	3	1	4	3	3	3	6	2	6	0	0	4	0	0
Bromus catharticus	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	4	0	3	0	0	0	0	6	2	0	0	6	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Bromus inermis	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
Brunoniella australis	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	2	0	0	3	0	2
Bulbine sp.	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	4	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
Calotis cuneata var. cuneata	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carex inversa	7	7	0	0	0	0	3	5	0	2	1	5	1	1	0	0	2	0	2	5	2	2	0	6	0	2	6
Chamaesyce drummondii	0	4	0	3	4	0	0	3	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chenopodium auricomiforme	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chenopodium auricomum	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chloris divaricata	0	0	0	2	6	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	2	3	0	1	0	0	3	5	0	0	3	1
Chloris gayana	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Chloris truncata/ventricosa	0	5	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	4	0	2	3

Appendix C Species frequency data, Upper Condamine floodplain (27 sites)

River Section					U	oper								Midd	le							Lower	•				
Sites	R1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	R2	R3
Cichorium intybus	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cirsium vulgare	2	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Commelina cyanea	5	5	2	1	1	0	5	3	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	2	0	3	2	1	6	0	1	3	0	0
Conyza bonariensis	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	1	0	0
Corymbia tessellaris	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Cyclospermum leptophyllum	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	2	0	1	1	0	3	0	0	0	1	0
Cymbopogon refractus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Cynodon dactylon	3	2	0	4	0	2	7	0	5	0	0	0	1	7	0	3	0	1	7	7	2	7	7	0	4	0	0
Cynoglossum suaveolens	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
Cyperus gracilis	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	2	0
Cyperus gunnii	2	1	7	1	7	2	3	5	1	7	6	7	7	5	7	1	7	3	7	7	0	3	4	1	1	4	2
Cyperus vaginatus	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dianella sp.	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	2
Dichanthium sericeum	6	7	4	7	7	1	2	7	2	1	0	4	7	7	2	3	5	3	3	2	2	2	7	1	3	3	7
Digitaria brownii	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Digitaria divaricatissima	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Einadia hastata/trigonos	7	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Einadia nutans/polygonoides	2	7	5	3	1	2	7	9	1	3	1	3	5	4	0	8	7	11	7	5	9	7	4	2	6	7	5
Eleocharis acuta	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Elymus multiflorus	2	5	3	3	0	1	2	2	3	6	3	3	1	3	1	1	6	6	5	7	5	3	5	1	3	1	0
Elymus scaber	0	0	4	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Enneapogon nigricans	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
epiphytic orchid	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0
Eragrostis leptostachya	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Eriochloa pseudoacrotricha/procera	0	5	0	3	5	0	3	3	0	3	0	4	7	6	3	7	7	3	0	0	7	3	3	3	5	2	6
Eucalyptus camaldulensis/tereticornis	2	1	2	2	2	1	2	1	3	1	2	2	2	3	1	1	3	2	2	2	1	0	2	3	2	3	2
Eucalyptus populnea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
Eulalia aurea	1	5	7	7	3	2	0	2	0	1	2	0	1	4	3	0	3	0	3	3	2	0	3	2	2	0	0
Eustrephus latifolius	3	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Glandularia aristigera	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	3
Gleditsia triacanthos	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Glycine latifolia	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Glycine tabacina	3	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	4	2	0	1	0	1	0
Glycine tomentella	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

River Section					U	oper								Midd	le							Lower	•				
Sites	R1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	R2	R3
Gnaphalium sphaericum	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Gomphocarpus physocarpus	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Haloragis stricta	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hibiscus trionum	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Jasminum simplicifolium	7	4	3	0	1	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2	0	0	0
Juncus sp.	0	0	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lactuca serriola	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
Lepidium africanum/bonariense	0	1	0	1	0	0	3	1	0	1	0	0	4	2	1	0	1	4	1	3	0	5	0	1	0	2	0
Lepidium pseudohyssopifolium	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	6	0	0
Leptochloa divaricatissima	0	0	0	2	0	0	7	0	0	1	0	0	5	0	0	7	3	0	7	7	7	7	0	2	7	3	1
Leptochloa fusca	2	0	1	0	0	1	5	0	0	1	7	2	0	0	1	0	2	2	1	5	1	0	0	0	3	0	0
Lomandra longifolia	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Lomandra multiflora	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Maireana microphylla	0	0	0	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Malvastrum americanum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Malvastrum coromandelianum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2	1	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	3	0
Marsilea sp.	3	0	6	3	0	3	6	7	7	3	4	2	3	0	6	1	2	4	4	1	0	0	5	3	0	1	3
Megathyrsus maximus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
Mentha satureioides	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Modiola caroliniana	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Neptunia gracilis	0	4	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Notodanthonia longifolia	0	5	2	3	5	1	1	2	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	1	0
Opuntia aurantiaca	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	6	0	2	0	2	6	0	0	1	1	2
Opuntia stricta	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	3	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	3	2	0	0	2	1	3
Opuntia tomentosa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Oxalis perennans	3	2	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	2	1	2	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	1	0	0	0	2	0
Panicum antidotale	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Panicum buncei	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Panicum decompositum	0	0	0	3	7	1	2	0	0	4	0	4	0	0	7	0	7	0	0	3	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
Panicum effusum	0	0	0	6	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	5	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0
Panicum larcomianum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2
Panicum queenslandicum	0	6	6	0	2	0	0	7	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	6
Paspalidium aversum	3	4	0	7	7	0	0	4	0	0	3	0	0	5	0	0	4	1	6	2	0	7	6	0	0	3	4
Paspalidium globoideum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

River Section					U	oper								Midd	le							Lower	•				
Sites	R1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	R2	R3
Paspalum dilatatum	7	0	3	3	1	0	1	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0
Pavonia hastata	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pennisetum clandestinum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Phalaris minor	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Phyla canescens	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	4	7	7	7	4	7
Phyllanthus virgatus	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pimelea neoanglica	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Plantago debilis	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Portulaca oleracea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	2
Rhynchosia minima	0	2	0	3	5	0	0	4	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Rostellularia adscendens	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Rumex brownii	3	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	0	0
Rumex crispus	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Salsola tragus	0	2	2	3	0	0	2	0	2	0	0	0	1	1	0	2	2	1	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	5	2
Salvia reflexa	0	1	0	0	0	3	4	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	3	1	7	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	2	1
Salvia verbenaca	0	0	0	0	3	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<i>Scleria</i> sp.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Sclerolaena birchii	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0
Sclerolaena muricata var. muricata	0	6	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	3	7	0	4	3	2	0	1	2	7	2	2	4	0	0
Sclerolaena muricata var. semiglabra	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	3	0
Sclerolaena muricata var. villosa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Senecio quadridentatus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Senna barclayana	0	0	0	4	2	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Setaria distans	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	5	5	1	0	0
Setaria jubiflora	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	6	0
Setaria pumila	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
Sida filiformis	0	1	0	0	0	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Sida rhombifolia	7	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0
Sida subspicata	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Solanum americanum	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
Sonchus oleraceus	0	0	1	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	3	3	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
Sorghum halepense	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sporobolus creber	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Sporobolus elongatus	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0

River Section					Up	per								Midd	le							Lower	•				
Sites	R1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	R2	R3
Swainsona sp. 1	1	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	2
Tagetes minuta	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Taraxacum officinale	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Themeda avenacea	0	4	4	5	3	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	7	5	1	0	7	0	2	2	4	0	0	0	2	0	0
Themeda triandra	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tribulus terrestris	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
Urochloa panicoides	1	0	1	3	3	3	2	0	2	0	0	0	1	1	0	3	5	2	0	0	0	2	2	0	0	0	0
Vachellia farnesiana	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	0	1
Verbena officinalis	3	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vicia sp. 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vittadinia cuneata var. hirsuta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vittadinia pterochaeta	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Wahlenbergia communis	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Walwhalleya subxerophila	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	4	2	0	0	0	0	5	0	7	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Environmental variable	Details	units	n	Mean	SE	Minimum	Maximum
allcropppn500	proportion of cropping land use ¹ (all cropping categories; by area) within 500 m buffer	-	27	0.42	0.04	0.02	0.80
allcropppn2000	proportion of cropping land use ¹ (all cropping categories; by area) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	0.69	0.03	0.26	0.91
allcropppn5000	proportion of cropping land use ¹ (all cropping categories; by area) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	0.72	0.03	0.34	0.87
allcropppnUQ500	proportion of cropping land use $^{\rm l}$ (all cropping categories; by area) within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	0.49	0.06	0.00	0.92
allcropppnUQ2000	proportion of cropping land use^1 (all cropping categories; by area) within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	0.69	0.04	0.07	0.92
allcropppnUQ5000	proportion of cropping land use^1 (all cropping categories; by area) within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	0.72	0.04	0.01	0.95
bareground	mean percent cover of bare ground per site (1m x 1m quadrats; Ch.3)	%	27	5.41	1.38	0.00	22.50
cropnatratio500	dominant land use1 (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within 500 m buffer	-	27	1.11	0.19	0.02	3.90
cropnatratio2000	dominant land use1 (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	3.49	0.46	0.36	10.69
cropnatratio5000	dominant land use1 (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	4.09	0.46	0.55	8.19
cropnatratioUQ500	dominant land use ¹ (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	2.22	0.52	0.00	11.96
cropnatratioUQ2000	dominant land use ¹ (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	4.34	0.73	0.08	12.87
cropnatratioUQ5000	dominant land use ¹ (ratio all cropping :'natural' land use categories) within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	7.54	1.59	0.02	31.41
distupweir	distance from the nearest in-stream weir upstream of a site	km	27	12.90	1.45	1.69	26.64
distdownweir	distance from the nearest in-stream weir downstream of a site	km	27	10.62	1.42	0.17	24.82
distedgeRE	distance from the mapped edge of ecosystem remnant ²	m	27	70.96	27.87	-221.02	501.56
distGWprodbore	distance from the nearest existing registered groundwater irrigation/production bore ³	m	27	1706.70	228.22	176.00	5000.00
disthardedge	distance from the nearest natural vegetation edge adjacent to cropping land use ¹	m	27	155.96	26.82	12.66	562.20
distringtankUQ	distance from the nearest upslope ring tank ⁴	m	27	3065.56	437.04	104.00	7791.00

Appendix D Environmental variables assessed for use in community composition and condition response modelling. Detailed explanations are provided for variable terms, and means, standard errors and minimum and maximum values for each variable (27 sites) are presented.

Environmental variable	Details	units	n	Mean	SE	Minimum	Maximum
distriv	distance to main river channel or mapped tributary ⁵	m	27	119.30	16.97	5.00	373.00
drainage500	length of river channel/mapped drainage lines ⁵ within 500 m buffer	km	27	1.52	0.09	0.73	2.42
drainage2000	length of river channel/mapped drainage lines ⁵ within 2000 m buffer	km	27	9.43	0.72	5.02	17.18
drainage5000	length of river channel/mapped drainage lines ⁵ within 5000 m buffer	km	27	41.66	4.18	14.63	77.57
east	easting ⁶	-	27	343801.19	3291.44	321029.00	379985.00
elev	elevation ⁶	masl	27	390.33	3.29	360.00	422.00
grazppn500	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within 500 m buffer	-	27	0.22	0.06	0.00	0.87
grazppn2000	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	0.16	0.03	0.00	0.70
grazppn5000	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	0.18	0.03	0.03	0.60
grazppnUQ500	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	0.20	0.06	0.00	1.00
grazppnUQ2000	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	0.15	0.04	0.00	0.92
grazppnUQ5000	proportion of grazing land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	0.19	0.05	0.00	0.94
GW2000	number of existing registered groundwater bores ³ within 2000 m buffer	-	27	6.26	0.91	1.00	18.00
GW5000	number of existing registered groundwater bores ³ within 5000 m buffer	-	27	55.81	2.49	17.00	78.00
GWalloc2000	total groundwater allocation of licensed bores3 within 2000 m buffer	ML	27	624.12	131.66	0.00	2850.00
GWalloc5000	total groundwater allocation of licensed bores3 within 5000 m buffer	ML	27	7539.70	895.98	674.00	18426.00
GWdepth5000	mean depth to water table (averaged over 2004-5 records) for groundwater monitoring $bores^3$ within 5000 m buffer	m	27	15.46	0.67	9.08	19.63
GWirrig5000	number of existing registered groundwater irrigation bores ³ within 5000 m buffer	-	27	17.48	1.47	3.00	37.00
GWprod2000	number of existing registered & licensed groundwater bores ³ within 2000 m buffer	-	27	2.37	0.55	0.00	13.00
GWprod5000	number of existing registered & licensed groundwater bores3 within 5000 m buffer	-	27	19.41	1.47	5.00	39.00
GWstk5000	number of existing registered & unlicensed (stock & domestic) groundwater bores $^{\rm 3}$ within 5000 m buffer	-	27	2.44	0.44	0.00	8.00
GWtrend5000	mean trend in water level of groundwater monitoring bores ³ within 5000 m buffer	m/decade	27	-0.79	0.09	-0.02	-1.81
irrigcropppn500	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within 500 m buffer	-	27	0.07	0.03	0.00	0.41
irrigcropppn2000	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	0.20	0.03	0.02	0.65

Environmental variable	Details	units	n	Mean	SE	Minimum	Maximum
irrigcropppn5000	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	0.25	0.01	0.14	0.38
irrigcropppnUQ500	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	0.15	0.06	0.00	0.82
irrigcropppnUQ2000	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	0.23	0.05	0.00	0.79
irrigcropppnUQ5000	proportion of irrigated cropping land use ¹ (by area) within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	0.25	0.05	0.00	0.68
lippiacov	mean percent cover of lippia per site (1m x 1m quadrats; Ch.3)	%	27	16.46	2.99	0.63	74.00
meanGWalloc5000	mean groundwater allocation of licensed bores ³ within 5000 m buffer	-	27	387.22	34.62	134.80	707.67
north	northing ⁶	-	27	6927541.93	3396.88	6899162.00	6975430.00
REarea500	area of mapped RE 11.3.25 or 11.3.4 ² within 500 m buffer	ha	27	23.20	3.33	1.81	62.54
REarea2000	area of mapped RE 11.3.25 or 11.3.4 ² within 2000 m buffer	ha	27	94.84	11.52	10.23	186.30
REarea5000	area of mapped RE 11.3.25 or 11.3.4 ² within 5000 m buffer	ha	27	254.75	21.94	49.98	385.26
REremppn500	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^2$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within 500 m buffer	-	27	0.53	0.09	0.15	2.28
REremppn2000	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^{\rm 2}$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	0.22	0.03	0.07	0.58
REremppn5000	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^2$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	0.18	0.02	0.07	0.41
REremppnUQ500	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^2$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	0.22	0.05	0.00	0.95
REremppnUQ2000	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^2$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	0.09	0.01	0.01	0.25
REremppnUQ5000	proportion of mapped RE 11.3.25 or $11.3.4^2$ remaining (proportion of preclear extent) within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.08
remvegarea500	area of mapped remnant vegetation ² within 500 m buffer	ha	27	29.48	3.48	7.60	76.10
remvegarea2000	area of mapped remnant vegetation ² within 2000 m buffer	ha	27	142.59	14.18	50.78	327.43
remvegarea5000	area of mapped remnant vegetation ² within 5000 m buffer	ha	27	575.54	55.24	256.19	1425.05
remvegppn500	proportion of mapped remnant vegetation ² (by area) within 500 m buffer	-	27	0.375	0.044	0.097	0.969
remvegppn2000	proportion of mapped remnant vegetation ² (by area) within 2000 m buffer	-	27	0.113	0.011	0.040	0.261
remvegppn5000	proportion of mapped remnant vegetation ² (by area) within 5000 m buffer	-	27	0.073	0.007	0.033	0.181

Environmental variable	Details	units	n	Mean	SE	Minimum	Maximum
ringtankarea500	area of ring tank storages ⁴ within 500 m buffer	ha	27	2.24	0.92	0.00	17.96
ringtankarea2000	area of ring tank storages ⁴ within 2000 m buffer	ha	27	30.33	6.65	0.00	99.07
ringtankarea5000	area of ring tank storages ⁴ within 5000 m buffer	ha	27	132.27	20.16	0.00	321.81
ringtankareaUQ500	area of ring tank storage ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 500 m	ha	27	0.90	0.53	0.00	11.40
ringtankareaUQ2000	area of ring tank storage ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	ha	27	6.66	2.94	0.00	66.45
ringtankareaUQ5000	area of ring tank storage ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	ha	27	28.30	7.96	0.00	114.25
ringtanknumUQ500	number of ring tank storages ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 500 m	-	27	0.11	0.06	0.00	1.00
ringtanknumUQ2000	number of ring tank storages ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 2000 m	-	27	0.30	0.10	0.00	2.00
ringtanknumUQ5000	number of ring tank storages ⁴ within upslope quadrant to 5000 m	-	27	1.63	0.39	0.00	6.00
ripwidthcurrent	riparian width (RE 11.3.25 or 11.3.4) ²	m	27	355.00	51.23	77.38	975.59
ripwidthpreclear	riparian width (RE 11.3.25 or 11.3.4) preclearing ²	m	27	1974.26	224.85	305.01	6630.76
waterbodyarea500	area of mapped water bodies ⁴ within 500 m buffer	ha	27	2.04	0.83	0.00	14.71
waterbodyarea2000	area of mapped water bodies ⁴ within 2000 m buffer	ha	27	26.77	5.35	0.00	88.79
waterbodyarea5000	area of mapped water bodies ⁴ within 5000 m buffer	ha	27	105.97	12.65	7.12	247.50
WWI	dieback severity index (Ch.4)	-	27	327.78	16.79	175.00	475.00

Appendix E	Mean	cover	data	and	functional	classifications	for	species	recorded	at St
Ruth Reserve										

Species	Life history Life form		Clonality	Frequency	Mean cover (SE)
Asperula conferta	perennial	forb	nonclonal	18	0.62 (0.22)
Boerhavia dominii	perennial	forb	nonclonal	3	0.02 (0.01)
Bothriochloa ewartiana	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	3	0.11 (0.08)
Bulbine bulbosa	perennial	forb	nonclonal	2	0.00 (0.00)
Carex inversa	perennial	sedge	clonal	13	0.85 (0.57)
Chenopodium sp.	perennial	chenopod shrub	nonclonal	1	0.00 (0.00)
Chloris divaricata	perennial	tussock grass	clonal	7	0.36 (0.17)
Chloris truncata	perennial	grass	clonal	2	0.00 (0.00)
Conyza bonariensis*	annual	forb	nonclonal	17	0.30 (0.07)
Cullen tenax	perennial	forb	nonclonal	3	0.00 (0.00)
Cyclospermum leptophyllum*	annual	forb	nonclonal	2	0.03 (0.03)
Cynodon dactylon	perennial	grass	clonal	47	5.51 (1.30)
Cyperus gracilis	perennial	sedge	nonclonal	6	0.09 (0.04)
Cyperus gunnii	perennial	sedge	clonal	45	0.45 (0.08)
Dichanthium sericeum	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	17	0.94 (0.57)
Dichelchne micrantha	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	1	0.00 (0.00)
Digitaria divaricatissima	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	3	0.03 (0.02)
Einadia nutans/polygonoides	perennial	chenopod shrub	nonclonal	49	8.23 (1.70)
Elymus multiflorus/scaber	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	32	2.44 (0.63)
Eragrostis tenellula	annual	grass	nonclonal	1	0.01 (0.01)
Eriochloa pseudoacrotricha	short-lived	tussock grass	nonclonal	12	0.95 (0.44)
Euchiton involucratus	perennial	forb	clonal	3	0.03 (0.02)
Eulalia aurea	perennial	grass	clonal	10	0.96 (0.49)
Eustrephus latifolius	perennial	vine	nonclonal	1	0.00 (0.00)
Glandularia aristigera*	perennial	forb	clonal	22	2.20 (0.82)
Glycine tabacina	perennial	forb	clonal	7	0.05 (0.02)
Lepidium africanum/bonariense*	annual	forb	nonclonal	10	0.49 (0.19)
Lomandra multiflora	perennial	rush	nonclonal	1	0.03 (0.03)
Marsilea sp.	perennial	fern	clonal	46	0.58 (0.09)
Opuntia aurantiaca*	perennial	cactus	nonclonal	2	0.06 (0.04)
Opuntia stricta*	perennial	cactus	nonclonal	1	0.01 (0.01)
Oxalis perennans	perennial	forb	clonal	44	0.50 (0.10)
Panicum decompositum	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	2	0.15 (0.13)
Panicum gilvum*	annual	grass	nonclonal	1	0.04 (0.04)
Panicum laevinode	annual	tussock grass	nonclonal	1	0.35 (0.35)
Panicum queenslandicum	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	16	0.74 (0.32)
Paspalidium distans	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	51	11.37 (2.29)
Paspalidium gracile	perennial	tussock grass	nonclonal	2	0.15 (0.12)
Phyla canescens*	perennial	forb	clonal	69	27.93 (3.43)
Portulaca oleracea	short-lived	forb	nonclonal	4	0.03 (0.02)
Rumex brownii	perennial	forb	nonclonal	1	0.00 (0.00)
Salsola tragus	short-lived	chenopod shrub	nonclonal	25	3.53 (0.86)
Sonchus oleraceus*	annual	forb	nonclonal	2	0.06 (0.04)
Urochloa panicoides*	annual	grass	clonal	2	0.06 (0.04)
Vittadinia pterochaeta/sulcata	annual	forb	nonclonal	5	0.03 (0.02)

* alien species

Measure	units	n	Mean	SE	Minimum	Maximum
Shallow soils						
Calcium	mg/kg	24	6237.50	260.21	4100.00	9400.00
Calcium: Magnesium	-	24	1.82	0.08	1.40	3.20
Cation Exchange	meq/100g	24	51.20	1.74	34.61	71.07
Chloride	mg/kg	24	49.17	3.39	27.00	93.00
Electrical conductivity	dS/m	24	0.16	0.01	0.08	0.27
Exchange Calcium	%	24	60.71	0.77	54.40	72.40
Exchange Magnesium	%	24	33.83	0.72	22.70	38.40
Exchange Potassium	%	24	4.83	0.11	3.90	5.70
Exchange Sodium	%	24	0.66	0.09	0.40	2.70
Exchangeable Calcium	meq/100g	24	31.19	1.29	20.43	47.06
Exchangeable Magnesium	meq/100g	24	17.22	0.59	12.41	24.17
Exchangeable Potassium	meq/100g	24	2.46	0.08	1.53	3.34
Exchangeable Sodium	meq/100g	24	0.33	0.05	0.16	1.41
Magnesium	mg/kg	24	2062.50	72.44	1500.00	2900.00
Moisture	%	23	6.79	0.20	4.40	8.10
Nitrate Nitrogen	mg/kg	24	9.46	1.07	2.00	24.00
Organic Carbon	%	24	3.58	0.18	2.30	5.70
pH	-	24	7.32	0.04	6.99	7.90
Phosphorus - Colwell	mg/kg	24	164.58	8.64	104.00	258.00
Potassium	mg/kg	24	957.50	32.82	600.00	1300.00
Sodium	mg/kg	24	76.33	11.02	36.00	320.00
Sulphur - KCl	mg/kg	24	12.90	0.89	6.10	20.60
Deep soils						
Moisture	%	8	5.99	0.35	4.40	7.00
Electrical Conductivity	dS/m	8	0.11	0.02	0.05	0.18
Nitrate Nitrogen	mg/kg	8	1.81	0.76	0.50	7.00
Organic Carbon	%	8	1.19	0.10	0.80	1.50
pH	-	8	7.71	0.13	7.23	8.34
Phosphorus - Colwell	mg/kg	8	86.38	14.85	31.00	137.00

Appendix F Soil analysis results for shallow and deep soil samples from St Ruth Reserve